## Steady State Load Models for Power System Analysis

Charles Cresswell



A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. **The University of Edinburgh**. May 6, 2009

## Abstract

The last full review of load models used for power system studies occurred in the 1980s. Since then, new types of loads have been introduced and system load mix has changed considerably. The examples of newly introduced loads include drive-controlled motors, low energy consumption light sources and other modern power electronic loads. Their numbers have been steadily increasing in recent years, a trend which is expected to escalate. Accordingly, the majority of load models used in traditional power system studies are becoming outdated, as they are unable to accurately represent power demand characteristics of existing and future loads. Therefore, in order to accurately predict both active and non-active power demand characteristics of aggregated modern power system loads in different load sectors (e.g. residential, commercial or industrial), existing load models should be updated and new models developed.

This thesis aims to fill this gap by developing individual, generic and aggregated steady state models of the most common loads in use today, as well as of those expected to show significant growth in the future. The component-based approach is adopted for load modelling, where individual load models are obtained in detailed simulations of physical devices. Whenever possible, the developed individual load models are validated by measurements. These detailed individual load models are then simplified and expressed as equivalent circuit and analytical models, which allowed the establishment of generic load models that can be easily aggregated. It should be noted that since all non-active power characteristics are correctly represented, the developed aggregated load models allow for a full harmonic analysis, which is not the case with the standard steady state load models. Therefore, the proposed load models form an extensive library of comprehensive load models that are suitable for use in multiple areas of power system research.

Based on the results of research related to typical domestic/residential sector load mix, the newly developed load models are aggregated and then applied to a typical UK/Scotland distribution network. Considerable differences are seen between network characteristics of newly proposed and previously developed models. The voltage distortion of a typical distribution system bus is investigated, and it is shown that distortion of the system voltage is likely to increase significantly in the future. The results of the presented research also suggest that neglecting the harmonic characteristics from the set of general load attributes may introduce errors in standard load flow studies.

## Declaration of originality

I hereby declare that the research recorded in this thesis and the thesis itself was composed and originated entirely by myself in the Department of Electrical Engineering at The University of Edinburgh.

Charles Cresswell

## Acknowledgements

There are numerous individuals to thank and recognise for the help and support which I have received over the past years while on the long and winding road, that is a PhD. I would firstly like to thank the ESPRC who provided the funding as without their financial support this PhD would not have been possible.

I also owe many thanks to my supervisor, Dr Saša Djokić, for being a caring mentor, providing endless support, time, trust and above all patience.

I also wish to thank my second supervisor, Dr Gareth Harrison, for providing valuable advice and support throughout my PhD. Many thanks also to Professor Robin Wallace who was instrumental in securing funding for my PhD and was my supervisor for the first few months Furthermore, I wish to extend thanks to Professor Jovica Milanović and Dr Ewen Macpherson, my examiners, for taking the time to read this thesis so thoroughly and providing invaluable feedback.

I must further extend thanks to Mr Adam Collin for all his help in the last few months of the PhD and I would like to express my appreciation to the Room 120 crew for all their support during the last months of the thesis and for playing a large role in keeping me sane during that time. More generally, I would like to acknowledge my friends and colleagues in the wider IES community for creating such a wonderful place to work.

I owe a large part of this PhD to my beloved wife, Kathrin, without whom it would have surely been much harder to succeed. Kathrin is my best friend, the rock of my world, she has provided me stability and love throughout my PhD and I will be forever grateful to her and forever love her.

I also extend my heartfelt thanks to my parents Dorcas and David, my brother James and my sister Emma for all their love, support and understanding through these last few years. I also wish to thank my parents-in-law, Dieter and Sabine, for providing their love and support, as well as all the tea, coffee and, when the circumstances called for it, lecker Bier.

Finally, I would like to thank all my friends who have provided so much love and support over the past few years. I extend a special thanks to Mr Thomas Butler for proof reading this thesis.

## Contents

		Abstract       Declaration of originality       Acknowledgements	ii iii iv
		Contents	v
		List of figures	xi
		List of tables	XX
		Acronyms and abbreviations	xxi
		Nomenclature	xiii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Load modelling	2
		1.1.1 Two general approaches to load modelling	3
	1.2	On the need for new load component models	7
	1.3	Aims of this thesis	8
	1.4	Structure of the thesis	9
	1.5	Thesis outline	11
	1.6	Main contributions of the thesis	13
	1.7	Definitions of electrical power quantities used in this thesis	14
	1.8	System impedance	15
2	Thre	ee-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors	17
	2.1	Introduction	17
		2.1.1 Motor mechanical loading	20
	2.2	Typical three-phase motor drives	21
		2.2.1 Rectifier circuit	22
		2.2.2 Methods of drive control	25
	2.3	Modelling of three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors	26
		2.3.1 Motor modelling	26
		2.3.2 Development of PSpice directly connected three-phase induction motor	
		model	28
		2.3.3 Development of PSpice three-phase drive model	29
	2.4	Typical dc link filter component values	32
	2.5	Harmonic limits	33
	2.5	Harmonic limits	33 33
	2.5	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	33 33 33
	2.5	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	33 33 33 34
	<ul><li>2.5</li><li>2.6</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	33 33 33 34
	<ul><li>2.5</li><li>2.6</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	<ul> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>34</li> <li>35</li> </ul>
	2.5 2.6	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	<ul> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>34</li> <li>35</li> <li>35</li> </ul>
	<ul><li>2.5</li><li>2.6</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	<ul> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>34</li> <li>35</li> <li>35</li> <li>38</li> </ul>
	<ul><li>2.5</li><li>2.6</li><li>2.7</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Harmonic limits</li></ul>	<ul> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>33</li> <li>34</li> <li>35</li> <li>35</li> <li>38</li> </ul>

### Contents

		2.7.1	Least square curve fitting	40
		2.7.2	Higher power motors	41
		2.7.3	Lower power motors	43
	2.8	Active	and non-active power demand characteristics of ASDs	45
		2.8.1	Per-unit comparison of ASDs at different rated powers	45
		2.8.2	Characteristics of ASDs with different types of mechanical loading	
			conditions	49
		2.8.3	Effect of dc link filter components and system impedance on	
			characteristics of ASD	54
	2.9	Summa	ary of presented ASD characteristics	57
	2.10	Equiva	lent circuit model of drive-controlled motors	58
		2.10.1	Equivalent representation of ASD bridge, inverter and motor	58
	2.11	Analyti	ical model of ASD	62
		2.11.1	Analytical model: discontinuous current conduction mode	63
		2.11.2	Analytical model: continuous current conduction mode	65
	2.12	Validat	ion of analytical ASD model for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal conditions	69
		2.12.1	Sinusoidal voltage supply conditions	70
		2.12.2	ASD supplied with non-sinusoidal voltage	70
	2.13	Generi	c analytical model of ASDs	74
	2.14	Polyno	mial and exponential models of ASDs	75
	2.15	Conclu	isions	79
3	Sing	le-phase	e directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors	81
	3.1	Introdu	ction	81
		3.1.1	Motor mechanical loading	82
	3.2	Typical	l single-phase motors	83
	3.3	Typical	l single-phase drive applications	84
		3.3.1	Rectifier circuit	85
		3.3.2	Methods of drive-control	87
	3.4	Modell	ling of single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors	87
		3.4.1	Motor modelling	87
		3.4.2	Development of PSpice single-phase induction motor models	88
		3.4.3	Development of PSpice single-phase drive controlled motors	88
	3.5	Typical	l values of dc link filter components	90
	3.6	Harmo	nics limits	90
		3.6.1	Passive power factor correction	91
	3.7	Active	and reactive power demand characteristics of single-phase directly	
		connec	ted induction motors	94
	3.8	Expone	ential and polynomial load models of directly connected single-phase	
		inducti	on motors	96
	3.9	Active	and non-active power demand characteristics of SASDs	99
			V/Hz open loop controlled SASDs	99
		3.9.1		//
		3.9.1 3.9.2	V/Hz closed-loop controlled SASDs	100
		3.9.1 3.9.2 3.9.3	V/Hz closed-loop controlled SASDs	100 100
		3.9.1 3.9.2 3.9.3 3.9.4	V/Hz open-loop controlled SASDs       V/Hz closed-loop controlled SASDs         SASDs with advanced control       SASDs         SASD with active power factor correction       SASDs	100 100 101
		3.9.1 3.9.2 3.9.3 3.9.4 3.9.5	V/Hz open-loop controlled SASDs         V/Hz closed-loop controlled SASDs         SASDs with advanced control         SASD with active power factor correction         Discussion of active and non-active power demand characteristics	100 100 101 101

	3.10	Analytical model of SASDs	103
		3.10.1 Analytical representation of single-phase bridge rectifier	103
		3.10.2 Implementation of analytical model in MatLab	104
	3.11	Validation of analytical SASD model for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply	
		conditions	105
		3.11.1 Sinusoidal supply conditions	107
		3.11.2 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions	108
	3.12	Generic analytical model of SASD	111
		3.12.1 Lower-power SASD	112
		3.12.2 Characteristics of lower-power SASD	113
		3.12.3 Higher-power SASD	116
	3.13	Polynomial and exponential models of SASD	119
	3.14	Conclusions	122
4	Elect	tronic dc power supply loads	124
	4.1	Introduction	124
		4.1.1 Previous work on the representation of electronic loads for power	
		system studies	125
	4.2	Components and configurations of electronic dc power supply loads	126
		4.2.1 EMI-filter	126
		4.2.2 Bridge rectifier	127
		4.2.3 Estimation of typical size of $C_{dc}$	128
		4.2.4 Inrush current protection	130
		4.2.5 DC-DC converter	131
	4.3	Full PSpice models of SMPS	131
		4.3.1 Full SMPS model	132
		4.3.2 Validation of full PSpice SMPS model	132
	4.4	Harmonic limits	134
		4.4.1 Methods of meeting harmonic limits	135
		4.4.2 Categorisation of electronic dc power supply loads	137
	4.5	Development of equivalent circuit and analytical dc power supply models	138
		4.5.1 EMI filter	139
		4.5.2 NTC Thermistor	139
		4.5.3 Equivalent circuit and analytical model of dc power supply load	140
	4.6	Validation of equivalent circuit and analytical models of dc power supply load .	141
		4.6.1 Sinusoidal supply conditions	142
		4.6.2 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions	143
		4.6.3 Discussion of results	145
	4.7	Characteristics of SMPS with no PFC	146
	4.8	Generic analytical models of dc power supply loads	148
		4.8.1 Generic model of SMPS without PFC	148
		4.8.2 Verification of generic model of SMPS without PFC	149
		4.8.3 Generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC	151
		4.8.4 Verification of generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC	151
	4.9	Polynomial and exponential models of dc power supply loads	153
	4.10	Conclusions	155

5	Ligh	ting loa	nds	156
	5.1	Introdu	action	156
		5.1.1	Previous work on the representation of CFLs and LFLs for power	
			system studies	157
	5.2	Fluore	scent tubes	157
		5.2.1	General principles of operation	157
		5.2.2	Types of fluorescent tubes	158
	5.3	Magne	tic ballast for LFLs	158
	5.4	Electro	onic ballasts for CFLs and LFLs	159
		5.4.1	Electromagnetic interference	159
		5.4.2	Bridge rectifier	160
		5.4.3	Bridge inverter	161
		5.4.4	Resonant circuit	162
	5.5	Repres	entation of fluorescent tube	163
		5.5.1	Previous tube models	163
	5.6	Develo	ppment of new CFL tube model	166
		5.6.1	Experimental set up and method	167
		5.6.2	Measured characteristics of modern CFLs	168
		5.6.3	Validation of the proposed tube model	170
	5.7	CFL ba	allast model	170
	5.8	Validat	tion of full circuit CFL model	172
		5.8.1	Validation of the developed full PSpice CFL model	172
		5.8.2	Verification of modelled CFL input characteristics	174
	5.9	Effect	of system impedance on CFL characteristics	175
	5.10	Harmo	nics	176
		5.10.1		176
		5.10.2	Meeting harmonic legislation for CFLs with rated power less than 25W	1//
		5.10.3	Meeting narmonic legislation for CFLs and LFLs with rated power	100
	5 1 1	Como	greater than 25 w	182
	5.11	Genera	CEL a and LEL a with rotad active neurons above 25W	182
		5.11.1	CFLs and LFLs with rated active powers above 25W	182
	5 10	5.11.2 David	CFLs and LFLs with rated active powers below 25 w	183
	3.12	then 24	spinent of equivalent circuit model for CFL with rated active power less	101
		1111 2.	Development of aggivelent circuit CEL model	104
		5.12.1	Volidation of the agriculant registeries model	100
		5.12.2	Valuation of the equivalent resistance model	190
	5 1 2	Ganari	a analytical model of CEI	192
	5.15	Validat	tion of generic analytical CEL model for sinusoidal and non sinusoidal	194
	5.14	supply	conditions	10/
		5 1/ 1	Sinusoidal supply conditions	194
		5 14 2	Non-sinusoidal supply conditions "typically distorted" voltage	196
		5 14 3	Non-sinusoidal supply conditions, "pipearly distorted" voltage	197
		5.14.4	Discussion of results	198
	5.15	Verific	ation of proposed generic analytical CFL model with measurements of	
	0.10	aggreg	ate CFL load	198
	5.16	Polvno	mial and exponential models of CFLs and LFLs	200
			r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

	5.17	Conclusions	202
6	Mod	elling of aggregate loads	204
	6.1	Introduction	204
	6.2	Aggregation of developed load models	205
		6.2.1 Aggregation of polynomial and exponential load models	205
		6.2.2 Aggregation of analytical models	207
		6.2.3 Comparison of aggregate loads from developed models with	
		measurements	208
		6.2.4 Discussion of results	212
	6.3	Present and expected future typical aggregate load mixes	213
		6.3.1 Consumer electronics and ICT load categories	215
		6.3.2 Future SMPS load mix	217
		6.3.3 Cold and wet load categories	218
		6.3.4 Lighting load category	220
		6.3.5 Cooking load category	221
		6.3.6 Overall expected load mixes	221
	6.4	Active and non-active power characteristics of aggregate present and future	
		load mixes	221
	6.5	Standard load flow studies	228
		6.5.1 Selected network	228
		6.5.2 Performed analysis	228
		6.5.3 Discussion of results	230
	6.6	Harmonic characteristics of present and future load	232
		6.6.1 Harmonic cancellation	233
	< <b>-</b>	6.6.2 Harmonic attenuation	238
	6.7	Effect of non-linear load on supply system	242
		6.7.1 Simplified two-bus system model	242
	6.0	6.7.2 Load bus voltage waveforms	245
	6.8		247
7	Con	clusions and future work	250
	7.1	Conclusions	250
		7.1.1 Power electronic loads	250
		7.1.2 Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors .	252
		7.1.3 Lighting loads	254
		7.1.4 Three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors .	255
		7.1.5 Generic load models and aggregation of individual load models	256
		7.1.6 Harmonic content of aggregate load	257
		7.1.7 More general discussions	258
	7.2	Further work	260
A	opend	ices	262
A			262
	A.1	PSpice model of three-phase dq motor	262
		A.1.1 PSpice motor mechanical model	263

### Contents

	A.2	V/Hz ASD	263
		A.2.1 V/Hz controller	263
		A.2.2 PSpice model of three-phase motor drive	264
	A.3	Validation of ASD equivalent circuit model, for linear torque, quadratic torque	
		and constant mechanical power loading conditions	265
	A.4	MatLab code for three-phase ASD equivalent-analytical model	267
	A.5	Validation of ASD analytical model, for linear torque, quadratic torque and	
		constant mechanical power loading conditions	272
B			274
	<b>B</b> .1	PSpice single-phase motor schematic	274
	B.2	MatLab code implementing equivalent analytical model of SASD	275
	B.3	Validation of SASD analytical model, for linear torque, quadratic torque and	
		constant mechanical power loading conditions	276
С			278
C	<b>C</b> 1	Lighting chapter MatLab code	278
	0.1	C 1.1 MatLab cycle by cycle RMS code	278
		C 1.2 MatLab implementation of CFL equivalent analytical model	280
			200
D			283
	D.1	MatLab code implementing aggregation of generic analytical models	283
-			•••
E			286
	E.1	List of publications from research presented in thesis	286
Re	feren	ces	287

# List of figures

1.1	component-based approach to load modelling	5
2.1 2.2	Four general types of mechanical loads	20 21
2.3	Associated waveforms of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in discontinuous current conduction mode	23
2.4	Conduction paths of three-phase bridge rectifier during conduction and commutation subintervals.	23
2.5	Associated waveforms of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in continuous current conduction mode.	24
2.6	Types of ASD control.	25
2.7	Standard dq equivalent circuit for three-phase induction motor, [50]	28
2.8	Comparison between Simulink and PSpice results for directly connected 4kW	
	induction motor models.	29
2.9	Comparison between Simulink and PSpice results for 4 kW V/Hz open-loop	
• • •	operated ASD models.	31
2.10	Comparison between different IGBT models.	32
2.11	Current waveforms and associated harmonics for a typical ASD operating in	
	(a) discontinuous current operation mode and (b) continuous current operation	2.4
0.10		34
2.12	motors of different rated powers.	36
2.13	Comparison between efficiencies of directly connected motors of different rated	
	powers	36
2.14	Comparison between reactive power characteristics of directly connected	
	motors of different rated powers.	37
2.15	Comparison between power factors of directly connected motors of different	
	rated powers.	37
2.16	Characteristics of a directly connected 4kW three-phase motor for four different	
	types of mechanical loading.	38
2.17	Characteristics of a directly connected 160kW three-phase motor for four	
	different types of mechanical loading.	39
2.18	Example data fitting of exponential and polynomial models using the least	
• • •	square method.	41
2.19	Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for higher power directly	
	connected three-phase induction motors, compared with previous models from	10
2.20	existing literature.	42
2.20	Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for lower power directly	
	connected inree-phase induction motors, compared with previous models, P-V	1 4
		44

2.21	Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for lower power directly connected three-phase induction motors, compared with previous models, Q-V	
	characteristics	45
2.22	Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW V/Hz open-loop controlled	17
0.00	ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.	47
2.23	Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW V/Hz closed-loop controlled	40
	ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.	48
2.24	Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW field oriented control ASD	4.0
	characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load	48
2.25	Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW direct torque controlled ASD	
	characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.	49
2.26	Characteristics of 4 kW open-loop operated ASDs, for four types of mechanical	
	loading.	50
2.27	Characteristics of 160 kW open-loop operated ASDs, for four types of	
	mechanical loading.	51
2.28	Characteristics of 4 kW closed-loop operated ASDs, for four types of	
	mechanical loading.	51
2.29	Characteristics of 160 kW closed-loop operated ASDs, for four types of	
	mechanical loading.	52
2.30	Characteristics of 4 kW direct torque controlled ASDs, with four types of	
	mechanical loading.	52
2.31	Characteristics of 160 kW direct torque controlled ASDs, with four types of	
	mechanical loading.	53
2.32	Characteristics of 4 kW field oriented controlled ASDs, with four types of	
	mechanical loading.	53
2.33	Characteristics of 160 kW field oriented controlled ASDs, with four types of	
	mechanical loading.	54
2.34	Comparison between 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD for maximum,	
	nominal and minimum values of system impedance and motor loaded with	
	constant torque load.	55
2.35	Comparison between 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD for a range of	
	dc link components values, nominal system impedance and motor loaded with	
	constant torque load.	56
2.36	Effect on ASD current waveforms with change in system voltage when ASD	
	operates in discontinuous and continuous current conduction modes	57
2.37	Equivalent circuit model of ASD.	59
2.38	a)Power drawn at ASD dc link, b) Equivalent resistance versus the rms dc link	
	voltage for the four considered types of mechanical load	60
2.39	Comparison between full model and equivalent circuit model for a range of dc	
	link component values and motor loaded with constant torque load	61
2.40	Equivalent circuit representation of rectifier/capacitor charge and discharge states.	63
2.41	Comparison of input current waveforms and associated harmonics between	
	full and analytical models of 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, loaded	
	with constant torque mechanical load, operated in discontinuous mode, at 1pu	
	system voltage.	64
2.42	Conduction path of rectifier during commutation period	65

2.43	Equivalent circuit representation of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in continuous mode	65
2.44	Flow diagram of analytical model of three-phase rectifier operating in continuous current mode	66
2.45	Solution of differential equations representing three-phase rectifier conduction	67
2.46	Commutation and conduction period current waveforms.	68
2.47	Comparison of input current waveforms and associated harmonics between full and analytical models of 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, loaded with constant torque mechanical load, operated in continuous mode, at 1pu system	60
2.48	Comparison between full and analytical ASD models for a range of dc link	09
	component values and motor loaded with constant torque load	70
2.49	System voltage waveforms measured in commercial, urban and rural areas	71
2.50	Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "typically distorted" system voltage, ASD in continuous mode.	72
2.51	Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "typically	70
2 52	Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "beavily	12
2.52	distorted" system voltage, ASD in continuous model	72
2.55	distorted" system voltage ASD in discontinuous mode	73
2.54	Comparison between full and analytical models for a range of dc link component values, motor loaded with constant torque load and applied	15
2.55	"typically distorted" system voltage	73
	distorted system voltage.	74
2.56	Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower power ASDs, compared with results obtained from previous models, active power.	76
2.57	Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower power ASDs, compared with results obtained from previous models	
	fundamental reactive power.	77
3.1	Three main type of single-phase induction motors	84
3.2	Typical single-phase PWM adjustable speed drive controlling a three-phase motor.	85
3.3	Example waveforms of single-phase rectifier.	86
3.4	Stationary reference dq single-phase induction motor circuit representation	88
3.5	Comparison between PSpice and SimuLink results for resistive start - inductive run (RSIR) single-phase induction motor.	89
3.6	Harmonic content of SASD input current at different rated power compared	
	with Class A harmonic limits.	91
3.7	Minimum size of $L_{dc}$ to meet Class A harmonic limits for SASD at different	<u> </u>
2.0	rated powers and range of values of $C_{dc}$ .	92
3.8	Harmonic content of SASD input current at different rated power compared	02
2.0	With Class A narmonic limits.       Tunical active neuron factor correction to the start	93
3.9	Typical active power factor correction topology.	93

3.10	Characteristics of directly connected 180W RSIR SPIM for four different types	_
	of mechanical loading	<b>)</b> 4
3.11	Characteristics of directly connected 180W RSCR SPIM, for four different	5
3 1 2	Exponential and polynomial model fits for PSIR SPIM active power	,5
5.12	characteristics.	<b>)</b> 7
3.13	Exponential and polynomial model fits for RSCR SPIM active power	
	characteristics.	<b>)</b> 7
3.14	Exponential and polynomial model fits for RSIR and RSCR SPIMs reactive	
	power characteristics	<b>)</b> 8
3.15	Characteristics of 736W open-loop V/Hz controlled SASD for four different	
	types of mechanical loading	<b>)</b> 9
3.16	Characteristics of 736W closed-loop V/Hz controlled SASD for four different	
	types of mechanical loading	)0
3.17	Characteristics of 736W direct torque controlled SASD for four different types	
	of mechanical loading	)0
3.18	Characteristics of 736W open-loop V/Hz controlled SASD with active power	
	factor correction for four different types of mechanical loading 10	)1
3.19	Equivalent circuit model of SASD	)3
3.20	Equivalent circuit representation of rectifier/capacitor charge and discharge states.10	)4
3.21	Diagrammatic representation of analytical SASD model	)6
3.22	Comparison between full and analytical model of SASD with applied 1pu	
	sinusoidal system voltage and constant torque mechanical load 10	)7
3.23	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD with	
	constant torque for min, nom and max dc link component values 10	)7
3.24	Comparison between full and analytical model of SASD, with applied "typically	
2.25	distorted" system voltage with magnitude Ipu	)9
3.25	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD	
	mechanically loaded with constant torque load for nominal dc link component	20
2.26	values and applied "typically distorted system voltage	19
3.20	distorted" system voltage with magnitude 1m.	10
2 77	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD	10
5.27	mechanically loaded with constant torque load for nominal de link component	
	values and applied "heavily distorted" system voltage	10
3 28	Lower-power SASD input current waveforms and associated harmonics with	10
5.20	applied sinusoidal "typically" distorted and "heavily" distorted system voltage 11	13
3 29	Lower-nower SASD P-V and N-V nower demand characteristics with	1.5
5.27	minimum nominal and maximum values of system impedance for sinusoidal	
	system voltage, and nominal system impedance for "typically distorted" and	
	"heavily distorted" system voltage	14
3.30	Investigation into the change of characteristics of lower-power SASD with	
-	application of distorted supply voltage	15
3.31	Comparison between aggregate load formed from 700W, 800W and 900W	
	SASDs and generic analytical model, at 1pu system voltage	17

3.32	Comparison of power demand characteristics between aggregate load formed from 700W, 800W and 900W SASDs and generic analytical model, at 1pu system voltage	118
3.33	Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower power SASDs fundamental reactive power	120
3.34	Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of higher-power SASDs, fundamental reactive power.	120
4.1	Electrical energy consumption of electronic equipment from 1980-2020, [14].	124
4.2	Major components of a typical modern SMPS	126
4.3	Typical SMPS EMI-filter.	127
4.4	Values of $C_{dc}$ found in SMPS loads	129
4.5	Characteristics of a typical NTC thermistor.	130
4.6	Schematic of a full PSpice flyback-based SMPS model	132
4.7	Comparison between measured and full PSpice model of 250W SMPS	133
4.8	Comparison of measurements with full PSpice SMPS model	134
4.9 4.10	Minimum size of $L_{dc}$ required to meet Class D limits, [30] Comparison between 250W PC power supplies with active and passive PFC	136
	(post-2001) and without PFC (pre-2001)	138
4.11	Effect of thermistor resistance on characteristics of SMPS with and without	
	passive PFC	140
4.12	Equivalent circuit model of SMPS	141
4.13	Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS,	
	with applied sinusoidal system voltage.	142
4.14	Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for sinusoidal supply	
	voltage.	142
4.15	Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS, with applied "typically distorted" system voltage	143
4.16	Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS	1.0
	and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for "typically distorted" supply voltage	143
4 17	Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS	115
,	with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage.	144
4.18	Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS	
	and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for "heavily distorted"	
	supply voltage.	144
4.19	Input current waveforms and associated harmonics of SMPS with no PFC for	
	applied, sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages	.146
4.20	P-V and N-V power demand characteristics of SMPS with no PFC for	
	minimum, nominal and maximum values of system impedance and sinusoidal	
	system voltage, and for nominal system impedance and applied "typically	
	distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.	147
4.21	Comparison between measured aggregate load formed from three LCD	
	monitors and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with no PFC,	
	at 1pu system voltage	149

4.2	2 Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured aggregate load formed from three LCD monitors and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with no PFC.	150
4.2	Comparison between measured aggregate load formed from three PCs and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC, at 1pu	
4.2	<ul> <li>system voltage.</li> <li>Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured aggregate load formed from three PCs and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS</li> </ul>	152
4.2	with passive PFC	152
		154
5.1	General magnetic ballast circuit.	159
5.2	2. General block diagrams of electronic ballasts and tube for LFL and CFLs	160
5.3	3 Typical EMI filter commonly found in CFLs.	160
5.4	Typical CFL self-oscillating circuit.	162
5.5	Resonant circuit and fluorescent tube.	163
5.6	Typical linear fluorescent tube (40 W) 'v-i' characteristics when operated at	
	different active powers, [97].	164
5.7	Measured V-I characteristic of a typical linear fluorescent tube (32W), [10/].	165
3.8	bellest sutput)	167
5.0	Dallasi Output).	169
5.9	0 PSpice implementation of the developed tube model	108
5.1	1 PSpice model of CEL electronic ballast and fluorescent tube	170
5.1	<ol> <li>2 Comparison between measured and simulated instantaneous tube voltage and</li> <li>automatic simulated instantaneous tube voltage and</li> </ol>	171
51	2 Comparison between measured and simulated rms VI tube characteristic (11W	1/3
5.1	CFL, for input voltages between 0.8-1.2pu).	173
5.1	4 Comparison of current waveform and associated harmonic content between	170
	measured and simulated 11W CFL.	174
5.1	5 Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics between measured and simulated 11W CFL.	175
5.1	6 Effect of changing system impedance on CFL active and non-active power	
	demand characteristics.	176
5.1	7 Comparison of harmonic contents of 11W CFL with C2 and C3 harmonic limits	
	from [30]	178
5.1	8 Effect of dc link capacitance on input current waveform of 11W CFL	178
5.1	9 Effect of dc link capacitance on input current harmonics of 11W CFL	179
5.2	20 Relationship between the size of dc link capacitor and rated power of CFLs <25W	181
5.2	21 Per unit active power demand characteristics for three most common types	
	(rated powers) of CFLs	184
5.2	2 Equivalent circuit CFL model.	185
5.2	23 Generic CFL dc link current and voltage waveforms	186
5.2	4 DC link characteristics of generic CFL model.	187
5.2	25 Linearisation of $R_{eq,hf}$ characteristic for generic CFL model	188

5.26	Change of characteristics of equivalent resistance with changes in system voltage and value of $C_{4\pi}$ in the generic CFL model	189
5.27	Equivalent resistance of 11W CFL with generic tube model for two	107
	corresponding operating stages	190
5.28	PSpice equivalent circuit of CFL model	191
5.29	Comparison between input current waveforms and associated harmonics of full	
	and equivalent circuit PSpice models of generic CFL, at 1pu system voltage 1	191
5 30	Comparison between P-V and N-V characteristics of full and equivalent circuit	
0.00	PSnice models of generic CEI	192
5 31	Nominal de link rms voltage at Inu system voltage and nominal ballast	1/2
5.51	component values for CELs at rated powers of 8W 11W 15W 18W 20W and	
	25W	102
5 22	25 W	193
5.52	Comparison between fun model and generic anarytical model of 11 w CFL with	105
5 22		195
5.33	Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic	105
4	analytical model of 11W CFL with applied sinusoidal system voltage	195
5.34	Comparison between full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with	
	applied 1pu "typically distorted" system voltage	196
5.35	Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic	
	analytical model of 11W CFL with applied "typically distorted" system voltage. 1	196
5.36	Comparison between full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with	
	applied 1pu "heavily distorted" system voltage	197
5.37	Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic	
	analytical model of 11W CFL with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage.	197
5.38	Comparison between measured aggregate CFL load and corresponding generic	
	analytical CFL model, for applied 1pu sinusoidal voltage	199
5.39	Comparison between power demand characteristics of measured aggregate	
	CFL load and corresponding generic analytical CFL model, with applied	
	sinusoidal system voltage.	200
5.40	Comparison between proposed CFL models and existing models found in	
	literature.	202
6.1	Flow diagram of aggregation procedure for generic analytical models and linear	
	loads	207
6.2	Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and	
	modelled aggregate load under sinusoidal voltage supply conditions 2	209
6.3	Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of measured	
	and modelled aggregate load under sinusoidal supply conditions	210
6.4	Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and	
	modelled aggregate load under "typically distorted" voltage supply conditions.	210
6.5	Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of	
	measured and modelled aggregate load under "typically distorted" voltage	
	supply conditions.	211
6.6	Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and	
0.0	modelled aggregate load under "heavily distorted" voltage supply conditions	211
6.7	Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of measured	
5.7	and modelled aggregate load under "heavily distorted" voltage supply conditions	212
	and modelied approprie four under neuvity distorted voltage supply conditions.2	

6.8	Energy consumption by household domestic appliance category in 2008, [81]. $% \left[ \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right) =\left[ \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right] \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right] =\left[ \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right] \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \right] \left( 1-\frac{1}{2}\right) \left( 1-\frac$	214
6.9	Estimated present load mix	222
6.10	Estimated future (2020) load mix.	222
6.11	Comparison of results from proposed and existing load models for present load	
	mix	224
6.12	Comparison of results from proposed and existing load models for future (2020)	
	load mix.	225
6.13	Example of a typical UK distribution network	229
6.14	Comparison of the effects of different load models on system bus voltage and	
	LMC, at load bus 1122	231
6.15	Current waveform of present aggregate load and corresponding waveforms	
	of individual load types/sub-types, normalised to a base of the rms value of	
	aggregate load current.	234
6.16	Present load mix harmonic magnitudes.	235
6.17	Present load mix harmonic angles.	235
6.18	Future load mix harmonic magnitudes.	237
6.19	Future load mix harmonic angles.	237
6.20	Comparison between magnitudes and diversity factors of harmonics for present	
	and future aggregate load mix.	239
6.21	Comparison of harmonic contents of present aggregate load mix with applied	
	sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages	239
6.22	Comparison of diversity factors of present aggregate load mix with applied	
	sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages	240
6.23	Comparison of harmonic contents of future aggregate load mix with applied	
	sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages	240
6.24	Comparison of diversity factors of future aggregate load mix with applied	
	sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages	241
6.25	Simple two-bus network used for analysis of voltage distortion due to	
	non-linear load.	243
6.26	Flow chart of applied procedure for the analysis of system voltage distortion	
	due to non-linear loads.	244
6.27	Comparison of effects of present and future aggregate load mixes on typical	
	domestic supply voltage (initial supply voltage ideally sinusoidal)	246
6.28	Comparison of effects of present and future aggregate load mixes on typical	
	domestic supply voltage (initial supply voltage already "heavily distorted")	246
A.1	PSpice schematic of dq motor with ABC/dq interface	262
A.2	PSpice schematic of three-phase motor mechanical model.	263
A.3	V/Hz controller.	263
A.4	PSpice schematic of three-phase motor drive.	264
A.5	Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component	-
	values and motor loaded with linear torque load	265
A.6	Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component	
. –	values and motor loaded with quadratic torque load	266
A.7	Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component	-
	values and motor loaded with constant power mechanical load	267

A.8	Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link component	
	values and motor loaded with linear torque load	272
A.9	Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link component	
	values and motor loaded with quadratic torque load	273
A.10	Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link component	
	values and motor loaded with constant power mechanical load	273
<b>R</b> 1	PSpice da model of split phase single phase induction motor	274
D.1	T Spice up model of spin-phase single-phase induction motor	274
В.2	PSpice schematic of single-phase drive (connects to three-phase motor)	274
B.3	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of	
	single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with linear torque for	
	nominal dc link component values.	276
<b>B.</b> 4	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of	
	single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with quadratic torque	
	for nominal dc link component values	277
B.5	Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of	
	single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with constant	
	mechanical power load for nominal dc link component values	277

## List of tables

1.1	Exponential model coefficients of typical load components, [19]	6
1.2	Summary of quantities and indicators for non-sinusoidal waveforms, [38]	16
2.1	Three-phase induction motor market data for EU-15 countries in 2005, [43]	18
2.2	Comparison of motor pole pairs and market share	18
2.3	Existing exponential load model coefficients of directly connected three-phase	10
2.4	motors.	18
2.4	Existing load model coefficients of ASDs, [22]	19
2.5	Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of higher power motors	20 42
2.0	Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of lower power motors	44
2.8	Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of ASDs operated	
	in discontinuous and continuous modes compared with exponential and polynomial model coefficients of directly connected motors, (as previously	
	presented)	78
3.1	Cold appliances in UK households in 2008, [71].	81
3.2	Existing load model coefficients for directly connected single-phase motors	82
3.3	Harmonic limits for Class A load, [30].	91
3.4	Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of single-phase	
25	induction motors.	96
3.5	Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of SASDs	121
5.0	previously presented)	121
		121
4.1	Existing model coefficients of electronic loads.	125
4.2	EU harmonic emission standards, Class D limits [30]	135
4.3	Proposed, exponential and polynomial model coefficients of dc power supplies.	153
5.1	Previous load model coefficients for CFLs and LFLs	157
5.2	Developed tube model coefficients.	169
5.3	Harmonic current limits for lighting loads, class C [30]	177
5.4	Proposed, polynomial and exponential model coefficients of CFL and LFL load.	201
6.1	Present overall electronic load mix by SMPS sub-type	217
6.2	Predicted 2020 overall electronic load mix by SMPS sub-type.	218
6.3	Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motor loads.	220
0.4	Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of present and future load mixes.	223

# Acronyms and abbreviations

ac	alternating current
ASD	adjustable speed drive (three-phase)
BERR	Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform
CF	crest factor
CFL	compact fluorescent lamp
CFT	compact fluorescent tube
CSR	capacitive start and run
CSIR	capacitive start - inductive run
dc	direct current
DEFRA	Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DF	diversity factor
DIAC	diode for alternating current
DSM	demand side management
DTC	direct torque control
DTI	Department of Trade and Industry (now BERR)
EMI	electromagnetic interferance
EPRI	Electric power research institute
EU	European union
FOC	field orientated control
GIL	general incandescent lamp
ICT	Information and communication technology
LED	light emitting diode
LFL	linear fluorescent lamp
LFT	linear fluorescent tube
LMC	load meeting capacity
MMF	magnetomotive force
NTC	negative temperature coefficient
PC	personal computer
PFC	power factor correction
PSS/E	power system simulator for engineering
pu	per unit
PWM	pulse width modulated
RMS	root mean square
RSIR	resistive start-inductive run

SASD	single-phase adjustable speed drive
SMPS	switch mode power supply
SPIM	single-phase induction motor
SVC	space vector control
THD	total harmonic distortion
UKGDS	United Kingdom Generic Distribution Systems
V/Hz	volt-hertz control
VSI	voltage source inverter

## Nomenclature

aggregate load reactive power coefficient (polynomial model)
frequency sensitivity parameter
load type coefficient
tube model coefficients
dc link capacitor
emi filter capacitance
capacitance in magnetic ballast
percentage contribution of load type
system frequency at considered bus
nominal system frequency at considered bus
harmonic order
rms current
cycle-by-cycle rms voltage
active power coefficient of current in polynomial model
reactive power coefficient of current in polynomial model
rms tube current
instantaneous current
instantaneous de link current
referred d-axis rotor current (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
d-axis stator current (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
referred q-axis rotor current (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
q-axis stator current (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
de link inductor
inductance of emi filter
auxiliary rotor winding referred leakage inductance (dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
main rotor winding referred leakage inductance (dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
auxiliary stator winding leakage inductance (dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
main stator winding leakage inductance (dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
magnetising inductance (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
inductance in magnetic ballast
primary leakage inductance
referred rotor leakage inductance (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
stator leakage inductance (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)

### Nomenclature

$L_{sys}$	System inductance
N	non-active power
np	coefficient of active power in exponential load model
nq	coefficient of reactive power in exponential load model
P	active power demand
$P_1$	fundamental active power
PF	true power factor
$PF_1$	displacement power factor
$PF_d$	distortion power factor
$P_H$	harmonic active power
$P_o$	nominal active power demand
$P_p$	active power coefficient of power in polynomial model
$P_q$	reactive power coefficient of power in polynomial model
$P_t$	tube power
Q	reactive power demand (sinusoidal conditions)
$Q_1$	fundamental reactive power
$Q_o$	nominal reactive power demand (sinusoidal conditions)
$R_{b,CFL}$	base resistance for CFL equivalent resistance model
$R_{eq1}$	equivalent resistance during discharge period (CFL)
$R_{eq1}$	equivalent resistance during charge period (CFL)
$R_{dc}$	equivalent resistance at rectifier dc link
$R_{diode}$	diode resistance
$R_{sys}$	system resistance
$R_t$	tube resistance
$r_{R}^{'}$	auxiliary rotor winding referred resistance ((dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
$r_r^1$	referred rotor winding resistance (dq mod. of 3-phase/1-phase ind. motor)
$r_S$	auxiliary stator winding resistance (dq mod. of 1-phase ind. motor)
$r_s$	stator winding resistance (dq mod. of 3-phase/1-phase ind. motor)
S	apparent power
$S_1$	fundamental apparent power
$S_H$	harmonic apparent power
$S_N$	non-fundamental apparent power
t	time
$t_{hu}$	specified SMPS hold-up time
V	rms voltage
$V_{diode}$	diode forward voltage drop
$V_{line}$	rms line voltage
$V_{phase}$	rms phase voltage
$V_t$	rms tube voltage

### Nomenclature

v	instantaneous voltage
$v_{dc}$	instantaneous dc link voltage
$v_{dc,nom}$	nominal dc link voltage
$v_{dc,min}$	minimum operating voltage of SMPS
$v_{ds}$	d axis stators voltage (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
$v_{qs}$	q axis stators voltage (dq mod. of 3-phase ind. motor)
$v_{rect}$	instantaneous rectified system voltage
$v_{rip,max}$	maximum value of dc link ripple voltage
$v_{rip,min}$	minimum value of dc link ripple voltage
$v_{start}$	dc link voltage at start of discharge period
X	reactance
Z	system impedance
$Z_p$	active power coefficient of impedance in polynomial model
$Z_q$	reactive power coefficient of impedance in polynomial model
$\omega$	rotational speed (radians)
$\omega_r$	motor rotational speed
$\theta$	phase angle
au	mechanical torque
$\eta$	effeciency

# Chapter 1 Introduction

For a long time, it has been recognised that the operation and performance of electricity supply systems are strongly influenced by the characteristics of the supplied load, [1]. Accordingly, the selection of the load model in a particular power system study will have a significant effect on the results of the study and, therefore, corresponding design decisions. Too optimistic load models can lead to inadequate system design or reinforcement, and may result in either costly upgrades or insecure systems, more vulnerable to various types of disturbances and collapse. Too pessimistic load models can, on the other hand, lead to unnecessary capital expenditure and uneconomical operation of the supply system. In the past, more pessimistic load models have often been favoured, in order to accommodate conservative safety and design margins. However, the most pessimistic load representation is sometimes hard to determine. Supply systems are increasingly being operated near to their operational margins, due to growing demand, economic and environmental pressures to run these systems close to their maximum capacity. Representative and accurate load models are thus becoming increasingly important for correct assessment of network performance. In addition, accurate load models can facilitate better decision making in relation to financial investment.

Traditionally, load models have been developed for use in high and medium voltage studies, with low voltage distribution systems and associated loads represented as a combined single (i.e. aggregate) load model. Accordingly, these aggregate loads are relatively insensitive to variations in characteristics of individual loads. However, the move away from centralised to distributed generation of electricity requires distribution networks to be considered in more detail. This also means that distribution system load should be considered in greater detail. When representing these smaller aggregate distribution system loads, the characteristics of individual load components become more important, and should be given more attention than has been the case previously.

Load models will play an increasingly important role in system design and planning. A major reason for this is the anticipated higher penetration of distributed generation and subsequent need for more efficient management of distribution networks. For example, it has been shown in [2] that system load characteristics will strongly affect optimal location, size and financial feasibility of distributed generation. Furthermore, the types and numbers of loads commonly found in the distribution system have changed significantly in the last few decades, with most significant and most prominent increase of non-linear loads. This represents a major change in

load inventory, which should be taken into account when considering load models for use in studies of modern power supply systems.

Although the importance of accurate representation of system load is generally known, certain assumptions are often made about load models. This is due to the lack of, or uncertainty in, available load modelling data. Therefore, efforts in clarifying or presenting new load models are of general importance to all aspects of supply system design and operation.

## 1.1 Load modelling

In this thesis, the term "load" is defined as either a single device (or "load type") connected to the supply system, or an aggregation of load types connected to the supply system. A load model is mathematical or analytical representation of the changes in active and/or reactive power demand of a load, usually as a function of the changes in applied voltage and, in some cases, frequency. Load models can be generally defined as either static or dynamic. A static model is used to represent the active and reactive power demand of the load as a function of voltage and frequency at a particular instant in time. A dynamic load model represents active and reactive power demand as a function of voltage, frequency and time. Dynamic models are typically represented in the form of differential equations and used in voltage stability studies, studies of inter-area oscillations and long term stability studies. A commonly used dynamic load model is based on the equivalent circuit of an induction motor, [3]. This is because induction motor load represents a significant proportion of the total system load. According to [4], the lack of dynamic motor models in power system studies is often thought to be the main cause of differences in results between field-measurements and large-scale simulations. When static and dynamic models are used together, this is known as a composite dynamic load model, [5]. As the focus of this thesis is on static load models, dynamic models are not specifically considered in further text.

There are several commonly used static load models, [3]:

- **Constant impedance load model,** for which active and reactive powers vary proportionally to the square of the voltage magnitude. This model is also sometimes called the "admittance model".
- **Constant current load model,** for which active and reactive powers of the load vary in direct proportion (linearly) to the voltage magnitude.
- **Constant power load model,** for which load will draw constant active and reactive power, irrespective of the changes in system voltage. This model is often referred to as "constant MVA model".

**Exponential load model,** which uses the exponents np and nq to define the relationship between active/reactive power demand and system voltage. When np = nq = 2, the load is a constant impedance load; when np = nq = 1 the load is a constant current load, and when np = nq = 0, the load is a constant power load. The exponents may also be set to any value, in order to represent the desired load characteristic:

$$P = P_o \left(\frac{V}{V_o}\right)^{np} \tag{1.1}$$

$$Q = Q_o \left(\frac{V}{V_o}\right)^{nq} \tag{1.2}$$

**Polynomial load model,** which represents the load as the sum of the constant impedance (Z), constant current (I) and constant power (P) load models, often referred to as the "ZIP model". As this model is of general quadratic form, it can provide better matching to non-linear load characteristics than the exponential load model.

$$P = P_o \left[ Z_p \left( \frac{V}{V_o} \right)^2 + I_p \left( \frac{V}{V_o} \right) + P_p \right]$$
(1.3)

$$Q = Q_o \left[ Z_q \left( \frac{V}{V_o} \right)^2 + I_q \left( \frac{V}{V_o} \right) + P_q \right]$$
(1.4)

Where:  $Z_p$ ,  $I_p$ ,  $P_p$ ,  $Z_q$ ,  $I_q$ ,  $P_q$  are the polynomial model coefficients and for exponential and polynomial models, P and Q are the actual active and reactive power demands of the load, V is the actual voltage at the considered load bus,  $V_o$  is the nominal system voltage,  $P_o$  and  $Q_o$  are nominal values of active and reactive power of the load.

**Frequency dependent load model,** which can be used to add frequency dependency to either exponential or polynomial load models. This is achieved by multiplying the relevant exponential or polynomial load model with the frequency dependent term:

$$[1 + a_f (f - f_o)] \tag{1.5}$$

Where: f is the actual frequency at the considered bus,  $f_o$  is the nominal frequency and  $a_f$  is the frequency sensitivity parameter of the model.

#### 1.1.1 Two general approaches to load modelling

Before the exponential or polynomial load models can be used in power system studies, the corresponding coefficients must be determined so that they represent the characteristics of the modelled load as accurately as possible. There are two commonly used approaches to obtain load models and values of the coefficients: 1) the measurement-based approach, and 2) the

component-based approach.

#### 1.1.1.1 Measurement-based approach to load modelling

The measurement-based approach to load modelling is implemented by measuring the variation of active and reactive power with the changes in system voltage and frequency directly at the system bus/buses of interest. The corresponding changes in system bus voltage may either be the result of natural variations, or the result of intentional or unintentional disturbances. The measured data are then used to estimate the coefficients of the exponential or polynomial models. References [6], [7] and [8] give good examples of how this approach can be implemented. The advantage of this approach is that physical data from the actual system under study can be used. This should result in accurate load models. The main disadvantage of this approach is that significant financial investment is required to implement the measurements. The measurement must also be performed over a long period of time, so that seasonal and daily variations in load characteristics may be taken into account. Additionally, it is not always possible to determine how load will respond to major variation in the supply system. A further disadvantage is that the developed load models are likely to be valid only for the considered/measured bus or buses, where supplied loads are connected. Accordingly, these load models are relatively inflexible and cannot to be used to directly predict changes in load characteristics due, for example, to future changes in load inventory. However, the measurements based approach to load modelling is still one of the most accurate methods to model actual load characteristics.

#### 1.1.1.2 Component-based approach to load modelling

The component-based approach to load modelling involves building the desired bus load model from the individual load models of devices connected to the system. This method was developed in research projects commissioned by Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) from 1976 onwards, [9–12]. Figure 1.1 shows a diagrammatic representation of the component-based approach to load modelling. The component-based approach requires three sets of data, [13]:

- 1. Load sector mix This gives the percentage contributions of each load sector to total load bus power.
- 2. Load mix This gives the percentage contributions of each load type to the particular load sector.
- 3. Load characteristics This gives the characteristics of the individual load type and, where relevant, sub-type, i.e. individual load models.



Figure 1.1: component-based approach to load modelling.

The main advantage of the component-based approach is that system measurements are not required, making this method relatively cheap and easy to implement. Once the characteristics of all relevant individual load components are known, only further information required to form load models at different buses are their load mixes. In this way, the approach may be used to predict the changes in bus load characteristics with changes in load inventory and load mix. A disadvantage to this modelling approach is that information about the load class mix has to be known. This information is often hard to collect, as it requires detailed statistics of energy by end-use. Also, load class mix is expected to change depending on the time of day (in the short term) and by season (in the longer term), which is also a challenge faced in the measurement based approach. However, with Governments and commercial companies increasingly collecting data on consumer trends and lifestyle habits, the required data is becoming more accurate and readily available. An example of this is the 'whatif' tool [14], commissioned by Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) in collaboration with several market research companies. This tool provides detailed statistics on the present and predicted future energy consumption by load type and energy end-use in the UK domestic and commercial sectors.

In order to facilitate the component-based approach to load modelling, research in the late 1970s to early 1980s focussed on investigating the characteristics of loads commonly found at that time. Much of this research was performed in the original EPRI projects, with references [15] and [16] providing exponential models of typical loads. Table 1.1 presents a selection of the developed exponential load models from [9], [15], [17] and [18], as summarised in

#### Introduction

Component	Power factor	np	nq
Water heater	1.0	2.0	0
Oven	1.0	2.0	0
Deep frier	1.0	2.0	0
Clothes washer	0.65	0.08	1.6
Refrigerator	0.8	0.77	2.5
Television	0.8	2.0	5.1
Incandescent lights	1.0	1.55	0
Fluorescent lamp	0.9	0.96	7.4
Industrial motors	0.88	0.07	0.5
Fan motors	0.87	0.08	1.6
Air conditioner:			
- 3-phase	0.9	0.088	2.5
- 1-phase	0.96	0.202	2.3
- Window type	0.82	0.468	2.5

 Table 1.1: Exponential model coefficients of typical load components, [19].

[19]. Some other results for polynomial load models are found in literature ([20] and [21]), but in essence they are just repeating the exponential models from Table 1.1, which is a compilation of most commonly used load models. The EPRI work represents the last major review of component-based load models, with the exception of [22] in 1998, where some further component-based models are presented.

An IEEE task force on load modelling was established in the early 1990s. This task force published, among others, three key papers on load modelling. The first paper in this series, [3], published in 1993, summarises the state-of-the-art in static and dynamic load modelling. The second paper, [23], published in 1995, gives a bibliography of previous load modelling work and load models. This paper discusses how static load models of typical load components are often derived from measurements, but does not present any component-based load models. The third paper, [4], also published in 1995, recommends load models that should be used for dynamic performance analysis, and also gives examples of static load models for load components. The presented models of these components are the same as in Table 1.1, which also illustrates lack of work in identifying accurate load models for various load types. A more recent summary of current load modelling was published in a literature review in 2006, [24], where, over 100 load modelling references are listed, although none, with the exception of [22], provided updated component-based load models since the 1980s.

In many conventional load flow studies, constant power load model is typically used as it is considered a "worst case model", ([2], [22], [25] and [26]), in terms of load flow. This is because if system voltage reduces this load type will not reduce its demand, as is the case for both constant current and constant impedance models. However, characteristics of even the limited number of loads in existing literature are different from constant power load type.

## **1.2** On the need for new load component models

The major engineering challenges of the future will more than ever before be concerned with the distribution system (i.e. medium and low voltage networks). This is due to an increased amount of distributed generation, increased demand and the need to operate these networks actively to improve both performance and efficiency. New concepts of end-use of electricity, such as demand side management, are now being seriously considered. All these challenges require that used load models are accurate, flexible and versatile, and component-based approach to load modelling is well suited to meet these (present and future) needs.

From the review of relevant literature and previous discussion, it is clear that the majority of component-based load models were developed over twenty years ago. These early models may not be able to accurately model modern loads, even if they are of the same type. The inadequacy of using older load component models is clearly expressed in [27], where a proposal for a new EPRI project to update the component-based load models in residential, industrial and commercial load sectors is formulated. Reference [28] also expresses the need to update these old models. A good example of the need for updating is television load, which, according to [16], should be represented as a constant impedance load, see Table 1.1. Reference [16] was published in 1982, and at this time the representation of this load type was indeed correct, but research presented in this thesis clearly shows that modern televisions are constant active power loads. This is only one example, highlighting the fact that previously developed load component models cannot be used to represent/model modern load.

Since the last major review of load models, there have also been considerable changes in the load inventory, [24]. The most significant changes include increased numbers and new types of non-linear loads. A load is classed as non-linear if it draws a non-sinusoidal current from the supply system. Examples of these loads include devices such as adjustable speed drives (commonly used in the industrial and commercial load sectors), personal computers, monitors, televisions and other consumer electronic equipment. Other non-linear loads, such as compact fluorescent lighting, have increased significantly in the past few years, and are expected to completely replace traditional incandescent lighting in the next few years. As concerns about energy efficiency grow, a new generation of single-phase drive-controlled motors is expected to emerge. These are also non-linear loads. There has been little recently published work on how these new types of loads should be represented in power system studies. Accordingly, the majority of load models used in traditional power system studies are becoming outdated, as they are unable to accurately represent power demand characteristics of present and future loads. Many examples were found where older component-based load models are being used as a matter of default, with no further consideration. For example, [2] (2007) and [29] (2004). This is because many standard text books that present load models (mainly in exponential form) have not been updated with new characteristics, which further highlights the general uncertainty of what these characteristics may be.

Finally, up until now the harmonic characteristics of non-linear loads have been considered as a completely separate area to standard power system (i.e. load flow) analysis, and therefore existing/previous load models did not consider them. However, as system voltage distortion increases due to the presence of these non-linear loads, this assumption should be re-evaluated. This thesis shows that distortion of the system voltage will have significant effect on the power demand characteristics of certain non-linear loads, and that the harmonic content associated with individual load types has led to the creation of several new sub-types of load due to harmonic legislation introduced in 2001, [30].

Therefore, in order to accurately predict both active and non-active power demand characteristics of aggregate modern power system loads in different load sectors (e.g. residential, commercial or industrial), existing component load models should be updated and new models developed.

### **1.3** Aims of this thesis

The two main aims of this thesis are to update existing static component-based load models and develop new load models where necessary. In order to achieve these aims, a full review of typical types and sub-types of modern system load components is required. The updated and newly developed load models should be able to accurately represent the active and reactive power demand characteristics of both individual and a aggregate of same type/sub-type load. Where possible, the developed models should also be compared to existing load models. As many of the loads to be modelled are non-linear, an additional aim of the thesis is to accurately represent the typical harmonic characteristics of these loads. This is a significant extension to the previous component-based load models, which have traditionally only considered active and reactive power demand of each load component. This extension is deemed necessary for several important reasons. Firstly, recently introduced EU (European Union) harmonic legislation in 2001, [30], has led to significant changes in the harmonic characteristics of many common non-linear loads used in domestic and commercial sectors. This is because many non-linear loads found in these sectors include some form of power factor correction (PFC) to reduce their harmonic emissions. Secondly, harmonic legislation has also indirectly affected their active and reactive power characteristics, as the inclusion of PFC circuits and techniques was required to satisfy specific harmonic limits. From the review of available literature, the implications (present and future) of harmonic legislation have not been fully investigated with regards to power system load flow and harmonic studies. Active/reactive power demand and harmonic characteristics of modern power system loads are not independent of each other, and accordingly must both be considered in representative load models. Finally, distortion of the supply system voltage due to increased numbers of non-linear loads will also affect power demand characteristics of modern aggregate power system loads, which has not been previously considered in existing literature.

This thesis further aims to show how the developed generic load models can be used to form present and expected future aggregate loads. To illustrate this the effects of applied load models on a typical distribution system are compared in this thesis for both developed load models and standard/existing load models. This comparison highlights the importance of having accurate load models for both design and operation of distribution systems. The harmonic characteristics of present and expected future aggregate load are also discussed in line with the likely effects of increased numbers of non-linear load on typical distribution system load buses, as well as the system-load interaction when non-linear loads is a significant part of the aggregate load.

The final and ultimate aim of this thesis is to deliver an updated and extended library of comprehensive load models of loads found in modern power supply systems. The developed load models from this library should be accurate and flexible, i.e., suitable for use in either standard load flow analysis or more detailed harmonic investigations, or a combination of the two. By answering this requirement, the thesis will provide a versatile load modelling tool, which can be used in a wide range of further applications and not just specifically load flow analysis.

### **1.4** Structure of the thesis

The thesis is divided into seven chapters, four of which are dedicated to the development of models of specific types of power system load. The following types of load commonly found in the supply system are considered in this thesis: three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors, single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors, power electronic loads and lighting loads. The aim of each load modelling chapter is to present full, equivalent circuit and generic analytical load models from which standard exponential and polynomial interpretations are derived. The following procedure is used to develop these load models:

- 1. For each considered load type, common sub-types are identified.
- 2. For each relevant load type/sub-type typical circuit topologies are established.
- 3. Full/detailed simulation circuit models are then developed for each load type/sub-type based on their typical circuit topologies.
- 4. Developed full model(s) are validated against either measured data, or against existing model of the corresponding load type available/built in a different software.

- 5. Full circuit model(s) are then converted to an equivalent circuit model(s), which is/are also verified and validated.
- 6. Equivalent circuit model(s) are then converted into analytical forms and again verified.
- 7. Existing literature is used in combination with harmonic legislation to identify and quantify the typical per-unit values of key load type/sub-type parameters.
- 8. This information is then used to establish generic analytical model(s), able to accurately represent same type/sub-type aggregate loads.
- 9. Polynomial and exponential interpretations of developed generic analytical models are derived next.
- 10. Generic models are then used to form mixed-type aggregate loads representing different load sectors (residential, commercial etc.)

The proposed generic models are given in per-unit (pu) form, and are able to represent the power and harmonic characteristics of an aggregate same-type (or where relevant sub-type) of load. Two types of aggregate load models are developed. The first are in exponential and polynomial form, and therefore may be used directly in standard power system load flow studies. The second type is presented in analytical and equivalent circuit forms, and is able to represent all harmonic, active and non-active power characteristics of the considered load types/sub-types. The developed polynomial and exponential modes in each load modelling chapter are also compared with previously published load models, (where available).

After the models of each type/sub-type of load have been developed, they are used to form aggregate mixed-type loads, representing current and expected future load mixes. The power demand and harmonic characteristics of these aggregate loads are discussed and network models are used to investigate their effect on load flow analysis. These results are also compared with those of related existing load models. The effects of estimated present and future load mixes on voltage distortion at a typical load bus are also considered as a part of general discussion of system-load interactions.

It should be noted that the load models developed in this thesis do not consider the effect of variations in supplied system frequency. This is because expected steady state variations in system frequency will be very small and therefore will have no significant influence. Furthermore, [22] has shown that non-linear loads are essentially frequency-independent.

Introduction

### 1.5 Thesis outline

As stated previously, this thesis consists of seven chapters. A brief summary of each chapter is outlined below.

#### Chapter 1

This is an introductory chapter, reviewing previous work in the area of load modelling, with particular attention on component-based load modelling. It also outlines the general need and motivation for new work in this area.

### Chapter 2

This chapter investigates three-phase motor loads. Two general types of these loads are considered: three-phase motors directly connected to the supply system, and three-phase motors connected/controlled via adjustable speed drive (ASD). It is concluded that directly connected motors should be split in two following sub-types: lower-power motors and higher-power motors. It is further shown that the change in active and reactive power demand of lower-power motors with change in system voltage (their P-V and Q-V characteristics) are dependent on the type of mechanical load the motor is driving. The P-V and Q-V characteristics of higher-power directly connected motors, however, are independent of motor mechanical loading condition. The P-V characteristics of ASDs will depend on the type of drive-control, rated power of the ASD (lower or higher) and, in certain cases, the type of mechanical load of controlled motor. The non-active power (N-V), and harmonic characteristics of these loads will depend on the type of mechanical load, the conduction mode of the three-phase rectifier in the ASD, the value of dc link parameters and, to a certain extent, on the value of the local system impedance. It is further shown that current harmonic legislation will not have significant influence on the design of these load types. Full circuit, equivalent circuit, analytical, exponential and polynomial load models are all developed for the representation of this load type. (Published papers from this research: [31], [32] and [33])

#### Chapter 3

This chapter considers directly connected single-phase induction motors and single-phase drive-controlled (SASD) motors. It is shown that, from a static load modelling perspective, there are two main types of single-phase directly connected induction motors. The active and reactive power demand characteristics of these two types of load are investigated, and it is concluded that their P-V characteristics will depend on the type of motor mechanical
loading and the type of drive-control, while their Q-V characteristics will not. Typical types of single-phase drive-controlled motors are identified and investigated in detail. Here, it is found that, although not common at present, these load types are expected to increase significantly in the near future. It is shown that harmonic legislation will have a significant effect on the non-active and harmonic characteristics of these loads, as SASD of rated power greater than approximately 400W will require power factor correction. Accordingly, their N-V and harmonic characteristics will depend on rated active power, type of applied mechanical loading and value of dc link components. It is also shown that displacement power factor of lower-power SASDs will be affected by the presence of distortions in supply system voltage. In order to acknowledge this, the thesis recognised two sub-types of SASD load: those without power factor correction (lower-power SASDs) and those with (higher-power SASDs). Full circuit, equivalent circuit, analytical, exponential and polynomial load models are developed for each identified type and sub-type of this load. (*Published paper from this research: [34]*)

#### Chapter 4

This chapter investigates power electronic loads, which are commonly found in domestic and commercial load sectors. As the vast majority of these loads will contain switch-mode power supplies (SMPS), the typical topologies and configurations of SMPS are considered and discussed. The effects of harmonic legislation on these loads is also considered, and it is concluded that due to this legislation there will be three distinctive sub-types of electronic load. The P-V characteristics of each load sub-type are similar, and can be represented by a constant active power load. However, the non-active and harmonic characteristics of each load sub-type differ significantly. This has implications for both load flow and harmonic analysis, as these loads were previously considered to be all of the same type. It is also found that the displacement power factors of these loads will be affected by the presence of distortion in system voltage. Full circuit, equivalent circuit, analytical, exponential and polynomial load models of the three sub-types of electronic loads are developed. (*Published papers from this research: [35], [36]*)

## Chapter 5

This chapter considers lighting loads. It focuses on compact fluorescent lighting (CFL), as this type of lighting is expected to replace incandescent lighting loads in the near future. The typical topologies of the ballast used to control these types of fluorescent light sources are considered. It is found that older type magnetic ballast, on which existing fluorescent lighting load models are based, are now obsolete. Furthermore, it is found that the present models of compact fluorescent tubes are also somewhat outdated. Accordingly, a new compact fluorescent tube

model is developed from measurements of modern compact fluorescent lights. It is shown that harmonic legislation will have a significant effect on the design, and therefore active, non-active and harmonic characteristics of this load. It is also found that the displacement power factor of this load will change significantly if there are distortions in system voltage. Once again, full circuit, equivalent circuit, analytical, exponential and polynomial load models are developed and presented for CFL lighting load. (*Published paper from this research: [37]*)

## **Chapter 6**

This chapter uses previously developed generic analytical models of considered individual load types and sub-types (chapters 2-5) to form aggregate loads. Typical present and expected future load mixes are established from available statistics, to enable load bus aggregates to be formed. In doing so, present and future loads are investigated and discussed, and it is shown that diversity introduced into the aggregate load by different load sub-types (mainly due to new harmonic legislation) will have significant effect on harmonic characteristics of the aggregate load. It is also shown that distortion of the system voltage will affect fundamental reactive power demand of the aggregate loads and, hence, the results of load flow analysis. Aggregate loads formed from proposed models are also compared to aggregate loads formed from existing models, with both applied to a typical distribution network. The load meeting capacity of the network is investigated with the different aggregate loads. Finally, the effect of expected future load mix on the voltage distortion at a typical distribution system bus is also investigated.

### Chapter 7

This chapter presents conclusions from the work presented in this thesis, as well as suggestions for further work.

#### Appendices

Figures and information not included in the main body of the text are presented in the Appendices. A list of publications from the research presented in this thesis can also be found in the Appendix E.1.

# **1.6** Main contributions of the thesis

The following are main contributions of this thesis:

· Development of new component-based load models, for use in power system load flow

studies and harmonic studies, with respect to following main types and sub-types of the loads found in modern power systems:

- Three-phase directly connected motors
- Three-phase drive-controlled motors
- Single-phase directly connected motors
- Single-phase drive-controlled motors
- Power electronic loads (dc power supplies and SMPS)
- Lighting loads, specifically CFL.
- Development of generic equivalent circuit models and analytical models for above mentioned load types.
- Proposal of new compact fluorescent tube model.
- Investigation into the effects of recent harmonic legislation on the characteristics of modern non-linear loads and typical aggregate power system loads.
- Discussion of the active, reactive and harmonic characteristics of expected future system load and their effect on a typical distribution system.
- The importance of including harmonics in standard power flow analysis.
- Seven published international conference papers.

# **1.7** Definitions of electrical power quantities used in this thesis

Traditional methods of calculating active, reactive and apparent powers assume sinusoidal currents and supply voltages. This assumption, however, is not valid when considering non-linear loads. For more than a century, the definition of reactive power for non-sinusoidal supply conditions has been a contentious subject. More recently, there has been much discussion on the practical definitions of power quantities under non-sinusoidal supply conditions. This has led to the development of an IEEE standard, [38]. Definitions from this IEEE standard will be used for the representation of power quantities in non-sinusoidal situations in this thesis, (Table 1.2).

In these definitions, the displacement power factor,  $PF_1$ , is typically used when considering capacitors for reactive power compensation [39]. Thus, when considering the reactive power consumption of non-linear loads, fundamental reactive power,  $Q_1$ , is taken as being analogous to Q in linear loads. Accordingly, developed exponential and polynomial models represent  $Q_1$  characteristics of non-linear load. References [39], [40] and [41] provide detailed discussions of these definitions.

# **1.8** System impedance

In the work presented in this thesis typical values of system impedance are often required. The value of system impedance will vary depending on the considered point in the supply system network and, accordingly, no single value of system impedance may be defined for all points. However, as much of the load considered in the thesis will be found in the domestic sector, the value of system impedance may be defined for typical UK domestics networks. From extensive review of European networks, reference [42] predicts that 90% of UK residential consumers will have supply impedance equal to or less than  $R = 0.25\Omega$ ,  $X=0.23\Omega$  and that 98% of customers will have supply impedance equal to or less than  $R = 0.46\Omega$ ,  $X=0.45\Omega$ . Therefore in this thesis  $Z = (0.25 + j0.23)\Omega$  is taken as a nominal system impedance;  $Z = (0.46 + j0.45)\Omega$  is taken as a maximum expected system impedance, and  $Z = (0.12 + j0.11)\Omega$  is the minimum expected system impedance. The minimum value of impedance is an estimate, as no value was stated in [42].

Table 1.2: Sun	mmary of quantities and indicators J	for non-sinusoidal wav	eforms, [38].
Quantity / indicator	Fundamental and all harmonics	Fundamental only	Harmonics
Annarent Power (VA)	$S = V \cdot I$	$S_1 = V_1 \cdot I_1$	$S_N^2 = D_i^2 + D_v^2 + S_H^2$
	$S^2=S_1^2+S_N^2$	$S_1^2 = P_1^2 + Q_1^2$	$S_H^2 = (V_H \cdot I_H)^2$
Active Power (W)	$P = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T v \cdot i.dt$	$P_1 = V_1 \cdot I_1 cos \theta_1$	$P_{H} = \sum_{h  eq 1} V_{h} \cdot I_{h} \cdot \cos  heta_{h}$
Reactive and Nonactive Power (VAr)	$N = \sqrt{(S^2 - P^2)}$	$O_1 = V_1 \cdot I_1 \sin  heta_1$	$D_i = V_1 \cdot I_H$
			$D_v = V_H \cdot I_1$
Line utilisation or power factor	$PF = \frac{P}{2}$	$PF_1 = rac{P_1}{G} = \cos  heta_1$	$PF_d = rac{1}{\sqrt{(1+THD_i^2)}}*, PF_d = rac{PF_1}{PF}$
	Ď	10	$THD_x = rac{X_H}{X_1}$
* for sinusoidal voltage.		1	
Where: V and I are rms voltage and cu displacement and distortion power fac	arrent, $v$ and $i$ are instantaneous valuctors respectively, THD is total harreder H is the sum of all harmonics	es of voltage and current monic distortion. Subs	nt, PF, PF <sub>1</sub> and PF <sub><math>d</math></sub> are true, cript 1 defines fundamental
time of one cycle at the fundamental fi	frequency		

Introduction

# Chapter 2 Three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

# 2.1 Introduction

For more than a century, induction motors have been known as the workhorse of the industry, providing a cheap and robust solution for efficient conversion of electrical into mechanical energy. The vast majority of motors are low voltage motors, as high voltage motors are rare, and used in (very) high power applications, greater than 500kW. High voltage motors are usually custom designed and should be modelled as individual loads, depending on their specifications. Therefore, only low voltage motors are considered in this thesis. It is estimated that electric motors in EU consumed 860 Twh of power in 2005, making up roughly 53% of the total power consumption for that year, with three-phase induction motors representing over 90% of this energy consumption [43].

Three-phase induction motors have proved popular, due to their simple construction, high efficiency (up to 95%), low electromagnetic interference, ability to be directly started from the supply system and low cost per kW when compared with other motor technologies. However, three-phase induction machines directly connected to the supply system exhibit high starting currents, low power factors and difficult or very limited speed/torque control. To overcome these disadvantages, adjustable speed drives (ASDs) are used in applications in which more sophisticated or optimal control of induction motors is required. Besides significantly improved speed and torque control, ASDs also offer energy savings in part-load applications (20-30%, [44]), reduction of noise, mechanical and thermal stresses, remote control and communication, low maintenance and automated diagnostic. These benefits, connected with the mass-production and constantly decreasing prices, resulted in a wide use of ASDs in many industrial and other applications. Modern ASDs allow induction motors to achieve the same torque/speed performance as that of dc motors, but with increased reliability. It is estimated that of all connected induction motors, the number of ASD-controlled induction motors varies between 5% (low-power applications) and 20% (high-power applications), [45], with these numbers expected to increase significantly over the next years. Table 2.1 shows the breakdown of the European motor market in 2005 for the EU-15 countries. This table shows that the vast majority of motors are in the 0.75 - 7.5 kW power range, with the higher power motors less

common. There was no available data for motors of rated power greater than 200kW. Table 2.2 lists the typical number of magnetic poles used in induction motors, showing motors with two pole pairs as dominant.

Power Range	Number of units	Market Share	Total Capacity	Market Share
kW	millions	units	GW	Capacity
0.75 - 7.5	7.2	79.1%	22.5	28.2%
7.5 - 37	1.5	16.5%	30.0	37.6%
37 - 75	0.3	3.3%	15.6	19.6%
75 - 200	0.1	1.1%	11.6	14.6%
Total	9.1	100%	79.7	100%

**Table 2.1:** Three-phase induction motor market data for EU-15 countries in 2005, [43].

 Table 2.2: Comparison of motor pole pairs and market share.

Motor Pole Pairs	Market share (%)
1	25
2	60
3	11
4	4

Although there has been much previous work into dynamic representation of three-phase directly connected motors for transient analysis, there has been less work on deriving analytical representations of these loads for steady state analysis, i.e. exponential and polynomial motor load models. Table 2.3 presents only a very few previously derived exponential models of directly connected three-phase motors found after the review of relevant literature. This previous work suggests that the variation of motor active power with system voltage is relatively independent of the application in which the motor is used, while the change in reactive power with system voltage is dependent on motor application.

 Table 2.3: Existing exponential load model coefficients of directly connected three-phase

matana

Motor Type	Power factor	Exponential m	Source		
Willion Type	Tower factor	$n_p$	$n_q$	Source	
Small Industrial	not specified	0.1	0.6	[25]	
Large Industrial	0.88	-0.01 to 0.07	0.5	[25],[29],[15],[19]	
Pump/Fan	0.87	0.08	1.6	[25],[29],[15],[19]	
3-phase air con.	0.90	0.088	2.5	[19]	

Due to the non-linear operation and additional electronic/control circuits, there are certain

differences in steady state electrical and operational characteristics between directly connected and ASD-controlled motors, of which harmonic emission and alteration of active/reactive power flows are the most prominent. There has been relatively little research into steady state load models of ASDs, with only one reference found to present a load model of ASDs, Table 2.4.

Loading <i>PF<sub>nom</sub></i>	DF	Exponential Model		Polynomial Model						
	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$		
ASD 1	0.79	1.47	1.34	0.43	0.61	-0.05	-1.21	3.47	-1.26	
ASD 2	0.79	2.12	1.98	3.19	-3.84	1.65	1.09	-0.18	0.09	

Table 2.4: Existing load model coefficients of ASDs, [22].

This chapter investigates the P-V and Q-V/N-V characteristics of typical types and configurations of three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. The effects of the type of applied motor mechanical loading condition are considered, as well as the effect of changing key motor and drive parameters. Detailed transient motor and drive models are developed from existing theory, in order to perform the required analysis.

The results of the analysis performed on directly connected motors are used to develop corresponding polynomial and exponential models. It is shown that while exponential and polynomial models may be used to represent active power demand characteristics of ASDs, care should be taken when using them to represent fundamental reactive power characteristics. This is because non-active power characteristics of these loads are dependent on the value of key drive components and, to a lesser extent, the local system impedance where the drive is connected. By changing the values of these components, non-active power demand characteristics of these loads will be significantly altered.

In order to fully represent ASD non-active power demand characteristics, an equivalent circuit model of the ASD is developed and verified. This equivalent circuit models is then converted into analytical form. The resulting analytical model is able to represent the two distinctive operating modes of ASDs, including all active and non-active power demand and harmonic characteristics of these loads. The analytical model is then generalised and subdivided, based on the type and rated power of the ASD to be represented. In this way, the developed models are able to represent any typical load mix of ASDs, with only required information being the percentage contribution of each type of ASD to the total power. Polynomial and exponential interpretations of proposed generic analytical load models are also presented.

### 2.1.1 Motor mechanical loading

Although there is a wide diversity in mechanical characteristics of loads driven by induction motors, it is possible to classify mechanical loads into four general types: constant torque, linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power, as shown in Figure 2.1. Each of these four general mechanical load types are discussed briefly, with Table 2.5 giving the associated torque equations, [46].



**Figure 2.1:** Four general types of mechanical loads. **Table 2.5:** Four general types of motor mechanical load, [46].

Mechanical Load Type	Torque Equation				
constant torque	$\tau_{load} = \text{constant}$				
linear torque	$ au_{load} = rac{\omega}{\omega_{nom}}$				
quadratic torque	$ au_{load} = rac{\omega^2}{\omega_{nom}}$				
constant mechanical power	$ au_{load} = rac{\omega_{nom}}{\omega}$				
Where: $\omega_{nom}$ is nominal motor speed and $\omega$ is actual motor rotational speed.					

#### 2.1.1.1 Constant torque mechanical loads

Mechanical loads that fall into this category are loads in which torque demand is not a function of motor mechanical speed. For this load, the demanded mechanical power will change linearly with the motor mechanical speed. Some typical examples of these types of loads ([47]) include: conveyors, traction drives, positive displacement pumps and reciprocating and rotary

compressors.

#### 2.1.1.2 Linear and quadratic torque loads

These loads are sometimes generally referred to as variable torque loads, for which load torque requirement varies either as a linear or quadratic function of the changes in motor speed. These loads will draw less power when motor speed is reduced and more power as motor speed increases. Typical examples of these mechanical load types include: axial and centrifugal fans, blowers and compressors.

#### 2.1.1.3 Constant mechanical power loads

Constant mechanical power loads will draw constant mechanical power independent of the motor rotor speed, with load torque changing in inverse proportion to the motor speed. This mechanical load type is also sometimes referred to as constant horsepower load. Some examples of these load types include: grinders, winders, lathes and tension drives.

# 2.2 Typical three-phase motor drives

The dominant type of ASDs in the range from a few kW up to several MW is the pulse-width modulation (PWM) controlled voltage source inverter (VSI). In essence, the PWM ASD is a converter, comprising of a bridge rectifier, a dc (direct current) link filter, an inverter, and additional control, protection and measurement circuits. Figure 2.2 shows a typical configuration of a three-phase PWM ASD. It should be noted that there are other types of ASDs that use different 'front-ends' to the three-phase bridge rectifier considered in this work, however their percentage contribution to total ASD load compared to that of ASDs with three-phase bridge rectifiers is small and accordingly they are not considered in this thesis.



Figure 2.2: A typical three-phase PWM adjustable speed drive.

Speed and/or torque regulation of an ASD-controlled induction motor is achieved by the use

of electronic and control circuits, which convert fixed frequency/magnitude input ac (alternate current) supply voltage into a variable (i.e. adjustable) frequency/magnitude output voltage at the motor terminals. This conversion is normally performed in three stages. Firstly, the ac supply voltage is rectified by a passive front-end three-phase rectifier, usually a full-bridge diode or thyristor rectifier. Next, the rectifier voltage is smoothed to a dc voltage, by a dc link filter circuit, consisting of an inductance,  $L_{dc}$ , and capacitance,  $C_{dc}$ . Finally, the three-phase switching transistor/IGBT inverter converts the dc link voltage to an ac voltage of desired frequency and magnitude. Depending on the control strategy and switching function applied to the inverter, different types of ASDs can be established. In this thesis, four types are considered: open-loop PWM V-Hz, closed-loop PWM V-Hz, direct torque controlled and field oriented ASD. Of these, the V-Hz control technique is currently the most common type of drive control.

#### 2.2.1 Rectifier circuit

The passive front-end three-phase diode bridge rectifier is the industry standard circuit for ac to dc voltage conversion. The operation of the three-phase bridge rectifier may be split into two distinctive modes: a) continuous current conduction mode, where the dc link filter inductor current never falls to zero, and b) discontinuous current conduction mode, where it does. The value of the dc link filter  $L_{dc}$  relative to the rated power of the ASD will dictate the mode of operation of the rectifier. Each of these two modes of operation are discussed below.

#### 2.2.1.1 Discontinuous current conduction mode

The diodes in the three-phase rectifier will rectify the input three-phase system voltage to produce an ac voltage with a dc offset,  $v_{rect}$ . This voltage follows the envelope of the maximum system line voltages, as shown in Figure 2.3(a). When  $v_{dc}$  is less than  $v_{rect}$ , current will be drawn from the supply system, and  $v_{dc}$  will increase as the dc link capacitor is charged, (conduction subinterval). However, due to inductances in the rectifier circuit,  $L_{dc}$  and  $L_{sys}$ , the capacitor charging current can not instantly increase, and there will be a period where the current supplied to rectifier load, i.e. to the inverter and motor, will still be greater than the charging current supplied by the system. Hence,  $v_{dc}$  will continue to decrease for this period. When  $v_{dc}$  is greater than  $v_{rect}$ , no current will be drawn from the supply system (cut-off subinterval), and the dc link capacitor will discharge through the rectifier load. However, again due to inductance in the conduction path  $L_{dc}$ , current can not instantaneously stop flowing when  $v_{dc}$  is greater than  $v_{rect}$ . Therefore, there is a period prior to the cut-off subinterval where the current is decreasing through  $L_{dc}$ , causing  $v_{dc}$  to continue to increase until the current through  $L_{dc}$  is zero. This charge and discharge process results in the current and voltage waveforms shown in Figure 2.3, which also shows conduction patterns for the diodes in Figure 2.2.



**Figure 2.3:** Associated waveforms of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in discontinuous current conduction mode.

## 2.2.1.2 Continuous current conduction mode

As previously explained, at the exact point when  $v_{dc}$  becomes greater than  $v_{rect}$ , current can not instantly stop flowing in the conduction path due to the presence of the inductances,  $L_{dc}$  and  $L_{sys}$ . In discontinuous conduction mode, the current has time to reduce to zero before the next phase starts to conduct. When a larger value of  $L_{dc}$  is used, continuous conduction mode is realised, and the current in the conduction path does not have time to fall to zero before the next phase starts to conduct. This results in a period where two conduction paths exist in the rectifier circuit simultaneously, with three diodes conducting (as one diode is common to both paths, as shown in Figure 2.4(b)). This period is generally referred to as the commutation subinterval and is only seen in continuous mode of operation.



**Figure 2.4:** Conduction paths of three-phase bridge rectifier during conduction and commutation subintervals.





in continuous current mode, along with the associated diode conduction patterns.

Figure 2.5: Associated waveforms of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in continuous current conduction mode.

It can be seen from Figure 2.5 (b) that the dc link current  $i_{dc}$  is continuous, following the envelope of the positive input line currents, as dc link current will always flow in the same direction. This current can be divided into the two subintervals: conduction and commutation. The conduction paths for each subinterval are shown in Figure 2.4.

The values of  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$  will both have an effect on whether the rectifier will operate in continuous or discontinuous mode. As discussed previously (Section 2.2.1.1), the greater the value of  $L_{dc}$  the longer the time that  $i_{dc}$  will take to fall to zero, after  $v_{dc}$  exceeds  $v_{rect}$ , and the more likely the rectifier will operate in a continuous conduction mode. The value of  $C_{dc}$  affects the ac ripple component of  $v_{dc}$ , with larger values of  $C_{dc}$  leading to a smaller ripple. If the ac voltage ripple component of the dc link voltage is reduced, there will be a shorter conduction sub-interval and therefore more time for the current in the rectifier conduction path to fall to zero before the conduction in the next phase begins. Accordingly, larger values of  $C_{dc}$  will tend to 'push' the rectifier towards discontinuous mode operation. It should also be noted that the rectifier operating in continuous current conduction mode supplies dc voltage to the inverter with a much smaller ripple component than the rectifier operating in discontinuous current conduction mode. This is of interest in further discussion of harmonic emissions of this load type in Section 2.5.

#### 2.2.2 Methods of drive control

After the conversion of ac voltage to dc voltage by the three-phase bridge rectifier, the dc voltage is converted back to a fully controllable ac voltage. This ac voltage is produced by means of a three-phase inverter, as previously shown in Figure 2.2. The most common inverter control is the pulse width modulated (PWM) control. The inverter consists of six switching devices, most commonly insulated gate bi-polar transistors (IGBT), but they can also be gate turn off thyristors (GTO), or metal oxide field effect transistors (MOSFETS). These switches are controlled by gate drive pulses derived from comparison of a high frequency triangular wave and a control signal. The phase, frequency and magnitude of this control signal sets the phase, frequency and magnitude of the inverter output voltage. Reference [48] gives a full description of the PWM method of inverter operation. The control signal can be generated by a number of methods. The most common method is a scalar based approaches. The block diagram in Figure 2.6, extracted from [49], summarises these control strategies.



Figure 2.6: Types of ASD control.

#### 2.2.2.1 Scalar based control

The scalar based approach is also known as the V/Hz control. Because of its simplicity, it is the most common control used in lower cost drives. V/Hz control operates on the principle that motor speed is proportional to the frequency of the motor stator voltage. In order to avoid motor magnetic saturation, the magnitude of the stator voltage must be changed proportionally to the frequency of the stator voltage. Therefore, by keeping the ratio of magnitude and frequency of the control signal constant, fairly accurate control of motor speed can be achieved. The V/Hz control can be implemented in either open-loop or closed-loop form. Open-loop control is simpler, as no feedback information about the actual motor speed is used in the control circuits. Therefore, the speed of the motor will vary around its set point with changes in machine loading

and system voltage. However, in some applications it is necessary to control the motor speed to be constant. In order to achieve this, closed-loop operation is used, where the actual motor speed is fed-back to the V/Hz controller, which then adjusts the magnitude and frequency of the control voltage to give desired motor speed. Reference [50] gives a detailed description of the theory behind and implementation of V/Hz control.

#### 2.2.2.2 Vector based control

Vector control techniques allow for precise control of induction motors, rivaling the precision control possible with that of dc machines. Vector control technique have only developed relatively recently and require complex hardware and software, hence additional cost. Therefore, vector control is currently less popular than the scalar control methods, and is usually used in high-end applications as a replacement to dc machines. However, as hardware cost reduces, vector control techniques are expected to become more used in the future. Vector control derives its name from the fact that both phase and amplitude of the motor voltage is controlled. There are various techniques of vector control, as outlined previously in Figure 2.6, the most common being field oriented and direct torque control. The theory behind the operation of these controls is given in more detail in [50] and [51].

# 2.3 Modelling of three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors

This section briefly discusses established induction motor and drive models. These models are then built in PSpice software and verified with existing in-built SimuLink models. PSpice software is selected for several reasons. Firstly, it is commonly recognised that PSpice is one of the most powerful modelling softwares on the market, in relation to the accurate representation of power electronic components. Thus, detailed models of the motor drive components can be constructed using this software. Also, PSpice is used for consistency, as all the other device models presented in this thesis are developed in PSpice. Finally, as measurement data was not available to validate the proposed motor and drive models, the developed PSpice models are used to provide validation of the existing SimuLink motor and drive models.

### 2.3.1 Motor modelling

Although the analysis in this thesis is concerned with steady state characteristics of induction motors, a full transient  $4^{th}$  order model is used during the investigation of motor/drive load models. This is due to two main reasons. Firstly, steady state models can not be used effectively

when motors are controlled by power electronics, i.e. in case of corresponding motor drives. Secondly, using full transient motor models at this stage of the work means that corresponding dynamic motor and drive load models can be developed at a later stage.

There are various methods to represent induction machines analytically. The most complex, and foundation of all models described in this section, is the ABC/abc representation. This representation assumes negligible saturation and losses in the machine core, as well as sinusoidal magnetomotive force (MMF) in the machine air gap. The ABC/abc model is the most diverse of the commonly used motor models, as it can be implemented in situations where the motor is unbalanced, i.e. when input voltages are unbalanced, or in the case of unequal phase impedances. The main disadvantage of this model is its complexity, which makes implementation hard, and results in long simulation times. The reason for this complexity is that many of the machine inductances are represented as functions of rotor speed. Therefore, the machine equations vary in time and are complex to solve. In order to simplify the ABC/abc induction motor model, it can be converted to the two-axis 'dq' reference frame representation. This conversion eliminates the time varying inductances, thus making the dq motor model far less complex than the ABC/abc motor model. The standard dq representation of the three-phase induction motor is given in (2.1) and the corresponding equivalent circuit is shown in Figure 2.7. A detailed description of the derivation of the ABC/abc motor model and its conversion to the dq model motor model can be found in [50] and [52].

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_{ds} \\ v_{qs} \\ v'_{dr} \\ v'_{qr} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r_s + L_s \rho & -\omega L_s & L_m \rho & -\omega L_m \\ \omega L_s & r_s + L_s \rho & \omega L_m & L_m \rho \\ L_m \rho & -(\omega - \omega_r) L_m & r'_r + L'_r \rho & -(\omega - \omega_r) L'_r \\ (\omega - \omega_r) L_m & L_m \rho & (\omega - \omega_r) L'_r & r'_r + L'_r \rho \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} i_{ds} \\ i_{qs} \\ i'_{dr} \\ i'_{qr} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.1)

where:  $r_s$ ,  $L_s$ ,  $r_r$ ,  $L'_r$  are stator and referred rotor resistance and leakage inductance,  $L_m$  is the magnetising inductance and  $i_{ds}$ ,  $i_{qs}$ ,  $i'_{dr}$  and  $i'_{qr}$  are stator and referred rotor currents. The stator dq voltages are calculated from abc voltages ( $v_a$ ,  $v_b$  and  $v_c$ ) using the following expressions:

$$v_{qs} = \frac{2}{3} \left[ v_a \cos \theta + v_b \cos \left( \theta - \frac{2\pi}{3} \right) + v_c \cos \left( \theta + \frac{2\pi}{3} \right) \right]$$
(2.2)

$$v_{ds} = \frac{2}{3} \left[ v_a \sin \theta + v_b \sin \left( \theta - \frac{2\pi}{3} \right) + v_c \sin \left( \theta + \frac{2\pi}{3} \right) \right]$$
(2.3)

where:  $\theta$  is phase angle of the reference abc voltage.



(b) q-axis equivalent circuit

Figure 2.7: Standard dq equivalent circuit for three-phase induction motor, [50].

The dq motor model is most commonly implemented in one of three reference frames, which are usually selected based on the type of analysis to be performed. The dq model presented in (2.1) is in the arbitrary reference frame, with conversion to the required reference frame performed by setting  $\omega$  to the desired rotational speed. The three commonly used reference frames, and typical types of analysis for which they are normally applied, are summarised below:

- Stationary reference frame  $\omega = 0$ , this reference frame is best used for the study of transients in the stator, or when the stator is fed by a variable speed drive.
- Rotor reference frame  $\omega = \omega_r$ , this reference frame is used when the rotor variables are of primary interest.
- Synchronously rotating reference frame  $\omega = \omega_e$ , this reference frame can be used to obtain faster simulation results, as larger step sizes can be used, but model detail is lost compared to the other two reference frames.

# 2.3.2 Development of PSpice directly connected three-phase induction motor model

The stationary reference frame dq motor model was implemented in PSpice software, as motor stator currents are of primary interest in this research, along with the ability to apply drive model to the motor model. As well as the dq motor model, ABC/dq and dq/ABC interfaces

were developed, allowing the analysis of the motor to take place in the ABC reference frame. The PSpice schematics of the developed three-phase motor and interface models are shown in Appendix A.1.

In order to validate the developed PSpice motor model, results of simulations were compared with those produced by the SimuLink motor model, found in the SimPowerSystems block-set [53]. The SimPowerSystems model of the 4kW induction motor was used for the comparison, with the same motor parameters also applied to the PSpice motor model. Figure 2.8 shows the results of this comparison, where both motor models are energised and allowed to reach full rated speed unloaded. Then, rated mechanical loading is applied. The comparison shows that the PSpice and SimuLink models match each other well for rotor speed, rotor mechanical torque and stator input current. This verifies the developed PSpice motor model.



(c) Phase a input current

**Figure 2.8:** Comparison between Simulink and PSpice results for directly connected 4kW induction motor models.

#### **2.3.3** Development of PSpice three-phase drive model

The model of the motor drive was implemented in PSpice software, based on the typical ASD, previously shown in Figure 2.2. The full PSpice schematic of the three-phase ASD can be found in Appendix A.2. Initially, a 4kW ASD was built with the following typical drive components:

Rectifier diodes are typical diodes, which are commonly used in drive applications, for

example diode DN4722 [54] in the case of the 4kW ASD.

- **DC link filter components** are standard PSpice inductor and capacitor models, used to represent the dc link filter components  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$ .
- **Inverter switches** are typical IGBT components, for which the ST Microelectronics STGW40nc60v [55] was selected.
- **Motor** is represented as the stationary reference frame dq model of a 4kW induction motor (as described in Section 2.3.1).

#### 2.3.3.1 Validation of PSpice ASD model

In order to validate the developed PSpice ASD model, a SimuLink ASD model was also developed. Both ASD models where built to represent a typical 4kW V/Hz controlled ASD. Nominal values of  $C_{dc}$  were selected, (see Section 2.4) and  $L_{dc}$  was set to zero. The results of the comparison between these two models are shown in Figure 2.9. The drive-controlled motor is in both cases started initially unloaded until nominal speed is achieved. Subsequently, full rated load is applied to the drive-controlled motor. Both models show good matching to each other. However, the PSpice model draws slightly more input current than the SimuLink model, which is due to additional losses in the PSpice drive model and a more accurate representation of the inverter IGBT switches. This is discussed in more detail in Section 2.3.3.2. The results of the comparisons provide validation for the developed PSpice ASD model.

#### 2.3.3.2 Modelling power electronic switching devices

Full models of the bridge rectifier diodes and IGBT switches based on actual components were used in the PSpice ASD model. The PSpice diode model structure is common and independent of what diode parameters are selected. Therefore, modelling specific diodes has little effect on simulation run time. However, the PSpice model of an IGBT component is complex, leading to a considerable increase in simulation run time when this model is implemented. To investigate whether it is necessary to include the detailed IGBT model for the analysis in this thesis, a comparison was made between the results obtained using the full IGBT model and an ideal switch. The SimuLink ASD model was also included in this comparison, where the SimuLink standard diode and IGBT models were used. The 4kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD was implemented for these comparisons. The results are shown in Figure 2.10.

The results of the comparison show that the use of ideal switches leads to a slight under estimation of the drive losses (less than 1%), while the general characteristics of the ASD remain unchanged. For the purposes of this analysis, it is acceptable to represent IGBTs as ideal switches, avoiding long simulation times associated with the use of IGBTs. A similar conclusion is also reached in [56].





Figure 2.10: Comparison between different IGBT models.

# 2.4 Typical dc link filter component values

The dc link filter circuit of an ASD is typically formed by a relatively large shunt capacitance,  $C_{dc}$ , and a relatively small inductance,  $L_{dc}$ . The values of the  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$  will depend on the individual application of the ASD, the power rating of the ASD (low-power ASDs often do not have  $L_{dc}$ , [57]), the desired mode of operation of the ASD (continuous or discontinuous) and, in some cases, the specific manufacturer of the ASD. The reference [57] identified and presented a range of values for inductive and capacitive dc link reactance  $X_{Ldc} = \omega \cdot L_{dc} = 0.002pu - 0.1pu$ , with 0.035pu being the typical value for the inductive reactance, and  $X_{Cdc} = \frac{1}{\omega \cdot C_{dc}} = 0.004pu - 0.4pu$ , with 0.2pu being a typical value for the capacitive reactance. The presented range of typical values of  $C_{dc}$  are further confirmed in [58–60], while the typical values of  $L_{dc}$  are confirmed in [60]. For the calculation of the per-unit reactance values, the following formulas are used:

$$X_{base} = \frac{V_{phase}}{I_{line}} \tag{2.4}$$

$$X_{pu} = \frac{X_{\Omega}}{X_{base}} \tag{2.5}$$

where:  $V_{phase}$  is the rms value of the input ac phase voltage,  $I_{line}$  is the rms value of the input ac line current, and  $X_{base}$ ,  $X_{pu}$  and  $X_{\Omega}$  are base, per-unit and ohmic reactance, respectively.

# 2.5 Harmonic limits

From the previous discussions of rectifier operation, it is clear that the three-phase rectifier will draw non-sinusoidal current from the supply system that is rich in harmonics. In order to limit the amount of harmonic injected into the supply system, EU-wide harmonic legislation was put in place in 2001. This legislation defines different harmonic limits depending on the rated phase current of the load in question, with the limits split between loads that draw less than 16A per phase (EN 61000-3-2, [30]) and those that draw current greater than 16A per phase (IEC 61000-3-12, [61]) and (IEC 61800-3, [62]). Each of these limits is now discussed.

### 2.5.1 ASD with nominal input current less than 16A per phase

For a three-phase ASD, maximum input current of 16A per phase at line voltage of 400V (230 V phase) corresponds to a rated power of approximately 11kVA. The harmonic standard relevant in this situation is [30]. This standard states that harmonic limits are not applicable to "professional equipment" of rated power greater than 1kW, with professional equipment being defined as:

'Equipment for use in trades, professions, or industries and which is not intended for sale to the general public. The designation shall be specified by the manufacturer, [30]'

Thus, ASDs with rated power less than 11kVA will be classed as professional equipment, and no specific harmonic limits will be applied to them. This is also confirmed in [63]. It should also be noted that ASD of smaller than 1kW rated power in this work are considered as single-phase adjustable speed drives (SASD), and are discussed in the Chapter 3.

#### 2.5.2 ASDs with nominal input current greater than 16A per phase

If an individual ASD, or a group of ASDs all connected to the same point in a particular installation, exceeds 16A per-phase, then harmonic limits stipulated in [61] apply. These harmonic limits are based on the short-circuit ratio of the supply system at the point of connection of the load(s). Further, if an individual ASD, or an aggregate of ASDs in the same installation, exceeds 75A, [62] applies. This standard stipulates that a harmonic study should be carried out in order to determine the impacts of connecting this load. In both cases, if harmonic reduction is required, it will be performed externally to the ASD. Therefore, the design of individual ASD will not be dictated by harmonic limits, as these harmonic limits will vary dependent on where the ASD is connected to the supply system, and how much ASD/non-linear load is to be connected, or is connected, at that point.

### 2.5.3 Summary of relevant harmonic limits and their effect on ASD design

From the above discussion, it can be concluded that the design of an individual ASD, specifically the value of  $L_{dc}$  in the ASD, will not be dictated by harmonic legislation. This is an important conclusion, as for the other non-linear linear loads considered in this thesis harmonic legislation will have a large influence on their design. Harmonic correction will be applied externally to the ASD, and therefore should be considered on a specific case-by-case basis.

Having stated that the design of a typical ASD is not expected to be determined by the present harmonic legislation, it is still important to make the point that the mode of operation of the rectifier will have a considerable effect on the harmonic content of the rectifier input current. Figure 2.11 shows the current waveforms and associated harmonics for a typical rectifier operating in discontinuous and continuous current conduction modes, (i.e.,  $X_{Ldc} = 0$  and  $X_{Ldc} = 0.035$  pu). It can be seen from Figure 2.11 that the rectifier operating in continuous current conduction mode will draw considerably less harmonics from the supply system than the rectifier operating in discontinuous conduction mode. This also means that there will be two distinctive sub-types of ASD loads, those operating in continuous mode and those operating in discontinuous mode.



**Figure 2.11:** Current waveforms and associated harmonics for a typical ASD operating in (a) discontinuous current operation mode and (b) continuous current operation mode.

# 2.6 Active and reactive power demand characteristics of three-phase directly connected induction motors

The characteristics of directly connected motors of different rated active power are now analysed, followed by an investigation of the effect of different motor mechanical loading conditions. The different types of mechanical loading conditions, corresponding to motors used in different applications, are discussed in Section 2.1.1. From these studies, polynomial and exponential load models are developed and compared to existing models.

## 2.6.1 Per-unit comparison of motors of different rated power

As presented in the introduction of this chapter, the vast majority of directly connected three-phase motors will be low voltage motors with rated power from around 1 kW to 200 kW. Accordingly, Simulink in-built motor models where used to investigate the change in active and reactive power consumption with change in system voltage for motors with rated mechanical powers of 4 kW, 7 kW, 15 kW, 37 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW. These motors are loaded with constant torque mechanical load for this stage of the analysis. The results are presented in per unit (pu), using the following base powers:

$$P_{base} = P_{nom} \tag{2.6}$$

$$Q_{base} = \tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_{nom})) \cdot P_{nom}$$
(2.7)

Where:  $P_{nom}$  is the motor rated electrical active power, i.e. nominal active power drawn by motor when loaded with rated mechanical load and operated at nominal voltage,  $PF_{nom}$  is the motor nominal power factor, i.e., nameplate power factor.

#### 2.6.1.1 Active Power

The analysis in Figure 2.12 shows that the rating of a particular motor only has a small effect on its active power demand characteristics. Figure 2.12 also shows a best fit of these results (see Section 2.7.1), which indicates that the difference between motor per unit active power is always less than  $\pm 1\%$  for all investigated motors, even at the ends of considered voltage range. The results show two rough groupings of motor P-V characteristics: those with rated powers below 15 kW, and those above. This is due to motor losses represented by motor efficiency in Figure 2.13. It can be seen that lower power motors are significantly less efficient than higher power motors (due to different design). Also, the efficiency-voltage,  $\eta - V$ , characteristics of higher power motors are more flat, showing slight reduction only at lower values of system voltage. However, as motor power reduces, correspondingly  $\eta - V$  characteristics become more sensitive, with motor efficiency reducing rapidly at lower values of system voltage. Accordingly, the difference between P-V characteristics of lower and higher power motors is the most pronounced at lower values of system voltage.



Figure 2.12: Comparison between active power demand characteristics of directly connected motors of different rated powers.



Figure 2.13: Comparison between efficiencies of directly connected motors of different rated powers.

## 2.6.1.2 Reactive power demand and power factor

The changes in reactive power demand with changes in system voltage, Q-V characteristics, are shown for the considered motors in Figure 2.14. It can be seen that motors of different rated powers will have relatively similar Q-V characteristics. The maximum deviation from a line

of best fit (Figure 2.14) is around  $\pm 4\%$  in the considered voltage range. But this deviation is reduced to less than  $\pm 2\%$  if the voltage range of 0.9-1.1pu is considered.

The change in power factor with system voltage, PF-V characteristics, of the considered motors are shown in Figure 2.15(a). It can be seen that motors of lower rated power will have lower power factors than motors with higher rated power. The PF-V characteristics of the 4kW motor show the largest variation of all considered motors, with the other motors all having similar PF-V characteristics (160 kW motor has lowest variations). In order to compare these characteristics directly, the power factor of each motor can be normalised relative to the nominal motor power factor. The normalised power factors and associated line of best fit of these characteristics for considered motors are shown in Figure 2.15(b). It can be seen that the normalised PF-V characteristics of the considered motors are similar to each other, with a  $\pm 3\%$  variation between results over full considered voltage range (0.8 to 1.2pu), and less than  $\pm 1.5\%$  variation for the reduced voltage range (0.9 to 1.1pu).



Figure 2.14: Comparison between reactive power characteristics of directly connected motors of different rated powers.



**Figure 2.15:** Comparison between power factors of directly connected motors of different rated powers.

## 2.6.2 Motor loaded with different mechanical loads

The effects of motor mechanical loading on motor P-V and Q-V characteristics are considered next. Two motors are selected for this more detailed investigation: the 4 kW and the 160 kW motors. The 4 kW motor is chosen specifically to represent lower-power motors, as it is in the middle of the power range that makes up over three quarters of the induction motor market (Table 2.1). The 160 kW motor is selected as it represents typical large low voltage motors. The 160 kW motor's P-V and Q-V characteristics also show little variance compared to the other higher power motors (37 and 75 kW). Four general types of mechanical load (as discussed in Section 2.1.1) were applied to each induction motor and simulations were run. Figures 2.16 and 2.17 show these results.



**Figure 2.16:** *Characteristics of a directly connected 4kW three-phase motor for four different types of mechanical loading.* 

It can been seen from Figure 2.16 that the P-V characteristics of the 4 kW motor will be significantly influenced by the mechanical loading applied to the motor. A maximum difference of 11% in P-V characteristics occurs between quadratic and constant mechanical power load at 0.8pu system voltage. This difference reduces as system voltage approaches nominal and then increases again to a value of 4% at 1.2pu system voltage. The motor mechanically loaded with linear torque shows a fairly constant P-V characteristic. For the motor loaded with constant torque or constant mechanical power load, active power consumption is increased with reduction in system voltage. This is because the motor is now supplying similar or the same mechanical power at lower values of system voltage as at 1pu, but this time at reduced motor efficiency, Figure 2.16(d). Quadratic torque motor loading has the opposite effect on the



Figure 2.17: Characteristics of a directly connected 160kW three-phase motor for four different types of mechanical loading.

4kW motor's P-V characteristics, with active power consumption reducing with reduction in system voltage. This is because the quadratic relationship between torque and speed leads to a fairly significant reduction in required torque at lower motor speeds (i.e. due to lower system voltage) compared to the other considered mechanical loads, see Figure 2.1.

The PF-V, Q-V and  $\eta - V$  characteristics of the 4kW motor, on the other hand, will vary little with the change of mechanical loading condition. These characteristics are influenced mainly by the changes in the supply system voltage. This is because the magnetising current (i.e. reactive element of motor current) drawn by the motor will predominantly be a function of system voltage. The reason for this can be explained from observing the motor equivalent circuit in Figure 2.7, where the motor magnetisation branch is electrically parallel to the supply system voltage.

Figure 2.17 shows that the variations in P-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor when motor loading is changed are far less pronounced than for 4 kW motor. This is because the efficiency of the 160 kW motor shows only a small variation, 3%, over the considered voltage range, compared with 9% variation for the 4 kW motor. Thus, the maximum difference in active power demand between different mechanical loading types is less than 1.5%, for the considered range of system voltage (0.8 to 1.2pu). It can also be seen from the results presented in Figure 2.17 that the PF-V, Q-V and  $\eta - V$  characteristics of the 160 kW motor are essentially independent of the type of motor mechanical loading.

# 2.7 Exponential and polynomial load models of three-phase directly connected motors

Exponential and polynomial models of higher and lower power motors are derived from the result presented in Section 2.6. The least square curve fitting method is used to find the coefficients of the exponential and polynomial models. This method is described in the following section.

#### 2.7.1 Least square curve fitting

A standard approach to fit a particular model to a desired data set is to use the least square method. This method achieves the 'best-fit' of a model to observed data when the squares of the model residuals are lowest/least. A model residual is the difference between observed data value and value predicted by the model. In order to explain this method more clearly, an example is now presented.

#### 2.7.1.1 Example of least square method

The P-V characteristics of an example load are given as (0.8,1.073), (0.9,1.016), (1.0,1), (1.1,1.006) and (1.2, 1.022). In order to find the exponential model of this example load, the value of exponential model coefficient np that best represent the example data must be found. According to the least square method, these values of exponential model coefficient np are the values that will give the lowest sum of the squares of model residuals. This problem may also be expressed as shown in (2.8), where the 'best' value of np must be selected to solve presented system of equations.

$$\begin{bmatrix} (0.8)^{np} = 1.073\\ (0.9)^{np} = 1.016\\ (1.0)^{np} = 1.000\\ (1.1)^{np} = 1.006\\ (1.2)^{np} = 1.022 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.8)

In order to obtain the 'best' value of np, the minimum value of the function shown in (2.9) must be determined. This can readily be achieved by finding the partial derivative of this function, with respect to np, and setting it zero. This same method may also be used to find the coefficients of the polynomial model, but in this case there will be three unknown parameters, and the solution to the partial differential equations will be more complex. There are various available software tools that directly implement the least square method of curve

fitting, creating and solving the partial differential equations. In this thesis, the MatLab function 'lsqcurvefit' [64] was used.

$$S(np) = [1.073 - (0.8)^{np}]^2 + [1.016 - (0.9)^{np}]^2 + [1.000 - (1.0)^{np}]^2 + (2.9) + [1.006 - (1.1)^{np}]^2 + [1.022 - (1.2)^{np}]^2$$

Exponential and polynomial models derived from the example P-V data are shown in Figure 2.18. It can be seen that the exponential model is unable to provide close matching to the example data, because it has only one adjustable parameter, np. Conversely, polynomial model shows much better matching. Therefore, when representing loads with non-linear P-V and Q-V characteristics, the polynomial model will provide better matching than the exponential model.



**Figure 2.18:** *Example data fitting of exponential and polynomial models using the least square method.* 

## 2.7.2 Higher power motors

The previous section has shown that there is only a small variation in the P-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor when different mechanical loads are applied. Furthermore, it has been shown that the P-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor are representative of higher-power motors, i.e. motors with rated active power 15-160 kW. Therefore, the P-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor mechanically loaded with linear torque can be used to represent P-V characteristics of higher-power motor and without any significant error. The same generalisation can be made

for the Q-V characteristics of higher-power motors, as the Q-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor show even less variation with type of mechanical loading than P-V characteristics. As well, the per-unit Q-V characteristics of the considered higher-power motors are all similar.

The P-V and Q-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor mechanically loaded with linear torque are used to derive exponential and polynomial models of higher-power motor load, using the least square method as presented in Section 2.7.1. The derived exponential and polynomial coefficients are shown in Table 2.6. Figure 2.19 shows plots of these models compared with the original motor data. It can be seen that the polynomial model is able to predict both P-V and Q-V characteristics with only a slight error. However, the exponential model can not exactly match the P-V and Q-V characteristics of the 160 kW motor. Small error is seen in P-V characteristic prediction, but up to 8% error is seen in the prediction of Q-V characteristics.

**Table 2.6:** Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of higher power motors.

Loading	$PF_{nom}$	Exp. N	Model	Polynomial Model					
		np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
All	0.9	-0.01	1.13	0.03	-0.06	1.04	1.60	-2.10	1.5



**Figure 2.19:** Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for higher power directly connected three-phase induction motors, compared with previous models from existing literature.

Also shown in Figure 2.19 are existing exponential load models for large industrial motors as presented in Table 2.3. It can be seen that the existing exponential load models suggest a wide possible range of P-V characteristics (np from -0.01 to 0.07), with the proposed models fitting within this range. There was no further information provided in references as to what type of motor mechanical loading was considered in these previous models, or what the definition of 'large' industrial motors is in terms of motor rated power. There were no polynomial models of higher power motors found in literature, so no further comparison with these models can be

made. The comparisons in Figure 2.19 also show that the matching of Q-V characteristics between the previous large industrial motors models and developed motor models are not ideal, although the characteristics are somewhat similar. Again, it is hard to make further comment about the reasons for this mismatching, as there is no further data about the previously developed motor load models. It should be noted that the nominal power factors of proposed and previous models are very similar.

The results presented so far in this chapter with regards to modelling of higher-power directly connected three-phase motors are generally in good agreement with the previous work in this area. But the presented results have additionally shown that the type of motor mechanical loading will have no significant effect on the P-V or Q-V characteristics of higher-power directly connected three-phase induction motors.

#### 2.7.3 Lower power motors

As it has been shown that all considered lower-power motors (4-15 kW) will have very similar P-V and Q-V characteristics, they are represented by the 4 kW motor.

It can be seen from Figure 2.16 that the P-V characteristics of lower-power motors will vary fairly significantly based on the applied motor mechanical loading conditions. Thus, if the approach used in the previous section is adopted, and if all P-V characteristics are assumed to follow a linear torque characteristics, maximum errors of 8%, 3% and 4% in the prediction of motor P-V characteristics, for motors mechanically loaded with constant torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power, respectively, would be incurred. The Q-V characteristics of lower-power motors, on the other hand, are essentially independent of type of motor mechanical loading.

Accordingly, when representing the P-V characteristics of lower-power three-phase induction motors, the type of mechanical load the motor is driving should be considered. Table 2.7 presents exponential and polynomial model coefficients of lower-power directly connected three-phase motors, depending on motor mechanical loading condition. Figures 2.20 and 2.21 show these exponential models plotted against the original motor data. Once again, it can be seen that the polynomial model is able to provide more accurate representation of the desired characteristics than the exponential model.

Figures 2.20 and 2.21 also show previously presented exponential models of lower-power industrial motors, Table 2.3. It can be seen that the previous exponential models all have P-V characteristics similar to each other and closely match that of the proposed quadratic torque lower power motor model. There is greater variation/error between the Q-V characteristics of the previous load models of small industrial and air conditioner motor loads with the proposed

load models, and very good match of the previous exponential model of pump/fan load. The power factors of previous load models are higher than those of the proposed load models. It should again be noted that the actual rated power of the previous load models is not known, which may account for the differences in power factors. This can be seen from Figure 2.15 which shows that a 15 kW motor has a similar power factor to those of the previously presented lower power motor models.

It has been shown that the developed models for lower power motors are generally in agreement with the previous work. It has also been shown that when representing the P-V characteristics of lower-power directly connected three-phase motors the type of motor mechanical loading will effect these characteristics and should be considered. However, the Q-V characteristics of these motors are not significantly affected by the type of motor mechanical loading.

Londing		Exp. Model		Polynomial Model					
Loading	ГГлот	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
СТ	0.83	-0.1	1.44	0.27	-0.63	1.36	1.55	-1.7	1.15
LT	0.83	0.02	1.44	0.02	-0.02	1.0	1.55	-1.7	1.15
QT	0.83	0.13	1.44	-0.15	0.43	0.72	1.55	-1.7	1.15
СР	0.83	-0.25	1.44	0.64	-1.53	1.89	1.55	-1.7	1.15
Where: CT, LT and QT are constant, linear and quadratic torque loads,									
while CP is constant mechanical power load.									

 Table 2.7: Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of lower power motors.



**Figure 2.20:** Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for lower power directly connected three-phase induction motors, compared with previous models, P-V characteristics.



Figure 2.21: Proposed exponential and polynomial model results for lower power directly connected three-phase induction motors, compared with previous models, Q-V characteristics.

# 2.8 Active and non-active power demand characteristics of ASDs

As discussed in the introduction to this chapter, at present there is little specific guidance on the representation of ASDs in power system studies. Thus, investigation into the general characteristics of several typical ASDs of different rated powers, types of drive control and mechanical loading is performed in this section.

### **2.8.1** Per-unit comparison of ASDs at different rated powers

Similarly to the directly connected motors, the majority of ASDs will be connected to the low voltage system. They will be of rated active power in the range 1 kW to 200 kW. Therefore, the same 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW directly connected motors, discussed before, are used to develop ASD models of the corresponding electrical powers. This is achieved by adding standard VSI drives, introduced in Section 2.2, to these motors. Four different drive control strategies were implemented, each representing a different type of ASD. The considered ASD control strategies are: open-loop V/Hz, closed-loop V/Hz, field oriented (FOC) and direct torque control (DTC). As discussed previously, the V/Hz controlled ASD is currently the most common type of ASD. However, it is expected that the number of more advanced types of ASDs (FOC and DTC) will increase over the next years. Hence, they are included in this analysis.

Initially, in order to perform direct comparisons between the ASDs, nominal values of  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$ , as described in Section 2.4, were used. In order to compare ASDs of different rated powers directly, it is important that the applied ASD parameters ( $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$ ) are in per unit, i.e. scaled to the rated power of the ASD. However, this presents a slight problem when considering system impedance, as although not an ASD parameter, it will have an effect on ASD non-active power demand characteristics (this effect is discussed in more details in Section 2.8.3). For the purposes of this thesis, the typical residential system impedance, as discussed in Section 1.8, is taken as nominal system impedance for the 4 kW ASD. Using this point as reference, the system impedance is converted to a per-unit value and applied to the ASDs of different rated powers. The alternative to this approach is to simply set system impedance to zero for all considered ASDs. However, this is a very unrealistic situation, and will have adverse effects on (modelling) ASD operation, as is discussed in Section 2.8.3.

The characteristics of ASDs of different rated powers and types are now investigated, and the results are presented in Figures 2.22 to 2.25. All considered ASDs were set to run at nominal speed and loaded with constant torque mechanical load. In order to present the results in a concise and compact manner, the non-active power characteristics of the ASDs are represented by the fundamental reactive power ( $Q_1$ ) and the total harmonic distortion (THD) of the drive input current (for definitions see Section 1.7). The results for both active and fundamental reactive power demand are presented in per unit, enabling direct comparison between ASDs of different rated powers. The per-unit bases are taken as the active and fundamental reactive power demand of the considered ASD when operated with nominal values of dc link filter components, nominal system impedance, mechanically loaded with nominal load, run at nominal speed and supplied by nominal system voltage. The efficiency ( $\eta$ ) of the ASDs is expressed as a percentage, and defined as the ratio of the output (motor) mechanical power to input (drive) electrical power.

#### 2.8.1.1 V/Hz open-loop controlled ASDs

The P-V characteristics of the open-loop V/Hz operated ASDs are presented in Figure 2.22(a). They have a similar shape to those of the directly connected motors, previously discussed in Section 2.6.1.1. Due to drive losses, the open-loop ASDs will, however, draw more active power to supply the same constant torque mechanical load. The effect of drive losses can be seen in Figure 2.22(d), where ASDs are around 3-5% less efficient than directly connected motors (Figure 2.13). At lower values of system voltage (less than 1.0pu), a clear difference can be observed between the P-V characteristics of lower power 4 kW open-loop ASD and higher power 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW open-loop ASDs. At higher values of system voltage (greater than 1pu), all considered open-loop ASDs exhibit more similar P-V characteristics. This is due to the  $\eta - V$  characteristics of the open-loop ASDs, which all show reduction in efficiency at lower values of system voltage, with the 4 kW ASD showing the greatest reduction. At higher



**Figure 2.22:** Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW V/Hz open-loop controlled ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.

values of system voltage, the efficiencies of all the open-loop ASDs are much more similar. Non-active power characteristics are discussed in Section 2.8.1.4.

#### 2.8.1.2 V/Hz closed-loop controlled ASDs

The closed-loop V/HZ operated ASD P-V characteristics are shown in Figure 2.23(a). These P-V characteristics show that the ASDs draw more active power at lower values of system voltage, and have similar powers at higher system voltages when compared to open-loop ASDs. This is due to the closed-loop control, acting to keep the ASD speed constant with change in system voltage. As the closed-loop ASDs are loaded with constant torque load, the resulting mechanical power is constant with respect to change in system voltage. Thus, compared to open-loop ASDs, closed-loop ASDs will draw more active power at lower values of system voltage and less active power at higher values of system voltage. The increased consumption of active power at lower values of system voltage also results in slightly increased losses in the closed-loop ASDs, Figure 2.23(d). This will further increase the difference in P-V characteristics between open-loop and closed-loop ASDs. Again, it can be seen that there is a clear distinction between the P-V characteristics of lower-power and higher-power closed-loop ASDs, at lower values of system voltage. Their non-active power characteristics are discussed in Section 2.8.1.4.


**Figure 2.23:** Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW V/Hz closed-loop controlled ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.

#### 2.8.1.3 ASDs with advanced drive control

The P-V characteristics of ASDs with advanced drive controls (FOC and DTC), are shown in Figures 2.24(a) and 2.25(a) respectively. It can be seen that both types of ASDs operate in essentially the same manner from a load modelling viewpoint. The P-V characteristics are essentially constant and very similar for all considered ASD rated powers. This is due to the advanced drive control, regulating the motor speed and keeping the losses constant. Hence, the efficiency of the ASDs is also constant with changes in system voltage.



**Figure 2.24:** Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW field oriented control ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.



**Figure 2.25:** Comparison of 4 kW, 15 kW, 75 kW and 160 kW direct torque controlled ASD characteristics, mechanically loaded with constant torque load.

#### 2.8.1.4 Non-active power characteristics

Figures 2.22 to 2.25, subplots (b) and (c) show the non-active power demand characteristics of the considered ASDs. From comparison of these results it can be seen that the  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of the ASDs are influenced by the P-V characteristics of the ASD. The results in Figures 2.24 and 2.25 help to show that the type of the ASD has no significant effect on ASD non-active power characteristics. This is further confirmed by observing the THD-V characteristics of all considered ASDs, which are very similar to each other. This is because these characteristics are dominated by the front-end bridge rectifier, dc link filter and to a much lesser extent the system impedance, which in this analysis is common (due to per-unit values being selected) to all considered ASDs. These non-active power demand characteristics of ASDs are discussed further in Section 2.8.3.

# 2.8.2 Characteristics of ASDs with different types of mechanical loading conditions

The effect of motor mechanical loading on ASD P-V and N-V characteristics are considered next. The two ASDs selected for this more detailed investigation are the 4 kW and the 160 kW ASDs, for the same reasons discussed in Section 2.6.2. These ASDs are set up in exactly the same way as in the previous analysis, albeit with the application of different mechanical loads.

#### 2.8.2.1 V/Hz open-loop operated ASDs

The P-V characteristics of the open-loop controlled 4 kW and 160 kW ASDs loaded with the four common types of mechanical load are shown in Figures 2.26(a) and 2.27(a) respectively. From these results it can again be seen that the P-V characteristics of both ASDs are similar to those of the directly connected motors with corresponding powers. The 4kW ASD exhibits a maximum difference of 17% in active power between ASD mechanically loaded with quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loads at 0.8pu system voltage. This is compared to a 2% variation in the 160 kW ASD. The differences are smaller at higher values of system voltage, but are still around 10% for the 4 kW ASD and less than 1% for the 160 kW ASD. The  $\eta - V$  characteristics of both open-loop ASDs (Figures 2.26(d) and 2.27(d)) are similar in shape to the corresponding directly connected motors, although with lower values due to drive losses. Additionally, as the maximum difference between active power consumption is now 17% for the 4 kW ASD (previously 10% for the directly connected motor), it is apparent that the drive losses will not be constant with voltage.



Figure 2.26: Characteristics of 4 kW open-loop operated ASDs, for four types of mechanical loading.



**Figure 2.27:** Characteristics of 160 kW open-loop operated ASDs, for four types of mechanical loading.

#### 2.8.2.2 V/Hz closed loop operated ASDs

Figures 2.28 and 2.29 show the results of the analysis for closed-loop operated 4 kW and 160 kW ASDs. It can be seen that for all considered mechanical loading conditions, P-V and  $\eta - V$  characteristics correspond to that of the open-loop operated ASD loaded with a constant power mechanical load (as explained in Section 2.8.1.2). This is because the drive will control the speed of the motor so that it is constant with the changes in supply system voltage magnitude, keeping the mechanical power drawn from the motor constant. The slight variation in the results is due to the allowed  $\pm 1\%$  error band in adjusted speed of the implemented closed-loop ASD controller.



Figure 2.28: Characteristics of 4 kW closed-loop operated ASDs, for four types of mechanical loading.



Figure 2.29: Characteristics of 160 kW closed-loop operated ASDs, for four types of mechanical loading.

#### 2.8.2.3 Advanced drive controlled

The comparisons of the advanced drive controls are presented in Figures 2.30 to 2.33, illustrating that their P-V characteristics are independent of the type of motor mechanical load. All ASDs show constant P-V characteristics for the considered voltage range. Both types of advanced drive controls have essentially the same characteristics for all considered power quantities. Again, this is due to the method of drive control that keeps motor speed and therefore mechanical loading constant, maintaining constant losses.



**Figure 2.30:** Characteristics of 4 kW direct torque controlled ASDs, with four types of mechanical loading.

#### Three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors



Figure 2.31: Characteristics of 160 kW direct torque controlled ASDs, with four types of mechanical loading.



Figure 2.32: Characteristics of 4 kW field oriented controlled ASDs, with four types of mechanical loading.



Figure 2.33: Characteristics of 160 kW field oriented controlled ASDs, with four types of mechanical loading.

#### 2.8.2.4 Non-active power demand characteristics

The results of the comparison between the non-active power demand characteristics of the considered ASDs for different mechanical loads are shown in Figures 2.26 to 2.33, subplots (b) and (c). It can again be seen that ASD non-active power characteristics are influenced by ASD active power characteristics. The shape and magnitude of these non-active power characteristics and how they depend on system impedance, ASD dc link filter components, ASD active power demand and change in system voltage are all discussed in the following section.

# 2.8.3 Effect of dc link filter components and system impedance on characteristics of ASD

Detailed discussion of ASD non-active power demand characteristics has been postponed until this section, as these characteristics depend mainly on the value of dc link filter components, and to a lesser extent, system impedance. As shown in the previous subsections, the type and rated power of the ASD will have little effect on non-active power characteristics. Therefore, the 4 kw open-loop controlled ASD is used for this analysis and is taken as being representative of all considered ASDs.

Firstly, the effect of system impedance on the characteristics of the 4 kW ASD are considered. Figure 2.34 shows the P-V and N-V characteristics of the 4 kW ASD for applied minimum, nominal and maximum values of system impedance. The, minimum and maximum typical values of system impedance are taken as being  $\pm$  50% of the nominal value of system impedance, as defined in Section 1.8. Next, the effect on ASD characteristics of altering the dc link components, i.e.  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$  is investigated. The information presented in Section 2.4 is used to define maximum, nominal and minimum values of  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$ , with minimum value of  $L_{dc}$  taken as zero. Figure 2.35 shows the results of this analysis with system impedance taken as nominal.



**Figure 2.34:** Comparison between 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD for maximum, nominal and minimum values of system impedance and motor loaded with constant torque load.

#### 2.8.3.1 Discussion of characteristics

The results presented Figure 2.34 show that change in value of system impedance will have essentially no effect on the P-V and a slight effect on the N-V characteristics of the ASD. Two reasons why the system impedance affects the N-V characteristics of the ASD are: a) it will dictate the rate of rise and rate of fall of the ASD input current during the ASD commutation subinterval (assuming ASD is operating in continuous current conduction mode) and b) it will have an effect on the shape of the ASD input current waveform during the conduction subinterval (for full discussion see Section 2.11). Therefore, change in system impedance



**Figure 2.35:** Comparison between 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD for a range of dc link components values, nominal system impedance and motor loaded with constant torque load.

will affect the shape of the ASD input current waveform and hence alter the non-active power characteristics of the ASD. It can be seen that the difference in  $Q_1$ -V characteristics between minimum and maximum values of system impedance is greatest at 0.8pu system voltage, with a difference of 10% in the prediction of fundamental reactive power demand. However, it should be noted that the displacement power factor of the ASD at nominal voltage only changes from 0.987 to 0.989 between minimum and maximum values of system impedance. As PF<sub>1</sub> is close to unity, this small change has a relatively large effect on per-unit Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics, although the effect on absolute reactive power flow will not be significant (as Q<sub>1</sub> is low). The difference between the current THD of the ASD at maximum and minimum values of system impedance is approximately 6.5% at nominal voltage, increasing to a maximum value of approximately 10% at 1.2pu system voltage. Thus, the value of the system impedance will have little influence on the harmonic content of the ASD current waveform.

The effect of changing the values of dc link filter components on ASD power characteristics is shown in Figure 2.35. It can be seen that ASD P-V characteristics are essentially independent

of the values of dc link filter components for the considered range of values. However, Figure 2.35(d) shows that larger values of dc link filter components result in higher ASD displacement power factors. Accordingly, the ASD will consume less reactive power for higher  $C_{dc}/L_{dc}$ . Also, the gradient of the Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics will change depending on the dc link filter components (negative for minimum values and positive for nominal and maximum values). This occurs because the value of  $L_{dc}$  dictates the mode of ASD operation, which can be either continuous or discontinuous (as explained in Section 2.2.1.2). Low or zero values of  $L_{dc}$  result in the ASD operating in discontinuous current conduction mode. In this mode of operation, the ASD input current consists of two distinct pulses, Figure 2.36(a). As system voltage is increased, these pulses narrow and the peaks reduce in magnitude, making the pulses slightly more symmetrical with respect to the system voltage maximum and therefore the displacement power factor increases. Conversely, when the ASD operates in continuous current conduction mode, the two distinct input current pulses per half-cycle merge to a single current pulse, Figure 2.36(b). In this situation, as the input current pulse is continuous, narrowing of the pulse at higher values of system voltage leads to a reduction in the displacement power factor, as the current waveform is less symmetrical.

Further, Figure 2.35 shows that higher values of dc link filter components lead to less distortion in the ASD input current, (the same effect can be seen when system impedance is increased). This is occurs because any increase in inductance in the ASD conduction path will act to suppress harmonics, as discussed in Section 2.5.



(a) Discontinuous current conduction mode

(b) Continuous current conduction mode

Figure 2.36: Effect on ASD current waveforms with change in system voltage when ASD operates in discontinuous and continuous current conduction modes.

# 2.9 Summary of presented ASD characteristics

The P-V characteristics of lower and higher power V/Hz open-loop controlled ASDs have been shown to be very similar to those of the associated directly connected motors. As in the case of directly connected motors, the mechanical loading of the ASD should be taken into account

when considering P-V characteristics of lower power ASDs, while a single characteristics for all mechanical loading types maybe be assumed for higher power V/Hz open-loop controlled ASDs. V/Hz closed-loop controlled ASDs have been shown to have the same P-V characteristics as open-loop V/Hz ASDs mechanically loaded with constant mechanical power. Finally, advanced drive controlled ASDs will have constant P-V characteristics for both lower and higher power ASDs. From analysis in Section 2.8.3, it has also been shown that P-V characteristics of all considered types of ASDs are essentially independent of dc link filter components and value of system impedance.

Non-active power characteristics of ASDs, however, are influenced by ASD P-V characteristics, values of  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$  and slightly by supply system impedance. Standard polynomial and exponential load models can not represent these characteristics, and more detailed load models must be developed. These models are developed and validated in the next section, where further investigation of the characteristics of ASDs is performed.

## 2.10 Equivalent circuit model of drive-controlled motors

The previous section has shown that non-active power characteristics of drive controlled motors are substantially influenced by the values of  $C_{dc}$ ,  $L_{dc}$  and to a much lesser extent the system impedance. Active power demand characteristics are relatively unaffected. This complicates the analysis of three-phase ASD, compared to that of directly connected three-phase motors, as exponential and polynomial expressions that accurately describe the ASD's non-active power characteristics can not be easily fit for the possible wide range of values of dc link filter components and values of system impedance. Additionally, these models can not represent the harmonic characteristics of ASD loads. Therefore, a new approach for the representation of ASD non-active power demand characteristics must be adopted. In developing the new approach, the open-loop V/Hz controlled 4 kW ASD will be primarily investigated.

#### 2.10.1 Equivalent representation of ASD bridge, inverter and motor

Previous work focussing on the subject of harmonic modelling of ASDs, [57], [58], [60] and [65] has shown that it is possible to replace the motor and inverter in the ASD with an equivalent load, i.e. with an equivalent current source ([58]), or equivalent resistance ([57]), or equivalent constant power load, ([60] and [65]). Accordingly, Figure 2.37 shows such an equivalent model of three-phase ASD. The model includes a resistance to represent the combination of the motor and the inverter. In previous work, as the focus of the analysis has been solely on harmonic studies, this equivalent resistance is commonly set at a fixed value, [57]. This fixed value is usually selected so the equivalent ASD model draws the desired active power at 1pu voltage,

with ASD P-V characteristics assumed constant. However, the previous section has shown that this assumption is only valid for certain types of currently not widely used types of ASDs. The most common types of ASDs, at present, are V/HZ controlled drives, which have non-constant P-V characteristics. Therefore, for the these types of ASDs, the equivalent resistance should vary in such a way as to produce P-V and N-V characteristics that closely match those of the full drive and motor model.



Figure 2.37: Equivalent circuit model of ASD.

In order to achieve required matching of ASD active and non-active power demand characteristics, the relationship between the active power drawn from the dc link,  $P_{dc}$ , and the rms value of the dc link voltage,  $V_{dc}$  was investigated. Figure 2.38(a) shows this comparison for the 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, loaded with the four considered types of mechanical loads. It can be seen that the active power drawn at the dc link follows a very similar characteristic shape for all considered mechanical loading conditions as that of the input active power drawn by the ASD in Figure 2.26. The only difference is that there are no rectifier losses. The results shown in Figure 2.38 are in per unit, where base voltage is the rms input phase voltage and base power is nominal active power of the 4 kW directly connected motor at the dc link.

Equivalent resistance may be calculated using the standard relationship in (2.10).

$$R_{dc} = \frac{V_{dc}^2}{P_{dc}} \tag{2.10}$$

Therefore, the power drawn from the ASD dc link may be represented as an equivalent resistance that is a function of dc link rms voltage, which in turn is a function of supply system voltage and dc link component values. The change in equivalent resistance with dc link rms voltage is shown in Figure 2.38(b), again for the four considered mechanical loading conditions.

From the results in Figure 2.38(b), corresponding analytical expressions can be developed, as



Figure 2.38: a)Power drawn at ASD dc link, b) Equivalent resistance versus the rms dc link voltage for the four considered types of mechanical load.

presented in (2.11) to (2.14). These can be applied directly to the drive equivalent model. As these expressions are function of the dc link rms voltage, all changes to circuit and system parameters before and including the dc link, (e.g. in the rectifier, supply system impedance, supply system voltage distortion, etc.) will be accounted for in this equivalent ASD model.

$$R_{eq(ct)} = 0.392V_{dc} + 0.316V_{dc}^2 - 0.51$$
(2.11)

$$R_{eq(lt)} = 0.227V_{dc} + 0.323V_{dc}^2 - 0.167$$
(2.12)

$$R_{eq(qt)} = 0.123V_{dc} + 0.320V_{dc}^2 + 0.084$$
(2.13)

$$R_{eq(cp)} = 0.78V_{dc} + 0.267V_{dc}^2 - 1.144$$
(2.14)

where: R<sub>eq</sub> is in per-unit, ct, lt, qt, cp are denoting constant torque, linear torque, quadratic

torque, constant mechanical power loads, respectively, and  $V_{dc}$  is the per unit rms dc link voltage.

In order to validate the proposed model, comparisons were made between the full model and equivalent circuit model of the 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, for the four considered motor mechanical loading conditions, range of supply system voltages and dc link component values. The value of dc link components are selected as the minimum, nominal and maximum expected values and system impedance is set to nominal. Minimum value of  $L_{dc}$ is taken as zero, i.e. the ASD will be operating in discontinuous current conduction mode. In order to prevent repetition of similar results, Figure 2.39 shows the comparison for the ASD mechanically loaded with constant torque load, while the result for the other considered mechanical loading conditions may be found in Appendix A.3



**Figure 2.39:** *Comparison between full model and equivalent circuit model for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with constant torque load.* 

The results in Figure 2.39 and Appendix A.3 show that the equivalent circuit model is able to accurately reproduce the active power demand characteristics of the full ASD model for all

four mechanical loading conditions, showing less than  $\pm 2\%$  error across the considered system voltage range. The equivalent circuit model is also able to accurately predict non-active power demand characteristics, showing a less than  $\pm 3\%$  error for PF,  $PF_1$  and  $PF_d$ , for the four considered mechanical loading conditions and the range system voltage variation. Accordingly, the ability of the equivalent model to predict the fundamental reactive power is good, with maximum error no greater than  $\pm 5\%$  across the considered ranges of values and parameters. Maximum error occurs at the ends of the considered voltage range.

The presented results, therefore, validate the equivalent model of the 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD developed in this section. As only the active power characteristics of ASDs have been shown to change with the type of ASD, this equivalent model can also be used to represent all ASDs considered in this chapter. The representation of higher-power or advance controlled ASDs can be achieved by setting the equivalent ASD model resistance as a constant electrical power load, i.e as in (2.10), where  $P_{dc}$  is the dc link power which is essentially the same as the input power of the ASD as bridge rectifier losses will be small.

The developed equivalent model significantly reduces simulation run times, while retaining a good ability to predict ASD steady state active and non-active power demand characteristics. However, this equivalent circuit must be converted further to a form that can be readily aggregated. Such a model is developed in the next section.

# 2.11 Analytical model of ASD

The analysis in the previous section has shown that it is possible to considerably simplify the full ASD model, by reducing it to a three-phase rectifier, dc link and equivalent resistance. The equivalent circuit model developed in the previous section, although shown to be a very accurate representation of the full ASD, is somewhat cumbersome when aggregation of a number of ASD with other load types is required. Therefore, it would be far better to express this equivalent circuit model in an analytical form that can be written directly in computer code. This would enable a very flexible and modular approach to aggregation of ASD and other developed load models. In order to achieve this, the three-phase bridge rectifier should first be expressed analytically. References [66–69], all have discussed analytical models of three-phase drive controlled motors (from a harmonic analysis viewpoint), with [66] and [67] developing cumbersome, but full analytical expressions. However, other than the mentioned papers, there has been little work in this area. The remainder of this section focusses on developing an analytical model of ASDs. This model is developed in MatLab and referred to as "analytical model", as it uses a combination of differential equations and MatLab code to accurately represent the operation of the three-phase ASD.

As discussed in Section 2.2.1, the three-phase rectifier at the front-end of the ASD may be operated in discontinuous or continuous current conduction mode. Each mode of operation is initially considered separately in this section, with the two developed models subsequently combined.

#### 2.11.1 Analytical model: discontinuous current conduction mode

As explained in Section 2.2.1.1, the three-phase rectifier output voltage,  $v_{rect}$ , follows the envelope of the maximum line voltage. This voltage can be expressed by the analytical representation given in (2.15).

$$v_{rect} = maximum(|v_{ab}|, |v_{ac}|, |v_{bc}|)$$
 (2.15)

Where:  $v_{ab}$ ,  $v_{ac}$ ,  $v_{bc}$  are instantaneous input line voltages.

As previously discussed, the phase current waveform, drawn by the three-phase rectifier in discontinuous current mode operation, can be broken down into two distinct subintervals: conduction and cut-off. In the conduction subinterval, two diodes will be conducting, and the dc link capacitor will be charging. The rectifier in this conduction period can be represented by the equivalent charging circuit, shown in Figure 2.40(a). When the dc link voltage is greater than  $v_{rect}$ , the three-phase rectifier will enter the cut-off period and  $C_{dc}$  will discharge. This cut-off period can be represented by the equivalent discharging circuit shown in Figure 2.40(b).



**Figure 2.40:** Equivalent circuit representation of rectifier/capacitor charge and discharge states.

The charge and discharge circuits shown in Figure 2.40 may also be expressed analytically by the following differential equations:

Charging:

$$v_{rect} = R \cdot i_{dc} + L \cdot \frac{di_{dc}}{dt} + v_{dc}$$
(2.16)

$$i_{dc} = C_{dc} \cdot \frac{dv_{dc}}{dt} + \frac{v_{dc}}{R_{eq}}$$
(2.17)

Discharging:

$$v_{dc} = v_{start} \cdot e^{\overline{R_{eq}C_{dc}}} \tag{2.18}$$

Where: L and R are the total inductance and resistance in the rectifier charging circuit conduction path.  $L = L_{dc} + 2 \cdot L_{sys}$  and  $R = 2 \cdot R_{sys} + 2 \cdot R_{diode}$  (current flows through two phases, i.e.  $L_{sys}$  and  $R_{sys}$  are therefore multiplied by two.),  $R_{eq}$  is the equivalent load resistance as developed in the previous section and  $C_{dc}$  is the dc link filter capacitor.

A MatLab code was developed to describe the operation of the three-phase rectifier in discontinuous current conduction mode. The code operates by comparing the value of  $v_{dc}$  to the value of  $v_{rect}$ . Based on this comparison, it solves either the charge or the discharge differential equation. The code is run in a loop with the simulation time iterated each time the loop is run. The value of  $v_{dc}$  at the end of each loop is passed to the beginning of the next loop. In this manner, both  $v_{dc}$  and  $i_{dc}$  are produced. This code can be found in Appendix A.4.

Figure 2.41 shows a comparison of the current waveforms and associated harmonics predicted by the developed analytical model and full model. The results show that the analytical model is able to almost perfectly match the current waveform and harmonic content of the full model. The results of comparison of P-V and N-V characteristics between the two models are shown and discussed later in Figure 2.48. The analytical model takes around 0.5 seconds to run a single ASD instance, compared to several minutes for the full ASD model. This is a significant reduction in simulation time, which is achieved with little loss in simulation accuracy.



**Figure 2.41:** Comparison of input current waveforms and associated harmonics between full and analytical models of 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, loaded with constant torque mechanical load, operated in discontinuous mode, at 1pu system voltage.

#### 2.11.2 Analytical model: continuous current conduction mode

In order to produce an analytical model for continuous mode of operation, the two conduction subintervals (Section 2.2.1.2) must firstly be represented by analytical expressions based on equivalent circuits shown in Figure 2.43. During the conduction period, the voltage supplied to the RLC equivalent charge circuit,  $v_{cond}$  in Figure 2.43(a), will be the same as for the discontinuous situation, ( $v_{rect}$  in (2.15)). The values of the equivalent inductance and resistance will also be the same as for the discontinuous situation, i.e.  $L = L_{dc} + 2 \cdot L_{sys}$  and  $R = 2 \cdot R_{sys} + 2 \cdot R_{diode}$ .

During the commutation period, two phases will conduct in parallel and one in series, as can be seen from Figure 2.42. Therefore,  $v_{comm}$  in Figure 2.43(b) can be expressed by (2.19). it can be seen from the conduction path that the values of L and R in the equivalent circuit will now be  $L = L_{dc} + 1.5 \cdot L_{sys}$  and  $R = 2 \cdot R_{sys} + 1.5 \cdot R_{diode}$ .

$$v_{comm} = |v_b - \frac{v_a + v_c}{2} + v_{diode}|$$
 (2.19)

Where:  $v_a, v_b, v_c$  are instantaneous system phase voltages and  $v_{diode}$  is the diode forward voltage drop.



Figure 2.42: Conduction path of rectifier during commutation period.



**Figure 2.43:** Equivalent circuit representation of three-phase bridge rectifier operating in continuous mode.

As before, MatLab is used to implement the analytical model of the three-phase rectifier operating in continuous current conduction mode. The operation of the developed code is summarised in a flow diagram, Figure 2.44. The steps will be explained in the following sections.





#### 2.11.2.1 Step 1: continuous RLC conduction circuit

The differential equations representing the conduction period of operation of the three-phase rectifier, (2.16) and (2.17), are solved in MatLab. This is done over several cycles of the fundamental system period to ensure steady state. This gives the voltage and current waveforms shown in Figure 2.45. The rms value of the voltage waveform,  $V_{dc}$ , is used to update the equivalent resistance from its initial condition, by employing the relevant equations (2.11) - (2.14).



Figure 2.45: Solution of differential equations representing three-phase rectifier conduction mode.

#### 2.11.2.2 Step 2: Commutation Time

As previously mentioned, the commutation time is the time taken by the relevant phase current,  $i_{phase}$ , to rise from zero to the magnitude of  $i_{dc}$ . The system impedance forms an RL circuit during the commutation periods. The effective voltage applied to this circuit,  $v_{ramp}$ , is the difference between the relevant line and rectifier commutation voltage. For example, if considering phase A as the reference point, the applied voltage to the RL charging circuit is:

$$v_{ramp} = v_{ab} - |v_b - \frac{v_a + v_c}{2} + V_{diode}|$$
(2.20)

Where:  $v_{ab}$  is instantaneous input line voltage.

The analytical expression for this circuit is:

$$i_{ramp} = \frac{v_{ramp}}{2R_{sys}} * \left(1 - \exp^{\frac{-t*R_{sys}}{L_{sys}}}\right)$$
(2.21)

The time that the current  $i_{ramp}$  takes to reach  $i_{dc}$  will be the commutation time  $t_{com}$ , as illustrated in Figure 2.46.



Figure 2.46: Commutation and conduction period current waveforms.

#### 2.11.2.3 Steps 3-4: Commutation period and iteration

The differential equations representing the commutation subinterval are now solved, for the period of commutation,  $t_{com}$ , found in the previous step and starting from the beginning of the commutation interval, ( $t = \frac{\pi}{6}$ ). The voltage and current from step one at the start point of the commutation period are used as initial conditions of the differential equations. Thus, the dc link commutation current and voltage waveforms are produced for the commutation time. At the end of the commutation period, the dc link current and voltage can be used as initial conditions for the conduction period differential equations, and steps 1-3 can be run in a loop until steady state operation is achieved.

#### **2.11.2.4** Step 5: Convert $i_{dc}$ to $i_a$

Once the final  $i_{dc}$  current waveform has been found, it must be converted to a phase input current. As can be seen from Figure 2.46, the conduction period of each phase current will follow the envelope of  $i_{dc}$  for the period that this phase is conducting. The 'ramp-up' current, when the relevant phase starts to conduct, has already been discussed. The 'ramp-down' current is simply the reciprocal of the 'ramp-up' current. The differential equation representing the 'ramp-down' current can be expressed as in (2.22). These current ramps may now be added to the relevant part of the  $i_{dc}$  current waveform, with the non-conduction sections being set to zero to give the input phase current.

$$i_{rampdown} = i_{start} - \frac{v_{ramp}}{2R_{sys}} * \left(1 - e^{\frac{-t*R_{sys}}{L_{sys}}}\right)$$
(2.22)

where  $i_{start}$  is the start point of the discharge ramp, i.e the dc link current at the end of the commutation period.

The above procedure was implemented in MatLab code to give an analytical representation of the three-phase rectifier in continuous mode, and this code may be found in Appendix A.4.

Figure 2.47 show a comparison between the input current and associated harmonics, at 1pu system voltage, of the full and analytical models, for the ASD operating in continuous conduction mode. It can be seen from this figure that the current waveforms of the analytical model can accurately match the actual current waveform of the full model. The results for harmonics demonstrate that this developed model can also be used for harmonic analysis.



Figure 2.47: Comparison of input current waveforms and associated harmonics between full and analytical models of 4 kW open-loop V/Hz controlled ASD, loaded with constant torque mechanical load, operated in continuous mode, at 1pu system voltage.

# 2.12 Validation of analytical ASD model for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal conditions

The P-V and N-V characteristics predicted by the developed analytical ASD model are now compared with those of the full ASD model. Initially, sinusoidal voltage is applied to both models. After verification of the analytical model in sinusoidal situations, comparisons are made between the two for applied non-sinusoidal voltage waveforms. In all cases, a 4 kW V/Hz open-loop controlled ASD is selected, with analysis performed for minimum, nominal and maximum values of dc link components and nominal value of system impedance. The result presented in the main text are for 4 kW ASD mechanically loaded with constant torque. The results for 4 kW ASD mechanically loaded with the other considered torques and for applied sinusoidal voltage can be found in Appendix A.5.



#### 2.12.1 Sinusoidal voltage supply conditions

Figure 2.48: Comparison between full and analytical ASD models for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with constant torque load.

Figure 2.48 shows the results of the comparison between the full and analytical models for applied sinusoidal system voltage. It can be see from this figure that the analytical model shows excellent matching for all considered active and non-active power characteristics. Thus, this result validates the developed analytical model for use in sinusoidal situations.

#### 2.12.2 ASD supplied with non-sinusoidal voltage

The modern UK supply system voltage is rarely sinusoidal, due to the presence of non-linear loads. Therefore, ASDs will in all probability be supplied with distorted voltage, and developed analytical ASD model should also be validated under these supply conditions. In order to obtain a "typically distorted" distribution system voltage waveform to use in the following analysis, the system voltage was measured at three locations. Each location represents a different type of distribution network.

- **Commercial supply voltage** The University of Edinburgh power lab voltage was measured at 11am on a weekday during term time. This lab is located on a large campus with large numbers of fluorescent lighting, PCs, monitors and other non-linear loads.
- **Urban supply voltage** The voltage waveform from a flat in a residential part of Edinburgh was measured at 11am on a typical weekday. The flat is in a block of 16 flats in a large residential area, consisting mainly of small flats.
- **Rural supply voltage** The system voltage was also measured at 11am on a typical weekday in a small rural village in the Brecon Beacons national park, South Wales.

Each of the measured voltage waveforms are shown in Figure 2.49. It can be seen that these waveforms are all similar in shape and have similar values of voltage THD. This result is somewhat surprising, as it was expected that the measured rural voltage would be less distorted than the urban and commercial measured voltages. However, due to the little difference between the measured voltages, the University lab voltage is taken as a "typical" distribution system voltage. This waveform is referred to as "typically distorted" waveform for the remainder of this thesis. In order for the models to be tested under more distorted supply conditions, and to provide further validation, an artificially distorted system voltage was constructed. This waveform has an 8% THD, made mostly from the  $3^{rd}$  harmonic, and referred to as "heavily distorted" waveform in the remainder of this thesis.

The "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" waveforms were applied to the full and analytical ASDs models, with the results shown in Figures 2.50 to 2.55.



Figure 2.49: System voltage waveforms measured in commercial, urban and rural areas.



Figure 2.50: Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "typically distorted" system voltage, ASD in continuous mode.



Figure 2.51: Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "typically distorted" system voltage, ASD in discontinuous mode.



**Figure 2.52:** Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "heavily distorted" system voltage, ASD in continuous mode.



Figure 2.53: Comparison between full and analytical model, with applied 1pu "heavily distorted" system voltage, ASD in discontinuous mode.



**Figure 2.54:** Comparison between full and analytical models for a range of dc link component values, motor loaded with constant torque load and applied "typically distorted" system voltage.



Figure 2.55: Comparison between full and analytical models for a range of dc link component values, motor loaded with constant torque load and applied heavily distorted system voltage.

It can be seen from the presented results that for considered distortions in the system voltage the proposed analytical model can very accurately represent relevant ASD characteristics.

# 2.13 Generic analytical model of ASDs

From the work presented so far in this chapter, it can be seen that there will be two general sub-types of ASD load: ASD operating in continuous mode and ASD operating in discontinuous mode. Within each sub-type, there will be six further possible variants, which depend on the type of motor mechanical loading, the rated power of the ASD and the method of drive control. Although the P-V characteristics of each of these variants will be different, it has been shown that if their P-V characteristics and values of dc link filter components are known, the developed analytical model may accurately predict N-V and harmonic characteristics of

these loads. Thus, as the P-V characteristics have been determined in Section 2.8, all that is required to form generic models of typical ASDs is typical values of their dc link components. These values have already been presented in Section 2.4.

Accordingly, to represent the ASD operating in continuous mode, nominal per-unit values of  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$  can be selected from Section 2.4. To represent the ASD operating in discontinuous mode,  $L_{dc}$  should be set to zero and  $C_{dc}$  should be taken as nominal. As the values of  $C_{dc}$  and, where relevant  $L_{dc}$ , have already been presented in per-unit, the associated generic models of each sub-type variant may be used to represent the general characteristics of an aggregate of considered type of ASD load. It is should be noted that this representation assumes that all ASDs within a considered sub-type will have the same per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$  and, where relevant  $L_{dc}$  and will also all operate at nominal rated power. It may be the case that diversity in the same sub-type of ASD load, i.e. variation in the ASD parameters and operating powers, could affect the harmonic content of an aggregate load, an effect known as harmonic cancellation. However, this effect is not expected to be significant for this load type. Another parameter that will also affect the developed generic load models, and that can not be taken as a typical per-unit value, is the system impedance. However, it has been shown that variations of system impedance within a typical range will have only slight effect on ASD characteristics.

The proposed generic model may be achieved, as harmonic legislation does not directly interfere with the design of ASDs. Therefore, these loads may be expressed readily in per-unit form, which is common to all ASD loads, irrespective of the rated power of the ASD. This is not the case for other non-linear loads considered in the following chapters. Also, it is not possible to define a generic ASD load mix. This is because these loads are used in a wide range of applications, with the type and size of ASDs used dependent on the application. However, by presenting generic analytical ASD models of a wide range of ASD types and rated powers, flexibility to represent the vast majority of ASDs in load mixes has been provided.

## 2.14 Polynomial and exponential models of ASDs

For the completeness of the analysis, polynomial and exponential interpretations of the generic analytical ASDs model coefficients have also been developed and are presented in Table 2.8. This table also compares ASD model coefficients with those previously derived for directly-connected motors. Although these models take no account of ASD harmonic characteristics, they may be used as basic models of the ASD loads in standard load flow analysis. From the results and discussion in Section 2.12.2, it has also been shown that these models will be valid in non-sinusoidal situations.

Figures 2.56 and 2.57 show plots of the derived exponential and polynomial models for

V/Hz open-loop operated lower-power ASDs operated in continuous mode, compared with the analytical model. Again, it can be seen that the presented polynomial models will show better matching than the exponential models, especially for fundamental reactive power characteristics. The few available previous polynomial and exponential models of ASDs are shown in Table 2.4, [22] and also plotted in Figures 2.56 and 2.57. These previous ASD models, according to [22], are of rated power of 2 kW, and hence they are compared with the developed lower-power ASD models. Considerable disagreement can be seen between the previously developed ASD models and the proposed ASD models. There was no information given in [22] as to the type, operating mode or mechanical loading condition of the ASDs used to derive the previous exponential and polynomial load models. Due to this lack of data, it is difficult to make any further comment other than that the ASDs represented in [22] have very strange P-V characteristics, as they act as near constant current loads, which is contrary to work presented in this thesis (and other previous work related to directly connected motors, which should have similar P-V characteristics to ASDs).



Figure 2.56: Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower power ASDs, compared with results obtained from previous models, active power.



Figure 2.57: Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower power ASDs, compared with results obtained from previous models, fundamental reactive power.

th			$P_q$			1.15	1.15	1.15	1.15				1.5					1.15	1.15	1.15	1.15				1.5					
ared wi	SIS	F	$I_q$			-1.7	-1.7	-1.7	-1.7				-2.10			ted		-1.7	-1.7	-1.7	-1.7			Higher power directly connected motors	-2.10					
s comp	aramete	ıl Mode	$Z_q$	/ connected		1.55	1.55	1.55 1.55	1.55		le	nnected motors	1.60					1.55	1.55	1.55	1.55	-			1.60					
s mode	nodel p	ynomia	$Polynomia I_p P_p$			1.36	1.0	0.72	1.89	le			1.04	le	le	r connec		1.36	1.0	0.72	1.89	-0.25   1.44   0.64   -1.53   1.89   not applicable	not applicable		1.04	le	le			
ntinuou	motor n	lod		directly		-0.63	-0.02	0.43	0.43 -1.53 applicab	applicab	applicab	ectly co	-0.06	not applicat	not applicab	Lower power directly		-0.63	-0.02	0.43	-1.53				-0.06	applicab	applicab			
s and co	nnected		$Z_p$	Lower power		0.27	0.02	-0.15	0.64	-0.0   444   0.04   not i	not a	Higher power dire	0.03					0.27	0.02	-0.15	0.64				0.03	not a	not a			
utinuous selv. nre	sctly co	Iodel	bu			1.44	1.44	1.44	1.44				1.13					1.44	1.44	1.44	1.44				1.13					
discon	Dire	Exp. M	du			-0.1	0.02	0.13	-0.25				-0.01					-0.1	0.02	0.13	-0.25				-0.01					
rated in Pars (as	an) (aro	DE	$PF_1$		-	0.83	0.83	0.83	0.83	C0.U			0.9					0.83	0.83	0.83	0.83				0.9					
SDs ope			$P_q$			2.50	1.81	1.28	3.81		4.45		2.15		-0.67			2.8	2.0	1.31	3.9		3.9		2.08		1.97			
ts for AS	an cut conne	I	$I_q$	$I_q$					-3.10	-1.91	-0.98	-5.49		-5.96	s	-1.7	ntrol	0.45			-3.55	-2.18	-0.97	-5.5	-5.5	-5.5	S	-2.38	1 06	-1.96
efficien f directl		al Mode	$Z_q$	DE OF OPERATION pen-loop ASDs		1.60	1.10	0.70	2.67		2.51	p ASD	0.55	ced con	1.22	N		1.75	1.18	0.66	2.64		2.64	sed-loop ASD	1.30	ced con	0.99			
odel co ients a	meters	lynomi	$P_p$		ASDs	1.49	0.98	0.51	2.42	p ASDs	2.42	sed-loc	1.20	h advan	1	ERATIC	ASDs	1.62	0.98	0.51	2.42	2.42 p ASD\$	2.42		1.20	h advan	1			
omial m el coeffi	lel para	bo	$I_p$		pen-loop	-0.89	0	0.76	-2.5 sed-loo	1.08 -2.5	pen-loop and clo	-0.33	V/Hz ASDs with	0	OF OPI	pen-loop	-1.07	0	0.76	-2.5 sed-loo	-2.5	and clc	-0.33	SDs wit	0					
d polynu iol modu	SD mod		$Z_p$	IS MOD	TNUOUS MOD	0.40	0.02	-0.27 -0.27 1.08 //Hz clo	V/Hz cld			0.13		0	MODE	V/Hz ol	0.45	0.02	0.02 -0.27	1.08	//Hz clo	1.08	jen-loop	0.13	V/Hz AS	0				
ntial an Manam	A	Iodel	nonni	INUOU r power		0.09	0.28 0.24 -0.98	power 1	-0.28	V/Hz of	-0.3	power 1	-0.5	SUOUS	r power	-0.08	0.17	0.35	-0.28	power V	-0.28	V/Hz op	0.20	power	0					
l expone	d nin mi	Exp. N	du	SCONT	Lowe	-0.10	0.08	0.22	-0.19	Lower	-0.35	Higher power	-0.07	d higher	0	CONTIN	Lowe	-0.17	0.04	0.22	-0.35	Lower	-0.35	r power	-0.07	d higher	0			
Proposed	wpouch	DE		DI		0.984	0.984	0.984	0.984		0.984		0.984	Jower an	0.984			0.989	0.989	0.989	0.989		0.989	Highe	0.989	Jower an	0.989			
Table 2.8: <i>1</i>		Loading				CT	LT	QT	CP		all	-	all	I	all			CT	LT	QT	CP		all		all	Ι	all			

78

# Three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

# 2.15 Conclusions

This chapter presents analysis of the steady state active/non-active power demand characteristics of directly connected and drive-controlled three-phase induction motors. Detailed simulation models of each of these load types have been developed and verified.

It has been shown that there is a clear distinction between active power demand characteristics of lower-power ( $\leq 15$  kW) and higher-power (15 kW-160 kW) directly connected motors, while reactive power demand characteristics of these two types of motors are more similar. It has further been shown that a single polynomial/exponential models may be used to represent accurately each of the P-V and Q-V characteristics of higher-power motors. One O-V characteristic and four separate polynomial/exponential models are required for correct representation of lower-power motor P-V characteristics. This is because the P-V characteristics of lower-power motors are strongly influenced by the type of motor mechanical load. Developed polynomial and exponential models of higher-power motors have been compared with existing models found in literature, and have been found to be generally in good agreement. However, there is a lack of literature with regards to steady state load models of lower-power motors loaded with different types of mechanical load, hence part of the reason for this work. The developed load models of lower and higher power directly connected three-phase motors are presented in standard polynomial/exponential forms that may be used directly in power system analysis. As the models have been developed based on type of motor mechanical loading conditions, rather than on specific motor applications, they provide the flexibility to represent any common type of mixed aggregate directly connected three-phase motor load.

The active power, non-active power and harmonic characteristics of currently used and future types of drive-controlled three-phase motors (ASDs) have been investigated. It has been shown from the presented analysis that the currently common V/Hz controlled open-loop ASDs have similar P-V characteristics to those of directly connected motors. Higher-power V/Hz controlled open-loop ASDs show little variation in P-V characteristics with applied motor mechanical loading condition, while influence of mechanical load is fairly significant on the P-V characteristics of lower-power V/Hz controlled open-loop ASDs. Both lower and higher power ASDs that employ V/Hz closed-loop control may be represented as V/Hz open-loop controlled ASDs loaded with constant power mechanical load. ASDs with advanced control (e.g. vector control), which are expected to increase in numbers over the next years, will have constant P-V characteristics.

The non-active and harmonic characteristics of ASDs have been shown to be influenced by the mechanical loading of the ASD, the values of dc link components and, to a lesser extent, the system impedance. It has been shown that, based on the values of dc link components, ASDs

will operate in one of two distinctive modes: continuous or discontinuous, with each mode of operation having significantly different non-active power demand and harmonic characteristics. In order to represent non-active and harmonic characteristics of ASDs, an analytical model of this load has been developed and verified for both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions. Research into the typical value of ASDs dc link filter components has been performed, as well as an investigation into harmonic legislation relevant to these loads. From this work, it is not expected that current harmonic legislation will have significant effect on the selection of ASD dc link filter components.

Combining the developed analytical ASD model with the knowledge of typical dc link filter components and P-V characteristics of the considered types of ASDs, allowed for the development of generic analytical models of these load types. The developed generic analytical models are able to accurately represented all active power, non-active power and harmonic characteristics for the considered types of ASDs. These models may be used directly to form aggregate loads of a desired mix of ASD loads, or used directly as aggregate models themselves if the aggregate load to be modelled is made up of the same type of ASD load. Thus, the developed loads generic ASD models are extremely versatile. Polynomial and exponential interpretations (i.e models) of the generic analytical ASD models have been also presented. These two models may be used to represent P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics in load flow analysis, but cannot be used for more detailed analysis of ASDs provided by analytical models (e.g. non-active and harmonic characteristics).

It is important to note that ASDs in both continuous and discontinuous modes of operation have close to unity displacement power factors. Therefore they will not contribute significantly to reactive power flow in the supply system. This means that the expected future transition from directly connected to drive-controlled three-phase motors will have a large effect on the fundamental reactive power flow in the supply system, as directly connected motors operate with much lower power factors. Accordingly, the main issues related to increased amounts of ASD loads in the future are increased harmonics in the supply system and the corresponding adverse effects on system voltage quality. Hence the reason for the requirement for developed analytical models to fully represent the harmonic characteristics of these load types under both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal conditions. Accordingly, the proposed models are fully suitable for further investigation of all implications of the expected future increased penetration of ASD loads.

# Chapter 3 Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

### 3.1 Introduction

Single-phase induction motors (SPIM) are the most commonly used type of ac motors in the world. It is estimated that there are around 100 million SPIMs in the UK alone, accounting for over 3% of the total energy consumption due to all motor loads, [43] and [70]. These motors are mainly used in domestic/residential applications, where they make up around 16% of the total domestics demand, [43]. Typical applications with these motors include refrigerators, chest/upright freezers, fridge-freezers, household air conditioners, fans, pumps and other motor-driven electrical equipment. Table 3.1 gives the typical rated power of 'cold appliances' in the UK, as well as the estimated contributions of each appliance to the total power consumption in this load category, [71].

Appliance	Unit rated power demand	Total rated power demand	Contribution		
	(W)	(GW)	%		
Chest-Freezer	100	0.42	4.9		
Fridge-Freezer	230	3.9	45		
Refrigerator	230	2.6	30		
Upright Freezers	230	1.7	19.7		

Table 3.1: Cold appliances in UK households in 2008, [71].

At present, directly connected SPIMs are almost exclusively used in both low power applications, such as domestic fridge/frezers (less than  $\frac{1}{4}$ hp), and higher power applications (around 1hp), such as air conditioners. There is currently considerable interest in replacing some of these motors with single-phase adjustable speed drives (SASDs). The main reasons behind this substitution are: the requirements for better speed and performance control, and concerns for improved energy efficiency. This trend is especially apparent in air conditioning applications, where it is estimated that an energy saving of 13% may be achieved yearly by using a SASD instead of a SPIM [72]. This is because SASD can operate at variable speed to keep the temperature constant, avoiding start-up and run-down losses incurred in a directly connected SPIM, due to numerous switch-on and switch-off periods. Furthermore, until recently, washing machines, which account for around 4% of the total domestic demand, have mainly been driven by so called 'universal motors'. However, the next generation of washing

machines, which are currently being produced, are expected to employ SASD, [73]. It is estimated that currently 37% of traditionally SPIM applications in Japan use SASD, with 86% of air conditioners using SASD [74], [75].

Existing literature provides some guidance on the load modelling and representation of directly connected single-phase motors, suggesting a few exponential models of these load types, Table 3.2. There is no guidance on how to represent SASD in power system studies in previously published literature. In order to address this gap, and to estimate the extent of the expected changes in the characteristics of the future loads, this chapter compares steady state load characteristics (e.g. active and reactive/non-active power demand) of directly connected single-phase induction motors and SASDs. It is shown that SPIMs may be represented using polynomial and exponential models, with such models being developed and presented. However, the analysis in this chapter shows that the non-active power and harmonic characteristics of SASD require a more detailed model, due to the non-linear operation of this load. Therefore, an analytical model of SASD load is developed and validated. It is shown that this analytical model is able to represent the non-active and harmonic characteristics of SASDs for both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal situations. From the analysis and discussions of typical component values found in SASDs and harmonic limits applicable to these loads, it is found that there are two distinctive sub-types of SASD load. While active power demand characteristics of each sub-type of SASD load are similar, non-active power and harmonic characteristics will be significantly different. Generic analytical load models are developed for each of these SASD sub-types of load, with these generic models used later in the thesis to represent an aggregation of the same sub-type SASD load. Finally, exponential and polynomial interpretations of these generic analytical SASD models are presented.

Motor Type	Power factor	Expon	Source	
Wotor Type	Tower factor	$n_p$	$n_q$	Source
Clothes washer	0.65	0.08	1.6	[19]
Refrigerator	0.8	0.77	2.5	[15]
1-phase air con.	0.96	0.202	2.3	[15]

 Table 3.2: Existing load model coefficients for directly connected single-phase motors.

#### 3.1.1 Motor mechanical loading

As discussed in Section 2.1.1, there are four general types of motor mechanical loads, likely to be found in motor applications: constant torque, linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power. When considering likely mechanical loading applied to a SPIM, typical

SPIM applications should be considered. These applications can be roughly divided between "cold", "wet" and "standard" motor applications. Types of mechanical loading associated with each of these applications are discussed below.

- Wet appliances Examples of these loads include: dishwashers, washing machines, tumble driers and washer driers. The SPIM found in these appliances will be used for rotation of the machine 'drum'. As the mass of the drum and its contents do not change with motor speed, the mechanical loading on the SPIM is expected to be constant torque type.
- **Cold appliances** Examples of these loads include: refrigerators, chest/upright freezers, fridge-freezers and household air conditioners. All these appliances operate on the principle of compression and then expansion of a coolant. The compression is achieved usually with a rotatory compressor driven by a SPIM, which operates as a quadratic torque load mechanical load, [76].
- **Standard motor applications** Examples of these loads include: fans, pumps and other motor-driven electrical equipment. Centrifugal pumps, fans and compressors are usually modelled as quadratic torque mechanical loads.

In summary, the majority of SPIMs or SASD controlled motors will be mechanically loaded with either constant torque or quadratic torque mechanical load. Besides these two types of mechanical loading, linear torque and constant mechanical power load will also be considered for the completeness of the presented analysis.

# **3.2** Typical single-phase motors

Single-phase induction motors are often referred to as asymmetrical two-phase induction motors. This is because a motor with a single winding does not develop a rotating magnetic field and therefore can not start on its own. Thus, an auxiliary winding is included, which is shifted  $90^{\circ}$  electrically to the main winding, allowing the motor to operate as a two-phase motor during startup.

There are three main types of single-phase induction machines in current use. The simplest type of motor is the "split-phase" or "resistive start - inductive run" (RSIR) motor, Figure 3.1(a). This motor uses the auxiliary winding for start-up, disconnecting it once a certain speed is achieved, and is often used in low starting torque applications. In applications where higher starting torques are required, a capacitor (start capacitor) is placed in series with the auxiliary winding. This motor is referred to as "capacitive start - inductive run" (CSIR), Figure 3.1(b). Where both high starting and high running torques are required, a capacitor (run capacitor) is


**Figure 3.1:** *Three main type of single-phase induction motors.* 

permanently connected to the auxiliary winding. This type of motor is referred to as "capacitive start and run" (CSR), Figure 3.1(c). The run capacitor will also improve the power factor of the SPIM, which is poor for RSIR and CSIR motors.

In the analysis presented in this thesis, only steady-state supply and operating conditions are considered, which makes the RSIR and CSIR motors exactly the same. Thus, there are two general variants of motors to be investigated, those that run with a capacitance and those that do not. From the extensive review of manufactures data, it has been found that the majority of lower-power SPIM, typically used in applications such as fridge/freezer and chest freezers, will be either RSIR or CSIR. This is because at lower-power the cost of including a run capacitor is significant when compared to the cost of the motor, outweighing the benefits of improved power factor. Thus, the only case were a run-capacitor may be found in lower-power SPIMs is in applications that require a high running torque. It has also been found, however, that larger motors, mainly used in air conditioners, will tend to be CSR SPIMs.

## **3.3** Typical single-phase drive applications

Although possible, it is not particularly practical to use a single-phase drive to control a single-phase motor. This is because a standard V/Hz control can not be used to control SPIM speed below 50% of rated speed, [75]. Also, SPIMs are less efficient than three-phase motors rated at the same power. Therefore, the vast majority of SASDs will consist of single-phase

front-end rectifier and a three-phase inverter controlling a three-phase motor, [77]. For that reason, single-phase drives controlling single-phase motors are not considered further in this thesis. The generic circuit of the SASD is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Typical single-phase PWM adjustable speed drive controlling a three-phase motor.

## 3.3.1 Rectifier circuit

Similarly to discussed three-phase variant, the passive front-end single-phase diode bridge rectifier is the industry standard circuit for ac to dc voltage conversion. This circuit operates by firstly rectifying the single-phase input ac system voltage, to produce a positive cycle voltage waveform,  $v_{rect}$ , at twice the system frequency. This voltage is then applied to the dc link filter, which consists of  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$ . When  $v_{rect}$  is greater than  $v_{dc}$ , the dc link capacitor will start to charge, drawing current from the supply system, as shown in Figure 3.3. The rate of charge will be influenced by the total resistance and inductance in the charging circuit, as well as the value of  $C_{dc}$ . Total resistance is made up of the supply system resistance  $R_{sys}$ , any diode forward resistance (likely to be small), the equivalent series resistance of,  $C_{dc}$  (likely to be small) and any additional resistance that may be in the rectifier conductance path. It should be noted that in some situations a negative temperature coefficient (NTC) thermistor may be included in the rectifier conductance path. This component has a resistance of  $\approx 20\Omega$  when cold and resistance of  $\approx 1.5\Omega$  when hot and is used to protect the rectifier components from high inrush currents that can occur on initial connection to the supply system. The total inductance in the circuit will be made up of the local system inductance  $L_{sys}$  and  $L_{dc}$ , if present.

As the capacitor charges,  $v_{dc}$  will increase until it is greater than  $v_{rect}$ . At this point, if there was no inductance in the charge circuit,  $i_{dc}$  would cease instantaneously. However, as inductance is present in the form of the system impedance and/or  $L_{dc}$ ,  $i_{dc}$  will reduce at a rate determined by this inductance. During the time it takes  $i_{dc}$  to reach zero,  $v_{dc}$  will continue to increase. Thus, the charging and discharging process results in non-linear operation of the bridge rectifier circuit, as non-sinusoidal current is drawn from the supply system.



Figure 3.3: Example waveforms of single-phase rectifier.

Figure 3.3 shows the effects on the shape of the bridge rectifier input current waveforms of changing the values of dc link filter components  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$ . As can be seen from Figure 3.3, larger values of  $C_{dc}$  (corresponding to lower values of  $X_{C_{dc}} = \frac{1}{\omega \cdot C_{dc}}$ ) will lead to narrower and higher peak input current pulses, which are more symmetrical relative to the maximum of the system voltage waveform. This is because larger values of  $C_{dc}$  maintain  $v_{dc}$  above  $v_{rect}$  for longer, and the time for which  $v_{rect}$  is greater than  $v_{dc}$  is shorter and a narrower current pulse is drawn. Therefore, single-phase rectifiers that have larger values of  $C_{dc}$  will draw power from the supply system with close to unity displacement power factor. However, they will draw current with high THD (i.e. high harmonic content) due to the narrow current pulse. It can also be seen in Figure 3.3 that as the value of  $C_{dc}$  decreases ( $X_{C_{dc}}$  increases) the rectifier input current pulse will shift to the left, causing the rectifier power factor to reduce and the rectifier to operate increasingly as the capacitive load. Conversely, if inductance is added to the bridge rectifier,  $L_{dc}$ , the rectifier input current pulse will be shifted to the right, and the rectifier will become an inductive load. It can also be seen that addition of inductance will smooth the rectifier current pulse, as it will decrease both the rate of rise and rate of fall of the input current waveform. Therefore, additional inductance in the bridge rectifier conductance path will reduce harmonic content of the current drawn by the rectifier from the supply system.

## 3.3.2 Methods of drive-control

The general types of SASDs load will depend on the applied drive control, in the same way as discussed for three-phase ASDs in Section 2.2.2. This is because the inverter in SASDs will be of exactly the same form as the inverter found in ASDs. The vast majority of SASD will be V/Hz PWM type, again because of the simplicity, and therefore low cost, of this type of drive control. However, some specific SASD applications may use more advanced vector control. For example, [73] states that the next generation of washing machines will use space vector controlled SASDs. Accordingly, both V/Hz and vector controlled drives are considered in the analysis presented in this chapter.

# 3.4 Modelling of single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motors

This section introduces the SPIM and SASD drive models analysed in this chapter. PSpice software was once again employed, due to its non-linear semiconductor modelling capabilities. The developed PSpice models also provide verification of the MatLab/SimuLink in-built SPIM model, as there was a lack of measurement data.

## 3.4.1 Motor modelling

The standard dq model was selected to represent the SPIM in this analysis. This model is derived in a similar way to that of the dq model of the three-phase induction machine. This dq SPIM model is described by (3.1), with the corresponding equivalent circuit shown in Figure 3.4. Full details on the derivation of this model can be found in [50].

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_{qs}^{s} \\ v_{ds}^{s} \\ v_{qr}^{s} \\ v_{qr}^{'s} \\ v_{dr}^{'s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{s} + \rho L_{ss} & 0 & \rho L_{ms} & 0 \\ 0 & r_{S} + \rho L_{SS}\rho & 0 & \rho L_{mS} \\ \rho L_{ms} & -\frac{\omega_{r}}{n}L_{mS} & r_{r}^{'} + \rho L_{rr}^{'} & -\frac{\omega_{r}}{n}L_{RR}^{'} \\ n\omega_{r}L_{ms} & \rho L_{mS} & n\omega_{r}L_{rr}^{'} & r_{R}^{'} + \rho L_{RR}^{'} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} i_{qs}^{s} \\ i_{ds}^{s} \\ i_{qr}^{'s} \\ i_{dr}^{'s} \\ i_{dr}^{'s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.1)

where:  $L_{ss} = L_{ls} + L_{ms}$   $L_{SS} = L_{lS} + L_{mS}$   $L'_{rr} = L'_{lr} + L_{ms}$   $L'_{RR} = L'_{lR} + L_{mS}$  $n = \frac{N_S}{N_s}$ .

and:  $L_{ls}$ ,  $r_s$ ,  $r'_r$ ,  $L'_{lr}$  are the main winding stator and rotor inductances and resistances and  $L_{ls}$ ,



 $r_S, r'_R, L'_{lR}$  are the auxiliary winding stator and rotor inductances and resistances.

Figure 3.4: Stationary reference dq single-phase induction motor circuit representation.

#### **3.4.2** Development of PSpice single-phase induction motor models

The presented dq SPIM model was implemented directly in PSpice, with circuit schematic shown in Appendix B.1. In order to validate implemented PSpice SPIM model, results of simulations were compared with those produced by the in-built SimuLink SPIM model, [53]. A  $\frac{1}{4}$  hp (180W) SPIM, with parameters taken from [50], was used for the comparison of the two models. Figure 3.5 shows the results of this comparison, where both motor models are energised and allowed to reach full rated speed unloaded, and then loaded with rated mechanical load. The comparison shows that the PSpice and SimuLink models match each other well, with respect to steady-state rotor speed, steady-state rotor mechanical torque and steady-state stator input current. There are differences in the transient characteristics of the two motor models, which are the result of each model having different values of machine inertia. The standard machine inertia values were not matched, as this analysis is only concerned with steady-state operation.

### **3.4.3** Development of PSpice single-phase drive controlled motors

The three-phase inverter used in the SASD is of exactly the same form as the inverter developed and validated in Section 2.3.3. Therefore, this validation is not repeated here. The PSpice schematic of the SASD can be found in Appendix B.1.



## **3.5** Typical values of dc link filter components

As SASD are a relatively new type of load, there is a lack of literature about typical values of dc link filter components,  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$ . In order to predict the most likely values of these components, three-phase ASDs are taken as a reference point, as the difference between SASD and ASD is merely in the 'front-end' bridge rectifier. In the case of ASDs, the value of  $C_{dc}$  is typically selected such that the dc link voltage ripple will be in the range of 5% to 20%, where larger capacitor values result in lower ripple.

The SASD model developed in the previous section was used to investigate the values of  $C_{dc}$  that would give 5% to 20% ripple in the SASD dc link voltage. It was found that the per unit values of  $X_{C_{dc}}$  in the SASD were close to 0.0015 - 0.12 with 0.075 nominal, i.e. approximately three times the size of  $C_{dc}$  that would be used in an ASD of the same rated power (see Section 2.4). This is because the ASD dc link will be charged by the rectified system voltage six times per fundamental period, compared to two times in the case of the SASD. Thus, for the same rated power and value of  $C_{dc}$ , the SASD will exhibit three times as large dc link ripple. Accordingly, the value of  $C_{dc}$  in the SASD should be three times bigger than in the ASD, to give the same voltage ripple. The expected per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$  in SASD may therefore be found in the same way as for the ASD, i.e. using expressions (2.4) and (2.5).

The value of  $L_{dc}$ , however, will be very much dependent on harmonic legislation, which is discussed in the following section.

## **3.6 Harmonics limits**

Single-phase adjustable speed drives, due to the non-linear operation of the front-end single-phase bridge rectifier, will draw non-sinusoidal current from the supply system, rich in harmonics. If these loads are to be connected to the EU supply systems, they must conform to harmonic limits stipulated in [30]. The vast majority of the SASDs will be of rated power less than 1 kW, and Class A harmonic limits from [30] will apply. Class A limits are summarised in Table 3.3.

To investigate the harmonic content of the SASD input current waveform, and its relation to Class A harmonic limits, the full PSpice model of the SASD is used. The SASD model was run at different rated powers by altering the mechanical loading on the SASD. At each rated power, the absolute value of  $C_{dc}$  was adjusted so as to maintain nominal per-unit value as given in Section 3.5. For this analysis,  $L_{dc}$  was set to zero. The harmonic content of the SASD input current waveform was compared to Class A limits at each rated power. It was found that SASD with rated active power less than 390W, could meet the Class A harmonic limits, while

Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

Harmonic order	Max. harmonic current						
n	(A)						
Odd harmonics							
3	2.3 1.14 0.77 0.40 0.33 0.21						
5							
7							
9							
11							
13							
$15 \le n \le 39$	$0.15\frac{15}{n}$						
Even harmonics							
2	1.08						
4	$0.43 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.23\frac{8}{n}$						
6							
$8 \le n \le 40$							

Table 3.3: Harmonic limits for Class A load, [30].

SASD with higher rated power could not. Figure 3.6 shows the SASD input current harmonics for 380W and 400W SASDs compared to Class A limits. It can be seen from this figure that at 400W the  $5^{th}$  harmonic of the SASD input current just breaches the Class A limits. Thus, at rated power above approximately 390W SASDs will require some form of power factor correction (PFC) in order to comply with Class A harmonic limits. There are two general types of PFC, passive PFC and active PFC, each of which are now discussed.



Figure 3.6: Harmonic content of SASD input current at different rated power compared with Class A harmonic limits.

## 3.6.1 Passive power factor correction

Passive power factor correction is implemented by introducing and setting the value of dc link filter inductor  $L_{dc}$  (see Figure 3.2) so that necessary harmonic limits are achieved. Additional inductance in the SASD's bridge rectifier will widen the current pulse drawn by the rectifier, and therefore reduce its harmonic content, as discussed in Section 3.3.1 and shown in Figure 3.3.



**Figure 3.7:** *Minimum size of*  $L_{dc}$  *to meet Class A harmonic limits for SASD at different rated powers and range of values of*  $C_{dc}$ *.* 

Simulations were again run using the full PSpice SASD model in order to find minimum required value of  $L_{dc}$  to meet Class A harmonic limits. The analysis was performed for SASD of different rated power from 380W-1kW. The values of  $C_{dc}$  in each SASD were taken as minimum (0.0015pu), nominal (0.075pu) and maximum (0.12pu), as presented in Section 3.5, so that likely variation in the value of  $C_{dc}$  is also considered in the analysis. Figure 3.7 shows these results.

The results presented in Figure 3.7 show two distinctive regions in the  $L_{dc}$  versus  $P_{rated}$  characteristics of the SASD load type. The shape of this characteristic is due to Class A harmonic limits being specified as current magnitudes, which are independent of the rated power of the SASD. In the section of Figure 3.7 labelled '5<sup>th</sup> harmonic', the limit for this harmonic will be dictating the value of  $L_{dc}$ , as the rated power of the SASD is still too low to cause the 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic to breach specified limits. In the section labelled '3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic', the Class A limit for the 3<sub>rd</sub> harmonic will dictate the value of  $L_{dc}$ .

Figure 3.8(a) shows the harmonic content of the SASD's input current for SASD rated at 680W and value of  $L_{dc}$  selected so the 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic is just met. It can be seen from this figure that the 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic is not being breached. If the power of the SASD is increased to 700W and the value of  $L_{dc}$  is again adjusted to meet 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic limits, Figure 3.8(b) is obtained. This figure shows that although the 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic limit is met, the 3<sup>rd</sup> harmonic will not be, and from this

power onwards the value of  $L_{dc}$  must be selected to meet the  $3^{rd}$  harmonic. Figure 3.7 shows that larger values of  $C_{dc}$  are required per watt of SASD to meet the  $3^{rd}$  harmonic as opposed to the  $5^{th}$ , hence difference in gradients shown in this figure.



Figure 3.8: Harmonic content of SASD input current at different rated power compared with Class A harmonic limits.

It can be further seen from Figure 3.7 that the considered range of values of  $C_{dc}$  will have only a small effect on the value of  $L_{dc}$ . This is because the value of  $L_{dc}$  will have dominant influence on the harmonic content of the SASD input current.

#### 3.6.1.1 Active power factor correction

An alternative to passive PFC is active PFC. Active PFC operates on the principle of current shaping, using a dc-dc converter, typically based on standard boost-converter topology, Figure 3.9. The current flowing through the inductor  $L_{a1}$  is controlled and shaped to be a good approximation of the input system voltage waveform. Active PFC also has the advantage of providing ac line regulation, keeping the dc link voltage effectively constant with the changes in supply system voltage. Currently, active PFC is less common than passive PFC, due to the higher costs and increased losses associated with the extra switching stage in the drive circuit.



Figure 3.9: Typical active power factor correction topology.

# **3.7** Active and reactive power demand characteristics of single-phase directly connected induction motors

This section investigates the characteristics of two general types of SPIM (those with a run capacitor and those without). The motor model used for this investigation was a 180W SPIM, with motor parameters taken from [50]. This motor was implemented in both PSpice and MatLab using the dq model presented previously in this chapter. Simulations were then run to obtain the active and reactive power demand characteristics with change in system voltage and change in motor mechanical loading condition for both RSIR and RSCR SPIMs. Figures 3.10 and 3.11 show the results of this analysis for each type of SPIM. The results for P-V and Q-V characteristics are presented as per-unit values, where active and reactive power bases are the nominal active and reactive power of the RSIR SPIM (i.e. RSIR SPIM run at nominal speed with nominal voltage applied and nominal mechanical loading conditions).



Figure 3.10: Characteristics of directly connected 180W RSIR SPIM for four different types of mechanical loading.

Figure 3.10 shows that the P-V characteristics of the RSIR SPIM are influenced by the type of mechanical loading applied to the motor. A maximum difference of 10%, at 0.8pu system voltage, in active power demand can be seen between the RSIR SPIM mechanically loaded with quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loads. At higher values of system voltage, this difference decreases to 5% at 1.2pu system voltage. The  $\eta$ -V characteristics of the RSIR SPIM decreases as the motor is operated at other than nominal values of system voltage. The nominal efficiency of this motor is 74%, which, although low, is common for this size and type of motor. The main reason for poor efficiency is that the RSIR SPIM operates at low power factor which



Figure 3.11: Characteristics of directly connected 180W RSCR SPIM, for four different types of mechanical loading.

is about, 0.6 at nominal voltage. Similarly to directly connected three-phase motors, the power factor of the RSIR SPIM will improve with reduced system voltage, and worsen with increased system voltage. The mechanical loading on the RSIR SPIM will also have little effect on its power factor. These PF-V characteristics are due to the motor magnetisation branch, which dictates reactive power consumption of the SPIM, while the stator and rotor inductances have much lower influence on these characteristics. Accordingly, the Q-V characteristics of the RSIR SPIM will be essentially independent of types of mechanical loading, as can be seen in Figure 3.10(b).

Figure 3.11 shows that the inclusion of a run capacitor in the SPIM has a significant effect on motor characteristics. Firstly, the RSCR motor's P-V characteristics are more linear, and the effect of different applied mechanical load on P-V characteristics is reduced compared to the RSIR SPIM. The maximum difference between P-V characteristics can again be found between the RSCR SPIM mechanically loaded with quadratic and constant mechanical power loads, but this time the difference is about 5% at 0.8pu system voltage and 2% at 1.2pu system voltage. The RSCR SPIM P-V characteristics of the RSCR SPIM's because the run capacitor changes the  $\eta - V$  characteristics of the RSCR SPIM. This is because the run capacitor improves the motor power factor to a nominal value of 0.9, also improving the efficiency of the RSCR SPIM. The power factor again increases with the reduction in system voltage and reduces with increased system voltage. However, the variation in these PF-V characteristics is much less

than those of the RSIR SPIM. Therefore, the RSCR SPIM will draw considerably less reactive power than the RSIR SPIM. As in the case of RSIR SPIM, the effect of motor mechanical loading condition on RSCR SPIM Q-V characteristics is negligible.

# **3.8** Exponential and polynomial load models of directly connected single-phase induction motors

From the analysis of SPIM active and reactive power characteristics in the previous section, it was shown that the P-V characteristics of these motors will depend on the type of applied mechanical load and the type of SPIM (RSIR or RSCR). Thus, separate exponential and polynomial models for their P-V characteristics should be implemented for each type of considered mechanical loading condition and each type of SPIM. However, the Q-V characteristics of SPIMs are not significantly affected by the type of mechanical loading, only by the type of SPIM. Accordingly, common exponential and polynomial models may be used to represent the Q-V characteristics of the same type of SPIM with different mechanical loading conditions. Exponential and polynomial models were fit using the least square method method described in Section 2.7.1, to the results presented in Figures 3.10 and 3.11. The resulting exponential and polynomial model coefficients are presented in Table 3.4. Figures 3.12 to 3.14 show these exponential and polynomial models compared to the full model, illustrating their ability to represent the required P-V or Q-V characteristics. Additionally, previously presented load model of SPIMs from literature (Table 3.2), are also shown in Figures 3.12 to 3.14.

Looding	PF <sub>nom</sub>	Exp. Model		Polynomial Model					
Loading		np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
RSIR CT	0.62	0.06	1.92	0.63	-1.20	1.57	1.40	-0.91	0.50
RSIR LT	0.62	0.19	1.92	0.31	-0.43	1.11	1.40	-0.91	0.50
RSIR QT	0.62	0.30	1.92	0.10	0.10	0.80	1.40	-0.91	0.50
RSIR CP	0.62	-0.12	1.92	1.16	-2.42	2.26	1.40	-0.91	0.50
RSCR CT	0.90	0.38	1.68	0.50	-0.62	1.11	1.54	-1.43	0.89
RSCR LT	0.90	0.46	1.68	0.34	-0.22	0.88	1.54	-1.43	0.89
RSCR QT	0.90	0.53	1.68	0.22	0.08	0.69	1.54	-1.43	0.89
RSCR CP	0.90	0.29	1.68	0.73	-1.16	1.43	1.54	-1.43	0.89

 Table 3.4: Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of single-phase induction

 motors



Figure 3.12: Exponential and polynomial model fits for RSIR SPIM active power characteristics.



Figure 3.13: Exponential and polynomial model fits for RSCR SPIM active power characteristics.



Figure 3.14: Exponential and polynomial model fits for RSIR and RSCR SPIMs reactive power characteristics.

It can be seen from Figures 3.12 to 3.14 that the polynomial model can fit the required characteristics with no significant error. However, the exponential model does show (small) error for all fits. This error is greater for the less linear motor characteristic, which is expected and due to the simplicity of the exponential model.

It can be seen from Figure 3.12 that the P-V and Q-V characteristics of the previously presented clothes washer load model (Table 3.2) match almost perfectly to those of the RSIR SPIM with constant mechanical torque load. This makes sense, as from discussions in Section 3.1.1 washing machines are expected to have constant torque mechanical loading. The power factors of these two load models are also in good agreement. The previously presented load models of air conditioner load have also very similar P-V characteristics to RSIR SPIM, but this time with quadratic torque load, again in agreement from discussion in Section 3.1.1. The Q-V characteristics of these two load models are also similar, but the power factors are different. It should be noted that the power factor of the previously presented air conditioner load model is 0.96, which seems unusual for a single-phase motor. However, no further comment about this previously presented load model is made, and no further information was provided in [15] as to what type of motor was considered. Finally, the P-V and Q-V characteristics of previously presented refrigerator load model most closely match those of the proposed RSCR SPIM, Figure 3.13, with quadratic torque load. The power factors of the proposed model is higher than that of the previous model of refrigerator. Again, no further information was provided in [15] about the measured refrigerator, other than it was measured in 1979.

From these comparisons, general agreement can be seen between P-V and Q-V characteristics of previously developed load models of single-phase induction motors and those proposed in this thesis. Power factors of all but one of the previously presented load (washing machine load) are, however, in disagreement.

## 3.9 Active and non-active power demand characteristics of SASDs

The voltage source inverter (VSI) drive, introduced in Section 3.3, was applied to a 736W (1hp) three-phase induction motor (with parameters found in [78]), to form the general SASD model. Four different types of SASDs are investigated: V/Hz open-loop, V/Hz closed-loop, direct torque controlled (DTC) and SASD with active power factor correction. V/Hz controlled open-loop SASDs are expected to be the most common type of SASD at present, although the number of SASD with advanced control (DTC) are expected to increase in the near future. Field oriented control (FOC) drives are not specifically analysed, as it was shown in Section 2.8 that active and non-active power characteristics of DTC and FOC SASDs are essentially the same.

Following a similar procedure to that described in Section 2.8, active and non-active power demand characteristics of considered SASDs mechanically loaded with four general mechanical load types are analysed. Nominal values of dc link filter components are selected, i.e. the per-unit value of  $X_{Cdc}$  is taken as 0.075 (Section 3.5) and the value of  $L_{dc}$  is selected based on the results presented in Figure 3.7. The results of this analysis are presented in per-unit. Again, the base for the per-unit active and reactive powers were taken as the nominal active and fundamental reactive power demand of the considered SASDs. The one exception is SASD with active power factor correction, for which the base fundamental reactive power is taken as that of the V/Hz open-loop SASD. As the SASDs to be investigated are all of similar rated active power, a common system impedance was taken. The value of the system impedance is selected as the nominal value used in this thesis. (see Section 1.8).



## 3.9.1 V/Hz open-loop controlled SASDs

**Figure 3.15:** Characteristics of 736W open-loop V/Hz controlled SASD for four different types of mechanical loading.



## 3.9.2 V/Hz closed-loop controlled SASDs

**Figure 3.16:** Characteristics of 736W closed-loop V/Hz controlled SASD for four different types of mechanical loading.



Figure 3.17: Characteristics of 736W direct torque controlled SASD for four different types of mechanical loading.



**3.9.4** SASD with active power factor correction

**Figure 3.18:** Characteristics of 736W open-loop V/Hz controlled SASD with active power factor correction for four different types of mechanical loading.

### 3.9.5 Discussion of active and non-active power demand characteristics

The P-V characteristics of the V/HZ open-loop, closed-loop and advanced control SASDs, shown in Figures 3.15(a), 3.16(a) and 3.17(a), are almost identical to those of the corresponding 4kW ASDs, previously presented in Section 2.8.2. This shows that the type of drive front-end (single-phase or three-phase), will have little effect on active power demand characteristics, as the motor will dictate these characteristics. This result also further extends the considered range for lower-power three-phase motors, showing that the 4kW three-phase motor is indeed representative of the characteristics of sub-kW rated three-phase motors. The efficiency of the 736W SASD is lower than that of the 4kW ASD, as would be expected. The shape of these P-V and  $\eta - V$  characteristics are not considered further here, as they have already been discussed in Section 2.8.2 for 4KW ASDs, and exactly the same principles apply for SASDs.

The non-active power demand characteristics of the SASDs, shown in Figures 3.15(b) and (c), 3.16(b) and (c) and 3.17(b) and (c), do not match those of the 4kW ASDs, although they are also independent of the type of drive control. In the same way for the ASD load, the non-active power characteristics of the SASD will be dominated by the front-end bridge rectifier. The majority of the remainder of this chapter is dedicated to quantifying and representing these characteristics, and further discussion is deferred until more data has been presented.

The results presented in Figure 3.18 show the changes in active and non-active power demand

characteristics of SASD with added active PFC circuit. The active PFC circuit is effectively keeping the dc link voltage constant over the considered range of supply system voltages, which influences that the speed of the motor (and mechanical power at the shaft of the machine) will remain constant. The slight increase in input active power at the lower values of the system input voltage is due to the increased current drawn by the active PFC circuit, causing increased losses. Accordingly, the active PFC circuit will reduce the overall efficiency of the SASD, when compared to the efficiency of the drives without the active PFC circuit. The fundamental reactive power drawn from the supply system is essentially zero, for the considered voltage range, as the active PFC circuit corrects the displacement PF to near unity. The total harmonic distortion of the input current waveform is also near zero, but increases slightly at higher voltages. This is because toward 1.2pu system voltage the modelled active PFC correction circuit is approaching its maximum rated voltage, and is not able to maintain a low current THD value.

### 3.9.6 Summary of presented SASD characteristics

From the results presented so far in this chapter, it has been shown that the P-V characteristics of SASDs may be represented in exactly the same way as those of lower-power ASDs presented in Section 2.8. This is because the P-V characteristics of V/Hz controlled SASDs are dictated by the controlled three-phase motor, which is common to both ASDs and SASDs. Similarly, the P-V characteristics of SASDs with advanced control are determined by the applied control strategy, which is also the case with ASDs.

The active power demand characteristics of SASDs with active power factor correction circuits have been shown to be essentially constant for the considered changes in system voltage, while their  $Q_1$ -V and THD-V characteristics are close to zero. Thus, SASDs incorporating active power factor correction techniques may be assumed to be constant (active) power loads operating at unity power factor for the purposes of steady state load representation.

The non-active power demand characteristics of V/Hz and advance controlled SASDs have been shown to be similar. However, it is known from the results presented in the previous chapter for ASDs that these N-V characteristics will depend on the values of dc link filter components in the SASD bridge rectifier, the mechanical loading on the SASD and to a certain extent system impedance. These N-V characteristics are further investigated in the next sections, where an analytical model of SASDs is also developed in order to represent their characteristics without the use of a full SASD model.

## 3.10 Analytical model of SASDs

It has been shown in the preceding sections that SASDs have almost exactly the same active power demand characteristics as ASDs. This is because the only difference between SASD and ASD is the font-end bridge rectifier, while the inverter and motor are common to both loads. Therefore, exactly the same equivalent resistance model for the representation of the inverter and motor, developed for ASDs in Section 2.10, is used for the representation of inverter and motor in SASDs. The equivalent circuit model of the SASD is shown in Figure 3.19. The equivalent resistance in Figure 3.19 is represented by (2.11) to (2.14) for different types of motor mechanical load.



Figure 3.19: Equivalent circuit model of SASD.

In order to convert the equivalent circuit model of the SASD into analytical form, an analytical model of the single-phase bridge rectifier must be developed first.

## 3.10.1 Analytical representation of single-phase bridge rectifier

As previously discussed in Section 3.3, the single-phase diode bridge rectifier has two distinctive periods of operation, defined by the charging or discharging state of the link capacitor,  $C_{dc}$ . The charging state may be represented by a RLC circuit driven by the rectified system voltage,  $v_{rect}$ . The diagram of this equivalent charging circuits is shown in Figure 3.20(a).

The total resistance of the charging circuit,  $R_{total}$ , represents the sum of all resistances in the bridge rectifier charging conduction path, i.e. the local supply system resistance, the resistance of NTC thermistor if present, the resistance of the bridge diode, the equivalent series resistances of the dc link capacitor and inductor (if present) and the resistance of any circuit connections in the rectifier conduction path. In a similar way, the total inductance,  $L_{total}$ , represents the sum of

the supply system inductance and dc link filter inductance (if present). The circuit capacitance is directly represented by the dc link capacitor,  $C_{dc}$ . The discharging operating state of the bridge rectifier is represented by the circuit shown in Figure 3.20(b). This circuit is a simple RC discharge circuit, where value of the equivalent resistance and size of  $C_{dc}$  dictate the rate of discharge of capacitor voltage,  $v_{dc}$ .

These charge and discharge circuits may be represented analytically by the differential equations (3.2) and (3.4).



Figure 3.20: Equivalent circuit representation of rectifier/capacitor charge and discharge states.

Charging:

$$v_{rect} = R_{total} \cdot i_{in} + L_{total} \cdot \frac{di_{in}}{dt} + v_{dc}$$
(3.2)

$$i_{in} = C_{dc} \cdot \frac{dv_{dc}}{dt} + \frac{v_{dc}}{R_{eq}}$$
(3.3)

Discharging:

$$v_{dc} = v_{start} \cdot e^{\frac{-t}{R_{eq}C_{dc}}}$$
(3.4)

where:  $R_{eq}$  is inverter and motor equivalent resistance, and  $v_{start}$  is the capacitor voltage at the start of the discharge period.

### **3.10.2** Implementation of analytical model in MatLab

It was shown in the previous section that the single-phase bridge rectifier may be described by differential equations representing the charge and discharge periods/states of operation. A MatLab code was developed based on these differential equations, to produce an analytical model of the single-phase bridge rectifier. This code is now discussed, with the code found in Appendix B.2.

As with ASD analytical model, the operation of analytical model of the single-phase bridge rectifier is based around an if statement, which compares the value of  $v_{dc}$  with  $v_{rect}$ . If  $v_{dc}$  is

greater than  $v_{rect}$ , the discharge expression (3.4) is solved for one time step. This expression is used to calculate the next value of  $v_{dc}$ , which is then compared to  $v_{rect}$  again in a looped process. In this way, the discharge profile of  $C_{dc}$  is found. When the capacitor voltage reduces to a values lower than  $v_{rect}$ , the differential equations (3.2) and (3.3), describing the charging period of the rectifier, are solved. These equations return both  $v_{dc}$  and  $i_{in}$ , and are solved for the period where  $i_{in}$  is greater than zero. This gives the 'charging pulse' of the rectifier current. After the charging period, the discharge equation is solved again until the code time step reaches half a cycle. At this point, because the rectifier exhibits a half-cycle symmetry, the process described above is repeated with the known start value of  $v_{dc}$ , which is the last value from the previous half-cycle. The value of  $R_{eq}$  is updated using the rms values of  $v_{dc}$  from the previous half cycle. The circuit is assumed to reach steady state when the difference between the currently calculated value of  $R_{eq}$  is no more than 0.1% different than the previous value. In this way, the input current waveform of single-phase rectifier is produced. The operation of the code is illustrated by a flow chart in Figure 3.21.

# 3.11 Validation of analytical SASD model for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions

In order to fully validate the developed analytical SASD model, comparisons are made between the input current waveforms and associated harmonics predicted by the analytical model and full PSpice SASDs model. The SASD used in this analysis was the V/Hz open-loop SASD controlling 1HP three-phase motor. As before, four different motor loading conditions are considered. Minimum, nominal and maximum values of dc link filter components were selected as presented in Sections 3.5 and 3.6. Both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal input voltages are applied, with the magnitude of these voltage waveforms varied from 0.8 to 1.2pu, in order to find the P-V and N-V characteristics of the two models.



106

## 3.11.1 Sinusoidal supply conditions

The results of this analysis for a motor mechanically loaded with constant torque are shown in Figures 3.22 and 3.23. Figure 3.22 shows the current waveforms and associated harmonics of the two models at 1pu system voltage with nominal values of dc link filter components. Figure 3.23 shows a comparison of the P-V and N-V characteristics of the two models for minimum, nominal and maximum values of dc link filter components. The results for the motor mechanically loaded with the other considered loads can be found in Appendix B.3.



**Figure 3.22:** Comparison between full and analytical model of SASD with applied 1pu sinusoidal system voltage and constant torque mechanical load.



Figure 3.23: Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD with constant torque for min, nom and max dc link component values.

The results presented in Figure 3.22 show that the proposed analytical model is able to almost exactly predict the shape of the input current waveform of the full PSpice SASD model. Accordingly, the analytical model is also able to represent the harmonic content of full SASD model input current with no significant error. Further, from Figure 3.23 it can be seen that the analytical model will continue to provide this good matching for different system voltages and three selected values of dc link components.

The P-V characteristics of the SASD, Figure 3.23(a), show that the value of the SASD's dc link filter components will have little effect on these characteristics. This was also the case for the previously considered ASD load.

Finally, it can be seen from Figure 3.23(b) and (d) that the fundamental reactive power characteristics of the SASD are also very similar for the considered range of dc link filter components. This result is unlike the result presented for the ASD, were these characteristics where considerably different. The similarity in SASD Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics is due to the value of  $L_{dc}$  in the SASD. As can be seen from Figure 3.7, the value of  $L_{dc}$  for the considered SASD (746W) is large and exhibits little variance between minimum and maximum values of  $C_{dc}$ . Hence,  $L_{dc}$  will dominate the non-active power characteristics of the considered SASD, with the value of  $C_{dc}$  having only a very small effect on these characteristics. Furthermore, the difference between nominal and maximum and nominal and minimum values of  $L_{dc}$  is greater than the expected variation in typical system inductance. Therefore it can be concluded that alteration in the value of system impedance will have little effect on the characteristics of considered SASD, due to the dominating effect of the passive PFC inductor  $L_{dc}$ . However, it is important to note that in lower power SASDs the value of  $L_{dc}$  will be much smaller or even zero. Therefore, Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics will show much more variation with both values of  $C_{dc}$  and system impedance. Lower power SASD are considered further in Section 3.12.

The presented results have provided validation of the ability of the analytical model to predict harmonic and power demand characteristics of the SASD with applied constant mechanical torque, under sinusoidal voltage conditions. The results presented in Appendix B.3 further validate the analytical model of SASDs for applied linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loading conditions.

## 3.11.2 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions

The characteristics of the full and analytical models of the SASD with applied non-sinusoidal voltage are now considered. This analysis is performed in order to both validate the analytical model under non-sinusoidal situations, and to further investigate the characteristics of SASDs under these conditions. Again, two non-sinusoidal voltages are applied to the models, termed "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" (see Section 2.12.2). The results of this analysis

are presented in Figures 3.24 to 3.27.



**Figure 3.24:** Comparison between full and analytical model of SASD, with applied "typically distorted" system voltage with magnitude 1pu.



Figure 3.25: Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD mechanically loaded with constant torque load for nominal dc link component values and applied "typically distorted" system voltage.

Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors



Figure 3.26: Comparison between full and analytical model of SASD, with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage with magnitude 1pu.



Figure 3.27: Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of SASD mechanically loaded with constant torque load for nominal dc link component values and applied "heavily distorted" system voltage.

From the results presented in Figures 3.24 and 3.26, it can be seen that the analytical model

can accurately predict the waveshape and harmonic content of the full SASD model input current for both "typically" and "heavily" distorted input voltage conditions. Further, the results presented in Figures 3.25 and 3.27 show that full and analytical models are in good agreement for all considered active and non-active power demand characteristics. Thus, the analytical model may be used to represent the harmonic and power demand characteristics of SASDs in non-sinusoidal supply conditions.

It can also be seen from the presented results that distortion of the system voltage waveform will have no significant effect on the P-V characteristics of the SASD. Further, the Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics will also be unaffected by distortions in system voltage. This result will be mainly due to the large value of  $L_{dc}$  in the considered SASD. Lower power SASDs with smaller values of  $L_{dc}$  are expected to show more variation in Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics for distorted system voltage. Such SASDs are discussed further in the next section.

The results presented in Figures 3.24(b) and 3.26(b) show that distortion in the system voltage waveform will have an effect on harmonic content of the SASD input current. It can be seen that  $3^{rd}$ ,  $7^{th}$  and  $9^{th}$  harmonics will slightly decrease with increased input voltage distortion, while the  $5^{th}$ ,  $11^{th}$  and higher order harmonics will be relatively unaffected by input voltage distortion. This can also be seen in Figures 3.25(f) and 3.27(f), where the THD of the SASD with applied "typically distorted" waveform is 51% compared to 43% for applied "heavily distorted" waveform. This effect is known as 'harmonic attenuation', [79], and is discussed further in Section 3.12.2.

## 3.12 Generic analytical model of SASD

It has been shown in this chapter that P-V characteristics of SASDs are essentially independent of the values of SASD dc link filter components and presence of distortion in the applied system voltage. These characteristics, therefore, may be easily represented by polynomial or exponential models. However, the N-V and harmonic characteristics of SASDs will be effected by both values of dc link filter components and distortion of system voltage. Accordingly, an analytical model of SASDs is required to represent these characteristics.

When considering the N-V and harmonic characteristics of an aggregate load of SASD, it is impracticable to form the aggregate load from hundreds or even thousands of individual instances of the SASD analytical model. Therefore, a generic SASD load model is required for representing these aggregate characteristics with a single instance of the analytical SASD model. This generic model is essentially a per-unit representation of the analytical model, able to represent typical SASD characteristics, requiring that  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$  be represented in per-unit form. The value of  $C_{dc}$  has already been presented as per-unit values in Section 3.5 and can be used directly in generic models of SASD. However, the value of  $L_{dc}$  in the SASD can not be "generically" represented for all typical rated powers of SASDs. This is because the value of this component is selected based on harmonic limits that are not a function of SASD rated power. As can be seen from Figure 3.7, some SASD, (with rated active power below 380W), will not even require  $L_{dc}$ . Therefore, in order to present generic models of SASD, these loads are sub-divided into higher-power SASD and lower-power SASD. The generic models of each of these SASD sub-types are now considered in more detail.

It should be noted that the proposed generic analytical models represent aggregate load made up of same type SASDs, with all SASDs in the aggregate load having nominal parameters and operated at nominal power. The effects of harmonic interactions between same sub-type SASDs due to other than nominal values of parameters, or if operated at other than nominal powers, have not been specifically considered in this thesis.

## 3.12.1 Lower-power SASD

The lower-power SASD sub-type is selected to represent SASD with rated active power below 380W. This selection is made primarily because SASD below 380W will not require any form of PFC and hence are certain to have different N-V characteristics than SASD that have PFC. Further, it can be seen, from Table 3.1 that the present UK SPIM stock used in refrigerators, chest/upright freezers, fridge-freezers, etc., will usually have rated power below 380W. These are exactly the type of SPIMs that are expected to be replaced with SASDs. As lower-power SASDs will require no PFC,  $L_{dc}$  in these loads may be taken as zero, which significantly simplifies the generic model. Therefore, the generic analytical model of lower-power SASDs will have  $L_{dc}$  equal zero and  $C_{dc}$  as the per-unit value given in Section 3.5 ( $X_{Cdc} = 0.075$ pu).

This leaves only the value of  $R_{in}$  to be defined in order to form the generic analytical model of lower-power SASDs. The value of this parameter will be dominated by NTC thermistor in the bridge rectifier. The expected value of thermistor resistance is approximately  $1 - 2\Omega$  for the thermistor operating in (thermal) steady state, (i.e. "hot"). This is because "hot" resistance values of greater than 2.0 $\Omega$  will cause excessive losses in the bridge, while "hot" resistance lower than  $1.0\Omega$  are unlikely to increase enough when the thermistor is "cold" to provide effective inrush current protection. Accordingly, the typical value of thermistor resistance is taken as  $1.5\Omega$  (for "hot"). This value is now converted to a per-unit value for use in the generic analytical model, where a typical base power is taken as 200W. From Table 3.1, this represents roughly the average expected rated power of lower-power SASD. From this, it follows that  $R_{base} = \frac{230^2}{200} \approx 265\Omega$ , and therefore the per-unit value of  $R_{in} = \frac{1.5}{265} \approx 0.0057$ pu.

The per-unit values of  $C_{dc}$  and  $R_{in}$ , along with per-unit expressions for inverter and motor equivalent resistance (from Section 2.10), may be applied directly to the analytical expressions

3.2 to 3.4 to form the generic analytical model of lower-power SASD load-type.

## 3.12.2 Characteristics of lower-power SASD

The general characteristics of lower-power SASDs are now considered, as they have not been specifically considered elsewhere in this chapter. The developed generic analytical model of the lower-power SASD was used to investigated these characteristics. The model was set-up to represent a 200W lower-power SASD, and the value of system impedance was first altered between minimum and maximum values (see Section 1.8) for applied sinusoidal conditions, in order to quantify the effects of system impedance on lower-power SASDs. Then, the system impedance was set to nominal and "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltages are applied. As previously, system voltage was varied between 0.8-1.2pu in order to obtain the SASD' P-V and N-V power demand characteristics. Figure 3.28 shows the input current waveforms and associated harmonics of the lower-power SASD with applied 1pu sinusoidal system voltage, as well as, "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltages. Figure 3.29 shows the P-V and N-V power demand characteristics for each considered case. The results for P-V and Q1-V power demand characteristics are presented in per-unit, where base value are absolute values of P or Q1 at 1pu system voltage for each considered case. In this way, the differences or similarities in shapes of the characteristics, specifically the Q<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics, may be better seen.



Figure 3.28: Lower-power SASD input current waveforms and associated harmonics with applied, sinusoidal, "typically" distorted and "heavily" distorted system voltage.

It can be seen from Figure 3.29 that P-V power demand characteristics of lower-power SASDs will be unaffected by the changes in system impedance or applied distorted system voltage, as was the case for higher-power SASDs. Figure 3.29, shows that system impedance will have an effect on all N-V power demand characteristics of the lower-power SASD. However, the effect on  $Q_1$ -V characteristics is relatively small in absolute terms as fundamental power factor



**Figure 3.29:** Lower-power SASD P-V and N-V power demand characteristics with minimum, nominal and maximum values of system impedance, for sinusoidal system voltage, and nominal system impedance for "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltage.

is close to unity and therefore the absolute value of  $Q_1$  will be small. The effect on SASD' current THD is more significant, with THD varying in a range of approximately 30% between minimum and maximum values of system impedance (lowest value for maximum system impedance). As discussed previously, these effect will not occur in higher-power SASDs, as the large passive PFC inductor will dominate the N-V power demand characteristics of these load sub-types.

It should also be noted that the harmonic content of the lower-power SASD load is very high, as is illustrated in Figure 3.29(f). This high harmonic content is because this load sub-type is not required to meet any specific harmonic legislation, and therefore does not include any form of power factor correction. The implications of this high harmonic content on the supply system are considered later in Chapter 6.

The results of the presented analysis also show that distortion of the system voltage will lead to a significant reduction in lower-power SASD' displacement power factor, (from  $\approx 0.99$  for sinusoidal supply conditions, to  $\approx 0.92$  for "heavily" distorted supply conditions. Furthermore, polynomial and exponential models are unable to represent this effect). Additionally, the harmonic content of the lower-power SASD input current waveform will change somewhat with distortion of the system voltage, which is known as "harmonic attenuation". In order to explain these changes in characteristics Figure 3.30 shows the input current and dc link voltage,  $v_{dc}$ , of the considered SASD with applied sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltage.



Figure 3.30: Investigation into the change of characteristics of lower-power SASD with application of distorted supply voltage.

From Figure 3.30 it can be seen that as system voltage becomes distorted the SASD' dc link voltage,  $v_{dc}$ , will reduce and 'meet' the rectified system voltage,  $v_{rect}$ , earlier in the associated voltage half cycle. This will influence that the rectifier charging pulses are shifted to the left, what will reduce SASD input displacement power factor and make the SASD load become more capacitive. When the dc link capacitor,  $C_{dc}$ , in the SASD is being charged, its rate of charge will be dictated by the conduction path impedance and the difference between  $v_{dc}$  and  $v_{rect}$ . Therefore, if the system voltage waveform, and hence  $v_{rect}$ , is distorted, this will have significant effect on the rate of charge of  $C_{dc}$ , influencing the shape of the input current pulse and its harmonic content.

Harmonic attenuation has been considered in [79] and [80]. In these references, it is stated that the single-phase power electronic loads will reduce their harmonic content when system

voltage is "typically distorted" (i.e. characteristic 'flat-top' voltage waveform). While it can be seen from the presented results that for "heavily distorted" system voltage current THD of the lower-power SASD will decrease very slightly, the results also show that the current THD will be greater in "typically distorted" conditions than in sinusoidal conditions. This is because of the particular shape of the selected "typically distorted" voltage in this work, which is not an exact 'flat-top' voltage, but a more realistic waveform which was obtained from actual measurements, as discussed in Section 2.12.2.

Therefore, often made assumption, that the harmonic content of power electronic load will reduce with system voltage distortion should be taken with care, as it is has been shown that the harmonic content of the considered SASD is extremely sensitive to the exact shape (i.e. not to general shape) of the system voltage waveform.

## 3.12.3 Higher-power SASD

Generic models of higher-power SASDs are more problematic than those of lower-power SASDs, due to the presence of  $L_{dc}$  in higher-power SASDs. From the results presented in Figure 3.7, it can be seen that as the rated power of the SASD increases, so does the value of  $L_{dc}$ . Thus, there is no typical value, i.e. no common per-unit value, of  $L_{dc}$  in SASDs that can be used to represent all of these loads. Accordingly, a typical rated power of these SASDs must be selected in order to define the per-unit value of  $L_{dc}$  in the generic higher-power model.

In this work, the typical rated power of higher-power SASD is taken as 850W. This value is chosen as higher-power SASD are likely to be found in applications such as domestic air conditioners and building pumps/fans. It is unlikely that SASD of power much below 850W will be used in these applications, and if these applications require more than 850W, it is likely that 3-phase ASDs will be used instead. Thus, from Figure 3.7, a typical value of 17.5mH is taken for the generic model of higher-power SASD. Expression (3.5) can then be used to convert this typical value of  $L_{dc}$  to a per-unit reactance, giving  $X_{Ldc} \approx 0.1$  pu.

$$X_{Ldc} = \frac{L_{typical} \cdot \omega}{\left(\frac{V_{nom}^2}{P_{typical}}\right)} = \frac{0.0175 \cdot 2 \cdot \pi \cdot 50}{\left(\frac{230^2}{850}\right)} \approx 0.1 pu$$
(3.5)

where:  $X_{Ldc}$  is the per-unit reactance of  $L_{dc}$  in the generic higher-power SASD model,  $L_{typical}$  and  $P_{typical}$  are the inductance and rated power of selected typical SASD, i.e 17.5mH and 850W.

In order to investigate the error incurred due to this assumption, an aggregate load was formed from 700W, 800W and 900W SASDs, with the value of  $L_{dc}$  in each SASD obtained

from Figure 3.7 and  $C_{dc}$  taken as nominal for the considered rated powers. A sinusoidal system voltage was applied to this aggregate load with magnitude varied from 0.8 to 1.2pu, in order obtain P-V and N-V characteristics. The proposed generic analytical model of higher-power SASDs was then set to represent an aggregate load of 2400W, and its P-V and N-V characteristics are found. Figures 3.31 and 3.32 compare the characteristics of the aggregate load and those predicted by the generic analytical model.



**Figure 3.31:** Comparison between aggregate load formed from 700W, 800W and 900W SASDs and generic analytical model, at 1pu system voltage.



Figure 3.32: Comparison of power demand characteristics between aggregate load formed from 700W, 800W and 900W SASDs and generic analytical model, at 1pu system voltage.

The results shown in Figures 3.31 and 3.32 illustrates that there is some error between the predicted aggregate load by the generic analytical model and the actual aggregate load. This error, as discussed before, is due to the selection of a single per-unit reactance value of  $L_{dc}$  to represent all SASD in the considered higher-power range.

From Figure 3.32(f) it can be seen that the overall harmonic content of the aggregate and generic analytical models are almost the same. This is because although there is a slight error in prediction of the higher order harmonics, Figure 3.31, the  $3^{rd}$  and  $5^{th}$  harmonics match well, and these harmonics have considerably larger magnitudes compared to the higher order harmonics. This further shows that the large passive power factor inductor in higher-power SASDs will dominate this loads harmonic characteristics, with small changes in value of  $L_{dc}$  having very little effect on these characteristics.

As expected, the P-V characteristics of the aggregate load and generic analytical models are

the same, as are their  $Q_1$ -V characteristics. Although the generic analytical model predicts a slightly higher demand for fundamental reactive power, as it predicts a lower displacement power factor, this error is small. Therefore, the proposed generic model may be used to represent the considered aggregate load made of higher-power SASDs with acceptable error.

# 3.13 Polynomial and exponential models of SASD

Now that generic analytical models for lower-power and higher-power SASDs have been developed and verified, polynomial and exponential expressions may be fit to their P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics. The corresponding polynomial and exponential model coefficients are derived from relevant generic analytical models with applied sinusoidal system voltage and nominal values of system impedance. These polynomial and exponential model coefficients of the SASDs load type are shown in Table 3.5. Table 3.6 shows the previously presented polynomial and exponential model coefficients for SPIMs in order that the differences between these two load types may be more easily compared. It should be noted that for the lower-power SASDs the polynomial coefficients for reactive power sum to minus 1, to indicate negative reactive power, i.e. capacitive load. There is no such mechanism to distinguish between capacitive and inductive loads in the exponential load model. As the active power demand characteristics of both lower and higher power SASD loads are the same as those of lower-power ASDs, the polynomial and exponential models will also be the same and these models can accordingly be seen in Figure 2.56. The Q1-V characteristics of SASDs and ASDs will however not be the same, and Figures 3.33 and 3.34 show comparison between SASD generic analytical, polynomial and exponential models. Once more, it can be seen that the presented polynomial models will show better matching than the exponential models, especially for fundamental reactive power elements. There were no previous models of SASDs found in literature, so no comparison with existing models can be made here.

It should be noted that polynomial and exponential models can not represent the discussed variation in lower-power SASD N-V power demand characteristics with distortion of system voltage and smaller variations with change in system impedance. The higher-power SASD shows much less variation due to system voltage distortion and essentially no variation for different system impedances, so polynomial and exponential models are more valid for expressing the general characteristics of this load sub-type even under distorted system voltage conditions.


Figure 3.33: Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower-power SASDs, fundamental reactive power.



Figure 3.34: Results obtained using proposed exponential and polynomial models of higher-power SASDs, fundamental reactive power.

		-		1	-						
Loading	$PF_1$	Exp. 1	Model	Polynomial Model							
Loading		np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$		
Higher power V/Hz open-loop SASDs											
СТ	0.896	-0.10	-0.88	0.40	-0.89	1.49	1.54	-3.95	3.41		
LT	0.896	0.08	-0.71	0.02	0.0	0.98	0.95	-2.60	2.66		
QT	0.896	0.22	-0.57	-0.27	0.76	0.51	0.54	-1.65	2.11		
СР	0.896	-0.19	-1.11	1.08	-2.5	2.42	2.47	-6.04	4.56		
Higher power V/Hz closed-loop SASDs											
all	0.896	-0.19	-1.11	1.08	-2.5	2.42	2.47	-6.04	4.56		
	Higher power advanced controlled SASDs										
all	0.896	0	-0.73	0	0	1	1.45	-3.66	3.19		
		Low	er power	r V/Hz o	pen-loo	p SASI	Ds				
СТ	0.99	-0.10	-3.33	0.40	-0.89	1.49	-3.32	10.50	-8.18		
LT	0.99	0.08	-2.72	0.02	0.0	0.98	-3.65	10.34	-7.69		
QT	0.99	0.22	-2.63	-0.27	0.76	0.51	-3.67	10.31	-7.64		
СР	0.99	-0.19	-3.91	1.08	-2.5	2.42	-3.02	10.62	-8.60		
Lower power V/Hz closed-loop SASDs											
all	0.99	-0.19	-3.91	1.08	-2.5	2.42	-3.02	10.62	-8.60		
	Lower power advanced controlled SASDs										
all	0.99	0	-2.81	0	0	1	-3.61	10.39	-7.78		

 Table 3.5: Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of SASDs.

**Table 3.6:** Proposed exponential and polynomial model coefficients of SPIMs, (as previously presented).

Loading	PF <sub>nom</sub>	Exp. Model		Polynomial Model						
		np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$	
RSIR CT	0.62	0.06	1.92	0.63	-1.20	1.57	1.40	-0.91	0.50	
RSIR LT	0.62	0.19	1.92	0.31	-0.43	1.11	1.40	-0.91	0.50	
RSIR QT	0.62	0.30	1.92	0.10	0.10	0.80	1.40	-0.91	0.50	
RSIR CP	0.62	-0.12	1.92	1.16	-2.42	2.26	1.40	-0.91	0.50	
RSCR CT	0.90	0.38	1.68	0.50	-0.62	1.11	1.54	-1.43	0.89	
RSCR LT	0.90	0.46	1.68	0.34	-0.22	0.88	1.54	-1.43	0.89	
RSCR QT	0.90	0.53	1.68	0.22	0.08	0.69	1.54	-1.43	0.89	
RSCR CP	0.90	0.29	1.68	0.73	-1.16	1.43	1.54	-1.43	0.89	

### 3.14 Conclusions

This chapter has identified and reviewed typical types of single-phase induction motors used in residential and commercial applications. Detailed models of these motors have been developed from existing motor theory. These models have then been used to investigate active and reactive power demand characteristics of these loads with changes in system steady state voltage. The analysis has shown that P-V characteristics of SPIMs are dependent on the type of motor and the type of mechanical load the motor is driving. The analysis has also shown that the Q-V characteristics of SPIMs are dependent on type of SPIM, but are essentially independent of type of motor mechanical loading. As SPIM are linear loads, their polynomial and exponential models are proposed to accurately represent their P-V and Q-V characteristics. The proposed SPIM load models are generally in good agreement with previously presented load models. Rather than presenting these models based on specific type of motors, they have been presented based on type of motor mechanical loading. In this way, flexibility has been provided, as the developed models may be used to represent a wide range of motors used in a variety of end-use applications.

In the future, SPIMs are expected to be partly replaced by more efficient single-phase drive-controlled motors (SASD). Therefore, detailed models of typical SASDs have been developed in this chapter. Analyses of these models have revealed that the P-V characteristics of SASD loads are essentially the same as those presented previously for lower-power ASD load. However, the N-V and harmonic characteristics of SASDs loads are significantly different than those of lower-power ASDs. It has been shown that these characteristics will be dominantly dictated by the values of the SASD's dc link filter components,  $L_{dc}$  and  $C_{dc}$ . Thus, an analytical model of SASD has been developed and validated for both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply system voltages.

Typical per-unit values of  $C_{dc}$  for SASDs have been derived and presented. It has been found that the value of  $L_{dc}$  will be dictated by EU harmonic standards. These standards set absolute limits on allowable harmonic currents for individual SASD load. These limits are independent of rated power of the SASD load. It has been shown that these standards will have a profound influence on the non-active and harmonic characteristics of the SASD. This influence is to such an extent, that the SASD load category has to be sub-divided into two load sub-types: lower-power and higher-power SASDs. Lower-power SASD load is capacitive, while higher-power SASD load is inductive. The THD of lower-power SASDs is high, typically 190%, compared to 60% of higher-power SASDs. Thus, lower-power SASDs are expected to have significant influence on supply system harmonics, as is further investigated in Chapter 6. The displacement power factor of lower-power SASD will also be significantly affected by system voltage distortion, which in turn will influence the fundamental reactive power supplied by this load to the supply system. Generic models of each of the SASD load sub-types have been derived from the developed analytical SASD models. These generic load models may be used directly in aggregate system load models to represent the components of SASD load. Finally, for the completeness of the discussion, polynomial and exponential SASD models have been presented, which can also be used directly in power system studies (e.g. standard load flow analysis) where the harmonic characteristics of the load are not considered important.

# Chapter 4 Electronic dc power supply loads

# 4.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on developing load models of dc power supplies found mainly in domestic applications. The most common examples of these loads include: PCs, monitors, televisions, DVD/CD players/recorders, etc. Over the past few decades, the number of these devices in the UK has increased significantly, due to the boom in the consumer electronics market. It is estimated that electronic load are now responsible for around 25% of the total UK domestic electrical power demand, [14] and [81]. This figure is expected to increase by 2020 to around 33% of total UK domestic power demand, [14]. Figure 4.1 shows this increasing trend in energy consumption of electronic loads in the UK domestic sector since 1980.



Figure 4.1: Electrical energy consumption of electronic equipment from 1980-2020, [14].

Modern electronic dc power supply loads are often referred to as switch-mode power supplies

(SMPS) <sup>1</sup>. They are non-linear loads and introduce harmonics into the supply system. While there has been a fair amount of work into harmonic emissions associated with SMPS, the majority of it has been performed prior to 2001, when new and more stringent harmonic legislation was introduced. This chapter investigates effects of this legislation on characteristics (and load models) of SMPS. From the load modelling point of view, this legislation has led to the creation of two new sub-types of SMPS loads, which have not been considered in previously published literature. It was found that the P-V characteristics of pre- and post- 2001 SMPS are essentially the same, while the harmonic emissions and N-V characteristics are significantly different.

A general SMPS PSpice model of electronic load is developed, in order to obtain full models of SMPS loads. This full model was verified by measurements, and then translated into an equivalent circuit model in the same way as performed for SASD load previously. This equivalent circuit model was then further converted to an analytical model and verified with measurements for applied sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal system voltage conditions. A detailed review of the typical values of relevant circuit components in SMPS was performed, and the obtained data were used to form general analytical models of each SMPS load sub-type. It is shown that the proposed general analytical models are able to accurately represent all power and harmonic characteristics of an aggregate load made up of same sub-type SMPS load. Finally, polynomial and exponential models of each SMPS load sub-type are presented.

# **4.1.1** Previous work on the representation of electronic loads for power system studies

There has been very little previous work on the representation of electronic loads for power system studies, with only three previous reference presenting models for these loads, [15], [22] and [3]. Reference [22] recommends a general load model for office equipment which consists of PCs, monitors and printers. Reference [15] presents a load model for television load and reference [3] recommends that electronic loads should be represented as constant MVA loads, but does not state load power factor. These models are shown in Table 4.1.

Loading	DF	Exp. Model		Polynomial Model					
Loading	1 I'nom	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
Electronic load, [3]	-	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-
Television, [15]	0.8	2	5.1	-	-	-	-	-	-
Office equipment 1 [22],	1.00	0.24	0	0.34	-0.32	0.98	0.00	0.00	0.00
Office equipment 2 [22],	1.00	0.20	0	0.08	0.07	0.85	0.00	0.00	0.00

**Table 4.1:** Existing model coefficients of electronic loads.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In this thesis, terms "dc power supply" and "switch-mode power supply (SMPS)" are used interchangeably. Only uncontrolled (unregulated) dc power supplies cannot be termed as SMPS.

Although there has been other research on the characteristics of electronic loads and their effects on the supply system, this previous research has been focussed almost exclusively on their harmonic emissions. The changes in active/reactive power demand characteristics with changes in supply system voltage have not been considered there.

# 4.2 Components and configurations of electronic dc power supply loads

Electronic equipment requires a dc voltage to operate, and therefore contain electronic circuits (dc 'power supply') for conversion of ac input system voltage to dc voltage. As discussed previously, a single-phase diode bridge rectifier is the standard circuit used for the conversion of ac to dc voltage. Modern electronic circuits are very sensitive to variations in applied dc voltage, and require this voltage to be tightly regulated. The bridge rectifier alone can not provide a constant dc voltage, as its output voltage has a large ac ripple component, unacceptable for supplied electronic circuits. Therefore, an additional circuit, known as a dc-dc converter, is required to stabilise rectifier output voltage, i.e. to regulate it at a value suitable for supplying the back-end dc electronic load. Figure 4.2 shows a block diagram of a typical modern dc power supply, commonly referred to as switch mode power supply (SMPS). The main component blocks of SMPS' load are discussed below. It should also be noted that there may be a few lower-power devices that do not contain dc-dc converters, which are termed here as unregulated dc power supplies. However, these dc power supplies will be of very low rated power, and hence will not have any significant influence/contribution to the overall power consumption of dc power supply loads. Accordingly, they are not considered further in this work.



Figure 4.2: Major components of a typical modern SMPS.

#### 4.2.1 EMI-filter

The dc-dc converters found in SMPS will operate at high frequency, usually 65kHz-300kHz, (discussed in more detail in Section 4.2.5) and will require an EMI suppression filter to meet the

required standards, [82]. A typical EMI filter commonly found in SMPS is shown in Figure 4.3. It consists of a common mode ("choke") inductance,  $L_{emi}$ , combined with a capacitance,  $C_{emi}$ . The common mode choke is a bi-filar wound inductor, which acts as a low impedance path for balanced currents (induced fluxes in each coil are cancelled), and as a high impedance for unbalanced currents (fluxes in coils do not cancel). The EMI capacitor also helps to further attenuate the EMI noise, [83]. The value of the choke will depend on the switching frequency and the amount of attenuation required. It is typically small,  $50\mu$ H to  $800\mu$ H. The value of the  $C_{emi}$  is also relatively small, typically in the range 100nF to 600nF. Because of these small values, the EMI filter is not having any significant effect on the operation of the SMPS from the load modelling point of view.



Figure 4.3: Typical SMPS EMI-filter.

#### 4.2.2 Bridge rectifier

The operation of the single-phase bridge rectifier circuit has been discussed previously (Section 3.3.1).

The dc link filter capacitor  $C_{dc}$  found in the SMPSs is usually selected regarding two essential design criteria: a) allowed dc voltage ripple, and b) required 'hold-up time' [84], [36]. These are discussed further below, where it is shown that the 'hold-up time' requirement will effectively dictate the value of  $C_{dc}$ .

Due to harmonic legislation, certain SMPS may also include an inductor in the rectifier circuit,  $L_{dc}$ , in order to implement passive PFC (similar to both ASDs and SASD, which also use this method of PFC). The value of  $L_{dc}$  will be selected based on meeting specified harmonic limits. Suitable values of this component are discussed in Section 4.4.1, where corresponding harmonic limits are presented.

#### 4.2.2.1 DC link voltage ripple

The ripple of the bridge rectifier output voltage is defined as the difference between the maximum and minimum values of this voltage. Its value will depend on the discharge rate of  $C_{dc}$  (i.e. size of  $C_{dc}$ ) and the power drawn from  $C_{dc}$  by the SMPS supplied load. Although the level of acceptable dc link voltage ripple is application specific, it will typically be less than

20% of the nominal dc link voltage, [84]. Expression (4.1) may be used to find the minimum allowed value of  $C_{dc}$ , based on the rated power of the SMPS and the allowed dc link voltage ripple.

$$C_{dc} = \frac{P_{SMPS}}{\eta \cdot (v_{rip,max}^2 - v_{rip,min}^2)} \times \frac{1}{f}$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

Where: f is frequency of the supply system voltage,  $P_{SMPS}$  is the rated active power of the SMPS,  $v_{rip,max}$  and  $v_{rip,min}$  are the maximum and minimum dc link voltage (i.e. peak and trough values of dc link voltage ripple).

#### 4.2.2.2 Hold-up time

The hold-up time of the SMPS is defined as the time for which dc link voltage will still be within specifications after a full interruption of the supply system voltage. Hold-up time is dictated by legislation, [85], which states that SMPS should have immunity to voltage interruptions of up to 10ms (half cycle). Therefore, if the voltage interruption starts just before the dc link capacitor is about to be charged, then a 10ms interruption can translate into close to a 20ms period for fully charged capacitor. Accordingly, hold-up time around 23ms is commonly used in industry, as it represents the 20ms plus a safety margin ([84], [86], [87]). In order to calculate the size of  $C_{dc}$  necessary to achieve a particular hold-up time, the rated power of the SMPS and the minimum operational input voltage of the dc-dc converter in the SMPS must both be known. The difference between the nominal operating voltage of the dc-dc converter. However, values of 80-100V are common, [84]. Therefore, a value of  $C_{dc}$  that should be selected should be large enough to keep dc link voltage, not less than 80-100V lower than its nominal value, after a full supply voltage interruption. Expression (4.2) may be used to calculate the typical size of  $C_{dc}$  required to meet the hold-up time criteria.

$$C_{dc} = \frac{2 \times P_{SMPS} \times t_{hu}}{\eta \times (v_{dc,nom}^2 - v_{dc,min}^2)}$$
(4.2)

Where:  $t_{hu}$  is the specified hold up time,  $\eta$  is the efficiency of the SMPS,  $v_{dc,nom}$  and  $v_{dc,min}$  are the nominal and minimum operating voltage of the dc-dc converter.

#### **4.2.3** Estimation of typical size of $C_{dc}$

Figure 4.4 shows the minimum values of  $C_{dc}$  required to achieve 24ms hold-up time for a range of SMPS rated powers, assuming the dc-dc converter can operate for up to a 80V drop

from nominal input voltage, i.e. 230-80=150V (for UK/EU supply systems). Also shown in Figure 4.4 are the values of  $C_{dc}$  that would lead to associated dc link voltage ripples of 10% and 20%, and actual values of  $C_{dc}$  found in different SMPS'. These values have been obtained from the manufacturers data sheets and through the examination of available SMPS devices.

It can be seen from this figure that these actual values of  $C_{dc}$  all lie fairly close to the 23ms hold-up time line. Therefore, it can be concluded that 23ms hold-up time is the main criteria by which the value of  $C_{dc}$  in SMPS is selected. Accordingly, per-unit value of  $X_{C_{dc}}$  for SMPS loads may be found from the 23ms hold-up time line, using (4.3) and a point from this line (e.g.  $P_{SMPS}$  =250W,  $C_{dc}$  = 415 $\mu$ F). This is an important result for development of generic SMPS models.

$$X_{Cdc,pu} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{C_{dc}\cdot\omega}\right)}{\left(\frac{V_{phase}^2}{P_{SMPS}}\right)} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{415\times10^{-6}\cdot\omega}\right)}{\left(\frac{230^2}{250}\right)} \approx 0.036pu$$
(4.3)

where:  $V_{phase}$  is the input phase voltage,  $P_{SMPS}$  is the rated power of the SMPS,  $\omega = 2\pi f$  where f is the system frequency.



**Figure 4.4:** Values of  $C_{dc}$  found in SMPS loads.

#### 4.2.4 Inrush current protection

As SMPS' contain relatively large capacitors ( $X_{C_{dc}} = 0.036$ pu), on initial 'switch-on', when dc link voltage is = 0 (or when it is very low), a low impedance path is presented to the supply system and a large current will flow for a short period of time while  $C_{dc}$  is charging. This current is commonly known as "inrush current" and, if not limited, may damage the components within the SMPS bridge rectifier.

Two approaches are commonly used by industry to reduce inrush current. These are usually referred to as active and passive inrush current protection. Active inrush current protection can be found in a variety of forms, but will usually consist of components such as triacs, resistors, relays and thyristors. Passive inrush current protection is achieved simply by using a negative temperature coefficient (NTC) thermistor, and is considerably cheaper than the active alternative. It is estimated that over 90% of devices on the market that require inrush current protection use NTC thermistors, [88].

The steady state resistance of the NTC thermistor is proportional to average current flow through the component, with a higher average current resulting in a lower resistance of the thermistor. The NTC thermistor also has a large thermal time constant, with a typical "cool-down period" of around 60 seconds, [88]. In the event of short supply system voltage reduction, this may be problematic, as the thermistor will not cool down sufficiently, and its resistance will stay low, resulting in high in-rush current upon recovery of normal supply voltage. This is discussed in detail in [35], and is of importance for the development of accurate dynamic models of dc power supplies. The characteristics of a typical NTC thermistor are shown in Figure 4.5. With respect to steady-state load modelling of SMPS, the NTC thermistor will introduce additional resistance to the rectifier conduction path.



Figure 4.5: Characteristics of a typical NTC thermistor.

Another form of active inrush current protection is to include a relay in parallel with the NTC thermistor. This relay is closed when the SMPS is operating, (i.e. when dc link voltage is above a preset level), allowing the NTC to thermistor to cool down. If a voltage interruption occurs, (i.e. dc link voltage reduces to less than preset level) the relay opens and the thermistor is in the rectifier conduction path. On voltage recovery, the "cold" NTC thermistor will act to limit the inrush current.

#### 4.2.5 DC-DC converter

As discussed previously, the function of the dc-dc converter is to stabilise bridge rectifier output dc link voltage,  $v_{dc}$ , which has a relatively large ac ripple component. The output of a dc-dc converter is a dc voltage with a low ripple, suitable for electronic equipment/components that are very sensitive to voltage fluctuations. The dc-dc converter must also regulate variations in the input system voltage, which should not be transferred to the electronic components it supplies.

There is a wide variety of dc-dc converters. However, they may be split generally into two categories: forward-mode and flyback-mode converters. Forward-mode converters are usually applied in higher power applications, such as desktop PCs, while flyback-mode converters are applied in lower power applications, such as laptop power supplies. Reference [83] gives full descriptions of the operation of flyback and forward mode converters.

#### 4.2.5.1 General DC-DC converter

Although there are several different topologies of dc-dc converters, they will all act in a similar way, trying to keep their dc output voltage constant when their input voltage changes within a specified range (typically 70% to 120% of nominal voltage). As dc-dc converter output voltage is maintained constant, the active power drawn by the dc-dc converter will also remain constant with change in system voltage. Therefore, for the purposes of load modelling, the exact topology of the dc-dc converter is not important.

# 4.3 Full PSpice models of SMPS

Following the same methodology as in preceding chapters, PSpice software was used to develop a detailed (i.e. full) model of a typical SMPS with flyback-mode converter. The flyback-mode converter topology was selected as it is one of the most common topologies, and as discussed previously, its performance in relation to regulation of dc output voltage is not different from any other dc-dc converter type. Although used for developing steady-state models load models, the full SMPS model is of sufficient detail for transient analysis. This is successfully demonstrated in [35], where SMPS models from this thesis are used for the analysis of inrush currents taken by the SMPS during voltage sags. This model is now verified by comparison with measured data.

#### 4.3.1 Full SMPS model

The full flyback-based SMPS PSpice model, shown in Figure 4.6, incorporates a detailed PSpice model of a typical controller chip, [89], which controls the power MOSFET, "flymos". When flymos is on, current builds up in the primary inductance of the flyback transformer  $L_p$  (storing the energy), while D5 prevents current flowing into the secondary,  $L_s$ . When flymos is switched off, the stored energy is released into  $L_s$ . Hence, the output voltage of the converter is controlled by altering the duty ratio of the switching pulses. The output voltage feedback signal is supplied to the controller chip by means of an opto-coupler, which provides isolation between high and low voltages in the SMPS. The implemented bridge diode model is based on the device characteristics found in [35]. The EMI choke,  $L_{emi}$ , is represented with a standard PSpice transformer.



Figure 4.6: Schematic of a full PSpice flyback-based SMPS model.

#### 4.3.2 Validation of full PSpice SMPS model

The developed PSpice SMPS model is validated in laboratory measurements. The SMPS power supply selected for measurement was from a desktop PC manufactured in 2004, with rated maximum power of 250W. The PC power supply was removed from the PC housing, and its output is loaded with a fixed resistive load of 100W. A fully controlled linear power supply, [90], was used to supply an ideal sinusoidal input voltage. The input current waveforms drawn by the PC power supply were measured, along with the input voltage for a voltage range of 0.8 to 1.2pu. The fixed resistive load was used, so that the output power drawn from the SMPS

could be maintained constant. This is hard to achieve if the power supply remains in the PC, as the power demand of the PC is constantly changing.

After completing the measurements, the PC power supply was disassembled and power supply components  $C_{dc}$ ,  $C_{emi}$  and  $L_{dc}$  were identified and measured. It was further noted that PC power supply was of forward-converter topology. The measured component values were then applied to the full PSpice SMPS model. The dc-dc converter output voltage in the SMPS model was set to match that of the measured PC power supply, with the same value of load resistance applied. The topology of the SMPS model was left unaltered. Simulations were run for a range of system voltages between 0.8 to 1.2pu. Figures 4.7 and 4.8 show the comparison of measurements with the results from the PSpice SMPS model.



Figure 4.7: Comparison between measured and full PSpice model of 250W SMPS.

The results presented in Figure 4.7 show that the full PSpice SMPS model is able to very accurately predict the shape of the input instantaneous current waveform and its harmonics. Further results presented in Figure 4.8 show that, as expected, the active power demand characteristics of the SMPS are essentially constant with the steady-state changes in system supply voltage, and that PSpice model is also able to predict them accurately. The Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of the measured SMPS are nearly linear, showing that Q<sub>1</sub> reduces with the increase of input voltage. The PSpice model is also able to predict  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of the measured SMPS accurately, with a maximum error of  $\pm 5\%$  (seen at the ends of the considered voltage range). The PF-V, PF<sub>1</sub>-V, PF<sub>d</sub>-V and THD-V characteristics of the measured SMPS can also be predicted by the PSpice model without any significant error.

The analysis presented in this section has shown that the full PSpice model of the SMPS is an accurate representation of an actual SMPS. Further, it has been shown that the topology of the dc-dc converter found within the SMPS will have no significant effect on the power characteristics of the SMPS.



Figure 4.8: Comparison of measurements with full PSpice SMPS model.

### 4.4 Harmonic limits

Switch-mode power supplies connected to the EU supply network must comply with harmonic limits stipulated in [30], introduced in 2001. These standards state that SMPS' with rated power less than 75W are not subject to any harmonic limits. For SMPS' of rated power above 75W, used in e.g. personal computers, monitors or TVs (the overwhelming majority of SMPS' found at these power levels), [30] stipulates stringent harmonic limits (termed as Class D limits). There are two requirements stipulated by Class D, which are summarised in Table 4.2, both of which must be met in order for the SMPS to conform to this legislation. The first limit (Table 4.2, column 2), sets the maximum permissible harmonic current of a particular harmonic based on rated power of SMPS. The second limit (Table 4.2, column 3), sets an absolute maximum allowed harmonic current, and is not based on the rated power of the SMPS. These absolute limits are the same as the Class A limits considered in Section 3.6. These two sets of limits may be correlated to each other, as shown in Table 4.2, column 4, giving a maximum power above which harmonic limits in column 2 will breach limit in column 3.

Harmonic order	Maximum permissible	Maximum permissible	Correlating to		
	harmonic current per	harmonic current	maximum power		
	watt		of		
n	(mA/W)	(A)	(W)		
3	3.4	2.3	676		
5	1.9	1.14	600		
7	1.0	0.77	770		
9	0.5	0.40	800		
11	0.35	0.33	943		
13	0.3	0.21	700		
$13 \le n \le 39$	$\frac{3.85}{n}$	$0.15  imes rac{15}{n}$	584		

 Table 4.2: EU harmonic emission standards, Class D limits [30].

#### 4.4.1 Methods of meeting harmonic limits

Manufacturers of SMPS' use either passive or active power factor correction (PFC) techniques to meet specified Class D harmonic limits. These active and passive PFC techniques are exactly the same as those used in SASD.

#### 4.4.1.1 Active PFC

Active PFC is achieved by adding an additional dc-dc converter stage (besides that used for stabilising dc link voltage) to the SMPS. An SMPS with active power factor correction will draw constant active power from the supply system with changes in system voltage, and will draw essentially no fundamental reactive power, as discussed in Section 3.6.1.1. The active PFC controller will also adjust the input current waveform of the SMPS, making it to match the shape of the system voltage, i.e. it will not draw harmonic current (see Figure 4.10).

#### 4.4.1.2 Passive PFC

Passive PFC is achieved by addition of a relatively large inductor,  $L_{dc}$ , to the rectifier circuit. This inductor will act to 'smooth' the rectifier input current pulse, as described in Section 3.3.1, therefore reducing its harmonic content. The full PSpice SMPS model developed in the previous section was used to investigate the expected value of  $L_{dc}$  in SMPS with passive PFC. The full model was adjusted to operate at rated powers between 75W and 500W. At each rated power, the absolute value of  $C_{dc}$  was set using the typical per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$  as found in Section 4.2.3. Simulations were then run with each of these models, and the value of  $L_{dc}$  was increased until Class D harmonic limits where just met. In this way, the minimum value of  $L_{dc}$  required to meet Class D harmonic limits was found as a function of SMPS rated power. The same analysis was also performed at values of  $C_{dc}$  40% greater and 40% less than nominal, in order to quantify the effect of  $C_{dc}$  on  $L_{dc}$ . The results of this analysis are shown in Figure 4.9.



Also shown in this figure is the value of  $L_{dc}$  measured from the PC power supply used in the previous analysis.

Figure 4.9: Minimum size of  $L_{dc}$  required to meet Class D limits, [30].

It can be seen from the results presented in Figure 4.9 that the value of  $C_{dc}$  only has a small effect on the selection of  $L_{dc}$ , as was the case with SASD load (see Section 3.6). It can also be seen that the relationship between  $L_{dc}$  and rated power of SMPS is continuous, and that the required value of  $L_{dc}$  will decrease as rated power of SMPS increases. This is in contrast to the results obtained for the SASD, where it was seen that relationship between rated power of SASD and value of  $L_{dc}$  was discontinuous, and that required  $L_{dc}$  increased with rated power of SASD. These differences are due to the harmonic limits applied to these two types of non-linear loads. The SMPS Class D harmonic limits are based on the rated power of the SMPS, while the SASD Class A (Table 4.2, column 3) limits are not.

As Class D harmonic limits are a function of SMPS rated power, a per-unit value of  $L_{dc}$  may be found, able to represent the value of this parameter over the whole considered power range of SMPS' with passive PFC. In order to find this per-unit value, any pair of SMPS rated power and  $L_{dc}$  values can be selected from Figure 4.9. As an illustration, a 250W SMPS is selected, for which associated  $L_{dc}$  is 20mH. This value is then converted to a per-unit reactance, by implementing (4.4), which gives  $X_{Ldc} = 0.03$  pu.

$$X_{Ldc} = \frac{L_{dc} \cdot \omega}{\left(\frac{V_{phase}^2}{P_{SMPS}}\right)} = \frac{0.02 \cdot 2 \cdot pi \cdot 50}{\left(\frac{230^2}{250}\right)} \approx 0.03 pu \tag{4.4}$$

Where:  $V_{phase}$  is the input phase voltage,  $P_{SMPS}$  is the rated power of the SMPS,  $\omega = 2\pi f$  where f is the system frequency.

A plot of this proposed per-unit value of  $L_{dc}$  is also shown in Figure 4.9. It can be seen that the proposed per-unit value is indeed valid, as it closely follows values of  $L_{dc}$  obtained from harmonic legislation. This result is significant, as it means that the value of  $L_{dc}$  in the SMPS with passive PFC may be directly represented as a per-unit value without introducing an error. This was not the case for the SASD load, where it was not possible to derive such a general (i.e. unified) per-unit expression.

#### 4.4.2 Categorisation of electronic dc power supply loads

The harmonic limits discussed above mean that the dc power supply load type should be subdivided into three following sub-types:

- dc power supply with no PFC This load sub-type will be of rated power less than 75W, and will not include  $L_{dc}$  in the rectifier circuit.
- dc power supply with passive PFC This load sub-type will be of rated power above 75W, and will have an inductor  $L_{dc}$  in the rectifier circuit ( $X_{Ldc} = 0.03$ pu).
- **dc power supply with active PFC** This load sub-type will will be of rated power above 75W, and it will have an additional dc-dc converter stage to control the input current, making it sinusoidal and in-phase with the supply system voltage.

It is interesting to briefly compare the harmonic content of SMPS with and without PFC to show the effect of harmonic legislation (introduced in 2001) on the characteristics of the dc power supply load type.

The power supply from a PC manufactured in the year 2000 was removed from the PC and resistive load was applied to the dc output in the same way as described in Section 4.3.2. A sinusoidal voltage at 1 pu magnitude was applied to this pre-2001 SMPS and the input current waveform was measured. The same process was repeated for a PC power supplies manufactured post-2001 with active and passive PFC. Figure 4.10 shows a comparison between measured currents and associated harmonics of the pre-2001 and post-2001 SMPS'.



Figure 4.10: Comparison between 250W PC power supplies with active and passive PFC (post-2001) and without PFC (pre-2001).

The comparison of the three PC power supplies shown in Figure 4.10 highlights the effect of PFC on the wave shape and harmonic content of SMPS current. It can be seen that the  $3^{rd}$ harmonic of the SMPS with passive and SMPS with no PFC are similar. However, higher order harmonics of the SMPS with passive PFC are considerably lower in magnitude than those of the SMPS without PFC. The current THD of the SMPS with no PFC is approximately 210%, compared to 80% of the SMPS with passive PFC which clearly express the difference in the harmonic content. It is also interesting to note that the displacement power factor  $(PF_1)$  of SMPS with no PFC is 0.995 "leading" compared to 0.97 "lagging" for the SMPS with passive PFC. Therefore, the effect of passive PFC is to increase SMPS true power factor ( $PF_1 \cdot PF_d$ ), but decrease PF1 and changing it from a "leading" to a "lagging" power factor. Hence, SMPS with passive PFC will draw fundamental reactive power and be inductive loads, while SMPS with no PFC will be a source of fundamental reactive power and act as capacitive loads (although only a small amount, as their  $PF_1 \approx 1$ ). Therefore, the term "power factor correction" is somewhat misleading when considering SMPS with passive PFC. Active PFC, on the other hand will draw power with near unity values of both  $PF_1$  and  $PF_d$ , as can be seen from the shape of its input current waveform in Figure 4.10.

# 4.5 Development of equivalent circuit and analytical dc power supply models

As in case of ASD and SASD loads, an analytical model of the dc power supply, i.e.SMPS, is developed and validated in this section. Each of the main SMPS component blocks are now discussed and converted to equivalent circuit and then into analytical form.

#### 4.5.1 EMI filter

As discussed previously, the EMI filter circuit shown in Figure 4.3 will consist of a common-mode choke,  $L_{emi}$ , and capacitor,  $C_{emi}$ . The common-mode choke has no effect on the operation of the SMPS from a load modelling point of view, as it will only present impedance to unbalanced currents, causing high frequency noise. However, as can be seen from Figure 4.3,  $C_{emi}$  is connected in parallel with the supply system, and some shunt current can flow. The magnitude of this current will be small, as  $C_{emi}$  is of a low value, in the order of nF. The effect of  $C_{emi}$  has already been shown in Figure 4.7(a), where a small continuous ac current component can be seen between the current pulses. This component is not represented in the developed analytical models, as it will not have any significant effect on power demand characteristics of the SMPS.

#### 4.5.2 NTC Thermistor

The NTC thermistor will have the greatest effect on the SMPS with no PFC, as it will account for a significant part of the bridge rectifier conduction path impedance. The NTC thermistor is expected to have a much smaller effect on SMPS with passive PFC, as  $L_{dc}$  will dominate the rectifier conduction path impedance. In order to quantify the effect of the thermistor, the full PSpice SMPS model was set-up to model a 75W SMPS with and without passive PFC. The reactance of  $C_{dc}$  in both models was taken as 0.036pu, and the reactance of  $L_{dc}$  in the SMPS with passive PFC taken as 0.03pu (i.e. nominal values of  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$ ).

The expected value of thermistor resistance is approximately  $1-2\Omega$  for the thermistor operating in (thermal) steady state, (i.e. "hot resistance"). This is because "hot resistance" values greater than 2.0 $\Omega$  will cause excessive losses in the bridge, while "hot resistance" lower than 1.0 $\Omega$ are unlikely to increase enough when thermistor is "cold" to provide effective inrush current protection. Simulations were run on both models with the thermistor replaced by a resistor. The value of this resistor was changed between 0.0 $\Omega$  and 2 $\Omega$ . The results of this analysis are shown in Figure 4.11.

The results presented in Figure 4.11(a) clearly show that the size of  $R_{in}$  (i.e. the thermistor resistance) has no significant effect on the THD or the displacement power factor of the SMPS with passive PFC. This also applies to harmonics, where the  $3^{rd}$ ,  $5^{th}$  and  $7^{th}$  harmonics of the SMPS input current waveform are unchanged by the value of  $R_{in}$ . Thus, when developing the analytical model of the SMPS with passive PFC, the thermistor does not need to be considered.

The THD of the SMPS without PFC will be affected by additional resistance in the bridge rectifier, as illustrated in Figure 4.11(a). The same is true for the displacement power factor, which will decrease for larger values of  $R_{in}$ . The  $3^{rd}$  and  $5^{th}$  harmonics of this type of SMPS



Figure 4.11: Effect of thermistor resistance on characteristics of SMPS with and without passive PFC.

are relatively unaffected by change in  $R_{in}$ , although the magnitude of the 7<sup>th</sup> harmonic will decrease slightly with increasing values of  $R_{in}$ . Therefore, the thermistor should be represented in simplified analytical models of the SMPS with no PFC. This completes the analysis of the front-end components of an SMPS.

#### 4.5.3 Equivalent circuit and analytical model of dc power supply load

In previous chapters, the equivalent circuit models of considered non-linear load types (ASD and SASD) have taken the form of a front-end rectifier with applied equivalent resistive load. These equivalent resistive loads have been determined to produce the correct P-V characteristics of the modelled loads. Previous work on equivalent/analytical representation of SMPS has followed a similar approach, e.g. [91] and [79], although SMPS P-V and N-V power demand characteristics are not considered there. Thus, if the SMPS dc-dc converter and the load it supplies are represented as an equivalent resistance, the equivalent circuit shown in Figure 4.12 may be used to simplify the model of the SMPS.

From the discussions and the results presented in the preceding sections, it has been shown that the SMPS will draw effectively constant active power from the supply system, independently of changes in supply system voltage. Therefore, the equivalent resistance in Figure 4.12 may be represented as a function of the rated power of the SMPS and the rectifier dc link voltage:

$$R_{eq} = \frac{v_{dc}^2}{P_{SMPS}} \tag{4.5}$$

Where:  $R_{eq}$  is the equivalent resistance,  $v_{dc}$  is the instantaneous rectifier dc link voltage and  $P_{SMPS}$  is power supplied by the rectifier to the dc-dc converter, i.e rated power of SMPS (as



Figure 4.12: Equivalent circuit model of SMPS.

rectifier losses are low).

The analytical model of the equivalent circuit shown in Figure 4.12 has already been developed and validated in Section 3.10 and therefore this discussion will not be repeated here. This previously developed analytical model may be used directly for the representation of the SMPS load, if the equivalent resistance is substituted with expression (4.5).

# 4.6 Validation of equivalent circuit and analytical models of dc power supply load

The proposed equivalent circuit and analytical models of the SMPS are validated in this section using measured data. It is assumed that validation of the analytical model also validates the equivalent circuit model. As in the preceding chapters, the model is supplied with both ideally sinusoidal and distorted (non-sinusoidal) voltages to confirm its ability to represent SMPS load in both situations. Two non-sinusoidal voltage waveforms are used: "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" as in Section 2.12.2. The measured SMPS was the 250W PC power supply (with passive PFC) used previously to validate the full PSpice SMPS model. The component values,  $C_{dc}$  and  $L_{dc}$  of this dc power supply were measured and applied to the analytical model and  $P_{load}$  in expression 4.5 set to 100W. Figures 4.13, 4.15 and 4.17 show the input current waveforms and associated harmonics of the analytical model compared with the measured results for applied sinusoidal, "typically" and "heavily" distorted supply voltage with magnitude of 1pu. Figures 4.14, 4.16 and 4.18 show comparisons of P-V and N-V power demand characteristics between the measured and modelled SMPS, again for applied sinusoidal, "typically" and "heavily" distorted supply voltage.



#### 4.6.1 Sinusoidal supply conditions

Figure 4.13: Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS, with applied sinusoidal system voltage.



Figure 4.14: Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for sinusoidal supply voltage.



#### 4.6.2 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions

Figure 4.15: Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS, with applied "typically distorted" system voltage.



Figure 4.16: Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for "typically distorted" supply voltage.



Figure 4.17: Comparison between measured results and analytical model of 250W SMPS, with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage.



Figure 4.18: Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured 250W SMPS and analytical model of 250W SMPS with passive PFC for "heavily distorted" supply voltage.

#### 4.6.3 Discussion of results

The P-V characteristics of the measured SMPS are essentially constant, showing no more than a 1% deviation from the nominal value of active power for all applied (including non-sinusoidal) voltage supply conditions. Therefore, these P-V characteristics can be easily represented by the constant active power analytical model.

The comparison of  $Q_1$ -V characteristics between the analytical model and measured values are also in good agreement to each other, with no more than 5% error. It can also be seen from Figures 4.14, 4.16 and 4.18 that shapes of the  $Q_1$ -V characteristics predicted by the analytical model are almost identical to that of the measured results. However, at 1pu system voltage the values of  $Q_1$  do not exactly match, which is the main reason for the small observed error. This error is due to a difference of less than 1% in predicted and measured values of  $PF_1$ , and is deemed to be within acceptable limits.

The PF-V,  $PF_d$ -V and THD-V characteristics of the analytical model also very closely match those of the measured SMPS for all applied (sinusoidal and distorted) voltages. This shows that a good matching of current waveforms and harmonics in Figures 4.13, 4.15 and 4.17 is preserved for system voltage magnitudes other than 1pu.

It can be seen that distortion of the system voltage will reduce the harmonic content of the current drawn by the SMPS with passive PFC, which was also the case for higher-power SASD load. Figures 4.13, 4.15 and 4.17 show that the THD of the current waveform of considered SMPS is approximately 98% for 1pu voltage under ideally sinusoidal supply conditions. This reduces to 75% for "heavily distorted" 1pu supply conditions. It can as well be seen from these figures that the first few harmonics are responsible for these changes of the THD, as their magnitudes are significantly greater than those of the higher order harmonics. Furthermore, like the higher-power SASD load, the displacement power factor of the SMPS with passive PFC is not significantly affected by distortion in the supply system voltage.

The effect of change in supply system impedance has not been specifically considered, as it will have essentially no effect on the P-V or N-V power demand characteristics of the SMPS with passive PFC, due to a significant inductance in bridge rectifier conduction path,  $L_{dc}$ .

From the presented results, it can be concluded that the analytical model of the SMPS is able to accurately represent both harmonic and power demand characteristics of an actual (and measured) SMPS for both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions.

# 4.7 Characteristics of SMPS with no PFC

The characteristics of the SMPS with no PFC are now briefly considered, as they have not been specifically discussed previously. The analytical model of SMPS has been verified in the previous section and therefore it is used for this investigation. The analytical model was set to represent an SMPS of rated power 50W, with value of  $C_{dc}$  found from typical per-unit value,  $R_{in}$  set to 1.5 $\Omega$  and  $L_{dc}$  set to zero. The value of system impedance was first altered between minimum and maximum values (see Section 1.8) for applied sinusoidal conditions, in order to quantify the effects of system impedance on the SMPS. Then, system impedance was set to nominal and "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltages applied. For each of the considered cases system voltage was varied between 0.8-1.2pu, in order to obtain the SMPS' P-V and N-V power demand characteristics.

Figure 4.19 shows the input current waveforms and associated harmonics of the SMPS with no PFC for applied 1pu sinusoidal supply system voltage, as well as for "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltages. Figure 4.20 shows the P-V and N-V power demand characteristics for each considered case. The results for P-V and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics are presented in per-unit, for which base values are taken as the absolute values of P or  $Q_1$  at 1pu system voltage. In this way, the differences or similarities in shapes of the characteristics, specifically the  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics, may be better seen.



Figure 4.19: Input current waveforms and associated harmonics of SMPS with no PFC for applied, sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

The results of this analysis are very similar to the results presented previously for lower-power SASD load (see Section 3.12.2) and so are only briefly discussed here. The P-V power demand characteristics are once again invariant to changes in system impedance and supply voltage distortion. It can be seen that under sinusoidal conditions the SMPS with passive PFC will operate with close to unity displacement power factor and that variation in system impedance will not have any significant effect on displacement power factor. Therefore, for



Figure 4.20: P-V and N-V power demand characteristics of SMPS with no PFC for minimum, nominal and maximum values of system impedance and sinusoidal system voltage, and for nominal system impedance and applied "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

SMPS supplied with ideal sinusoidal voltage,  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics are not of particular importance, as  $Q_1$  will be essentially zero (PF<sub>1</sub> close to unity). However, when supply system voltage becomes distorted, displacement power factor of the SMPS with no PFC reduces significantly, as was the case in lower-power SASD load. For this situation the  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics of the considered SMPS are close to constant current characteristic. As well, this load is capacitive, and becomes increasingly capacitive the more distorted the system becomes.

The current THD of the SMPS with no PFC will be affected by both change in supply system impedance and distortion in the system voltage, and the reasons for this have been previously considered in Section 3.12.2. It should be noted that the SMPS with no PFC will draw more distorted current than lower-power SASDs, because SMPS' will have larger values of  $C_{dc}$  ( $X_{Cdc}$  in the SMPS with no PFC is 0.036, compared to 0.075 in the SASD).

### 4.8 Generic analytical models of dc power supply loads

The developed analytical SMPS model is now used to form generic models of two of the three identified types of SMPS loads: the SMPS with no PFC, and the SMPS with passive PFC. The SMPS with active PFC requires no generic analytical model, as it may be presented as a linear load that draws constant active power with changes in system voltage. As discussed previously, generic analytical expressions of individual load types are needed, as it is not practical to aggregate a hundreds or thousands of individual load instances. Thus, generic analytical models may be used to represent the expected aggregate characteristics of a same type or sub-type load, allowing further aggregation with other load models in larger aggregate load mixes. In order to develop these generic analytical models, the analytical model parameters,  $R_{in}$ ,  $C_{dc}$  and, where relevant,  $L_{dc}$  must be expressed in a per-unit form for the SMPS' with and without passive PFC. The development and validation of each generic model with measurements is now presented.

#### 4.8.1 Generic model of SMPS without PFC

This sub-type of SMPS load will be of rated active power less than 75W, for which typical examples include laptop pc power supplies, CD/DVD players, small TVs, HiFi, etc. These loads will not have to conform to Class D limits, and hence will not contain any form of power factor correction. Therefore, the value of model parameter  $L_{dc}$  can be set to be zero. The nominal expected value of  $C_{dc}$  in the generic analytical model is taken as the per-unit value derived in Section 4.2.3. This leaves only the value of  $R_{in}$  to be defined which is considered below.

#### **4.8.1.1** Per-unit value of $R_{in}$

A correct per-unit value of  $R_{in}$ , which is dominated by the steady-state resistance of the NTC thermistor, must be selected. In order for this per-unit value to be found, an assumption must be made as to the typical value of  $R_{in}$  at a particular rated power of SMPS. As discussed previously in Section 4.5.2, the value of  $R_{in}$  representing the NTC thermistor steady state resistance is very likely to be between  $1 - 2\Omega$  for SMPS' of rated power up to 75W. The absolute value of  $R_{in}$  is taken as  $1.5\Omega$  for an SMPS of 50W rated power, which is selected here as a typical SMPS without PFC. Corresponding per-unit value of  $R_{in}$  in the generic model of SMPS with no PFC is 0.0014pu (for 50W base power and base impedance of  $R_{base} = \frac{230^2}{50} \approx 1070\Omega$ ).

#### 4.8.2 Verification of generic model of SMPS without PFC

The proposed generic analytical model of SMPS without PFC should be able to represent an aggregation of individual SMPS of the same sub-type. In order to validate this model, three 17" LCD computer monitors were connected to a controllable voltage source, [92], to form an aggregate SMPS load. The selected monitors were manufactured in 2007 and are accordingly representative of modern loads. Each monitor had rated power 45W, and the aggregate of the three drew 120W at nominal supply voltage. The monitors were set to display a screen of text, and the controllable voltage source is used to vary the supplied voltage between 0.8 and 1.2pu, so that the P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics of this aggregate load could be obtained. The generic analytical model of SMPS without PFC was set-up to represent this aggregate load, i.e.  $P_{load}$ , from (4.5), was set to 120W. The value of the controllable voltage source impedance was not exactly known, and there was no equipment available to measure this value. Therefore, an expected reasonable value was assumed. This value of system impedance was converted to per-unit, using the same base as for  $R_{in}$  (Section 4.8.1.1) and applied to the generic analytical model. The controllable voltage source was set to supply sinusoidal voltage to the aggregate load, but the harmonic content of this load was such that its output voltage became distorted. In order to provide a fair comparison between measurements and model, the distorted voltage was measured and reproduced in MatLab and supplied to the generic analytical model. Figure 4.21 shows the current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured aggregate load and the corresponding generic analytical model, while Figure 4.22 compares their P-V and N-V power demand characteristics.



Figure 4.21: Comparison between measured aggregate load formed from three LCD monitors and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with no PFC, at 1pu system voltage.



Figure 4.22: Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured aggregate load formed from three LCD monitors and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with no PFC.

The results in Figure 4.21 show that the generic analytical model is able to accurately predict the shape of the aggregate load input current and, accordingly, its harmonic content. The results also show that the monitors' P-V characteristics are essentially constant, and that the aggregate model can predict them with no significant error. The Q<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics of the aggregate load is, at first glance, strange, but it should be noted that measured displacement power factor of the load is 0.9997, and therefore this characteristic is not relevant as actual value of Q<sub>1</sub>  $\approx$  0. All other power characteristics show close matching between measurements and proposed generic model.

Therefore, these results show that the proposed generic analytical model of SMPS with no PFC may be used to represent an aggregate of this load sub-type. This result also further confirms that the per-unit value selected for  $C_{dc}$  is indeed valid, and that the assumption made for the value of  $R_{in}$  does not lead to significant error.

#### 4.8.3 Generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC

The generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC can be developed in the same way as the generic model of the SMPS with no PFC. The per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$  in both models is the same. The value of the thermistor resistance,  $R_{in}$ , will have an insignificant effect on the characteristics of the SMPS with passive PFC, and so can be ignored, (see Section 4.5.2). Finally, the typical per-unit value of the parameter  $L_{dc}$  has already been defined, (Section 4.4.1.2) and this value can be used directly.

#### 4.8.4 Verification of generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC

The proposed generic analytical model of the SMPS with passive PFC is validated in exactly the same way as the generic analytical model of the SMPS with no PFC in the previous section. However, this time the aggregate load consists of three PC's manufactured in 2007. Using PC load presents an additional problem, which was not apparent for monitors. The problem is that a PC will seldom operate at a constant power level. This is because at any time a PC may be performing a number of different tasks that demand different amounts of power from the dc power supply. It has already been shown previously that a PC power supply will have a constant P-V power demand characteristics if it supplies a constant dc load resistance. Therefore, P-V power demand characteristics of the aggregate load are not of interest in these comparison. The aim of this analysis is to validate that the generic analytical model can predict N-V characteristics of the considered aggregate PC load of given active power demand. Therefore, the generic analytical model was set to the specific power demand of the PC aggregate load at each considered voltage, so that the mentioned variations in P-V during normal operation do not influence the results for N-V comparisons. This method was used as there were no available post-2001 power supplies, that could be opened and resistive loads attached. The PCs were all set to play streaming media content during the measurements, so that they would draw fairly significant power. Each PC was rated for 250W, and the aggregate load of three PCs was measured at around 255W. The generic analytical model of the SMPS with passive PFC was set-up to model this load. Figure 4.23 shows the current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured aggregate load and the corresponding analytical model, while Figure 4.24 compares their P-V and N-V characteristics.



**Figure 4.23:** Comparison between measured aggregate load formed from three PCs and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC, at 1pu system voltage.



**Figure 4.24:** Comparison of power demand characteristics between measured aggregate load formed from three PCs and corresponding generic analytical model of SMPS with passive PFC.

The presented results show excellent matching of generic analytical model and measured

results. It can be seen from Figure 4.23 that the current waveform of the measured aggregate load is almost identical to that of the proposed generic analytical model. It can further be seen from results in Figure 4.24 that this matching will be also be maintained for other than nominal value of system voltage. The good matching of the model to measurements validates the per-unit value derived for  $L_{dc}$ , and other components from previous discussions. The results show that the proposed generic analytical model may be used to represent an aggregate load of this sub-type.

# 4.9 Polynomial and exponential models of dc power supply loads

The developed generic analytical SMPS models may now be used to derive polynomial and exponential models of these loads. As previously, the least square fitting method described in Section 2.7.1 is applied to the P-V and  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of the SMPS' without PFC and SMPS' with passive PFC to find the associated polynomial and exponential model coefficients. These coefficients are shown in Table 4.3, where the polynomial and exponential models of the SMPS' with active PFC are also presented. SMPS' with active PFC, as discussed previously, may be simply represented as constant active power linear loads.

$PF_1$	Exp. Model		Polynomial Model							
	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$		
SMPS with no PFC										
0.994	0	2.36	0.00	0.00	1.00	-3.63	9.88	-7.25		
	SMPS with passive PFC									
0.970	0	-0.5	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.45	-1.44	1.99		
SMPS with active PFC										
1.00	0	na	0.00	0.00	1.00	0	0	0		

 Table 4.3: Proposed, exponential and polynomial model coefficients of dc power supplies.

It can be seen from the results in Figure 4.25 that both polynomial and exponential models are able to accurately represent the characteristics of the two considered dc power supply load sub-types. Also shown in Figure 4.25 are plots of previously presented exponential and polynomial models of dc power supply loads, Table 4.1. It can be seen that models proposed in this thesis differ from existing models. The biggest difference can be seen between the previously presented exponential models of television load, [15]. From the discussions and measurements presented in this chapter, it is clear that this load model is now outdated. Modern televisions will have constant active power characteristics, while fundamental reactive power characteristics and power factor will be dependent on whether PFC is used in the television, and if so, on the type of applied PFC. The existing models of office equipment, [22], are also in

disagreement with the results presented in this chapter, which demonstrate that dc power supply loads are constant active power loads. Existing models of office equipment also state that the displacement power factor of this equipment is unity, and therefore they will draw no reactive power (no Q<sub>1</sub> values in Figure 4.25(b) and (d)). These models where developed in 1998, and therefore are likely be related to SMPS with no PFC, which explains this power factor. A large percentage of modern office equipment will consist of desktop PCs, which have been shown in this chapter to operate with displacement power factors less than unity ( $\approx 0.97$ ). Finally, it has been shown that system voltage distortion will cause both Q<sub>1</sub>-V and displacement power factor of SMPS with no PFC to change considerably, which none of the polynomial and exponential models (proposed and previous) can take into account.



Figure 4.25: Polynomial and exponential fits of P-V and  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of SMPS no PFC and with passive PFC.

# 4.10 Conclusions

It has been shown in this chapter that harmonic legislation introduced in 2001 had significant effect on the non-active power demand and harmonic characteristics of the SMPS load type. This legislation led to creation of three distinct sub-types of SMPS load, defined as: SMPS with active PFC, SMPS with passive PFC and SMPS with no PFC. The SMPS with no PFC is of the same type as pre-2001 SMPS, when there was no harmonic legislation. Previous research into load modelling and harmonic characterisation of these loads has focussed on the SMPS with no PFC, as much of this work has been performed prior to 2001. The SMPS with passive PFC will have lower displacement power factor and will be an inductive load, compared to near unity displacement power factor and capacitive nature of SMPS with no PFC. However, it has also been shown that the displacement power factor of SMPS with no PFC will be significantly reduced if there are distortions in the supply system voltage, while supply system distortion will have little effect on the displacement power factor of SMPS with passive PFC. Furthermore, it has been show that the harmonic content of the SMPS with passive PFC will be considerably lower than that of the SMPS with no PFC. The SMPS with active PFC will essentially have no harmonic content and will draw no fundamental reactive power from the supply system. All three SMPS sub-type loads will draw constant power, independent of changes in supply system voltage.

An analytical SMPS model has been developed and verified for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions. It has been shown from comparisons with measurements that this analytical model can very accurately predict both harmonic and power demand characteristics of actual SMPS load. Review of key dc link parameter values has led to the development of generic per-unit analytical models of SMPS with passive PFC and SMPS with no PFC. These generic models are able to accurately represent the characteristics of a same sub-type aggregate load, which has been shown via comparisons with measurements. Thus, proposed generic models can be used directly in mixed load type/sub-type aggregate models for further analysis in Chapter 6. Polynomial and exponential models of the three SMPS load sub-types have also been developed and presented in this chapter.
## Chapter 5 Lighting loads

## 5.1 Introduction

A recent survey by the International Energy Agency ([93]) estimated that about 19% of global electricity consumption in 2005 was used for lighting. The contributions of four main load sectors to this figure are: outdoor (stationary) lighting 8%, commercial 43% (or 30% of the total demand in commercial sector), residential 31% (or 18% of the total demand in residential sector), and industrial 18% (or 9% of the total demand in industrial sector). Figures for the UK estimate that the proportion of total energy consumption by lighting loads range from 9%-20% of the total demand, with about 20% and 40% contributions of lighting to the total demand in residential and commercial load sectors, respectively [70]. This chapter focuses primarily on the domestic (i.e. residential) load sector, where four major types of light sources currently in use are: general incandescent lamps (GILs), compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs), and to a lesser extent linear fluorescent lamps (LFLs) and halogen incandescent lamps (HILs). The same four types of light sources are also used in the commercial load sector, where LFLs are more common.

In order to reduce UK's consumption of electrical energy required for lighting, there have been numerous incentives for a wholesale substitution of GILs and other low-efficiency light sources with more efficient LFLs and, particularly in the domestic sector, CFLs. For example, British Gas announced in 2008 that all its customers will receive four free CFLs, totalling around 52 million CFLs. Furthermore, there is a proposal for a voluntary phasing out low-efficiency light sources in the UK between now and 2011, while Ireland has already banned their sale. Similar efforts exist in several other countries, which either passed or are considering the legislation to restrict or ban the sale of GILs (e.g. Australia, Canada, Cuba, New Zealand and Switzerland), while most recently European Commission recommended phasing out GILs between 2009 and 2012). This clearly suggests that the CFLs will become a dominant type of lighting load in the domestic sector in the near future. Therefore, it is important to have simple and accurate load models of these devices for use in power system studies.

This chapter investigates the general characteristics of CFL and LFL loads. It is found that, in a similar way to SASD and electronic dc power supply loads, harmonic legislation will have a large effect on the characteristics of CFLs and LFLs. The effect of this legislation

on modern LFLs results in these loads requiring active PFC, and thus allowing them to be simply represented as constant active power loads in power system analysis. However, the harmonic limits applied to CFLs are less stringent, and a full PSpice circuit model is developed to represent the characteristics of these loads. This full model is verified with measured data, and then reduced to equivalent circuit model. A generic analytical CFL model is then proposed using the information gathered from a review of typical CFL circuit topologies and values of key circuit components. The proposed generic analytical model is able to accurately represent all harmonic and power demand characteristics of a measured aggregate CFL load. Finally, polynomial and exponential interpretations of the proposed generic analytical CFL and simple LFL models are presented and compared to existing load models found in literature.

## 5.1.1 Previous work on the representation of CFLs and LFLs for power system studies

Although there has been a considerable amount of work on the modelling of both LFLs and CFLs (and associated electronic ballast circuits), the primary focus was on design and efficiency of these light sources. From a "load modelling for power system analysis" point of view, however, there has been a little previous work. In the mid 1990s, the IEEE Task Force for load representation ([3] and [4]) recommended representing these loads as the constant MVA loads. References [15], [94] and [22], on the other hand, proposed an exponential load model for CFL active/reactive power demand characteristics, with parameters (i.e. coefficients and, where presented, displacement power factors) shown in Table 5.1.

Model/Source/year	Light source type	PF.	Exp. model	
Wodel/Source/year	Light source type	111	$n_p$	$n_q$
Model 1 [3] 1992	no distinction made	not stated	0	0
Model 2 [15] 1980	FL	0.9	0.96	7.4
Model 3 [22] 1997	CFL	0.97	1.03	0.46
	FL	0.98	0.89	1.21
Model 4 [94] 1994	CFL	not stated	1	0.35
	FL	not stated	1	3

 Table 5.1: Previous load model coefficients for CFLs and LFLs.

## 5.2 Fluorescent tubes

## 5.2.1 General principles of operation

A fluorescent tube is made of two electrodes sealed in a glass tube containing a mixture of mercury and small quantity of an inert gas (typically krypton or argon) at a low pressure. The tube electrodes are coated with a substance, typically Barium or Strontium, that has a low

thermionic emission temperature and therefore will readily emit electrons on warming, i.e. when a current is applied to the electrodes. These emitted electrons act to ionise both the inert gas and mercury atoms in the glass tube, forming a plasma. After initial ionisation, a process of avalanche ionisation will occur, resulting in the rapid increase of the plasma conductivity and (if uncontrolled) increase in current flow through the tube. On ionisation, the mercury atoms emit a photon in the ultra violet region. This ultraviolet light is then converted to the visible spectrum by way of a fluorescent powder, coated to the inner surface of the tube. This physical process results in the tube having a negative resistance characteristics, because as current flow through the tube increases, so does ionisation in the plasma, thus tube resistance reduces due to the increased number of charge carriers.

In order to start the discharge process (i.e. ionisation of mercury atoms) and create conducting arc in the tube, high initial/starting voltage is required. This voltage is called "tube striking voltage",  $V_{strike}$ , and is a function of the gas mixture and pressure in the tube, the tube size and the particular type of electrodes used. Typically,  $V_{strike}$  will be in the range of 500V to 1200V, [95]. Once the tube is started, the voltage across the tube (referred to as the "tube arc voltage") will decrease and remain at a fairly constant value, normally between 40V to 110V. If the tube electrodes are also heated during the initial ionisation process, the value of  $V_{strike}$  can be reduced, what is called the tube pre-heating stage.

Due to the requirement of high tube starting voltage and the fact that tube conductance will increase with current flow (negative incremental impedance), both the tube current and the voltage must be controlled to ensure that the tube operates within specification. Hence, a ballast circuit is used to implement such control between the AC input supply and the tube.

## 5.2.2 Types of fluorescent tubes

Fluorescent tubes come in a wide variety of shapes and sizes. However, they all operate on similar principles as previously described. The work in this thesis is primarily concerned with modelling those types of fluorescent tubes that are likely to replace traditional GILs. The most common types of GILs used in domestic applications are of rated power 40W, 60W and 100W, respectively making up 20%, 50% and 20% of currently estimated domestic lighting load, [96]. These GILs are expected to be replaced by 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs, as they give similar output lumens. Thus, the majority of this work will focus on CFL with rated power less than 25W.

## 5.3 Magnetic ballast for LFLs

In order to control the current and voltage of the fluorescent tube, traditionally simple ballast circuits have been used, referred to as magnetic ballast. These ballasts typically consist of a

large value inductor, a capacitor and 'starter switch', Figure 5.1.

On connection of the ballast to the supply system, the tube is off and presents a high impedance path to the current in the ballast circuit. The starter switch consist of a small discharge lamp in series with a bi-metallic switch. The lamp is small, and it can be ignited easily from the system voltage. Once ignited, the small discharge lamp will heat bi-metallic strip and eventually switch-off the starter switch. On switch-off the current flow through the ballast circuit is suddenly interrupted, and a large voltage will be induced across the terminals of the fluorescent tube, igniting the tube. Once ignited, the ballast inductor will act to limit the current flow, and the tube will operate in steady state conditions. The tube will switch off and then re-ignite at every zero voltage crossing of the system voltage, but without further need of the starter switch. This leads to the tube flickering at twice the frequency of the system voltage.



Figure 5.1: General magnetic ballast circuit.

Magnetic ballasts are now generally considered to be obsolete, due to the considerable advantages offered by electronic ballast, which include higher efficiency and more precise control of tube voltage and current, helping to considerably increase tube lifetime. Additionally, the small size of electronic ballast enables "compactness" of CFLs and helps in eliminating flicker. When considering LFL, the ballast is often external to the tube, so it is possible to simply replace the old magnetic ballast with the newer electronic ballast, thus further reducing the number of magnetic ballast present in the system load mix. For these reasons magnetic ballasts are not considered further in this thesis.

## 5.4 Electronic ballasts for CFLs and LFLs

Figure 5.2, shows a general circuit block diagram for the CFL and the LFL. Each of the component blocks shown in Figure 5.2 is now discussed.

#### 5.4.1 Electromagnetic interference

Electromagnetic Interference (EMI) is a term used to describe unwanted high frequency electrical noise, usually generated by rapidly changing currents, e.g., due to the switching



(b) General compact fluorescent lamp ballast.

Figure 5.2: General block diagrams of electronic ballasts and tube for LFL and CFLs.

mode of operation of some electronic circuits [3]. As electronic ballasts are designed to operate in exactly that mode, corresponding switching currents may cause EMI-related problems, and EMI suppression filters must be used. The most common topology of EMI filter filter used in CFLs is shown in Figure 5.3. This topology of EMI filter allows EMI suppression to be achieved with small physically sized components. The EMI circuit often found in LFLs is commonly of the form already discussed in Chapter 4 and shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 5.3: Typical EMI filter commonly found in CFLs.

## 5.4.2 Bridge rectifier

The ballast circuit will incorporate a single-phase bridge rectifier, used to convert the input single-phase ac system voltage to dc voltage. The configuration of the bridge rectifier used in an electronic ballast is exactly the same as that of the SASDs (see Section 3.3.1), and thus the principles of operation of this circuit will not be re-discussed here.

The size of the dc link capacitor,  $C_{dc}$ , is again related to the power rating of the ballast and after the extensive review of available literature and several manufacturers' specifications/design data, as well as after opening several CFLs, it is found that for the CFL and LFL ballasts with rated powers from 5W to 40W the common values for  $C_{dc}$  are between  $1.8\mu F$  and  $20\mu F$ . Further investigation confirmed that the size of the dc link capacitor is usually selected by the manufacturer, as a trade-off in fulfilling the requirements for harmonic emission, tube lifetime and overall device performance. The size of the capacitor considerably affects the harmonic emissions of the CFL/LFL, and will provide a practical limit for size of  $C_{dc}$  with tube rated power. This is discussed in more detail in Section 5.10.

The CFLs will (tend) not use NTC thermistors in their rectifier circuit to provide inrush current protection, unlike previously considered SASD and electronic loads. The reason for this is cost, as the NTC thermistor would represent a considerable expenditure compared to the rest of the ballast circuit. In order to protect the CFL's bridge rectifier from high inrush current, a simple fixed value resistor,  $R_{in}$ , is commonly used. Again, from review of available literature and after opening CFLs, it was found that the values of  $R_{in}$  varies in the range of about 8-18 $\Omega$ , with CFLs of higher rated power having larger input resistors. This permanent resistance in the bridge rectifier conduction path will lead to extra losses, which are deemed as an acceptable trade-off compared to cost of including NTC thermistor. This fixed resistance will also have a secondary effect in reducing the rate at which  $C_{dc}$  is charged, helping to decrease the harmonic content of the CFL input current.

## 5.4.3 Bridge inverter

According to [95], 100% of the CFLs/LFLs in Europe use the bridge inverter topology, which is a simple chopper circuit producing a square wave output at a frequency dictated by the driving pulses. There are two major forms of bridge inverter drive circuit: IC-controlled, and self-oscillating. The IC-controlled circuits use pre-fabricated chips to produce required gate pulses, and provide some additional functionality over the self-oscillating alternatives. This increased functionality often includes the ability to dim the tube, detect failure of the tube to strike, detect a damaged tube and control the bridge-inverter in such a way to maximise tube lifetime by careful control of the tube striking voltage and current. The self-oscillating bridge inverter, on the other hand, is a simple circuit, providing no additional functionality beyond supplying the bridge inverter with gate pulses suitable for tube striking, and then normal tube operation. Self-oscillating bridge inverters are considerably cheaper than IC-controlled ones, and as cost is of crucial importance in the highly competitive CFL market, the self-oscillating bridge inverter topology is almost universally used in these applications. The IC-controlled chip, however, is commonly used in LFL applications, where the additional features are often required, making the self-oscillating bridge inverter unsuitable there. Only the self-oscillating ballast circuit is discussed in detail in this thesis, as for the purposes of modelling of CFLs/LFLs ballasts the IC control chip may be simply represented as a fixed frequency square wave voltage source.

#### 5.4.3.1 Self-oscillating ballast

As mentioned, the self-oscillating circuit provides a cheap solution for the production of square wave pulses at high frequency. The main oscillator circuit usually consists of only two bipolar transistors and a toroid with one primary and two secondary windings. Figure 5.4 shows the circuit diagram of a typical self-oscillating circuit, commonly found in CFL. During the oscillation process, the collector current of  $TR_2$  will linearly rise, as will the current flowing through the primary toroid winding, until the toroid core saturates. At that point, the relative permeability of the toroid will become effectively unity, and the base voltage of transistor  $TR_2$ will decrease, eventually switching off  $TR_2$ . At the same time,  $TR_2$  base voltage decreases,  $TR_1$  base voltage will increase and therefore  $TR_1$  will be turned on when  $TR_2$  is turned off. This process then repeats for each half-cycle. The oscillation circuit cannot start oscillations on its own, and a starting circuit, made up of resistors  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , diode  $D_1$ , Capacitor  $C_1$ and DIAC is required. On initial connection to supply,  $C_1$  is charged through  $R_1$ , causing the the voltage across  $C_1$  to rise exponentially. When the voltage across  $C_1$  reaches the breakdown voltage of the DIAC, the DIAC will allow current to flow and hence the  $TR_2$  base will be triggered, starting the oscillator process. As  $TR_2$  turns on each half-cycle, diode  $D_1$  is included to provide a path to discharge  $C_1$ , preventing further triggering pulses. The oscillating frequency of this circuit,  $f_{op}$ , is dictated by the value of  $R_{b1,2}$ , the magnetic properties of the toroid core and its turns ratios of the primary and secondary windings.



Figure 5.4: Typical CFL self-oscillating circuit.

#### 5.4.4 Resonant circuit

The standard method of starting fluorescent tubes is to use the resonant circuit shown in Figure 5.5. The tube is represented by a resistance, which forms an RLC resonant circuit with  $L_{res}$  and

 $C_{res}$ . On start-up, the tube does not conduct, as its resistance is very high, and lightly damped resonant circuit is formed by a series connection of  $L_{res}$  and  $C_{res}$ . The resonant operating conditions will cause the voltage across  $C_{res}$  to increase rapidly ("pre-heating" of the tube), until the tube striking voltage is achieved and the tube starts to conduct. Once in steady state, the tube effectively turns the resonant circuit into a series LR circuit, and voltage drop on  $L_{res}$  will determine the active power taken by the tube.



Figure 5.5: Resonant circuit and fluorescent tube.

## 5.5 Representation of fluorescent tube

Previous work on analytical representation of fluorescent tubes was mainly related to the ballast design process (e.g. [97–101]). The corresponding developed steady state tube models were based on the physical characteristics of the fluorescent tube, which are common for both linear fluorescent tubes (LFT) and compact fluorescent tubes (CFT). The main electrical feature of fluorescent tubes are their negative resistance characteristics, which change as a function of power flow through the tube (with resistance decreasing with increase of power). Figure 5.6 shows the typical 'v-i' characteristics of a fluorescent tube operated at different active powers, [97]. It can be seen that the tube 'v-i' characteristic change depending on the power flowing through the tube, where gradient of the 'v-i' characteristic reduces for increased power. Hence, the tube is said to have a negative resistance characteristic, (see also Section 5.2.1). Physical characteristics of LFT can be represented analytically in a number of different ways. This section gives a brief summary of the most common tube models found in the literature.

### 5.5.1 Previous tube models

Paper [97] developed a cubic expression representing tube instantaneous voltage as a function of tube instantaneous current, (5.1). The coefficients for this cubic expression are of the form shown in (5.2) and (5.3), which in turn are dependent on the average tube power, i.e. the rms tube power,  $P_t$ .

$$v_t = A \cdot i_t + B \cdot i_t^3 \tag{5.1}$$

Lighting loads



Figure 5.6: Typical linear fluorescent tube (40 W) 'v-i' characteristics when operated at different active powers, [97].

where:  $v_t$  and  $i_t$  are instantaneous tube voltage and current and coefficients A, B are:

$$A = a_1 \cdot (P_t + c_a)^{a2} \tag{5.2}$$

$$B = b_1 \cdot (P_t + c_b)^{b_2} \tag{5.3}$$

where:  $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2, c_a$  and  $c_b$  are determined experimentally.

Reference [100] uses exactly the same principles as [97], but develops new expressions for (5.2) and (5.3), to enable better fitting of measured data:

$$A = a_1 \cdot (P_t^{-1} + a_2 + a_3 \cdot P_t + a_4 \cdot P_t^2)$$
(5.4)

$$B = b_1 \cdot (P_t^{-1} + b_2 + b_3 \cdot P_t + b_4 \cdot P_t^2)$$
(5.5)

In [101], the same principles are used, but this time a double exponential model in place of (5.1) is used to represent tube equivalent resistance,  $R_t$ :

$$R_t = A \cdot e^{B \cdot P_t} + C \cdot e^{D \cdot P_t} \tag{5.6}$$

where: A, B, C and D are tube specific coefficients, obtained from measurements.

References [102] and [103] use a linear expression in place of (5.1) to represent tube resistance  $R_t$ :

$$R_t = \frac{A}{P_t} - B \tag{5.7}$$

where: coefficients A and B are obtained from measurements.

The linear expression (5.7) is commonly used in literature, as it provides a good matching between modelled and measured tube characteristics, while simplifying the tube model. Similarly, [104] and [105] develop tube equivalent resistance as a function of tube current, rather than tube power, while [106] represents tube resistance as a linear function of both current and voltage.

Instead of the instantaneous current and voltage waveforms, references [98], [106], [107] and [108] use the tube rms V-I characteristics to produce the tube model. Figure 5.7 shows the measured V-I characteristics of a typical linear tube from [107]. Again, several different analytical expressions based on this approach have been developed in literature in order to produce the tube model.



Figure 5.7: Measured V-I characteristic of a typical linear fluorescent tube (32W), [107].

In [98], a logarithmic expressions using the tube rms current is applied to derive tube equivalent resistance. This resistance is then used to calculated the tube instantaneous voltage and currents.

$$ln(R_t) = A \cdot ln(I_t) + B \tag{5.8}$$

where:  $I_t$  is tube rms current; A and B are coefficients derived from tube measurements.

In [106], the rms current versus voltage characteristic is assumed to be linear, in order to enable the tube model to be developed by measuring only two points of the tube characteristic (at 20% and 100% of rated power). However, the accuracy of this approach is questionable, and not fully justified in the paper.

Finally, [107] presents a tube model with a three-term exponential expression to fit the tube rms current versus voltage characteristic as shown in (5.9). This approach gives the tube rms voltage directly from tube rms current, and can be used to calculate tube resistance, which in turn is used to find instantaneous tube current and voltage.

$$V_t = A + B \cdot e^{(-C \cdot I_t)} - D \cdot e^{(-E \cdot I_t)}$$
(5.9)

Where:  $V_t$  is tube rms voltage,  $I_t$  is tube rms current and A - E are tube specific coefficients.

All of the above described models have generally been formed with LFT in mind, with the exception of [101], which also considered CFT. There has only been limited work that has considered modern CFT, most notably in [108], where an 18W CFT model based on [107] is presented. Apart from the work in [108], it has been extremely hard to find models of modern CFT. Where some work has been done, it has shown that CFT and LFT have very similar characteristics and can be modelled by exactly the same method. Apart from the lack of data for modern CFT, another problem of using previous work (without further verification), is that the tubes have all been characterised by removing them from the ballasts and using a controllable high-frequency square-wave signal generator voltage source to supply the tube. This is obviously not the correct method to characterise CFTs, as they have electronic ballast integrated with the tube. More importantly there will be certain operating regions that the tube would never enter if controlled by a typical ballast, as discussed in the next section.

## 5.6 Development of new CFL tube model

Because of the lack of CFT models in existing literature, it was decided to measure a number of typical CFTs to determine the general characteristics of fluorescent tubes found in modern CFLs. The power ratings of selected CFLs were chosen as the three most typical found in the UK domestic load category: 8W, 11W and 18W (as discussed in Section 5.2.2).

#### 5.6.1 Experimental set up and method

In order to have precise control over the applied voltage waveform to the CFL ballast, a controllable ac power supply was used, [92]. In order to access the tube terminals, the 'dome' of the CFL was opened, exposing the ballast and tube terminals. Current probes were used to measure the current flowing from the ballast to the tube, i.e. tube current, and also to measure the current flowing from the power supply to the ballast (data used later in this chapter). The tube voltage and ballast input voltage were also measured. An oscilloscope was used to measure and record the voltage and current waveforms (the maximum resolution of the oscilloscope was 2000 data points per output data file).

The measured tube instantaneous voltage and current waveforms can be used to calculate the active power the tube draws from the ballast. As the maximum resolution of the oscilloscope was 2000 data points, it is only possible to capture a few cycles of the tube instantaneous current and voltage waveforms without breaching the Nyquist limit, which would lead to aliasing in the measurements. As the dc link capacitor in CFL ballasts is relatively small, the dc link voltage  $v_{dc}$  will contain a relatively large ripple at twice the line frequency, i.e. 100Hz under nominal 50Hz supply conditions. This means that the instantaneous tube voltage and current waveforms will change dependent on the point on the  $v_{dc}$  ripple where the measurements are taken, illustrated in Figure 5.8. As the average tube power is required for this analysis, it is necessary to measure the tube instantaneous voltage and current waveforms at four different points, (A - D), on the  $v_{dc}$  ripple profile, calculating the associated power at each point and then taking the average power of the four points. Figure 5.8 also shows these measurement points.



Figure 5.8: Measured instantaneous voltage and current of CFL 11W tube (electronic ballast output).

## 5.6.2 Measured characteristics of modern CFLs

As mentioned, fluorescent tube models in existing literature are obtained by removing the tube from the ballast, and using a signal generator to produce the high-frequency ac voltage and current inputs to the tube. The approach used in this thesis, however, is to control the power delivered to the tube with the connected ballast, as this is the case in real applications.

Another common practice seen in previous work is to characterise the tube between 5% and 120% of nominal operating power. The disadvantage of characterising the tube over such a large range is that the tube starts to exhibit non-linear characteristics when operated at powers below around 30% of nominal power, thus complicating the tube model. However, from the point of view of constructing tube models for use in steady state load supply operating conditions, there is no need to consider the operation of the tube at low powers. This is because the minimum considered input ballast voltage will be 0.8pu, which will result in the tube operating well above 30% of its nominal rated power, normally at around 70% of rated power.

The experimental methods described in Section 5.6.1 were used to measure the instantaneous tube current and voltage waveforms for the three considered 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs. The voltage magnitude applied to the ballasts was altered between 0.8pu and 1.2pu of nominal UK low voltage supply. The rms values of tube current and voltage were calculated from the corresponding measured instantaneous current and voltage waveforms, with tube rms voltage plotted as a function of tube rms current in Figure 5.9.



Figure 5.9: Measured V-I characteristics of modern CFL tubes.

## 5.6.2.1 Development of new tube model from experimental results

It can be seen from the results presented in Figure 5.9 that the characteristics of all three considered tubes are very similar. Additionally, these characteristics show similarity to the results obtained in [107] for a linear tube, Figure 5.7. This helps to further support the assumption in [108] that CFT and LFT can be modelled in the same way.

It can be seen from the results in Figure 5.9 that the tube V-I characteristics are not related to each other linearly, but in a quadratic or exponential way. It was decided to use a quadratic form for the new tube model, as exponential functions are more difficult to implement in PSpice software due to issues of convergence. Accordingly, a new tube model of the form shown in (5.10), is proposed. The least square method, described in section 2.7.1, was used to fit the model to the measured data for the three considered tubes. These fits are also shown in Figure 5.9, with the coefficients of the tube model given in Table 5.2.

$$V_t = A \cdot I_t + B \cdot I_t^2 + C \tag{5.10}$$

where: A, B and C are tube specific coefficients.

	Coefficients		
Tube (CFL)	А	В	C
8W	-550	1276	114
11W	-744	1546	154
18W	-1170	2040	247

 Table 5.2: Developed tube model coefficients.

The proposed tube model determines the tube rms voltage from the tube rms current. This information is then used to calculate the tube equivalent resistance,  $R_t = \frac{V_t}{I_t}$ . Once the tube equivalent resistance is known, it can be used in conjunction with instantaneous voltage applied to the tube by the ballast to find the tube instantaneous current. The rms value of the tube current may then be used to update the rms tube voltage, and hence the tube equivalent resistance. The process is iterative, with the tube rms current being determined from a running time window integration of the tube instantaneous current. The PSpice implementation of the tube model, (in the form of a schematic diagram), is shown in Figure 5.10.



Figure 5.10: PSpice implementation of the developed tube model.

## 5.6.3 Validation of the proposed tube model

As the obtained tube model is developed together with the ballast model, the validation of the tube model is postponed until Section 5.8.1.

## 5.7 CFL ballast model

The CFL ballast circuit will consist of a EMI-filter, a bridge rectifier, a self-oscillating bridge inverter and a resonant circuit, as discussed in Section 5.4. These circuits, with the exception of the toroid found in the self-oscillating inverter, are made from common components, and can be modelled directly in PSpice software.

The general principles of operation of self-oscillating CFL ballast are also discussed in Section 5.4. In order to properly model the self-oscillating ballast, the magnetic saturation properties of the toroid transformer must be correctly represented, which is a modelling challenge. Additionally, the transistor switches in the bridge inverter must be modelled fully, i.e. not as ideal switches. This is because their actual switch-on characteristics are required to make the model operate correctly.

In order to represent the magnetic saturation properties of the toroid transformer, the saturatable core model developed in [109] was implemented in PSpice. The toroid itself can be considered as a transformer with one primary and two secondaries, for which the turn ratios of both secondary windings are equal. The PSpice model of the developed self-oscillating ballast is shown in Figure 5.11.



Figure 5.11: PSpice model of CFL electronic ballast and fluorescent tube.

## 5.8 Validation of full circuit CFL model

The self-oscillating ballast and tube models developed in the previous sections were combined and implemented in PSpice, forming a full CFL model. The 11W CFL, previously used to measure tube characteristics (Section 5.6.2) was dismantled, and key components were measured, (i.e.  $C_{dc}$ ,  $R_{in}$ ,  $L_{res}$  and  $C_{res}$ ). These measured values are applied directly to the PSpice ballast model. Magnetic hysteresis properties of the toroid in the self-oscillating ballast model were also adjusted in such a way to match the nominal oscillation frequency of the considered 11W CFL ballast which was around 45kHz. In this way, the PSpice full model of the CFL was set up to match a specific CFL.

Although the controllable voltage source, [92], was able to supply a significantly less distorted voltage waveform compared with the normal power lab voltage, its output voltage was found to be slightly distorted. This was attributed to the loading of the CFL. Although this distortion is very low, it still has a noticeable effect on the measured result. It was concluded, therefore, that it is important to faithfully reproduce the actual input voltage supplied to the measured ballast for correct model validation. This is required so any differences between the model and measurements can be attributed to the model, and not due to a differences in supply voltages. To achieve this, the measured output voltage of the controllable voltage source was decomposed into its harmonic elements by means of a fast fourier analysis (FFT) in MatLab. This harmonic spectrum data was then used to accurately reconstruct the output voltage waveform of used voltage source in PSpice, which is then supplied directly to the ballast model.

Simulations were run using the full PSpice 11W CFL model. This model is validated by comparing results of simulations with the results of measurements. As the same modelling approach is applied for all three considered CFLs, (8W, 11W and 18W), the validation is presented only for the 11W CFL, to avoid repetition.

## 5.8.1 Validation of the developed full PSpice CFL model

The tube instantaneous current and voltage obtained from the PSpice full model were compared to the measured waveforms (11W CFL ballast supplied at 1pu source voltage), Figure 5.12. Further, simulations were performed with the ballast input voltage altered between 0.8pu and 1.2pu. At each point, the rms values of tube current and voltage were calculated, and then compared against the measured data in Figure 5.13. It can clearly be seen from both comparisons that the full PSpice model is able to reproduce the measured results to a high degree of accuracy. These results, therefore, validate the developed CFL tube model and CFL ballast model.

Lighting loads



Figure 5.12: Comparison between measured and simulated instantaneous tube voltage and current waveforms, 11W CFL.



Figure 5.13: Comparison between measured and simulated rms V-I tube characteristic (11W CFL, for input voltages between 0.8-1.2pu).

## 5.8.2 Verification of modelled CFL input characteristics

In order to further validate the full CFL model, its input current and power characteristics are now compared with the measured results. The comparison in Figure 5.14 illustrates the input current waveform and associated harmonic content of the simulated and measured results supplied at 1pu voltage. These results show that the full CFL model is able to accurately predict input current waveform, and hence its harmonic content. Further to these results, Figure 5.15 investigates the ability of the model to predict the P-V and N-V power demand characteristics of the measured CFL. Again, the model performs well with none of the power characteristics showing greater than a 3% error over the input voltage range 0.9 to 1.1pu, and less than 5% error for the full considered range of 0.8pu to 1.2pu.

From the results presented in Figure 5.15, it can be seen that the P-V characteristics of the 11W CFL are linear and follow closely the P-V characteristics of the CFL tube. Therefore, this further justifies the importance of developing accurate CFL fluorescent tube models in the previous section, as the fluorescent tube will dictate the P-V demand characteristics of this load type. It should also be noticed that CFLs are capacitive loads, similarly to lower-power SASDs and SMPS with no PFC. This is because CFLs do not have any additional inductance in their bridge rectifier circuit, as they use other means to comply with harmonic legislation, which is discussed in the next section.

The presented results clearly validate the developed full PSpice model of the 11W CFL. Furthermore, due to the inherent similarity between different CFL types, sizes and powers it is concluded that the developed full PSpice CFL model may be also used as foundation for developing a generic CFL model.



Figure 5.14: Comparison of current waveform and associated harmonic content between measured and simulated 11W CFL.



Figure 5.15: Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics between measured and simulated 11W CFL.

## 5.9 Effect of system impedance on CFL characteristics

The effect of system impedance on the P-V and N-V power demand characteristics of the 11W CFL considered in the previous section is now investigated. The full PSpice model developed and validated in the previous section was used to produce the P-V and N-V characteristics of the 11W CFL when minimum, nominal and maximum values of system impedance are applied, as defined for a typical distribution system in [42]. Figure 5.16 shows the results of this analysis.

From the results presented in Figure 5.16 it can be seen that the system impedance will have very little effect on the P-V and N-V power demand characteristics of considered CFL. This is because of the presence of the fixed resistance,  $R_{in}$ , in the CFL's rectifier circuit (used to provide inrush current protection). The value of this resistor in the considered 11W CFL was measured and found to be 10.2 $\Omega$ . Therefore, this resistor will dominate the rectifier input impedance, and changes in system impedance will have very little effect on CFL power demand characteristics.



Figure 5.16: Effect of changing system impedance on CFL active and non-active power demand characteristics.

## 5.10 Harmonics

The diode bridge rectifier at the front end of the electronic ballast influences that the CFLs and LFLs draw non-linear current from the supply, rich in harmonics. When considering steady state load models for power system load flow analysis, harmonic emissions might at first glance seem to be of little relevance, but as the discussions in this section will show, legislative harmonic limits play a decisive role in the design, and therefore characteristics, of modern CFL electronic ballasts.

## 5.10.1 Legislation

The legislative limits that apply to the type of lighting loads considered in this thesis, i.e. lighting loads that draw less than 16A per phase and supplied by a single-phase power supply, are stipulated in [30]. Reference [30] designates lighting loads as class C loads, further divided into lighting loads which draw active power greater than 25W (referred to in the remainder of this work as "higher power lighting loads"), and lighting loads which draw active power less than 25W from the supply system (referred to in the remainder of this work as "lower power lighting load"). Higher power lighting loads must adhere to the harmonic limits shown in column 2 of Table 5.3, (C1). Lower power lighting loads must adhere to either one of the

two sets of harmonic limits laid out in column 3 (C2) and column 4 (C3). The limits for higher power lighting loads are far more stringent than the limits associated with lower power lighting loads. There are various methods that designers of CFLs/LFLs use to meet these harmonic limits. The method implemented depends on the limits to be met, and hence on the rated power of the CFLs/LFLs. Accordingly, CFLs/LFLs in the following text are divided into two general classes: a) CFL/LFLs with rated power below 25W and b) CFL/LFLs with rated power above 25W. As discussed in the introduction if this chapter, CFLs will be by far the most common in the lower-power range, as LFLs with rated powers less than 25W are only rarely used (and where they are used, normally in domestics applications, there is a trend to replace them with CFLs). Therefore, CFLs are assumed as typical representatives of lower power fluorescent lighting loads in the remainder of this chapter.

	Rated Power					
Harmonic number	> 25W	$\leq 25 \text{ W}$				
n	C1	C2	C3			
	$(\%^1)$	$(mA \backslash W)$	$(\%^1)^2$			
2	2	-	-			
3	$30 \cdot pf_1$	3.4	86			
5	10	1.9	61			
7	7	1	-			
9	5	0.5	-			
11	3	0.35	-			
$13 \le n < 39$	3	$\frac{3.85}{n}$	-			
<sup>1</sup> expressed as a % of fundamental component of input current.						
<sup>2</sup> Further requirement of C3: The input current waveform should begin before						
or at $60^{\circ}$ , have it last peak (if there are several peaks per half-period) before						
or at $65^0$ and not stop flowing before $90^0$ , where the zero crossing of the						
fundamental supply voltage is assumed at $0^0$						
$pf_1$ is the displacement power factor.						

 Table 5.3: Harmonic current limits for lighting loads, class C [30].

## 5.10.2 Meeting harmonic legislation for CFLs with rated power less than 25W

There are two sets of limits that can be applied to CFLs in this power range, (C2 or C3 Table 5.3), with the CFL manufacturers only obliged to adhere to one of these limits. In order to investigate these limits further, the harmonic contents of the input current waveform, drawn by the full PSpice model of the 11W CFL developed in the previous section, is compared to the harmonic limits C2 and C3. This CFL model is supplied with an ideal sinusoidal waveform at 1pu voltage, and result of the comparison are shown in Figure 5.17.



Figure 5.17: Comparison of harmonic contents of 11W CFL with C2 and C3 harmonic limits from [30].

The comparison presented in Figure 5.17 illustrates that harmonic limit C3 is far less stringent than limit C2. Therefore, manufacturers will usually aim to meet limit C2 rather than C3. As discussed, the size of the dc link capacitor,  $C_{dc}$ , will have a significant effect on the harmonic content of the CFL input current waveform. In order to investigate this influence further, simulations were run using the 11W CFL with different values of  $C_{dc}$ . Figures 5.18 and 5.19 show the effect of the value of  $C_{dc}$  on the CFL input current waveform and associated harmonics.



Figure 5.18: Effect of dc link capacitance on input current waveform of 11W CFL.



Figure 5.19: Effect of dc link capacitance on input current harmonics of 11W CFL.

### 5.10.2.1 Size of dc link capacitor and harmonic limits

The effect of decreasing dc link capacitance on the input current waveform of the single-phase bridge rectifier has been considered previously in Section 3.3.1. The effects can be again seen in Figure 5.18, which shows that as the value of  $C_{dc}$  is decreased, the input current pulses of CFL will shift to the left, have lower peak values and become wider. As the rectifier input current pulse becomes wider its harmonic content will decrease and it will become 'more' sinusoidal. However, as the CFL input current moves to the left, the CFLs' displacement power factor will reduce, and the CFL load will become more capacitive. This is because the current waveform is becoming less symmetrical relative to the system voltage maximum (see also Figure 3.3).

It can be seen from Figure 5.19 that smaller values of dc link capacitor allow for legislative/mandatory requirements (Table 5.3) to be met. Therefore, manufacturers of CFLs tend to use smaller values of capacitors,  $C_{dc}$ , to satisfy these harmonic limits. There are also significant cost savings, when smaller capacitors are used to meet harmonic limits, as these are cheaper than the larger ones, and there is no need to include extra circuity for power factor correction in the ballast.

Lower capacitor values, however, will increase dc link voltage ripple and also lead to increased fundamental reactive power flow in the supply system. The increased fundamental reactive power, however, is not a concern of the CFL manufactures, as there are currently no legislative limits in place stipulating minimum values of displacement power factor. However, the increased voltage ripple will also have an effect on the CFL design, as is discussed further.

## 5.10.2.2 Size of dc link capacitor and dc link voltage ripple

The crest factor of a fluorescent tube current is defined as the ratio of the rms tube current to peak tube current, (5.11). The higher the tube crest factor, the more electrical stress will be imposed on the tube, having a particular influence on tube electrodes and shorting of the tube lifespan. Manufacturers of fluorescent tubes generally specify that tube crest factor should not exceed 1.7 in normal operation([110], [111]), if the tube is to operate within the specified lifetime.

$$CF = \frac{I_{lamp}, peak}{I_{lamp}, RMS}$$
(5.11)

In the case of CFTs/FLTs controlled by electronic ballast, the tube crest factor is directly proportional to the dc link ripple voltage, and hence the size of  $C_{dc}$ . This is because dc link voltage ripple is directly translated, through the bridge inverter, to the tube.

## 5.10.2.3 Size of dc link capacitance, and compromise between harmonic limits and crest factor

From the previous discussions, it can be concluded that the size of the dc link capacitor found in the ballast circuit of CFLs will be selected based on a compromise between meeting specified harmonic limits while not excessively compromising the tube lifetime. These two criteria define upper and lower limits for the size of  $C_{dc}$  in modern CFL applications.

Simulation models of 8W, 11W, 15W, 18W, 20W and 25W CFLs were developed in PSpice software. The standard self-oscillating ballast was used in all these models, with appropriate typical ballast component values. The tube models of the 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs were developed from measurements, in exactly the same was as presented in Section 5.6.2.1. The tube models of the 15W, 20W and 25W were taken directly from those developed in [98]. The applied voltage to the ballast was an ideal sinusoidal waveform at 1pu voltage magnitude and frequency.

For each of these CFL models, the value of  $C_{dc}$  was systematically altered with respect to discussed limits. Firstly, the minimum value of  $C_{dc}$  for each CFL was ascertained by reducing the value of  $C_{dc}$  until the tube crest factor exceeded 1.7, which was found to correlate to a 50% dc link voltage ripple. Each time  $C_{dc}$  was altered, the ballast circuit was also adjusted to keep the tube power constant. Secondly, the maximum value of  $C_{dc}$  based on harmonic limits was found, again altering the value of  $C_{dc}$ , but this time increasing the value until the harmonic limit C3 is just breached, with power drawn by the tube kept constant as before. These two criteria provide practical upper and lower limits for the value of  $C_{dc}$  in CFLs. Figure 5.20 shows upper

Lighting loads

and lower limits as a function of CFL rated power. Also shown in Figure 5.20 are the values of actual capacitor values found from opening CFLs.



**Figure 5.20:** Relationship between the size of dc link capacitor and rated power of CFLs  $\leq 25W$ .

The actual values of  $C_{dc}$  found in considered CFLs, shown in Figure 5.20, all lie between the upper and lower  $C_{dc}$  limits, which helps to further verify that manufacturers indeed use these limits during the design. A best fit line is also shown Figure 5.20. This line represents the typical expected value of  $C_{dc}$ , based on CFL rated power. Next, the typical per-unit reactance value of  $C_{dc}$  may be found by selecting a point on this line of best fit, for example 14W and 3.37  $\mu F$ . This value of capacitance is then converted to a per-unit reactance, by implementing (5.12), which gives  $X_{Cdc} \approx 0.25$  pu.

$$X_{Cdc,pu} = \frac{\frac{1}{C_{dc} \cdot \omega}}{\frac{V_{c}^2}{P_{CFL}}} = \frac{\frac{1}{3.37 \times 10^{-6} \cdot \omega}}{\frac{230^2}{14}} \approx 0.25 pu$$
(5.12)

where:  $V_{phase}$  is the input phase voltage,  $P_{CFL}$  is the rated power of the CFL,  $\omega = 2\pi f$ , where f is the system frequency.

Figure 5.20 represents an important result for this work, as it enables the selection of typical nominal dc link capacitance based on the rated power of the CFL, which as shown before, is a necessary input data for deriving accurate generic per-unit models of these loads.

## 5.10.3 Meeting harmonic legislation for CFLs and LFLs with rated power greater than 25W

The harmonic limits for CFLs/LFLs with rated active powers above 25W are far more stringent than those applied to lower power CFLs/LFLs. It is not possible to meet C1 limits (Table 5.3) by simply reducing the value of the dc link capacitance. Therefore, additional power factor correction (PFC) circuitry is required to conform to C1 limits. As discussed previously, the PFC circuits can be divided into two general types: passive PFC, and active PFC, which are both discussed below.

### 5.10.3.1 Passive power factor correction

It is very difficult to meet C1 harmonic limits with passive PFC techniques. Furthermore, passive PFC leads to high tube crest factors. Therefore, passive PFC techniques generally tend to be avoided in modern electronic ballasts. However, where space is an important design requirement, for example in CFLs with rated power above 25W, passive PFC may be found. However, higher power CFL are very uncommon, and therefore passive PFC applied to CFLs/LFLs will not be considered further in this thesis.

#### 5.10.3.2 Active power factor correction

Active PFC has already been described in Section 3.6.1.1. In that discussion, it was noted that the output voltage of the power factor controller is a constant dc voltage, even with relatively large changes in system voltage (0.8-1.2pu). Thus, the voltage to the bridge inverter used stay constant with changes in system voltage and the tube will draw constant active power and will be unaffected by changes in system voltage, as long as these changes are within the operational range of the PFC circuit. Also, as the ballast input current waveform is sinusoidal and in phase with the system voltage, the true power factor of the CFLs/LFLs with active PFC is essentially unity. Accordingly, CFLs/LFLs with active PFC may be very simply represented as linear constant active power loads for the purposes of steady state load modelling.

## 5.11 General characteristics of CFLs and LFLs

### 5.11.1 CFLs and LFLs with rated active powers above 25W

As discussed previously in the harmonics section, CFLs and LFLs ballasts powering fluorescent tubes above 25W rated active power are expected to include active PFC circuitry due to harmonic legislation. When an active power factor correction circuit is present, the CFLs/LFLs

will draw constant active power, regardless of changes in input supply voltage and will draw effectively no reactive power.

## 5.11.2 CFLs and LFLs with rated active powers below 25W

From previous discussions, fluorescent light sources in this power range are assumed to be CFLs. A total of 19 CFLs with different rated powers were measured using the test bed described in Section 5.6.1. The chosen lamp ratings were again 8W, 11W and 18W, as these are the most commonly found CFLs in the residential sector. As far as possible, the lamps were purchased from different locations in Edinburgh area, to try and get a spread of lamps from different manufacturing batches. In the 8W CFL category, six CFL were measured: three manufactured by Philips and three by Osram. In the 11W category, seven CFLs were measured, but this time all the lamps were Philips lamps. Finally, in the 18W category, six CFL were measured, again all were Philips lamps.

The input voltage to the CFLs was altered between 0.8 and 1.2pu, and the ballast input current was measured at each voltage. From the ballast input current and voltage waveforms, the active power characteristics of the CFLs were calculated. The changes in per unit active power characteristics with changes in system voltage for all measured lamps are shown in Figure 5.21, using corresponding CFL, rated active powers as the base power. Also shown in Figure 5.21 is the best fit line obtained (using previously described least square fit method) of the measured results, with  $\pm$  10% error bars.

It can be seen that the P-V characteristics of CFLs of the same rated power and even the same manufacture will vary within around 6-7 % in relation to each other. This results is similar to the findings in [103], which found a similar variance within 10%. From the presented results, it can be seen that the variance between P-V characteristics of CFLs of same rated power is very similar to the variance between CFLs of different rated powers. Therefore, a single per unit generic P-V characteristic may be used to represent the P-V characteristics of CFLs with rated power less than 25W, representing the vast majority of CFLs. This generic characteristic is the best fit line in Figure 5.21.

## 5.11.2.1 Generic tube model development

In order to developed and implement generic model of CFLs, a generic tube model is required first, as the tube dictates the shape of the CFL P-V characteristic. The tube model developed in Section 5.6.2.1 is used for this generic tube model. The only difference is that rather than representing an actual tube, this model is used to represent the fictitious generic tube. Accordingly, coefficients A, B and C rather than being fit to a measured tube  $V_{rms}$ ,  $I_{rms}$ 

Lighting loads



Figure 5.21: Per unit active power demand characteristics for three most common types (rated powers) of CFLs.

characteristic, are selected in such a way to provide required generic P-V characteristic, when the tube model is driven by a ballast model. For the development of the generic tube model, the previously considered 11W CFL ballast circuit model is used, as it represents a typical CFL ballast circuit. Simulations were run using the 11W CFL model, with its tube model coefficients A, B and C adjusted until the ballast's P-V characteristics matched the desired generic P-V characteristic. Based on this, full generic CFL model is established. As the basic topology of the self-oscillating ballast is common across all CFLs (due to use of typical components), the 11W CFL ballast and the generic tube model can be directly transformed into a per unit representation, allowing for the representation of aggregate CFLs load and individual CFL instances, what is performed later in this chapter.

# 5.12 Development of equivalent circuit model for CFL with rated active power less than 25W

So far, full ballast and tube models representing specific CFL have been developed and validated with measured data. As well, a full 11W CFL with generic tube model has been

developed. These developed models are very accurate, but take significant time to simulate due to their complexity. Therefore, they are not appropriate for the further aggregation with same type or other type loads. In the same way as in other chapters of this thesis, this section develops an equivalent circuit model of CFL loads. However, the equivalent circuit model of the CFL is more complicated than that of the other considered non-linear load types, due to the distinctively complex electrical properties of the fluorescent tube.

## 5.12.1 Development of equivalent circuit CFL model

A circuit schematic of the full and equivalent CFL models is shown in Figure 5.22. To produce the equivalent model, the area marked by the dashed-line box in the full model is reduced to a simple variable resistance. If this area is considered as a 'black box', the relationship between the black box input, which will be the instantaneous dc link voltage,  $v_{dc}$ , and the 'black box' output, which will be the instantaneous dc current,  $i_{dc}$ , must be found. This relationship will determine the equivalent resistance model. The following investigation is performed using the 11W CFL with generic tube, which is then converted to a per unit representation at a later stage, to form generic CFL model.



Figure 5.22: Equivalent circuit CFL model.

## 5.12.1.1 Relationship between input voltage and current output at 1pu input voltage

The instantaneous dc link current and voltage waveforms,  $i_{dc}$  and  $v_{dc}$ , are shown in Figure 5.23, for the ballast supplied with 1pu system voltage. These waveforms are shown over half a cycle of the fundamental frequency in Figure 5.23(a), with Figure 5.23(b) showing a close-up view of  $i_{dc}$  and  $v_{dc}$  during period A. It can be seen that the envelope of  $i_{dc}$  is affected by  $v_{dc}$ ;



 $i_{dc}$  increases when  $v_{dc}$  is increasing, i.e. when  $C_{dc}$  is charging, and then remains seemingly constant when  $C_{dc}$  is discharging.

Figure 5.23: Generic CFL dc link current and voltage waveforms

A more useful approach to help determine the relationship between  $i_{dc}$  and  $v_{dc}$  (i.e. to determine equivalent variable resistance) would be to plot them as a function of each other. But for that plot to make any sense, the cycle-by-cycle rms value of  $i_{dc}$  should be plotted against the instantaneous value of  $v_{dc}$  (as  $v_{dc}$  does not oscillate), where the cycle/period time is determined by  $i_{dc}$  as shown in Figure 5.23(b). However,  $i_{dc}$  will not oscillate at constant frequency, as it is determined by the ballast oscillation frequency, which varies with dc link voltage in the range of around 29-55kHz.

In order to calculate the cycle-by-cycle rms value of  $i_{dc}$  a MatLab code was developed that

identifies changes in gradient in  $i_{dc}$ . This information is then used to define the cycle time, and hence the period over which to perform the rms calculation of the  $i_{dc}$ . This code can be found in Appendix C.1.1. The developed MatLab code was used to process the results presented in Figure 5.23, to produce a plot of  $I_{dc,hf}$  (the cycle-by-cycle rms dc link current, i.e. high frequency rms value of dc link current) versus  $v_{dc}$ , Figure 5.24(a). As each cycle of  $i_{dc}$  is reduced to a single rms value the same must be done for  $v_{dc}$  so that the two quantities may be plotted as functions of each other. Accordingly, the value of  $v_{dc}$  is taken as the 'middle' value  $v_{dc}$  in the considered cycle as shown in Figure 5.23(b).

The parameter of most interest in this analysis is the value of the equivalent resistance that could be used to represent the equivalent loading of the 'black box', i.e. the value of the resistor that would match actual  $I_{dc,hf}$  when given  $v_{dc}$  is supplied at the dc link. In order to visualise (and aid further analysis) how such an equivalent resistance would vary with  $v_{dc}$ , the values of  $v_{dc}$  were divided by the corresponding values of  $I_{dc,hf}$  using ohms law to give  $R_{eq,hf}$ . Figure 5.24(b), shows the plot of  $R_{eq,hf}$  versus  $v_{dc}$ .



(b) Equivalent resistance

Figure 5.24: DC link characteristics of generic CFL model.

The results presented in Figure 5.24(b) show a relationship/plot between  $R_{eq,hf}$  and  $v_{dc}$  similar to a hysteresis characteristics. It is immediately clear that the plot is made up of two roughly linear regions, with two transitions between these regions. In order to explain the shape of this

characteristic, it is useful to plot  $v_{dc}$  as a function of time, comparing this with the  $R_{eq,hf}$  versus  $v_{dc}$  characteristic. Such a plot is shown in Figure 5.25, marked clearly with four characteristic points that represent the boundaries between the regions in the  $R_{eq,hf}$  versus  $v_{dc}$  characteristic. This is further discussed below:

- **Points 1 2** In this region,  $C_{dc}$  is charging and dc link voltage is increasing;  $I_{dc,hf}$  is fairly constant, varying by only about 5mA. As  $I_{dc,hf}$  is fairly constant and  $v_{dc}$  is increasing in a nearly linear way,  $R_{eq,hf}$  will also increase in the same near linear manner.
- **Points 2 3** This is the transition from the  $C_{dc}$  charging to  $C_{dc}$  discharging state.
- **Points 3 4** In this region,  $C_{dc}$  is discharging and the dc link voltage is decreasing;  $I_{dc,hf}$  is essentially constant with changes in  $v_{dc}$ . Therefore,  $R_{eq,hf}$  will reduce in a linear way with  $v_{dc}$
- **Points 4 1** This is the transition from the  $C_{dc}$  discharging to  $C_{dc}$  charging state.



(c)  $R_{eq,hf}$  as a function of  $v_{dc}$ 

**Figure 5.25:** *Linearisation of*  $R_{eq,hf}$  *characteristic for generic CFL model.* 

#### 5.12.1.2 Extending characterisation beyond 1pu input voltage

The analysis of the equivalent load so far has only considered the situation where the ballast is supplied with 1pu system voltage. By using exactly the same methodology as discussed above, Figure 5.26(a) is obtained, showing the results of the analysis when the ballast is supplied with 0.8 to 1.2pu system voltage. The results for different input voltages show the same general characteristics as those for the ballast supplied at 1pu, with only a very slight loop widening at higher system voltages, which is due to increased losses in the ballast. Additionally, when ballast pu input voltage is altered, the values of the maximum and minimum dc link voltage

will shift accordingly, but the difference between these values (i.e. the dc link voltage ripple), will remain relatively constant.

Finally, in the analysis so far, the value of  $C_{dc}$  has been kept constant at the nominal expected value derived from Figure 5.20, which is  $2.8\mu F$  for the generic 11W CFL. In order to produce a more general results, simulations were run with the ballast supplied with 1pu system voltage and values of  $C_{dc}$  selected as the maximum and minimum expected values, i.e.  $1.8\mu F$  and  $3.3\mu F$  respectively. These results are shown in Figure 5.26(b). As expected, the smaller values of  $C_{dc}$  lead to a wider variation in  $v_{dc}$  over the half-cycle, while larger values of  $C_{dc}$  lead to less ripple in  $v_{dc}$ . Again, the results also show that change in the value of  $C_{dc}$  does not alter significantly the general characteristics of the equivalent resistance.



(b) Change of size of  $C_{dc}$  (1pu system voltage)

Figure 5.26: Change of characteristics of equivalent resistance with changes in system voltage and value of  $C_{dc}$  in the generic CFL model.

#### 5.12.1.3 Equivalent resistance as a function of $V_{dc}$

From the analysis presented so far, it has been shown that the  $R_{eq,hf}$  versus  $v_{dc}$  characteristic of the generic ballast model consists of two distinctive regions, defined by charge/discharge state of the dc link capacitor. Accordingly, two functional relationships must be developed for expressing  $R_{eq,hf}$  as a function of  $v_{dc}$  in the equivalent load model. In order to determine these two functional relationships, the results presented in Figure 5.26(a) are split into the two corresponding regions: capacitor charge and capacitor discharge, as shown in Figure 5.27. It can be seen from Figure 5.27 that  $R_{eq,hf}$  can be generally expressed as a function of  $v_{dc}$  using a second order polynomial expression of the form  $y = A \cdot x + b \cdot x^2 + c$  for the charging characteristic, and a linear expression for the discharging characteristic. If the equivalent resistance during the discharge period is defined as  $R_{eq1}$  and then during the charge stage as  $R_{eq2}$ , expressions given in (5.13) and (5.14) may be developed from fitting the second order polynomial equation to the results of the analysis, as also shown in Figure 5.27.

$$R_{eq1} = 23.7 \cdot v_{dc} + 274 \tag{5.13}$$

$$R_{eq2} = 11 \cdot v_{dc} + 0.021 \cdot v_{dc}^2 + 1300 \tag{5.14}$$



Figure 5.27: Equivalent resistance of 11W CFL with generic tube model for two corresponding operating stages.

#### 5.12.2 Validation of the equivalent resistance model

In order to validate the developed equivalent resistance model, the functional expressions for  $R_{eq1}$  and  $R_{eq2}$ , as given in (5.13) and (5.14), were applied in PSpice as a load to a bridge rectifier with dc link capacitor, Figure 5.28. An 'if statement' is implemented in PSpice that monitors the input current to the bridge rectifier, selecting the appropriate load expression  $(R_{eq1} \text{ or } R_{eq2})$ , i.e. if current is greater than zero apply load expression  $R_{eq2}$ , else apply load expression  $R_{eq1}$ . The variable resistance model is built from a voltage source, while unity value

resistance and current measuring block are built to implement the variable resistor. The value of  $L_{sys}$ ,  $(R_{total} = R_{sys} + R_{in})$  and  $C_{dc}$  were set to be exactly the same as those used in the full 11W CFL model.



Figure 5.28: PSpice equivalent circuit of CFL model.

Simulations were run using the developed equivalent circuit CFL model. Figure 5.29 shows the comparison of the input current waveforms and associated harmonic content between of the full and equivalent circuit models, both supplied with 1pu system voltage. Figure 5.30 shows a comparison between the change in P-V and N-V characteristics of the two models. These comparisons show very clearly that the equivalent circuit model is able to almost exactly predict the input current waveform and harmonic content of the full PSpice CFL model, and also to accurately predict the P-V and N-V characteristics. The small differences in the N-V characteristics are due to the transition periods between the charge and discharge regions being neglected in the equivalent circuit model. The presented results validate the developed equivalent circuit model of the 11W CFL with generic tube. This simple model may now be used instead of full PSpice model, allowing for considerably faster simulation times and to form the basis of analytical model developed in the next section.



Figure 5.29: Comparison between input current waveforms and associated harmonics of full and equivalent circuit PSpice models of generic CFL, at 1pu system voltage.


**Figure 5.30:** Comparison between P-V and N-V characteristics of full and equivalent circuit PSpice models of generic CFL.

#### 5.12.3 Per unit representation of equivalent model

So far, developed expressions (5.13) and (5.14) are in absolute form, representing an 11W CFL with generic tube characteristics, Section 5.11.2.1. This is because it was considered easier to derive the equivalent circuit model in absolute form. This absolute form is now converted to per-unit form. All that is required to convert expressions (5.13) and (5.14) into per-unit is a suitable resistance base, given as:

$$R_{b,CFL} = \frac{V_{dc(nominal)}^2}{P_{CFL}}$$
(5.15)

where:  $V_{dc(nominal)}$  is the average rms dc link voltage when the ballast is supplied with 1pu system voltage and  $C_{dc}$  is nominal;  $P_{CFL}$  is the rated CFL power, e.g. 11W for a 11W CFL.

In order to use this per-unit system,  $V_{dc(nominal)}$  must be known for each of the CFLs with rated active powers between the considered range, 8W - 25W. Thus,  $V_{dc(nominal)}$  was investigated

for a range of CFLs, using previously developed models of the 8W, 11W, 15W, 18W, 20W and 25W CFLs. The applied voltage to the models was 1pu system voltage and all ballast component values were set at nominal. The value of  $V_{dc(nominal)}$  is plotted as function of CFL rated active power in Figure 5.31. It can be seen that  $V_{dc(nominal)}$  is almost constant, ranging from 278V - 282V for considered rated CFL powers. This is because, as previously shown, the value of  $C_{dc}$  in the CFLs will be changed in direct proportion the rated power of the CFLs (Figure 5.20 has almost linear relationship for actual  $C_{dc}$  versus CFL rated power).



Figure 5.31: Nominal dc link rms voltage at 1pu system voltage and nominal ballast component values for CFLs at rated powers of 8W, 11W, 15W, 18W, 20W and 25W.

Therefore, the absolute derived expressions for generic CFL model equivalent resistance (5.13) and (5.14) may be converted to per-unit form using  $R_{base}$ , to give:

Ì

$$R_{eq1,pu} = \frac{23.7 \cdot v_{dc} + 274}{R_{base}}$$
(5.16)

$$R_{eq2,pu} = \frac{11 \cdot v_{dc} + 0.021 \cdot v_{dc}^2 + 1300}{R_{base}}$$
(5.17)

The per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$  has already been presented in Section 5.10, and this value may be used directly in the per-unit generic model of the CFL. As discussed in Section 5.4.2, CFLs will have a relatively large resistor in the bridge rectifier conduction path. These resistors serve to provide a basic form of inrush current protection. From information obtained after opening CFL ballasts and measuring the value of this input resistor,  $R_{in}$ , it was found that typically 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs have resistors of value 9, 10 and 15  $\Omega$  respectively. It can be seen that the value of  $R_{in}$  is roughly correlated with the rated power of the CFL, and therefore maybe expressed as a function of rated CFL power, as shown in (5.18).

$$R_{in} = 2.7 + 0.7 * P_{CFL} \tag{5.18}$$

# 5.13 Generic analytical model of CFL

In line with other work in this thesis, the equivalent circuit model of the 11W CFL with generic tube model should be converted to a generic analytical model of the whole CFL. The analytical model of the single-phase bridge rectifier has been developed and discussed in detail in Section 3.10. By applying per-unit values of  $C_{dc}$ ,  $R_{in}$  and rectifier equivalent resistance expressions, all developed previously, a generic analytical model may be formed. The resulting modified generic analytical model equations are shown in expressions (5.19) to (5.21). These expressions again are implemented in a MatLab script to form the generic analytical CFL model, with this code given in Appendix C.1.2.

Charging:

$$v_{rect} = R_{total} \cdot i_{in} + L_{sys} \cdot \frac{di_{in}}{dt} + v_{dc}$$
(5.19)

$$i_{in} = C_{dc} \cdot \frac{dv_{dc}}{dt} + \frac{v_{dc}}{\left(\frac{11 \cdot v_{dc} + 0.021 \cdot v_{dc}^2 + 1300}{R_{b,CFL}}\right)}$$
(5.20)

Discharging:

$$v_{dc} = v_{start} \cdot e^{\overline{\left(\frac{23.7 \cdot v_{dc} + 274}{R_{b,CFL}}\right) \cdot C_{dc}}}$$
(5.21)

where:  $i_{in}$  is the CFL instantaneous input current,  $v_{rect}$  is the instantaneous rectified system voltage,  $v_{dc}$  and  $i_{dc}$  are the instantaneous dc link current and voltage,  $v_{start}$  is the capacitor voltage at the start of the discharge period,  $R_{b,CFL}$  is defined in (5.15) and  $R_{total} = R_{sys} + R_{in}$ .

# 5.14 Validation of generic analytical CFL model for sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions

In order to confirm that the proposed generic analytical CFL model is able to match the power demand and harmonic characteristics of the full PSpice 11W CFL with generic tube model, the two models are compared in this section. Likewise to other chapters, this comparison is performed for both sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal voltage supply conditions. The applied non-sinusoidal supply system waveforms are again "typically" and "heavily" distorted, as

defined in Section 2.12.2. Figures 5.32 and 5.33 show the comparisons of the two models for applied sinusoidal supply voltage. Figures 5.34 and 5.35 show the results of the comparisons for applied "typically distorted" supply voltage and Figures 5.36 and 5.37 show the results of the comparisons for applied "heavily distorted" supply voltage.



# 5.14.1 Sinusoidal supply conditions





Figure 5.33: Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with applied sinusoidal system voltage.



## 5.14.2 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions, "typically distorted" voltage

**Figure 5.34:** Comparison between full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with applied 1pu "typically distorted" system voltage.



Figure 5.35: Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with applied "typically distorted" system voltage.



## 5.14.3 Non-sinusoidal supply conditions,. "heavily distorted" voltage

**Figure 5.36:** Comparison between full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with applied 1pu "heavily distorted" system voltage.



Figure 5.37: Comparison between power demand characteristics of full model and generic analytical model of 11W CFL with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage.

#### 5.14.4 Discussion of results

The result of the comparisons shown in Figures 5.32 to 5.37 validate that the generic analytical model is able to represent accurately the shape of the input current waveform of the full PSpice 11W CFL model for all considered sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions. Hence, the generic analytical model is also able to accurately represent all power demand characteristics of the full PSpice model for the same sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal supply conditions. This result is to be expected, as the equivalent circuit model of the CFL has been previously validated and the analytical model is a direct representation of this model.

The results of the presented analysis also show that as supply system voltage distortion increases the displacement power factor of the CFL will reduce (as also seen in lower-power SASDs and SMPS with no PFC). This reduction is fairly significant, with PF<sub>1</sub> changing from  $\approx 0.89$  to  $\approx 0.82$  between sinusoidal and "heavily distorted" supply conditions. This effect can also be seen in Figures 5.32(a), 5.34(a) and 5.36(a), where the CFL input current waveform will 'shift' to the left and the CFL will become a more capacitive load (see Section 3.12.2). The results further show that harmonic content of the CFL input current does not reduce with increased distortion in the supply system voltage, as has been observed in other non-linear loads considered in this thesis. The presented results in this section therefore validate that the generic analytical model is an accurate representation of the full PSpice model of 11W CFL with generic tube model. The next section validates that the proposed generic analytical model can be used to represent the power demand characteristics and harmonic properties of a same-type aggregate of CFL loads with different rated powers.

# 5.15 Verification of proposed generic analytical CFL model with measurements of aggregate CFL load

This section compares the characteristics of a measured aggregate CFL load with characteristics predicted by the proposed generic analytical CFL model. As the generic tube model, which dictates the P-V characteristics of the CFL, was itself derived from the average per-unit P-V characteristics of several CFLs (see Section 5.11.2.1), the generic analytical model should be well suited for representing an aggregate of CFLs. The ballast circuit is also a generic circuit, as the self-oscillating topology is dominant in CFLs. Finally, the value of  $C_{dc}$  in CFLs can be very well defined, as harmonic legislation provides an upper limit for its size and tube lifetime considerations (tube crest factor) provide a clear lower limit for its size. The difference between these two limits is relatively small, and therefore the value of  $C_{dc}$  in a particular CFL will not show much variance from typical expected value, i.e. per-unit value of  $C_{dc}$ .

As discussed in Section 5.2.2, the most common types of GILs used in domestic applications are

of rated power 40W, 60W and 100W, respectively making up 20%, 50% and 20% of currently estimated domestic lighting load, [96]. These GILs are expected to be replaced by 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs, as they give similar output lumens. Thus, the measured aggregate load was made up of roughly 22% 8W CFLs, 56% 11W CFLs and 22% 18W CFLs, in order to form a typical CFL aggregate load. A controllable voltage source, [92], was used to supply sinusoidal voltage to this aggregate load, with this voltage altered between 0.8-1.2pu of nominal system voltage. At each voltage, the current waveform of the aggregate load was measured and used along with the system voltage waveform to calculated the power demanded from the voltage source by the aggregate load. The generic analytical model was set to the rated power of the aggregate load. As the measured aggregate load actually distorted the voltage waveform supplied by the controllable voltage source, this distorted voltage was measured and reconstructed to supply the generic aggregate model, in order for a fair comparison of model and measurement to be made. Figures 5.38 and 5.39 show the comparisons of measured aggregate CFL load and corresponding generic analytical model.



Figure 5.38: Comparison between measured aggregate CFL load and corresponding generic analytical CFL model, for applied 1pu sinusoidal voltage.

Figure 5.39(a) demonstrates that the generic analytical model can very accurately predict the P-V characteristics of the measured aggregate load. Therefore, this result provides complete validation of the proposed generic tube model, as the tube will dictate active power demand characteristics. There is a small error between predicted and measured  $Q_1$ -V characteristics, with maximum error of only 4% at the end of considered range for system voltage. Furthermore, the results presented in Figure 5.38 show a very good matching of generic analytical model input current waveform with the measured results. Accordingly, the generic analytical model is able to predict the harmonic characteristics of the measured aggregate load without any significant error. It can also be seen from Figures 5.39(e) and (f) that the generic analytical model can maintain this accurate representation of measured aggregate load harmonic characteristics for the full range of considered system voltage.



**Figure 5.39:** Comparison between power demand characteristics of measured aggregate CFL load and corresponding generic analytical CFL model, with applied sinusoidal system voltage.

This exceptionally good matching between measured aggregate load and analytical CFL model is achieved as the generic tube model was constructed based on measured data and will therefore have the average P-V characteristics of 8W, 11W and 18W CFLs. Accordingly, the proposed generic CFL model is ideally suited to represent the P-V characteristics of an aggregation of CFLs. The results also further confirm that the per-unit values of  $C_{dc}$  and  $R_{in}$  are indeed representative of the typical values of these components in CFL loads. Therefore, the proposed generic analytical model of CFL may be used directly to represent the steady state operating characteristics of an aggregation of CFL loads.

# 5.16 Polynomial and exponential models of CFLs and LFLs

To complete the analysis of the CFL load type, polynomial and exponential interpretations of the proposed generic analytical model are now presented. In the same way as in other chapters in this thesis, the polynomial and exponential models are found by fitting associated model coefficients to the P-V and  $Q_1$ -V characteristics shown in Figure 5.39. The resulting model coefficients are shown in Table5.4. It should be noted that as CFL is a capacitive load, the fundamental reactive power coefficients of the polynomial model will sum to -1. There is no such mechanism for the representation of capacitive loads in the exponential model.

As discussed in Section 5.11, modern LFLs are expected to include active PFC in order to meet harmonic legislation. Therefore, modern LFL load will draw constant active power, independent of changes in system voltage, and will operate with unity value of true power factor. The polynomial and exponential models of LFLs are also shown in Table 5.4. Comparison of the proposed polynomial and exponential models with existing models of CFLs and LFLs (Table 5.1) are shown in Figure 5.40. A comparison of the 'goodness of fit' of the proposed models to the original data is not presented in Figure 5.40, as the P-V and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics of CFLs are linear, and can be very well represented by both polynomial and exponential models.

$PF_1$	Exp. Model		Polynomial model					
	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
Compact fluorescent lamps (CFL)								
0.91	0.94	0.52	-0.01	0.96	0.05	0.10	-0.73	-0.37
Linear fluorescent lamps (LFL)								
1.00	-	0	0	0	1	-	-	-

 Table 5.4: Proposed, polynomial and exponential model coefficients of CFL and LFL load.

The comparisons in Figure 5.40 show that there is a fairly good agreement between proposed and existing models of CFLs for both P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics. However, only one of the existing models, Model 3, presents a value for displacement power factor for CFL, which is in disagreement with the proposed value. These comparisons are interesting, as they indicate that modern CFLs will have similar P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V demand characteristics to older CFLs, (most likely because of similar fluorescent tubes used in both modern and older CFLs), although due to the introduction of harmonic legislation these loads will now operate at reduced displacement power factors.

The effect of harmonic legislation can most clearly be seen when comparing proposed and existing model P-V and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics of LFLs. It can be seen that LFLs are now expected to have constant P-V characteristics with no fundamental reactive power component, which is a direct result of harmonic legislation. Although Model 1 does predict these characteristics of LFLs, this model was developed in 1992 and is also suspected to be a somewhat arbitrary model. However, ironically, Model 1 is now more valid than the other subsequently proposed models of LFLs.



Figure 5.40: Comparison between proposed CFL models and existing models found in literature.

# 5.17 Conclusions

This chapter has considered existing and future UK lighting load, identifying how the present load mix is likely to change significantly over the next few years/decades. The major changes will be related to the replacement of traditional incandescent light sources with low-energy consumption light sources, specifically CFL in the domestic/residential load sector. These loads have considerably different characteristics to traditional incandescent lighting, and, clearly, there is a need to develop new load models.

It is shown that there are two common types of electronic ballast circuits used in CFLs and LFLs: self-oscillating ballast, which is used almost exclusively in CFLs, and the IC-controlled ballast, which is used mainly in LFLs. A review of previous work on the representation of fluorescent tubes is also performed, with the conclusions that there has been little work on the representation of tubes in modern CFLs. In order to obtain a correct tube model, measurements

were performed on a range of typical CFLs, and a new tube model, developed from these measurements, is presented. The tube model is incorporated with a detailed ballast model in PSpice, forming a full CFL model, which is validated using the measured data.

The harmonic legislative requirements that CFLs must comply with have also been considered, showing that they are the driving force behind the design of modern CFLs and LFLs. Based on these harmonic limits, CFLs and LFLs are divided into those with rated active power less than and above 25W. In practice, all CFLs will have rated power less than 25W, and the vast majority of LFLs will operate at powers greater than 25W. Due to these harmonic limits, LFLs will include active power factor correction circuitry. This makes them to appear as constant active power loads, drawing no reactive power from the supply. CFLs, however, cannot be represented in such a simple way, as they can meet harmonic legislation without large and more costly active PFC circuits.

The characteristics of CFLs are dominantly influenced by dc link capacitance, which, in turn, is determined as a trade-off in satisfying requirements for harmonic emission and expected lifetime. The characteristics of a range of typical CFLs, obtained from measurements, were used to develop a generic CFL model. As this model is not suitable for representing aggregate CFL loads, an equivalent resistance CFL model was developed. This equivalent resistance model was then converted to an analytical CFL model, allowing to significantly reduce simulation times. The generic analytical CFL model was used for modelling aggregated CFL load, and also validated against measured data. The developed model was in very good agreement with measurements. Exponential and polynomial interpretations of proposed generic CFL and LFLs models were also given in this chapter.

Finally, comparisons were made between the developed and existing load models of CFLs and LFLs. These comparisons showed good agreement between active and fundamental reactive power characteristics for the majority of considered existing CFL models. However, there was a disagreement in the prediction of displacement power factor. This is a direct result of harmonic legislation, which was not mandatory when previous CFL models were developed. Similar conclusions are drawn when comparing proposed LFL models to previous models, where modern LFLs are shown to have considerably different characteristics to the previous ones. It is also shown that previous load models cannot be used for any form of harmonic analysis, and therefore their usefulness for the prediction of the characteristics of modern lighting loads is limited.

# Chapter 6 Modelling of aggregate loads

# 6.1 Introduction

Generic analytical models of common types and sub-types of loads have been developed and validated in previous chapters. Additionally, polynomial and exponential interpretations have been derived from these generic analytical models. This chapter aims to illustrate some of the possible applications of the developed models, highlighting their flexibility and versatility. This is achieved by aggregating developed load models to represent typical present and future load mixes established from a review of available statistics and predictions/estimations for the future.

The P-V and  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of present and predicted future aggregate loads are investigated, where it is shown that there is significant difference between load characteristics predicted by aggregate load formed from proposed and previously proposed (existing) individual load models. It is also shown that system voltage distortion will affect aggregate load displacement power factor, and hence aggregate load fundamental reactive power demand. Aggregate loads are then applied to a typical UK/Scotland distribution network, and network load meeting capacity (LMC) is investigated with the considered different aggregate loads. It is shown that different aggregate loads will have significantly different effects on the LMC of the considered typical network, which additionally highlights the importance of accurate load models in power system studies.

To further illustrate the comprehensive nature of developed models, they are also used to investigate the harmonic characteristics of the present and future load mixes. It is shown that the proposed aggregate load models are able to correctly represent the harmonic interactions between different types and sub-types of considered loads. A simple two-bus representation of a domestic feeder is then used to investigate some of the effects of increased number of non-linear loads in the future on the supplies system, specifically the effect on supply bus voltage distortion. It is found that the voltage distortion of a typical load bus is expected to increase by around 30% (from the present value) for future load.

One of the possible ways to present analysis in this chapter is to perform extensive detailed power system analysis using the developed load models. However, the majority of time available for this PhD research was allocated to the development of presented load models and detailed analysis using the developed load models should be subject of future research based on the presented PhD thesis results. This is further considered in Section 7.2 where future work is discussed.

# 6.2 Aggregation of developed load models

The methods used to aggregate the polynomial, exponential and analytical load models developed in this thesis are presented in this section.

#### 6.2.1 Aggregation of polynomial and exponential load models

#### 6.2.1.1 Aggregation of polynomial load models

The standard approach to the aggregation of polynomial models of individual load type/sub-type is described in [13], [22], [112] and [113]. This approach uses the percentage bus load composition of each load types/sub-types to calculate a weighted average of each polynomial model coefficient. This method is used for the aggregation of the individual (device-based) polynomial models developed in this thesis, and is described by (6.1) and (6.2).

$$A_P = \sum_{n=1}^{N} (c_n \cdot a_n) / 100 \tag{6.1}$$

$$A_Q = \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_{1,n}))/100 \cdot c_n \cdot a_n)$$
(6.2)

Where: N is the total number of different load types in the aggregate load mix, n is the particular load type,  $c_n$  is the percentage contribution of load type n,  $a_n$  is the load type coefficient either  $Z_{p/q}$ ,  $I_{p/q}$  or  $P_{p/q}$  for load type n,  $A_P$  and  $A_Q$  are the aggregate load coefficients  $Z_{p/q}$ ,  $I_{p/q}$ ,  $P_{p/q}$ , and  $PF_{1,n}$  is the displacement power factor of load type n.

If the considered individual load type is capacitive, the corresponding load type coefficients  $Z_q$ ,  $I_q$  and  $P_q$  (represented by  $a_n$ ) will sum to -1, if inductive to +1, and if resistive to zero. Therefore, if the aggregate load is formed from a mix of capacitive, inductive and resistive loads, negative displacement power factor values for capacitive loads, giving correct aggregation displacement power factor.

Expressions (6.3) to (6.4) present the aggregate bus load models in polynomial form. The

displacement power factor of each load type is incorporated directly into the polynomial coefficient of reactive power as shown in (6.2). In this way, absolute aggregate fundamental reactive power demand may be expressed in terms of the nominal active power demand, as in (6.4). This helps to make the aggregate load models more accessible, as the information about nominal active power demand at a particular system bus is normally more readily available than the information about bus nominal fundamental reactive power demand.

$$P_{agg,polynomial} = P_0 \cdot \left[ Z_p \cdot \left( \frac{V_{bus}}{V_{nom}} \right)^2 + I_p \cdot \left( \frac{V_{bus}}{V_{nom}} \right) + P_p \right]$$
(6.3)

$$Q_{agg,polynomial} = P_0 \cdot \left[ Z_q \cdot \left( \frac{V_{bus}}{V_{nom}} \right)^2 + I_q \cdot \left( \frac{V_{bus}}{V_{nom}} \right) + P_q \right]$$
(6.4)

Where:  $P_{agg,polynmial}$  and  $Q_{agg,polynmial}$  are the aggregate active and fundamental reactive power demands at the considered bus, respectively,  $P_0$  is the nominal bus active power demand,  $V_{bus}$  is actual bus voltage and  $V_{nom}$  is the nominal bus voltage.

#### 6.2.1.2 Aggregation of exponential load models

The method of aggregation of the exponential model is not considered in [13], [22], [112], or [113]. This is because aggregation of the individual load fundamental reactive power characteristics can not be performed in a direct way, as the structure of the exponential model is,  $Q_{1,pu} = P_0 \cdot \tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_1)) \cdot (V_{pu})^{nq}$ , (where  $P_0 \cdot \tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_1))$ ) represents nominal fundamental reactive power demand). If the aggregate exponential model is to be formed from a mixture of capacitive, inductive and resistive loads, nq cannot be set to represent zero or negative fundamental reactive power. Therefore, the only way in which aggregation of fundamental reactive power may be achieved is to calculate the value of fundamental reactive power associated with each load separately and then sum these numerical values to find the numerical aggregate. This can be performed at a range of system voltages to produce the aggregate load Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristic. An exponential model then may be re-fitted to this characteristic, to find the aggregate load coefficient, nq. In order for this method to work, an additional coefficient should be included, as shown in (6.5). This additional coefficient can be used to determine whether the considered load type is inductive, capacitive or resistive.

$$Q_{1,pu} = a_q \cdot \left[ \tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_1)) \cdot (V_{pu})^{nq} \right]$$
(6.5)

Where:  $a_q = 1$  load type is inductive,  $a_q = 0$  load type is resistive and  $a_q = -1$  load type is capacitive.

# 6.2.2 Aggregation of analytical models

The developed generic analytical load models of each load type and sub-type considered in this thesis are aggregated in this chapter. Similarly to the aggregation of exponential and polynomial load representations, the percentage contribution of each load type/sub-type in the aggregate load (i.e. in the load mix) is required to form the aggregate load. However, in addition, information about instantaneous system voltage waveform and the system impedance is required (Note: In exponential and polynomial models, the system voltage is implicity assumed to be sinusoidal, as these loads models do not consider the effect of non-sinusoidal supply voltages on load characteristics). It has been shown, in previous chapters that system impedance will have little to no effect when varied between minimum, nominal and maximum expected typical values for load types that include active and passive PFC. Although, the value of system impedance will have more effect on load types that do not include PFC, these loads tend to operate at high displacement power factors, so effects on fundamental reactive power will again be small.

Therefore, the input parameters to each individual generic analytical model are the instantaneous system voltage, the system impedance and the percentage contribution of the particular load type/sub-type to total/aggregate load. Each model is then solved to find its associated instantaneous current waveform. These current waveforms then may be summed, to give the instantaneous current waveform of the non-linear aggregate load. Linear loads may be represented as a sinusoidal current waveforms, with phase shift and magnitude dependent on their power factors and percentage contributions to the aggregate load. Non-linear and linear aggregate current waveforms may then, finally, be summed, to give the instantaneous current waveform of the aggregate load. Figure 6.1 shows this aggregation procedure. A MatLab code was developed to implement the aggregation procedure, and this code can be found in Appendix D.1.



Figure 6.1: Flow diagram of aggregation procedure for generic analytical models and linear loads.

The instantaneous current waveform of the aggregate load are then processed, together with the instant system voltage waveform, to find all required power demand quantities and indicators, i.e. P,  $Q_1$ , PF, THD etc. The magnitude of the system voltage may be altered to find the P-V and N-V demand characteristics of the aggregate load. Polynomial and/or exponential expressions may then be fit to the resulting P-V and  $Q_1$ -V characteristics, to produce polynomial and exponential interpretations of the aggregate load that can be used directly in standard load flow analysis. However, all other information about aggregate load will be lost, i.e. harmonic content.

#### 6.2.3 Comparison of aggregate loads from developed models with measurements

Initial measurements were performed on a made-up aggregate load, which consisted of 30% SMPS' with no PFC, 10% CFLs and 60% resistive load. This aggregate load was constructed to roughly model an aggregate domestic load, where the resistive load represents linear loads such as motors and heating, the SMPS represents electronic loads, and, of course, the CFLs representing lighting load. This aggregate load was initially supplied with a sinusoidal voltage produced by a linear power supply, [90]. The magnitude of sinusoidal voltage was varied in range between 0.8 and 1.2pu of nominal, in steps of 0.1 pu voltage, with the aggregate load allowed to reach steady state between each change in voltage. The aggregate current waveform was recorded at each voltage, with Figure 6.2 showing this composite/aggregate current and applied voltage waveforms, the P-V and N-V characteristics of the aggregate load were also found and shown in Figure 6.3.

The individual polynomial and exponential models of the SMPS, CFL and resistive load developed in this thesis were aggregated (see Section 6.2) in the correct percentage contribution, so as to represent the measured aggregate load. Accordingly, the P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of aggregate load models are also shown in Figure 6.3. The characteristics of the aggregate load predicted by both polynomial and exponential models are essentially identical, and they are presented using a single line in Figure 6.3. This matching of polynomial and exponential aggregate models is to be expected, as from Sections 5.16 and 4.9 it can be seen that both CFL and SMPS can be equally well modelled with either polynomial or exponential models, due to the general linear shape of their P-V and Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics.

The generic analytical models of the SMPS with no PFC and CFL were also aggregated, using the load mix data of the measured aggregate load. An ideal sinusoidal system voltage waveform was applied to the models. Figure 6.2 shows the predicted current waveform and associated current harmonics of the aggregated analytical load, with Figure 6.3 showing the associated P-V and N-V characteristics.

Further to applying sinusoidal voltage to the measured aggregated load, the controllable ac

power source was also programmed to reproduce and apply the "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltages, as described in Section 2.12.2. Again, voltage sweeps were performed to obtain the P-V and N-V characteristics of this measured aggregate load when operating under non-sinusoidal conditions. The results of this analysis are shown in Figures 6.4 to 6.7, illustrating the current waveforms, current harmonics and power demand characteristics of the analytical aggregated model with applied distorted system voltage waveforms. The aggregate polynomial and exponential loads are as well shown in Figures 6.5 and 6.7, although these models cannot take system voltage distortion into account. Finally, the "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltage waveforms were also applied to the generic analytical models, which were then aggregated. The result of these analysis are as well shown in Figures 6.4 to 6.7.

#### 

#### 6.2.3.1 Sinusoidal voltage supply conditions

10 Time (ms)

(a) Current/voltage waveforms

-20

Figure 6.2: Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and modelled aggregate load under sinusoidal voltage supply conditions.

1.0

Harmonic number

(b) Current harmonics



Figure 6.3: Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of measured and modelled aggregate load under sinusoidal supply conditions.

#### 6.2.3.2 "Typically distorted" voltage supply conditions



Figure 6.4: Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and modelled aggregate load under "typically distorted" voltage supply conditions.



Figure 6.5: Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of measured and modelled aggregate load under "typically distorted" voltage supply conditions.





Figure 6.6: Comparison of current waveforms and associated harmonics of measured and modelled aggregate load under "heavily distorted" voltage supply conditions.



Figure 6.7: Comparison of active and non-active power demand characteristics of measured and modelled aggregate load under "heavily distorted" voltage supply conditions.

#### 6.2.4 Discussion of results

It can be seen from the results presented in Figure 6.2 that the analytical model (i.e. the aggregate load formed from individual analytical models) is able to very accurately predict the actual current waveform of the measured aggregate load. As all harmonics and power indicators are derived directly from the current waveform, the analytical model is able to predict these values accurately at 1.0 per-unit system voltage, as can be seen in Figure 6.3. For other values of system voltage, it can be seen from Figure 6.3 that the analytical model continues to predict active and non-active power characteristics of the measured aggregate load with no significant error. The polynomial and exponential models also show good matching of P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and  $PF_1$ -V to measured results for sinusoidal supply conditions. It should also be noted that the aggregate load is capacitive as both the CFL and SMPS with no PFC are capacitive loads.

When considering the characteristics of measured and modelled aggregate loads with applied

"typically distorted" system voltage, Figures 6.4 and 6.5, it can be seen again that the analytical model is able to predict the current waveform of the measured aggregate with a high degree of accuracy. There is also no significant error in the prediction of active and non-active power demand characteristics with the changes in system voltage magnitude between the analytical and measured aggregate loads. However, the polynomial and exponential models are able to accurately predict only the P-V characteristics of the measured results, but are unable to accurately predict  $Q_1$ -V and, accordingly, PF<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics. This is because the nominal displacement power factor of the measured aggregate load has altered from 0.999 under sinusoidal conditions to 0.997 under typically distorted system voltage. This very slight change in power factor has a large effect on the nominal value of  $Q_1$ , although PF<sub>1</sub> is very close to unity in both cases.

The results presented in Figures 6.6 and 6.7, for "heavily distorted" system voltage show once more that the aggregate load formed from individual analytical models is able to predict measured result even under these extreme conditions, with no significant error between measured and predicted current waveforms and active and non-active power demand characteristics. The nominal  $PF_1$  of the aggregate load has further decreased from 0.997 with "typically distorted" system voltage to 0.996. Again, this slight change has a large effect on nominal value of  $Q_1$ .

The results of the initial analysis with the proposed aggregate load formed from individual analytical models has shown that it is able to predict all relevant characteristics of the actual aggregate load for variations in system voltage magnitude and harmonic distortion. This is expected, as the aggregated analytical load is built from individual generic analytical models, which have been validated in preceding chapters of this thesis. The polynomial and exponential load models have been shown to be able to predict only active power demand characteristics of the aggregate load without significant error for all considered supply system harmonic and voltage variations. It has been shown, however, that changes in non-active power demand characteristics due to distortion of the supply system voltage can not be represented with polynmial/exponential models. The next sections will quantify the overall effect of this model deficiency when more realistic system bus load mixes are aggregated.

# 6.3 Present and expected future typical aggregate load mixes

In order to apply the load models developed in this thesis for the investigation of characteristics of present and future aggregate load, information about expected load mixes is required. It was decided that example load mixes, representing bulk supply point load consisting of domestic load with additional industrial sector load, should be estimated for that purpose. In this way, all the load types considered in this thesis may be applied to form the corresponding aggregate

models. Where available, statistics on present and expected future contributions of individual load type/sub-type to overall aggregate load have been used. However, where statistics have not been available, estimations have been made. It is further assumed that in the future there will be no further changes in relevant legislative documents e.g. than no new harmonic standards will be introduced.

Statistics published by BERR (Department for business enterprise and regulatory reform), [81], giving the electric power consumption of household appliances in the UK in 2008, are used as the starting point for developing the example load mixes. Figure 6.8 shows these statistics.



Figure 6.8: Energy consumption by household domestic appliance category in 2008, [81].

As can be seen from Figure 6.8, the presented statistics do not include resistive heating. From [114], it is estimated that of all UK households only 9% will have electric space and/or electric water heating. Therefore, in the developed load mixes electric heating is not considered as part of the domestic load mix, although, if required, this load type may be easily applied as an additional constant resistance load type.

In order to use statistics on categories of load in Figure 6.8 for this work, they should be matched with types and sub-types of loads developed in previous chapters. Additionally, the percentage contributions of each type and sub-type of load to each category should be found, by either using available statistics, or by estimating it where no statical data are available. The expected future changes in percentage contributions of each type/sub-type of load and overall contribution of considered category to the load mix was also investigated. If daily/weekly/seasonal load variations are of interest, then corresponding representative aggregate load mixes should be identified, and presented analysis should be repeated. Additionally, the purpose of the research presented in this thesis was not to identify daily/weekly/seasonal variations in aggregate loads, but to show how general analysis would

be done with the correct aggregate load mixes. Each load category defined in Figure 6.8 is now considered.

## 6.3.1 Consumer electronics and ICT load categories

The consumer electronics category consists of televisions, set-top boxes, external power supplies, etc., while the ICT load category consists of desktop PCs, laptop PCs, monitors, etc. From the work presented in Chapter 4, it was established that these electronic loads may be sub-divided into three distinct sub-types: SMPS without PFC, SMPS with passive PFC and SMPS with active PFC. The main source of statistical data used to define the contributions of each of these sub-types to the overall load was the Market Transformation Programme's (MTP) "WhatiF tool", [14]. Accordingly, unless otherwise stated, in the following sections presented statistics are derived using this tool.

# 6.3.1.1 ICT load

Currently, it is estimated that the majority of ICT load, around 63%, is made up of PCs. Of this load, 75% are desktop PCs and 25% are laptops. Computer monitors are estimated to use the second largest amount of power in the ICT category, accounting for some 26% of ICT load. This leaves the remaining 11% of ICT load made up of (e.g. cable modems, domestic routers etc.)

The ICT class of load is now sub-divided into expected SMPS sub-types. It is commonly known that modern desktop PCs will all have rated active power greater than 75W, and will therefore contain SMPS with either passive or active PFC. No specific statistics were available on the proportion of desktop PCs with active or passive PFC. From private discussions ([84]) and also considering that passive PFC is at present significantly cheaper than active PFC, it is assumed that currently the vast majority of SMPS found in desktop PCs (around 90%), will use passive PFC. This assumption is also further strengthened by the measurements of over 40 desktop PCs, performed during the course of the research, where it was found that only one desktop PC out of all measured had active PFC.

The majority of power supplies for laptop PCs are expected to have rated active power below 75W. However, there was no available statistics to specifically support this. The assumption is therefore made that 80% of laptop power supplies will have no form of PFC, and that 20% of laptops power supplies will use active power factor correction. The selection of active PFC in laptop over passive PFC is because of the physical size and weight of the passive PFC inductors, which would make this method of PFC unsuitable for portable laptop power supplies.

From [14], it is estimated that a typical LCD monitor consumes about 35W, while a typical CRT

monitor consumes about 50W. Accordingly, both of these loads will have SMPS with no PFC, as they will have rated powers below 75W. Finally, the remaining 11% of ICT loads, (routers, DSL modems, etc.) will as well be of active rated power less that 75W, and therefore contain SMPS with no PFC.

From the above discussion and statistics, the present day ICT load may be re-categorised by corresponding SMPS sub-type as follows: SMPS with no PFC 45%, SMPS with passive PFC 44% and SMPS with active PFC 11%.

#### 6.3.1.2 General/consumer power electronic load

Currently in the UK, televisions are estimated to make up around 72% of the power consumed in the domestic power electronics sector. These televisions are predominately either cathode ray tube (CRT), liquid crystal display (LCD) or plasma televisions. It is also common for households to have one larger television, referred to as a primary TV, and one or more smaller televisions, referred to as a secondary TVs. Primary TVs account for around 72% of the total power demand due to televisions, and will usually have rated active powers greater than 75W, while secondary TVs account for the remaining 28% and usually have rated active powers less than 75W. As before, there is no data available that gives the explicit information on the type of PFC used in the power supplies of televisions with rated power greater than 75W. Therefore, it is again assumed that 90% of these television will employ passive PFC, with the other 10% using active PFC.

The remaining loads in the power electronics category, (e.g. secondary TVs, video players, set-top boxes and external power supplies) are all expected to have rated active power less than 75W, and will therefore require no form of PFC. Therefore, from the presented discussion and statistics, the power electronic load category may now be re-categorised into expected sub-type of SMPS load as follows: SMPS with no PFC 48%, SMPS with passive PFC 46% and SMPS with active PFC 6%.

#### 6.3.1.3 Overall SMPS load

From the results previously presented in Figure 6.8, the ICT load category currently accounts for around 12% of total domestic power consumption, while the power electronics load category currently accounts for around 19% of domestic demand. These percentage contributions, along with the percentage contributions by sub-type of load for ICT and power electronic loads can be used to find the estimated present contribution of each sub-type of SMPS load to the total electronic load demand in the UK domestic sector, as shown in Table 6.1.

Type of SMPS	% contribution to electronic load			
Active PFC	9			
Passive PFC	45			
No PFC	46			

**Table 6.1:** Present overall electronic load mix by SMPS sub-type.

## 6.3.2 Future SMPS load mix

The predicted 2020 ICT and power electronic markets are now investigated, to obtain the corresponding expected SMPS sub-type load mix. Again, [14] is used as the main source for the presented analysis.

#### 6.3.2.1 ICT load

By 2020, PCs will still account for the largest proportion of energy consumed in the domestic ICT class, some 64%. It is expected that laptops will make up 75% of the PC load, with desktop PCs accounting for the remaining 25%. The power consumption of individual laptops are expected to rise, as they will become replacements for desktop PCs. Therefore, it is likely that a higher proportion of laptop power supplies (than currently), will be of rated active power greater than 75W. Monitors are expected to account for 27% of domestic ICT load in 2020, when it is expected that there will be no CRT monitors. It is also predicted that the average monitor will draw around 55W, and that any envisaged energy savings due to replacing CRT monitors with more efficient LCD monitors will be offset by the increase in monitor screen size, [115]. Finally, the remaining 9% of ICT load will again have rated active power below 75W, and further breakdown of this load is not considered.

As there is once again a lack of available data regarding the exact breakdown on laptop rated powers, it is assumed that 50% of the future laptop load will be of rated power greater than 75W, and that they will have active PFC. Desktop PCs may have either passive or active PFC, but from private correspondence, [84], it is likely that in the future active PFC will be more prevalent than today. This is for two main reasons: firstly, the cost of active PFC is constantly decreasing, and secondly, active PFC allows for more efficient SMPS to be designed. The percentage of SMPS with active PFC is expected to be closer to 50%, compared to the current figure of 10%.

Again, the presented statistics and discussions may be used to re-categorise expected contribution of ICT load in 2020 by SMPS sub-type as follows: SMPS with no PFC 32%, SMPS with passive PFC 32% and SMPS with no PFC 36%.

#### 6.3.2.2 Power electronic load

In 2020, televisions are expected to account for about 57% of the total energy consumption in the domestic power electronic load sector. CRT and plasma televisions are expected to be obsolete by 2020, with LCD television also reducing in number compared to current levels. It is expected that two new types of TVs will be common in the future, organic LED (OLED) televisions and field emission display (FED) televisions. Around 80% of the total power drawn by TVs in the predicted future load will be from TVs of rated active power of greater than 75W, i.e. primary televisions. The assumption is again made that of the televisions that require PFC, half will have active PFC, and half will have passive PFC. The remaining TV load made of TVs with rated active power under 75W and the other loads in this class, (set-top boxes, video players and external powers supplies) can be assumed to contain SMPS with no PFC. Again, from these discussions, the 2020 the power electronic load category in the UK domestic sector can be broken down as follows: SMPS with no PFC 23%, SMPS with passive PFC 23% and SMPS with active PFC 54%.

#### 6.3.2.3 Overall SMPS load

By 2020, it is expected that the overall power consumption of the ICT load category will increase by 15%, with the power electronic category expecting to show a 40% increase. Taking these expected increases into account and combining them with the statistics presented in this section leads to the expected 2020 overall SMPS sub-type load mix as given in Table 6.2. It can be seen that there is expected to be considerable increase in the number of SMPS with no PFC in the SMPS load mix, due to the expected increased numbers of laptop PCs and set-top boxes. The implications of this change are discusses further throughout this chapter.

		5 51
Type of SMPS	% contribution to electronic load	change in contribution since present
Active PFC	27	increased by three times
Passive PFC	27	approximately halved
No PFC	46	no changed

 Table 6.2: Predicted 2020 overall electronic load mix by SMPS sub-type.

#### 6.3.3 Cold and wet load categories

This load category includes refrigerators, freezers, room air-conditioners, washing machines, dishwashers etc. From Chapter 3, these types of loads are likely to be either single-phase directly connected or single-phase drive-controlled induction motors.

#### 6.3.3.1 Cold loads

From Section 3.1.1, cold appliances will all be of constant torque mechanical load type. It is also expected that the type of SPIM used in these applications will be the RSIR motor, as refrigeration compressors do not require high running torques. There were no statistics available that detail how much of the present cold appliances loads may be drive-controlled motors. As application of this technology to these appliances is relatively new, it is therefore estimated that in the present load mix there are no drive-controlled motors in the cold load category.

The present total power consumption of the cold appliance load is estimated as 15479 GWh/yr, and is expected to be essentially the same in 2020, at 15780 GWh/yr [14]. This is because although there is expected to be an increased number of these appliances in the future (due to increased numbers of households), the increase in energy consumption will be offset by expected improvements in device efficiency, [115]. There were again no specific statistics available with regards to the estimated contribution of single-phase drive-controlled motors to this load category. It is was, therefore, estimated that 20% of cold domestic load will consist of lower-power SASD load in 2020, with the remaining 80% still consisting of directly connected RSIR single-phase motors.

#### 6.3.3.2 Wet load

The present total power consumption of the wet appliance load is estimated at 14017 GWh/yr, which is similar to that of the cold appliance load. This total power consumption is made up from dishwashers (20%), tumble-dryers (29%), washer-dryers (18%) and washing machines (33%), where again data are taken from [14]. It is likely, due to relatively high running torque requirements, that tumble-dryers, washer-dryers and washing-machines will use RSCR single-phase induction motors. Dishwashers are expected to use RSIR single-phase motors. The above applications are all considered as quadratic torque mechanical load type. Again, there was no information with regards to present contribution of drive-controlled motors to this load mix and, accordingly, it is assumed that there are none at present.

In future, similarly and for the same reasons as discussed for cold load, the total power demand of wet load is expected to stay relatively constant, with a predicted value of 14930 GWh/yr. As there is once again a lack of data available for the expected contribution of drive-controlled motor load in the future, it is assumed that 20% of the wet loads will be made up of lower-power SASD load, with the remaining load consisting of 60% directly connected RSCR single-phase motors and 20% directly connected RSIR single-phase motors.

#### 6.3.3.3 Overall cold and wet load

A type of load that has not been considered so far in the discussion of single-phase motor load is air-conditioning load. This is because this type of load is not significant in the UK domestic load sector. However, in the commercial load sector there is a certain proportion of air-conditioning load and elsewhere in Europe this type of load can make up a large proportion of demand in the domestic sector. Therefore, it is important to represent this load type in the presented analysis. Accordingly, this load type is assumed to contribute 20% to the total power demand in the single-phase motor load category, (i.e. both wet and cold loads). For the purpose of this analysis, the percentage contribution of this load type is assumed to remain the same in 2020.

From the presented statistics, estimations and discussions for the cold and wet load categories, the contributions of SPIMs and SASDs to the present and future domestic demand may be estimated. This is summarised in Table 6.3. It should be noted that the estimated percentage contributions presented in Table 6.3 are not supported with any statistical data, simply because there is not any available.

Load type	Contribution to present load (%)	Contribution to future load (%)			
RSIR	50	35			
RSCR	30	25			
Lower-power SASD	0	20			
Higher-power SASD	20	20			

**Table 6.3:** Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled motor loads.

#### 6.3.4 Lighting load category

Presently, lighting in the UK domestic sector consists of incandescent lighting, halogen lighting and fluorescent lighting. Incandescent and halogen lighting can be classed as resistive load, and currently make up around 91% of the total energy demand in this sector. Fluorescent lighting make up the remaining 9% of lighting load. As discussed in Chapter 5, there are moves towards a wholesale substitution of incandescent lighting with more efficient fluorescent lighting. Thus, it is assumed that in 2020 all domestic lighting load will be made up from CFL lighting. If all incandescent light sources are replaced by CFL lighting, [14] predicts that the 2020 energy demand due to lighting will be approximately a third of the present value. This is because although CFL lighting is about five to six times more efficient than incandescent lighting it tends to be left on for longer and additionally there will also be increased numbers of households by 2020.

#### 6.3.5 Cooking load category

This load category is not considered in any detail, as it is assumed to be purely resistive for the purposes of this analysis. However, a proportion of this load will be made up of microwave ovens which are non-linear loads and are expected to have similar characteristics to other non-linear loads considered in this thesis. Statistics from [14] predict that there is not likely to be any significant change in energy demand in this sector by 2020.

#### 6.3.6 Overall expected load mixes

As discussed previously, an industrial load is also to be added to the domestic load mix. The present industrial load mix is taken as being made up of 80% directly connected lower-power three-phase motors, with half of these motors mechanically loaded with constant torque and the other half with quadratic torque mechanical torque load. The remaining 20% of the industrial load consists of 10% V/Hz closed-loop controlled ASDs operated in continuous mode, and 10% of V/Hz closed-loop controlled ASDs operated in discontinuous mode. The total power demand of the industrial load is selected to represent 20% of the present load mix. The predicted future industrial load mix uses the same types of motors and drives, but this time the percentage of drive-controlled motors in the industrial load mix is increased to 50%, to represent more intensive use of this load type.

From the statistics and estimations in this section, present and future example load mixes may be produced. These load mixes are expressed by load type and sub-type, as defined in this thesis. Figure 6.9 shows the present load mix, while Figure 6.10 show the predicted future (2020) load mix. It should be noted that the subject of this thesis was not accurate identification of present and future load mixes, although, significant efforts were made to review available statistics and provide realistic estimations. The aggregate load mixes used in this thesis, should be additionally validated by, e.g. measurements at corresponding system buses.

# 6.4 Active and non-active power characteristics of aggregate present and future load mixes

The present and future load mixes developed in the previous section are now used to construct aggregate loads. These aggregate loads are formed from proposed exponential, polynomial and generic analytical models of each load type/sub-type presented in this thesis. To provide comparison, the same aggregate loads are also formed using previously developed exponential models of individual load types, as presented previously in Table 1.1.

The relevant aggregation methods described in Section 6.2 are used to form each aggregate load. In order to investigate the effects of system voltage distortion on aggregate load







Figure 6.10: Estimated future (2020) load mix.

characteristics, generic analytical models were aggregated for applied "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages, (Section 2.12.2), as well as for ideally sinusoidal supply voltage. In all cases, the value of system impedance was taken as the nominal value used in this thesis (Section 1.8).

Table 6.4 shows the polynomial and exponential interpretations of present and future aggregate load formed from generic analytical models with applied sinusoidal system voltage. The polynomial and exponential interpretations of individual type/sub-type load were also aggregated using expressions (6.1) to (6.5) to form aggregate load models. It was found that these load models very closely matched the polynomial and exponential interpretations of present and future aggregate load formed from generic analytical models with applied sinusoidal system voltage. This is because the proposed polynomial and exponential models of the individual type/sub-type load are direct interpretations of corresponding generic analytical models, of relevant type/sub-type loads, with applied sinusoidal voltage and nominal system impedance. Therefore, the aggregate loads formed from individual analytical models (with applied sinusoidal voltage and nominal system impedance) and individual polynomial/exponential models will have the same P-V, Q<sub>1</sub>-V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics, although latter models will not contain any further information about the aggregate load. Accordingly, only polynomial and exponential coefficients of the aggregate load formed from analytical models are shown in Table 6.4. The polynomial and exponential model coefficients of the present and future aggregate loads formed using previously proposed (existing) individual models of each load type are also shown in Table 6.4.

$PF_1$	Exp. Model		Polynomial Model					
	np	nq	$Z_p$	$I_p$	$P_p$	$Z_q$	$I_q$	$P_q$
Present aggregate load from proposed models								
0.934	0.59	1.27	0.48	-0.38	0.89	0.54	-0.61	0.45
	Present aggregate load from existing models							
0.9	1.32	3.31	0.52	0.27	0.21	5.01	-6.77	2.76
Future aggregate load from proposed models								
0.97	0.31	1.42	0.43	-0.56	1.13	0.39	-0.42	0.29
Future aggregate load from existing models								
0.86	1.33	3.4	0.46	0.38	0.16	6.25	-8.84	3.59

**Table 6.4:** Exponential and polynomial model coefficients of present and future load mixes.

The characteristics of the aggregate load models of present and future load mixes are plotted in Figures 6.11 and 6.12. As before, the polynomial and exponential models have almost identical P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V power demand characteristics and are therefore shown as one plot in the figures. The standard constant power, current and impedance load models (Section 1.1) are also shown in Figures 6.11 and 6.12.



Figure 6.11: Comparison of results from proposed and existing load models for present load mix.



Figure 6.12: Comparison of results from proposed and existing load models for future (2020) load mix.

It can be seen from Table 6.4 and Figures 6.11 that the proposed load models predict that the present aggregate load will have a closer to constant active power characteristic than what is predicted by the aggregate load formed from existing load models, (i.e. np = 0.59 for proposed model compared to 1.32 for existing model). This difference can mainly be attributed to the representation of power electronic loads in previous load models, i.e. they are represented as having constant impedance (np = 2) P-V characteristics, compared to constant power (np = 0) P-V characteristics in the proposed models. There is also a disagreement in Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics between proposed and existing aggregate loads for the present load mix. Again, a major reason for this disagreement is the difference in the representation of Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of electronic loads represent them as inductive and operating with PF<sub>1</sub> = 0.8, while proposed load models represent electronic loads as either capacitive loads PF<sub>1</sub>  $\approx 0.99$ , inductive with PF<sub>1</sub>  $\approx 0.97$ , or resistive loads with PF = 1 (presence/absence of PFC).

Differences between proposed and existing models of single-phase and three-phase directly connected motors, as well as the addition of drive-controlled motors in the proposed aggregate load, will also influence the difference between P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of the present aggregate load formed from proposed and existing load models. The models of fluorescent lighting in the two aggregate loads will have very similar P-V characteristics. However, the model of existing fluorescent lighting represents LFLs with magnetic ballast, which are inductive loads (PF<sub>1</sub> = 0.9, 'lagging') while the the proposed fluorescent lighting model represents CFLs, which are capacitive loads (PF<sub>1</sub> = 0.9, 'leading').

In the future, the proposed aggregate model predicts that corresponding P-V characteristics will become even more close to constant power characteristics (than presently), np from 0.59 to 0.31. It also predicts that load displacement power factor will improve considerably, and that  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics will move closer to constant impedance than previously (nq from 1.27 to 1.42). These significant changes are due to the increased amount of non-linear loads expected in the future and associated decrease in linear loads (replaced with non-linear loads).

In the future, electronic load (which has constant P-V characteristics) is expected to represent a greater proportion in the total (considered) aggregate load mix than presently. Furthermore, in the future load mix, incandescent lights (constant impedance P-V characteristics) will be replaced by CFL lighting (constant current P-V characteristics), which will 'push' aggregate load characteristics further away from constant impedance. Therefore, the electronic and CFL load types will be mainly responsible for reduction in the np coefficient of the considered future load mix, i.e. making this aggregate load closer to constant power P-V characteristics.

The addition of drive-controlled single-phase motors and increased numbers of drive-controlled

three-phase motors will increase displacement power factor of the future aggregate load, as these loads will replace directly connected single-phase and three-phase motors, which operate at significantly lower displacement power factors. Additionally, and as discussed, CFL load is capacitive, operating at a relatively low displacement power factor, which will provide some compensation for reactive power demand of other, inductive loads, further improving the displacement power factor of the proposed future aggregate load (electronic and SASD loads with no PFC are also capacitive but they operate at high values of  $PF_1$ , in sinusoidal situations, and will therefore supply little reactive power).

The aggregate load model formed from existing models predicts little difference in P-V and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics between present and future load mixes. It also predicts that displacement power factor will reduce, contrary to results with proposed load models. This reduction is almost entirely due to the existing model of electronic loads, in which the displacement power factor of these loads is 0.8 ("lagging").

It can be seen from Figures 6.11 and 6.12 that distortion in the system voltage will have no significant effect on the P-V and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics of both present and future aggregate load mixes (for aggregate load formed from generic analytical models). Therefore, both the polynomial and exponential interpretations are able to accurately predict these characteristics.

Distortion of the system voltage, however, will affect the displacement power factor of both considered load mixes, showing an increase in displacement power factor with increased voltage distortion. For present load mix, displacement power factor increases from 0.929 for sinusoidal conditions, to 0.939 for heavily distorted conditions. For future aggregate load, displacement power factor increases from 0.97 to 0.983. This increase in PF1 is attributed to lower-power SASD, SMPS with no PFC and CFL loads, which will all show reduction in  $PF_1$  on system voltage distortion. As these load are capacitive, a reduction in their  $PF_1$ leads to an increased value of PF1 in the aggregate load, as it will compensate inductive load. Other considered types of non-linear loads show very little variation of PF1 with system voltage distortion. Accordingly, as  $PF_1$  is used to calculated nominal  $Q_1$  (i.e.  $Q_{1,nominal}$ =  $P_{nominal} \cdot \tan(\cos^{-1}(PF_1)))$ , distortion of the system voltage will decrease fundamental reactive power demand (although, as discussed above it will not alter the 'shape' of the Q1-V characteristic). For the present load mix, the difference in PF<sub>1</sub> between sinusoidal and "heavily distorted" system voltage represents a difference in nominal Q1 demand of about 8%, while in the future load mix it represents a difference of about 25%. Polynomial and exponential models cannot consider the effects of system voltage distortion, as they assume all system bus voltages to be ideally sinusoidal. Standard load flow analysis also assumes sinusoidal system voltage, and does not consider the alteration in fundamental reactive power flow with system voltage distortion. The following section investigates the effects of presented aggregate load on
a typical UK/Scotland distribution network.

Finally, the results for THD and  $PF_d$  characteristics in Figures 6.11 and 6.12 are directly related to the associated harmonics of the aggregate loads, and are discussed in more details in Section 6.6.

## 6.5 Standard load flow studies

The analysis in the previous section compared the P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of aggregate loads formed from proposed and existing load models. The analysis included both present and future domestic and industrial sector load mixes. This section investigates effects of considered different load models on a typical UK distribution network.

#### 6.5.1 Selected network

The distribution network selected, for the comparative analysis of different aggregate loads was taken from the United Kingdom Generic Distribution Systems (UKGDS) research project. UKGDS is a recent collaboration between the DTI (now BERR), Imperial College London, the University of Manchester and the University of Strathclyde. This project has developed typical generic models of the distribution systems in the UK, with the goal of providing a common research source for simulations and analysis. The project developed several example networks, with network component parameters obtained from the review of UK electrical utilities' long term statements. Further details of these network models can be found in [116].

One section/part of a larger radial UKGDS network ("EHV Network 2", [116]) was selected for the analysis in this section, Figure 6.13. The network was implemented in PSS/E software, [117]. In the selected UKGDS network model, all loads are represented as constant MVA loads with displacement power factors of 0.95 lagging. Although no documentation could be found that provides reasons for this selected load model, constant MVA load is often assumed to represent a 'worst case' load model, which may be the reason why this load model is selected in UKGDS.

#### 6.5.2 Performed analysis

A standard method of comparing the effects of different loads models on a power system network is to perform investigations of the system's load meeting capacity (LMC) with considered different load models. The value of system LMC is found by increasing the power of each load on the network simultaneously as a percentage of their base case values. As the power demand at each load bus is increased, the bus voltage will reduce, and when bus



Figure 6.13: Example of a typical UK distribution network.

voltage is less than 0.8pu, this is considered as an unacceptable operating condition and the corresponding load is taken as the system LMC value.

The proposed generic analytical models can not be directly implemented in PSS/E. Therefore, polynomial interpretations of the aggregate of these individual load models, for both present and future load mixes (as given Table 6.4), were applied to the PSSE network model instead. As has been discussed in the previous section distortion in the system voltage will cause the displacement power factor of the aggregate analytical load to reduce. There is no mechanism to model non-sinusoidal supply conditions in PSS/E so the effect of system voltage distortion on aggregate load characteristics is simply modelled by performing LMC analysis at two values of  $PF_1$ , one value for applied sinusoidal conditions and one value for "heavily distorted" supply conditions. This method is basic, however, it does give an insight into the likely effects of voltage distortion on the considered system. The aggregate load developed from existing individual load models was also applied to the PSS/E network model, (as given

Table 6.4). Finally, three general load models (constant power, current and impedance) were also considered, with  $PF_1$  of these loads taken to be 0.95. The characteristics of each aggregate load model were applied to every load bus, and LMC analysis was performed.

The results of this analysis (Figure 6.14) are shown for load bus 1122 from Figure 6.13. This bus was selected as it represent the end of a long radial feeder, where voltage problems are most likely to occur. It should be noted that for the analysis presented in this thesis it is not important which specific network bus is monitored. This is because this thesis presents a general comparative analysis of the effects of different loads models on network performance and all network load buses will exhibit the same general effects to a greater or lesser extent (depending on actual bus loading conditions and network impedance at the bus of interest).

#### 6.5.3 Discussion of results

The results of the analysis in Figure 6.14(a) show that the load meeting capacity (LMC) of the considered system is least when the load was assumed to be constant MVA, and greatest for constant impedance load, for both present and future load mixes. It can be seen that the proposed load model, for sinusoidal supply conditions, predicts that the system LMC will be less than the value predicted by existing aggregate load models. Further, these results also show that distortion of the system voltage will also have an effect on the system LMC.

From the results presented in Figure 6.14(b), it can be seen that the proposed aggregate load model predicts that system LMC will increase in the future, while existing load models predict that system LMC will reduce in the future. It can further be seen that the proposed aggregate load for distorted voltage supply conditions predicts a higher system LMC than aggregate load for sinusoidal supply conditions. This is due to the improved displacement power factor of the aggregate load for distorted supply conditions, compared with aggregate load for sinusoidal conditions (improved PF<sub>1</sub> influences that load draws less fundamental reactive power).

The results of the presented analysis show relatively large differences in network responses to different load models. The proposed aggregate load models predict that the future system may accommodate higher power flows than presently, while existing aggregate load models suggest the opposite. The results also highlight the differences between the characteristics of present and future proposed aggregate loads. It can be seen that the future load will become less inductive which will improve system load meeting capacity.

Although the presented analysis is simple, it still highlights the importance of accurate load representation as this will have significant effect on the performance of the considered network. The presented results also suggest that assumptions about sinusoidal supply conditions in standard load flow analysis, when aggregate load has a high proportion of non-linear loads, may



Figure 6.14: Comparison of the effects of different load models on system bus voltage and LMC, at load bus 1122.

lead to error. This is an important conclusion that should be considered further, but it is outside the scope of this thesis, and therefore is recommended for further work (see Section 7.2).

## 6.6 Harmonic characteristics of present and future load

As the proposed generic analytical models of each type and sub-type of load are able to predict their actual current waveforms, they also provide information on their harmonic content. Therefore, these load models allow for analysis/assessment of aggregate load harmonic content.

References [118–121] have discussed that the harmonics of an aggregate load are often considered as random variables, characterised by probability densities and deterministic functions. These probability densities and deterministic functions are affected by the types of non-linear load in the considered aggregate load. It has been shown in this thesis that specific load types, due to harmonic legislation, should be broken into several sub-types. These load sub-types have significantly different harmonic characteristics. Although references [79], [122] and [123] have considered the harmonic characteristics of the electronic load type, this work has only considered electronic loads with no PFC, as this research was performed over ten years ago (when IEC:61000 3-2 harmonic limits, [30], were not mandatory in the EU). More recent research, for example [124] (2007) and [125] (2008), has also not considered the effects of harmonic legislation on the harmonic characteristics of typical aggregate system load. Additionally, none of the above mentioned research has considered the new non-linear loads types expected to increase in the future, namely CFL lighting and single-phase drive-controlled induction motors.

This section aims to show the versatility of the developed load models by using them to investigate expected harmonic interactions between different load types and sub-types. It should be noted that the aim of this thesis was not to perform detailed stochastic or deterministic analysis with developed load models, although the presented analysis is making this possible.

As well as investigating the effects of harmonic interactions between new types and sub-types of loads, comparative analysis is also performed between present and future load mixes. This analysis investigates the likely effects on aggregate load harmonic characteristics of the expected changes in numbers, type and sub-type of non-linear loads in the future. Furthermore, in order to complete the analysis and fully demonstrate the versatility of the developed load models, the developed models are applied to a simple two bus system, and the associated distortion of system bus voltage is investigated.

## 6.6.1 Harmonic cancellation

When different types and sub-types of non-linear loads are connected to a point of common coupling, i.e. to system bus, the aggregate harmonic content of these loads is not a simple sum of the harmonic magnitudes of each load. This is because the current drawn by each type and sub-type of load will contain harmonics with different phase angles. Therefore, as harmonics are vector quantities, aggregate harmonics magnitudes will not be obtained as an algebraic sum of individual load type/sub-type harmonics magnitudes. This effect is known as harmonic cancellation. Cancellation between specific harmonics of each load type/sub-type is greatest when harmonic phase-angles are 180° relative to each other, and smallest when the harmonics are in phase with each other.

To a certain extent, harmonic cancellation will also occur in same type/sub-type load, although this effect is much lower than cancellation between different types and sub-types of loads. Developed load models in this thesis can be used for this analysis, which is also expected to be the subject of the further work, (see Section 7.2).

An indicator used to quantify harmonic cancellation is known as the diversity factor, [79]. The diversity factor is the ratio between the vector sum and the algebraic sum of the individual load type/sub-type current harmonics in the considered aggregate load, (6.6). Diversity factor of one indicates no harmonic cancellation, while diversity factor value of less than one indicate harmonic cancellation in the aggregate load. The effects of harmonic cancellation on the present and expected future domestic sector load mixes are investigated in the following sections.

$$DF_h = \left| \frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{N} I_h^i}{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{N} \left| I_h^i \right|} \right|$$
(6.6)

Where:  $I_h^i = |I_h^i| \angle \theta_h^i$  = harmonic current of order h injected by the  $i_{th}$  load,  $\theta$  is harmonic angle and N is the number of loads.

#### 6.6.1.1 Present aggregate load mix

The percentage contributions of each load type and sub-type corresponding to the "present load mix" were applied to the developed analytical aggregation code (see Section 6.2.2) to form this aggregate load. The system impedance was taken as the nominal (see Section 1.8). The individual load type, sub-type and aggregate current waveforms are shown in Figure 6.15. This figure illustrates how the aggregate current waveform is formed, further to the explanations in Section 6.2.2. The associated harmonic magnitudes and angles of corresponding load



types/sub-types and of the aggregate load are shown in Figures 6.16 and 6.17, respectively.

Figure 6.15: Current waveform of present aggregate load and corresponding waveforms of individual load types/sub-types, normalised to a base of the rms value of aggregate load current.



Figure 6.16: Present load mix harmonic magnitudes.



Figure 6.17: Present load mix harmonic angles.

The phenomenon of harmonic cancellation is clearly shown in Figure 6.16, where it can be observed that the harmonic content of the aggregate load is lower than the summation of the individual load harmonics. This figure also shows that the harmonic contribution of the CFL, SASD and ASD load types/sub-types are small compared to that of the electronic load type/sub-types. This is due to a low contribution to the total power of the considered load mix, Figure 6.9. The contribution of the CFL load type to the aggregate harmonic content is in fact so small, that it may effectively be neglected for all considered harmonics. The magnitude of the higher-power (HP) SASD' current harmonics beyond the  $3^{rd}$  harmonic will also become negligible. Both ASD load sub-types have no  $3^{rd}$  harmonic content of the SMPS with passive PFC decreases significantly as harmonic number is increased, and it is essentially zero beyond the  $13^{th}$  harmonic. Thus, the SMPS with no PFC will dominate the harmonic content influence on the lower order harmonics.

There is only a small difference between the phase angles of the  $3^{rd}$  harmonic of SMPS with passive PFC and SMPS with no PFC, and hence little cancellation is seen for this harmonic. Therefore, the majority of cancellation of this harmonic is attributed to CFL and higher-power SASD loads. However, for higher order harmonics, the difference in harmonic phase angle is greater between SMPS with passive PFC and SMPS with no PFC. Therefore, for harmonic orders greater than the  $3^{rd}$ , and in particular the  $5^{th}$  and  $7^{th}$  harmonics, the presence of SMPS' with passive and no PFC in the load mix will not significantly increase the harmonic content of the aggregate load, due to harmonic cancellation between these two load sub-types.

This is an interesting result, as it shows clearly the importance of dividing load types into corresponding sub-types. In this case, two sub-types of the general electronic load type are cancelling each other's harmonics. Furthermore, these result also show that the SMPS with no PFC is dominating the harmonic content of the present load mix, while other non-linear loads have relatively little effect.

## 6.6.1.2 Future aggregate load mix

The expected future (2020) load mix is now used to form the aggregate load in the same way in which the present load mix was formed in the previous section. Figures 6.18 and 6.19 show associated harmonic magnitudes and angles of all considered load types, sub-types and aggregate current waveforms.



Figure 6.18: Future load mix harmonic magnitudes.

![](_page_261_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 6.19: Future load mix harmonic angles.

It can be seen from the results presented in Figure 6.18 that in the future load mix the aggregate load current waveform is predicted to have a THD of 36%, compared to 25% of the present load. This is due to the increased contribution of non-linear loads to the total load mix and corresponding decrease of contributions of linear loads, (i.e. due to replacing of incandescent lighting with CFL lighting, and replacing of directly connected motors with drive-controlled motors). The results also show that there is once again a significant cancellation in the future load harmonics.

Figure 6.20 compares the  $3^{rd}$  to  $29^{th}$  harmonic magnitudes of the present and future aggregate load mixes, as well as associated diversity factors. The results show that the diversity factors of all considered future load harmonics are lower than those of the present day load mix load. This is because there is more diversity (i.e. higher numbers) of non-linear loads in the future. The expected contribution of the CFL increase from 1% of the total in the present load mix, to 6% in the future load mix; lower-powers SASD increases from 0% to 5.4%, for both types of ASDs from 2.5% to 5%, for SMPS with no PFC from 10% to 15%, and for SMPS with passive PFC it decreases from 12% to 9%. Accordingly, there is more harmonic cancellation between the non-linear loads, because, as can be seen from Figure 6.19, all of these loads will have different harmonic angles to each other. Again, it is seen that much of this cancellation will be due to SMPS' with no PFC and SMPS' with passive PFC. Although there is more harmonic cancellation in the aggregate future load mix, the harmonic content of this aggregate load is still significantly greater (50%) than that of the present day load mix. This is because of increased numbers of non-linear loads and decreased numbers of linear loads in the future load mix.

These results again show the importance of considering harmonics and corresponding diversity in modern power system loads, and validate the presented approach in introducing not only general types of loads, but also corresponding sub-types.

## 6.6.2 Harmonic attenuation

The effects of harmonic attenuation on the present and future aggregate load mixes are now briefly investigated. The ideal sinusoidal system voltage, which was applied to the considered load mixes in the previous section, is now replaced with the two distorted voltage waveforms: "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted", as defined in Section 2.12.2. The resulting harmonic content and associated diversity factors are shown in Figures 6.21 to 6.24.

![](_page_263_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 6.20: Comparison between magnitudes and diversity factors of harmonics for present and future aggregate load mix.

![](_page_263_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 6.21:** Comparison of harmonic contents of present aggregate load mix with applied sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

![](_page_264_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 6.22:** Comparison of diversity factors of present aggregate load mix with applied sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

![](_page_264_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Figure 6.23:** Comparison of harmonic contents of future aggregate load mix with applied sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

![](_page_265_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 6.24:** Comparison of diversity factors of future aggregate load mix with applied sinusoidal, "typically distorted" and "heavily distorted" system voltages.

The results presented in Figure 6.21 show that as the system voltage become more distorted, the THD of the aggregate load current waveform becomes less distorted. It can also be seen from Figure 6.21 that the  $7^{th}$  and  $9^{th}$  harmonics will be greater with applied distorted system voltage than in the case of ideal sinusoidal supply. The reason for this can be found from observing the diversity factors of the  $7^{th}$  and  $9^{th}$  harmonics as shown in Figure 6.22. The diversity factors of these harmonics are greater for distorted system voltage conditions than for sinusoidal ones. This is because distortion in system voltage will change both the magnitudes and phase angles of individual load type/sub-type harmonics. Accordingly, although the  $7^{th}$ and  $9^{th}$  harmonics of the individual loads types/sub-types will be lower in magnitude, there will be less cancellation between them, and hence their aggregate magnitude will be higher when compared to sinusoidal supply system conditions. Furthermore, it can be seen from Figure 6.22 that other harmonics will also have increased diversity factors for increased system voltage distortion, although the associated aggregate harmonic magnitude will not always be greater than the corresponding value for sinusoidal supply conditions. Therefore, a trade-off exists between amount of harmonic cancellation due to phase angle difference, and reduction in magnitude of the individual load type/sub-type harmonics.

The results presented in Figures 6.23 and 6.24 show similar effects of harmonic cancellation between individual load types/sub-types for three levels of system voltage distortion. It can be

seen from these results that the distortion of the future aggregate load mix aggregate current actually increases slightly with applied "typically distorted" system voltage, and decreases slightly for applied "heavily distorted" system voltage. This increase can be mainly attributed to the increase of 5<sup>th</sup>, 7<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> harmonics. It was seen previously that the lower-power SASD, SMPS with no PFC and the CFL experience an increase of their harmonic content with applied "typically distorted" system voltage, and reduction with applied "heavily distorted" system voltage. Other non-linear loads tend to reduce their harmonic content with both "typically" and "heavily" distorted system voltage, with the exception of the ASD whose harmonic content is unaffected. As CFL and lower-power SASDs are more prominent in the future load mix, this explains why aggregate load current THD will increase with "typically distorted" system voltage and reduce with "heavily distorted" voltage.

From the presented results, it has been shown that the harmonic content of the considered aggregate system loads will not necessarily decrease with an increase of system voltage distortion, as is stated in much previous work. This is because the harmonic content of the aggregate load will be determined by the exact characteristics of the system voltage waveform i.e. not only its general shape (see Section 3.12.2 for further explanation). Thus, the particular load mix will have effect not only on the harmonic content of the aggregate load, but also on its characteristics when system voltage becomes distorted. This complex relationship between the actual characteristics of the modelled aggregate load and power supply system to which it is connected justifies and validates the general approach to load modelling adopted in this thesis.

## 6.7 Effect of non-linear load on supply system

The effects due to harmonic cancellation and attenuation on the aggregate present and future loads have been investigated and discussed in the previous sections. It is now interesting to consider these two effects together, and assess impact and extent of system-load interactions on a typical distribution system bus.

A simple two-bus system is considered in this example. MatLab and PSpice where used in order to apply the generic analytical models to a simple two-bus network, as this type of analysis is not possible in PSS/E, where only sinusoidal supply analysis (with polynomial and exponential models) can be performed. The development of this system-load interactive model is discussed below.

## 6.7.1 Simplified two-bus system model

In order to perform this investigation, it is necessary that the voltage supplied to the individual generic analytical models (which form the aggregate load model) is influenced (i.e. distorted)

by the (harmonic content of the) aggregate load it is supplying. Distortion of system voltage due to non-linear load occurs because the harmonic currents drawn by these loads lead to harmonic voltage drops in the supply system. The magnitude of each harmonic voltage drop will depend on the magnitude of the associated current harmonic and system impedance at the considered harmonic frequency. For the purposes of this example, a simple two bus system is considered, as shown in Figure 6.25. The system is a single-phase 230V supply, representing the closest point of common-coupling to considered load bus, (i.e. single-phase installation of the secondary of a typical 11/0.4kV distribution network transformer). The load bus is connected to the external supply system via the impedance,  $L_{sys}$  and  $R_{sys}$ . The value of this impedance is taken as typical for UK domestic distribution network, (i.e.  $Z = 0.25 + j0.23\Omega$ ), and in this example it also includes impedance of the external system, (see Section 1.8). The presented generic analytical model of the ASD is already implemented as a single-phase representation (see section 2.11) so no further modification of this model is required in order to apply it to the considered network. All other presented generic analytical models are single-phase and so can also be applied directly to considered network.

![](_page_267_Figure_2.jpeg)

Generic analytical or equivalent circuit models

Figure 6.25: Simple two-bus network used for analysis of voltage distortion due to non-linear load.

The distortion of the system bus voltage due to applied non-linear loads is found by implementing the following iterative procedure in MatLab. Initially, the current harmonics of the considered aggregate load are obtained for applied sinusoidal voltage conditions. The obtained current harmonics are used in combination with the harmonic system impedance, to calculate the resulting harmonic voltage drops. The harmonic voltage drops are then subtracted from the system voltage, to produce a new, distorted load bus voltage. This new distorted

voltage is then applied to the aggregate load, and a new set of harmonic currents is obtained due to the effects of harmonic cancellation and attenuation. This process is repeated, until the THD values of the load bus voltage differs by less than 0.1% between the current and previous calculation. A flow diagram of this procedure is shown in Figure 6.26.

![](_page_268_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 6.26: Flow chart of applied procedure for the analysis of system voltage distortion due to non-linear loads.

The discussed two-bus network may also be implemented directly in PSpice using the developed equivalent circuit models instead of the generic analytical models. When implementing the equivalent circuit models, some three-phase loads must also be connected to the load bus to represent the effect of industrial load in the considered load mixes. Connection of these loads to the proposed simple single-phase network is achieved by assuming that the

system is ideally balanced. Therefore, the load bus voltage waveform may be duplicated and phase shifted to represent the other phase voltages. By only considering the current in one phase of the three-phase supply, these loads can be effectively contributed to the single-phase aggregate current waveform. This process is not necessary in the case of generic analytical models of three-phase loads, as this is performed within the model, as described in Section 2.11.

#### 6.7.2 Load bus voltage waveforms

The aggregate loads associated with the present and future load mixes were applied to the developed network models, both in MatLab and PSpice, in order to investigate their effects on load bus voltage distortion. The aggregate loads were both set to draw a nominal single-phase power of 5kVA. It should be noted that in a similar way, as discussed for the PSS/E network model, the exact value of system impedance and system loading are not important as the presented analysis is a comparative analysis designed to show the effects of change in future load characteristics on the supply system voltage and also to further verify developed models. Different values of system impedance and different loading on the system will merely exaggerate or reduce observed effects but it is the difference between present and future load mixes that are of primary interest.

Two scenarios were performed for each load mix. In the first scenario, the external system voltage is taken to be ideally sinusoidal, to represent an ideal external supply system. In the second scenario, the external system voltage is assumed to be "heavily distorted" (as introduced in Section 2.12.2), representing a system with high voltage THD. Problems were accounted with the MatLab code which failed to converge to a final solution especially for "heavily distorted" supply conditions. There was insufficient time available to resolve these problems and, therefore, the results of the analysis shown in Figures 6.27 and 6.28 are from PSpice model with applied equivalent circuit generic load models, which have the exact same characteristics as their analytical counterparts.

The results presented in Figure 6.27 show that the aggregate current of the present and future load mixes will lead to the familiar 'flat topping' of the load bus voltage. This provides further validation of developed load models, as the obtained simulated system load bus voltage waveforms are very similar to actual measured load bus waveforms (see Section 2.12.2). The load bus voltage THD is predicted to be 3.01% in 2020 compared to 2.21% currently, which is an increase of more than 35%. This is due to the increased harmonic content of the future load mix compared to the present load mix, as discussed in the previous sections.

The results presented in Figure 6.28, related to already distorted supply system voltage, predict that both the present and future load mixes will have similar, but less pronounced

![](_page_270_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 6.27: Comparison of effects of present and future aggregate load mixes on typical domestic supply voltage (initial supply voltage ideally sinusoidal).

![](_page_270_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 6.28: Comparison of effects of present and future aggregate load mixes on typical domestic supply voltage (initial supply voltage already "heavily distorted").

effects on the load bus voltage. The difference between the load bus voltage THDs is now only around 4%. This is because the external system voltage is already heavily distorted, and therefore the effects of harmonic content of the aggregate loads, due to the harmonic attenuation, are reduced compared to sinusoidal supply situations. This gives a good example of the interactions between the supply system and non-linear loads, and highlights further the importance of considering those interactions when performing harmonic analysis. It should be noted, however, that a starting system voltage THD of 8% is an extreme example.

The presented results demonstrate the ability of the proposed load models for a comprehensive and detailed analysis of the future (2020) typical distribution system voltages in urban areas.

## 6.8 Conclusions

This chapter has used the developed load models of individual types and sub-types of loads to form aggregate load models. In order to ensure that aggregate load models are representative of actual load in the system, a detailed review of available statistics has been performed. Accordingly, typical present and future load mixes for dominantly domestic load sector with a small amount of industrial sector load is established.

Methods of aggregation of the proposed and existing load models have been described in detail. Furthermore, the method of aggregation of the proposed generic analytical models has been verified by comparison of the results for aggregate load formed from these models with measured results for corresponding mixed load type aggregate. Aggregate loads were then formed using both proposed and existing individual load models for present and future load mixes. It was shown that aggregate loads formed from proposed load models have significantly different P-V,  $Q_1$ -V and PF<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics from those formed from existing individual load models. The aggregate loads formed from proposed load models predict that the P-V characteristics of considered load sectors will become less sensitive to changes in system voltage in the future, while  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics will become more sensitive. The presented results also predict that the displacement power factor of considered aggregate load will improve due to the expected increased number of non-linear loads which operate at higher PF<sub>1</sub> and will replace linear loads. The presented analysis also showed that system voltage distortion will affect the displacement power factor of the aggregate load.

A model of a typical UK radial distribution system was used to investigate the effects of the different considered aggregate loads on performance of this network. This analysis further highlighted the differences between aggregate loads built from proposed and existing individual models. It was shown that the proposed aggregate load models predicted that in the future the considered system may allow for higher transmission of active power than currently, while

existing aggregate load models suggested the opposite would be true. The results of the analysis also indicated that distortion of the system voltage may have a fairly significant effect on load flow analysis, as distortion of the system voltage will cause reduction of fundamental reactive power demand of the considered aggregate load.

In order to further illustrate the strength and versatility of the developed models, they have been used to investigate the harmonic characteristics of the present and future load mixes. The presented analysis has highlighted some effects that different load types and sub-types may have on aggregate load harmonic content. In particular, it was shown that harmonic cancellation between different load sub-types, which have been caused by the introduction of harmonic legislation, is significant. These interactions have not been considered explicitly in previous work, where, for example, electronic loads have been taken as a single type of load and not further divided in sub-type loads. The presented analysis has also investigated the expected harmonic content of the future load mix, comparing it to harmonic content of the present load mix. It has been shown that in the future, aggregate load current is likely to be significantly more distorted than presently. This is due to two reasons: 1) the increased number and percentage contribution of non-linear loads, and 2) decreased numbers of linear loads, which will be substituted with non-linear loads. This increase in aggregate load current waveform THD, however, is less than what might be expected, as there is also increased harmonic cancellation in the future load mix. The increase in harmonic cancellation is due to the introduction of new and higher percentage contributions of non-linear loads.

Besides the investigation of harmonic cancellation, this chapter presented an investigation of harmonic attenuation. It was shown that in the present load mix, as supply system voltage becomes more distorted, the aggregate load current THD will reduce, which has also been reported in the previous literature and is an expected result. However, it is shown that for the future load mix distortion of the system voltage will have smaller effects on the harmonic content of the aggregate load. Furthermore, the presented results show that in "typically distorted" supply conditions the THD of the future aggregate load current waveform will actually increase by a small amount. This interesting effect was attributed to the increased contributions of lower-power SASDs, SMPS with no PFC and CFLs in the future aggregate load, and is a good subject for further research.

Finally, a simple two-bus system was developed in order to allow detailed analysis of load bus voltage distortion by applied non-linear loads. It was seen from these results that the present aggregate load mix distorted the load bus voltage in a very similar way to what was observed in measurements of actual system load buses. This important result provides further validation of the load models developed in this thesis. From this analysis, it was also found that the THD of the considered typical load bus voltage is expected to increase by approximately 35% in 2020 from the present value, for assumed ideally sinusoidal external system voltage. The similar

increase in voltage THD is much lower if the external system voltage is already distorted, due to e.g.propogation of harmonics from non-linear loads connected to adjacent feeders or parts of the network.

This chapter has demonstrated the flexibility of the developed load models, using examples to show how they may be used in multiple areas of power system analysis. It is further demonstrated that the proposed load models are not restricted to standard load flow analysis, as was the case in many previously developed load models. Furthermore, the presented analysis may be repeated with aggregate loads formed from desired or required load mixes, e.g. to represent daily, weekly or seasonal load variations, or to investigate different loads sectors, or to investigate the effects of single load types etc. Through the demonstration of the versatility of the developed model some other interesting results have also been produced. The most important (or most interesting) results indicate that harmonic and load flow analysis should not (necessarily) be considered as independent areas of research. A clear indicator of this is that aggregate load displacement power factor will be affected by system voltage distortion. Therefore, this chapter has clearly demonstrated the superiority of the proposed load models over the existing ones, and also identified important areas for further research.

## Chapter 7 Conclusions and future work

## 7.1 Conclusions

Over the last few decades there have been significant changes to the way electrical energy is generated, supplied and consumed. This is due to a number of environmental, economical and social factors. In order to meet UK targets on the reduction of carbon emissions, there has been considerable investment in developing renewable forms of generation. Incorporation of this new type of generation into the existing power supply network has led to a number of challenges, and a need for a fundamental re-thinking of how best to operate power supply systems. This has resulted in increasing interest in (lower voltage) distribution networks, where distributed generation is often connected. In order to know how best to operate these networks and find best/optimal location for connecting these new forms of generation, it is important to develop representative and accurate models of distribution networks. This, however, also requires development of representative and accurate models of the load connected to the network.

The challenges presented by the need for the incorporation of a higher level of distributed generation are not the only reasons to invest time and effort into load modelling research. In the last few decades, the types and amounts of load connected to the supply system have also changed considerably, and are expected to change even more in the future. The last full review of component-based load models was carried out over twenty years ago. Accordingly, there is currently a lack of good/any models for many modern load types, that did not exist, or were not commonly used at the time of this last review. Additionally, the characteristics of the main load types considered over twenty years ago that are still in use today have changed over the years. This defines the overall aim of this thesis: To update existing component-based load models are non-linear, developed load models should also be able to represent their typical non-linear characteristics.

## 7.1.1 Power electronic loads

The domestic sector has shown one of the largest changes in load inventory in recent years. The availability and affordability of (power) electronic devices has led to a large increase of this type of load in private homes. This load type now represents a large proportion of the total energy consumed in the UK domestic sector (about 25%), with expected further increase by 2020 (to about 33%). Therefore, the characteristics of power electronic loads will have a significant effect on the overall/aggregate characteristics of the domestic load sector.

It has been shown in Chapter 4 that electronic load type will contain dc power supplies (also referred to as switch-mode power supplies ,SMPS, in this thesis), which may be further divided into three following load sub-types: 1) SMPS with no power factor correction (PFC); 2) SMPS with passive PFC, and 3) SMPS with active PFC. It has also been shown that the active power demand (P-V) characteristics of all these load sub-types are essentially constant with changes in system voltage, while their non-active power demand (N-V) characteristics will differ between each load sub-type. Several models of the electronic load type have been developed previously, but none of these has recognised that there are three distinctive sub-types of general dc power supply load. Furthermore, there was a disagreement between previously presented models. Reference [15] suggests that this load type has constant impedance P-V characteristics, [22] suggests that this load has close-to (but not) constant P-V characteristics, and [3] suggests that these loads have constant P-V characteristics. The work presented in this thesis clarifies these ambiguities, and shows that modern electronic loads will all have constant P-V power demand characteristics.

It has also been shown in Chapter 4 that present EU harmonic legislation ([30]) had a significant effect on the (N-V) and typical harmonic characteristics of modern dc power supply loads. This is because these loads, if rated above 75W, are required to have either passive of active PFC, in order to comply with EU harmonic legislation. There are at present no harmonic requirements for dc power supply loads with rated active power less than 75W. Therefore, these loads usually do not have any form of power factor correction.

The presented work has shown that the displacement power factor of dc power supply loads with rated power lower than 75W is typically close to unity ( $\approx 0.99$ ) and "leading" (i.e. capacitive) for applied sinusoidal system voltage. However, on distortion of supply system voltage, these loads will become more capacitive with displacement power factor reducing to around 0.95 for heavily distorted conditions. These sub-types of load will also draw distorted current from the supply system, with THDs of around 210%, which will also vary with distortion in supply system voltage. On the other hand, dc power supply loads that have rated active power greater than 75W and use passive PFC will have displacement power factors ( $\approx 0.97$ ) which shows little variation for applied sinusoidal or distorted supply conditions. They will be inductive ("lagging" PF<sub>1</sub>) and will draw considerably less distorted current from the supply system voltage. Finally, dc power supply load containing active PFC circuits will operate with unity displacement power factor. The shape of their current waveform will match the shape of the supply system voltage,

i.e. it will be sinusoidal and in phase with voltage. In existing literature, load models of dc power supply loads are again in disagreement with regards to the representation of their displacement power factors. Reference [15] recommends that the power factor of these loads should be taken as 0.8, while reference [22] recommends that dc power supply loads are operated at unity power factor. Reference [3] does not make any recommendations. These references also do not make any comment on the value of displacement power factor under distorted system voltage conditions.

The fundamental reactive power demand  $(Q_1-V)$  characteristics of dc power supply loads with no PFC also differ from those of dc power supply loads with passive and active PFC. The Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of dc power supply loads with active PFC are not relevant, as their displacement power factor is unity. The Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics of dc power supply loads with no PFC indicate that Q<sub>1</sub> demand will increase with an increase in system voltage. In electronic loads with passive PFC, Q<sub>1</sub> demand will decrease with increased system voltage. Once again, the Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics identified previously are different. Reference [15] suggests that these characteristics change very significantly with change in system voltage. The other existing models either state displacement power factor is unity or do not discuss Q<sub>1</sub>-V characteristics at all.

It can be concluded that Chapter 4 showed that modern dc power supply loads have considerably different active and non-active power demand characteristics to previously identified load models. These previous models are now outdated, and should not be used to represent modern electronic load type in system load models. It is also shown that the distortion in the system voltage will affect fundamental reactive power characteristics of dc power supply under 75W, which has not been considered in the previous work. It is also interesting to note that harmonic legislation had not only a significant influence on the harmonic characteristics of these loads, but also on their displacement power factor and  $Q_1$ -V power demand characteristics.

#### 7.1.2 Single-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

Appliances that include single-phase induction motors are also common, making up a significant proportion of the total energy consumed in the UK domestic sector (around 26%) in 2008. These loads are usually classed as either "cold" or "wet" appliances, and include fridges, freezers, washing machines, etc. Until recently, directly connected single-phase motors (SPIM) have been commonly used in these applications. However, it is expected that in the future many of these motors will be replaced by single-phase drive-controlled induction motors (SASD), mainly due to the increased control and energy efficiency requirements. Chapter 3 investigated the characteristics of both directly connected and drive-controlled single-phase induction motors. The analysis showed that P-V characteristics of SPIMs are

to a great extend dependent on the type of SPIM and type of mechanical load the SPIM is driving (i.e. in what application SPIM is used). It was further shown that the reactive power demand (Q-V) characteristics of these linear loads are essentially independent of the type of motor mechanical loading. Previously presented load models of SPIMs are generally in good agreement with load models proposed in Chapter 3. This is to be expected, as the design of SPIM has not changed significantly in the last twenty years and, as they are linear loads, they have not been affected by harmonic legislation. The analysis of SASDs, however, showed that the P-V characteristics of these loads will be dependent on the type of drive control employed. If the simplest and cheapest form of drive control (V/Hz open-loop) is used, then P-V characteristics will depend on the type of mechanical load the motor is driving. If motor speed is regulated either by closed-loop V/Hz or advanced drive control techniques (e.g. vector control), then the P-V characteristics of these loads will be independent of the type of mechanical load the motor is driving.

The SASDs are non-linear loads, and will draw harmonic currents from the supply system. They will be, therefore, subjected to harmonic legislation. From the analysis presented in Chapter 3, it was shown that SASD with rated active power less than approximately 400W can comply with the present harmonic legislation without the need for any form of power factor correction. However, SASD with rated active power greater than 400W will need either passive or active PFC. Thus, there will be three following distinctive sub-types of SASD load: 1) those with no PFC, 2) those with passive PFC, and, 3) those with active PFC.

It was shown that the SASD with no PFC typically operates at high displacement power factors ( $\approx 0.99$ , for sinusoidal supply system voltage conditions), which reduces significantly to ( $\approx 0.93$ ) for heavily distorted supply voltage. The SASD with no PFC is a capacitive load, drawing heavily distorted current from the supply system, with THD of around 190% for sinusoidal supply conditions (current THD will vary with distortion in supply system voltage). The SASD with passive PFC will typically operate at a much lower power factor ( $\approx 0.89$ ), for both sinusoidal and distorted supply system voltage conditions. The SASD with passive PFC is an inductive load, and draws current with around 60% THD, which reduces with increased distortion in supply system voltage. The SASD with active PFC will operate in the same way as dc power supply loads with active PFC, i.e. with close to unity true power factor.

The  $Q_1$ -V characteristics of SASD with no PFC and with passive PFC will differ in characteristics, but, in a similar way to their P-V characteristics, this will depend on the type of drive control. For open-loop drive control, the  $Q_1$ -V characteristics will also depend on the type of motor mechanical loading. There are no previous load models of single-phase drive-controlled motors in existing literature, as these are relatively new devices. They are also expected to become more common over the next few years. From the analysis presented in Chapter 3, it is expected that these loads will have a significant effect on the characteristics

of the domestic load sector. Firstly, if SPIMs used in cold appliances, such as refrigerators and freezers, were replaced with SASDs with no PFC, there would be a considerable change in reactive power demand characteristics. This is because SASDs with no PFC operate at displacement power factors from 0.99 - 0.94 (depending on distortion in local system voltage), while SPIMs operate with much lower power factors (typically around 0.6-0.8). The effect of SASDs on P-V characteristics of typical domestic sector load will depend on the type of drive control employed in the SASDs.

#### 7.1.3 Lighting loads

The last major load category in the domestic load sector which will exhibit major changes is lighting load. Historically, lighting load in the domestic sector has consisted mainly of incandescent lighting, which is a linear load. However, due to increasing concerns about energy consumption, this type of lighting is being phased out and replaced with compact fluorescent lighting (CFL). The CFLs are non-linear loads, and have different P-V characteristics to incandescent lighting. Chapter 5 has provided a review of this type of lighting load, discussing how modern compact fluorescent lighting will use electronic ballast to control the operation of the fluorescent tube. It was shown that CFL loads will have essentially constant current P-V characteristics. They are capacitive loads and typically operate with displacement power factors of 0.9 for sinusoidal supply voltage conditions, which reduces to around 0.82 for heavily distorted supply voltage. Being non-linear loads, they will draw distorted current from the supply system (THD  $\approx 110\%$  for sinusoidal supply conditions). As with other non-linear loads, current THD of CFLs will vary with supply system voltage distortion. These loads operate with such a low displacement power factors due to harmonic legislation, as in order to meet the legislation, small capacitors are used in CFLs ballasts. This has the effect of reducing the THD of the current drawn by the CFL, but also reduces its operating displacement power factor. There are several existing models of these loads, all of which correctly predict the P-V characteristics. Although these previous models were developed to represent linear fluorescent lighting (LFL), the characteristics of the fluorescent tube in both linear and compact fluorescent light sources are very similar, i.e. they operate as constant current loads. In existing models, however, there is a disagreement over the representation of the  $Q_1$ -V characteristics, for which a wide range of characteristics is suggested. This is also true for the displacement power factors of these loads. A few previous models simply do not suggest a value for this parameter. The work presented in Chapter 5 has clearly defined the characteristics of modern CFL lighting typically found in the domestic sector. As in the case of other considered loads (SASD and SMPS), CFL are also non-linear loads, and will therefore further increase the harmonics emissions in the supply system.

## 7.1.4 Three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors

Significant changes to load characteristics in the past few decades have not only occurred in the domestic sector. There has been a significant shift towards the use of drive-controlled three-phase motors in various applications in the industrial sector, where previously only directly connected three-phase motors were used. Three-phase drive-controlled motors are non-linear loads and have very different characteristics to directly connected motors. Chapter 2 has presented an analysis of the steady state active/non-active power demand characteristics of three-phase directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. It has been shown that there is a clear distinction between active power demand characteristics of lower-power ( $\leq 15$ kW) and higher-power (15kW-160kW) directly connected motors. This is because P-V characteristics of lower-power motors are strongly influenced by the type of motor mechanical loading, i.e. by the application in which the motor is used. The Q-V characteristics of both higher-power and lower-power motors were shown to be similar and independent of the type of motor mechanical load. Proposed exponential and polynomial models of lower and higher-power directly connected motors have been compared with the existing models, where available, and have been found to be generally in good agreement.

From the presented analysis, it was also shown that currently common V/Hz controlled open-loop ASDs will have similar P-V characteristics to corresponding lower-power or higher-power directly connected three-phase motors. However, ASDs that employ V/Hz closed-loop control, or have advanced control, will have P-V characteristics that are independent on motor mechanical loading condition. The N-V characteristics of ASDs have been shown to be influenced by the type of mechanical loading, the values of dc link components and, to a lesser extent, system impedance. Based on the values of dc link components, ASDs will operate in either continuous or discontinuous mode. Each mode of operation results in significantly different N-V and harmonic characteristics. Therefore, in addition to being divided/classified by rated power, ASD load type should also be divided into continuous and discontinuous current mode load sub-types. The ASDs operated in continuous mode will have typical displacement power factors of 0.99, which are unaffected by system voltage distortion. They act as inductive loads and will draw current from the supply system with THD of approximately 40%, which is again unaffected by distortion of supply system voltage. The ASDs operated in discontinuous mode will typically have power factors of 0.98. They will also operate as inductive loads and draw current with THD approximately 90% from the supply system. Again both  $PF_1$  and THD of this load sub-type will be unaffected by the presence of distortions in the system voltage.

In this thesis, it was also concluded that the design of ASD load will not be directly influenced by harmonic legislation, which is in contrast to the other non-linear loads considered in this work. There are only two existing models of ASD, both related to lower-power ASD, presented in [22]. These previously presented models are in disagreement with the proposed models, and there is a significant doubt about their accuracy.

The work in Chapter 2 has presented new load models for ASDs and confirmed that existing load models of directly connected three-phase motors are generally still valid. However, care should be taken when considering lower-power directly connected motor loads, as the type of applications where the motors are used will have a significant effect on the P-V characteristics of this load type. It is also of importance to note that ASDs operated in both continuous and discontinuous modes have close to unity displacement power factors, and will therefore not contribute significantly to reactive power flow in the supply system. If these drives are used to replace directly connected three-phase motors with typical power factors of, 0.8-0.9, there will be a large reduction in the demand for reactive power flow in the supply system. The other main issue in relation to increased amount of ASD loads is increase of harmonics in the supply system, which will have adverse effects on system voltage quality.

### 7.1.5 Generic load models and aggregation of individual load models

In each "load" chapter, generic equivalent circuit models and analytical models of considered load types and sub-types were proposed, including their typical P-V, N-V and harmonic characteristics. These generic load models may be used to form aggregate loads for further investigation of P-V, N-V characteristics at bulk supply points. They may also be used for the investigation of harmonic interactions between the system and different load types and sub-types.

The proposed generic analytical models of individual loads are aggregated in Chapter 6, to form present and (expected) future aggregate loads. Considerable effort was invested in establishing these present and future load mixes, which in the considered example consist of 80% domestic sector load and 20% industrial load. The proposed aggregate loads show that in the future the P-V characteristics of typical domestic and industrial load are likely to become closer to constant power load type, with Q-V characteristic becoming closer to constant current load type. Also, load displacement power factor of aggregate load is likely to improve significantly in the future. The previously presented load models, (Table 1.1, [9], [15], [17] and [18]) were also aggregated for considered present and future load mixes. These models, in contrast to the proposed models, suggest that in the future there will be little change to aggregate load P-V and Q -V characteristics. They also wrongly predict that displacement power factor will decrease.

In order to better compare the proposed aggregate load models with the existing load models, they were applied to a typical UK distribution network. Constant MVA, constant current and constant impedance load models were also considered. Constant MVA load models are most commonly used as a "worst-case" load model, where constant current load, according to [26],

is often considered as a more realistic representation of aggregate system load.

The results of the analysis showed that the load meeting capacity (LMC) of the considered example network was lowest when the load was assumed to be constant MVA, and greatest for assumed constant impedance load, for both present and future load mixes, as would be expected. The results also showed that for the present load mix the proposed aggregate load models predict a lower LMC than the aggregate load model formed from existing load components. Conversely, in the future, the proposed aggregate load models predicts higher network LMC than the aggregate load model formed from existing load components. It was also shown that reduction in displacement power factor due to distortion in the supply system voltage is likely to increase the actual network LMC. The results also showed that even though the proposed future load is predicted to have more of a constant P-V characteristic, than presently, it will demand far less reactive power and therefore the LMC of the considered network will actually increase.

The main focus of this thesis was not network analysis and therefore the presented analysis is simple (due to time restraints). Nevertheless the presented analysis was used to highlight the significant shift in aggregate load characteristics since the 1980s. It further shows that significant error in prediction of network LMC is likely to occur, if older load models are assumed, which could have serious implications on network planning, design and operation. The shift in characteristics of load models is also expected to have significant influence on other factors such as optimal location, size and financial feasibility of distributed generation (DG). Finally, the effect of system voltage distortion on reactive power demand of the aggregate load may also significantly affect network analysis and DG placement, and both of these areas are suggested for further research.

## 7.1.6 Harmonic content of aggregate load

The harmonic characteristics of present and future load mixes were investigated using proposed generic load models. It was found that diversity in non-linear loads will have a major influence on the harmonic characteristics of both present and future load mixes. This is a significant finding, as much diversity in non-linear loads is due to harmonic legislation introduced in 2001. This diversity has not been considered in the previous work. The most interesting harmonic cancellation can be observed between electronic loads with passive PFC and electronic loads with no PFC. It is expected that electronic loads with no PFC will dominate in the harmonic contents of the present and future loads, as the input current THD of these loads is high compared to all other non-linear loads. However, the harmonic content of lower-power SASD load is also very high, and as these loads are expected to replace some very common loads, such as refrigerators, they are expected to have a significant influence on supply system harmonic

content in the future. In the presented example, a fairly conservative value of 25% of predicted SPIM load to be replaced with lower-power SASD in the future load mix was selected, but even this small figure had significant effect on harmonic content of aggregate load. It is interesting to note that dc power supply loads (over 75W) must meet stringent Class D harmonic limits, where as, SASDs must meet less stringent Class A limits irrespective of rated power. This may be an oversight in current harmonic legislation, which does not recognise the potential impact of a large increase of this load type on system performance/voltage quality.

The estimated present and future aggregate load mixes were applied to a representation of a "typical" domestic system bus, and the influence of these loads on supply voltage distortion investigated. It was shown that in the future the typical bus voltage is expected to be more distorted than in the present. As discussed previously, this has implications on reactive power demand, as well as implications on future harmonic legislation, which is likely to be adjusted to reduce voltage THD at the load bus. Harmonic legislation relevant to all load models developed in this thesis should be monitored in the future, as any changes are likely to affect active power and non-active power demand characteristics, as well as harmonic characteristics, of modern power system non-linear loads. Investigations into the likely effects of future changes in harmonic legislation are, therefore, an important area of further/ongoing research.

## 7.1.7 More general discussions

This thesis has taken a different approach to load modelling than (any) other previous work in this area. The main difference in the selected approach is that it does not make the assumption that the harmonic content of power system load is independent from the analysis of reactive power and power factor, which is usually assumed in standard load flow analysis. This approach has been facilitated by the recent clarification of the definitions of active and non-active power quantities that should be used for the analysis of non-sinusoidal voltages and currents, [38].

Accordingly, the presented load models take into account all harmonic characteristics, as well as P-V and N-V characteristics, of considered load types, by reproducing the actual current waveform of the considered aggregate load. This makes the developed load models extremely flexible as practically all important information is preserved if current and voltage waveforms are available. This flexibility is combined in this thesis with the fact that the major type/sub-types of present and future loads have been identified and modelled. Based on that a comprehensive library of load models is formed, which then can be used directly in different areas of research, especially if there is current uncertainty about load models. Two examples of the more general use of developed load models are now briefly discussed.

As any desired aggregate load mix may be created from the developed library of load models, this can be used for detailed investigation of any of the major load sectors, as

well as for investigation of expected future changes load characteristics. The incorporated ability to investigate characteristics of future loads is a very important and powerful feature, as measurement-based approaches simply can not be used to achieve this. However, the developed models are not proposed as a substitute to measurement-based models, but to complement them. This is because the developed models predict the actual shape of the aggregate current waveform, which is built from individual loads, and the process may be reversed, and load mix can be established from the measured aggregate load waveforms. Once the actual load mix at a particular bus is established, it may be used as the basis to predict the change of future characteristics of this load.

An area of research receiving greater attention in the last years is demand side management (DSM). This concept involves control or disconnection of individual loads, such as refrigerators and freezers, from the supply to balance load flow. In order to fully ascertain the effect of DSM on the supply system, it is necessary to have aggregate load models that allow for manageable loads in the aggregate mix to be connected or disconnected as desired. Therefore, the proposed load models are ideally suited for this task.

Finally, the work in this thesis has shown conclusively that the fundamental reactive power consumption of both present and future aggregate loads will be affected by the distortions in the supply system voltage. This effect is not significant at present, but it will increase with both percentage contribution of non-linear loads and level of distortion present in the system voltage. Therefore, relatively large error may be introduced to standard load flow analysis, if assumption of ideally sinusoidal operating conditions is made. The exact level of this error, however, should be further investigated for different operating and loading conditions.

## 7.2 Further work

This section suggests some areas of further work, directly related to the results of the research presented in this thesis:

1) The presented work has shown that harmonic legislation will have a significant influence on N-V and harmonic characteristics of aggregate loads. Therefore, any changes in this legislation are likely to have again a large influence on the characteristics of both individual and aggregate loads. This effect, obviously, should be quantified for expected or anticipated changes in harmonic legislation. In order to achieve this, a comparative analysis of harmonic content at a typical load bus with current EU harmonic limits, and harmonic content with expected changes (e.g. the reduction of the Class D limits from 75W to 50W) should be performed. Similarly, other suggested changes, e.g. inclusion of lower-power SASD load in Class D limits, should be investigated. This analysis should focus on the domestic load sector, and can be performed for a variety of load mixes to represent daily/weekly/seasonal variations in load and demand structure. A network model able to consider both load flow and current harmonics, that allows for system bus voltage to become distorted, should also be developed to facilitate this research. This model may also be used to quantify more accurately the error of assuming sinusoidal system voltage in power flow analysis.

2) The effects of diversity within aggregate loads of the same type and sub-type should be investigated further. This investigation can establish the expected level of harmonic cancellation obtained during the aggregation of same type/sub-type loads. As previous work in this area has only considered SMPS with no PFC, inclusion of other loads types/sub-types is a logical way to improve this research.

3) In the future, electric vehicle battery chargers are expected to become a common load type. They will draw significant power and presently there is no available accurate load model for this load type. It is suspected that they will be SMPS loads, but the harmonic limits relevant to this loads are at present unclear. Accordingly, research should be performed to ascertain the likely topologies of these loads, and from this information corresponding generic load models should be developed. After that, the developed load models of this load type may be used with models of other loads developed in this thesis to investigate the likely effects of this new load type on aggregate load characteristics and system operation.

4) LED lighting is expected to become popular in the future, and this load has not been considered in this thesis. The considered profound effect of wholesale substitution of incandescent lighting with CFLs may also occur if LEDs are used for replacing CFLs, at least from the point of view of reduced active power. Therefore, accurate load models should be developed for LED lighting.

5) It should be investigated whether it is possible to identify likely load mix of a given bus from its measured current waveform. The generic analytical model can form the basis of an algorithm that identifies specific load 'signatures' in the aggregate current waveform. Once the method is working, it may be used to rapidly predict load mix for a number of measured buses, and these results compared with bus load mixes identified from statistical measurement-based approaches.

6) It was shown in [35] that the developed SMPS model can be used directly for the analysis of 'inrush current'. Therefore, this model is a transient model, as in simulation, steady-state characteristics are obtained after waiting for energising transient to finish. It is expected that the other developed non-linear load models, as of similar form to the SMPS model, may also be used as transient models, although they may need some minor modifications. This should be confirmed in further research by comparisons of models with measurements or with developed full circuit models of relevant load type/sub-type. Once it has been established that the developed load models in this thesis are indeed transient models they may be used in transient analysis, which will significantly extend the usefulness of the developed load models.

7) The developed load models may be used directly to investigate the effects and viability of demand side management on the supply system. This can be achieved by disconnecting and connecting selected 'manageable' individual loads based on an indicator such as magnitude of local supply system voltage or system frequency. The developed load models are ideally suited to this task. From the previous point the analysis may also be extended to include likely transient effects of DSM on the supply system.

8) The presented load models may also be used to investigate the effects on design, planning, placement and feasibility of incorporating new DG. Reference [2], has performed a similar analysis but compared constant MVA model with a supposedly more accurate exponential model. The models presented in this thesis allow for a far more in-depth analysis, that takes into account harmonic as well as standard power flow quantities (i.e. P and Q) which have been shown in this thesis not to be independent.

9) The introduction of any new load types should be followed by the corresponding development of new load models using the procedures outlined in this thesis and then the load library updated accordingly, (see points 3 and 4).

# Appendix A

## A.1 PSpice model of three-phase dq motor

![](_page_286_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure A.1: PSpice schematic of dq motor with ABC/dq interface.

![](_page_287_Figure_0.jpeg)

A.1.1 PSpice motor mechanical model

Figure A.2: PSpice schematic of three-phase motor mechanical model.

## A.2 V/Hz ASD

## A.2.1 V/Hz controller

![](_page_287_Figure_5.jpeg)

Figure A.3: V/Hz controller.




Figure A.4: PSpice schematic of three-phase motor drive.

A.3 Validation of ASD equivalent circuit model, for linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loading conditions



**Figure A.5:** Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with linear torque load.



**Figure A.6:** Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with quadratic torque load.



**Figure A.7:** *Comparison between full and equivalent ASD for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with constant power mechanical load.* 

## A.4 MatLab code for three-phase ASD equivalent-analytical model

#### A.4.0.1 Decide on conduction mode

```
%Decides wther in continious or dis mode
%set initial value of M
vdc_rms = E; %set initial values of Vdc_rms.
M = (vdc_rms*vdc_rms)/P_rated;
L = (Lsys*2)+ Lfilter; %total L for continuous mode
%first run with no commutation taken into account
[t, iv] = solvediff_three_phase(0, (300e-3),V_int,C,L,Lsys,R,M,w,E,ts,0..
..,mag,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
vdc_rms = sqrt(mean((iv(round(length(iv)-20e-3/ts):length(iv),2).*..
..(iv(round(length(iv)-20e-3/ts):length(iv),2))));
M_new = (vdc_rms*vdc_rms)/P_rated;
%take commutation into account
duration_com = 0.11e-3; %inital guess
V_int = iv(length(iv),2);
```

```
I_int = iv(length(iv), 1);
loop_no =1;
%run loop,
while loop_no < 300</pre>
%first no-commutation period Lsys = 2*Lsys
L = (Lsys \star 2) + Lfilter;
[t_noncom_1, iv_noncom_1] = solvediff_three_phase(0, (1/50)/12, V_int,C,...
..L,Lsys,R*2,M_new,w,E,ts,I_int,mag,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
%communtation period Lsys = 1.5*Lsys, R =
L = (Lsys * 1.5) + Lfilter;
V_int = iv_noncom_1(length(iv_noncom_1),2);
I_int = iv_noncom_1(length(iv_noncom_1),1);
[t_com, iv_com] = solvediff_three_phase_con_commutation((1/50)/12 -ts,..
..((1/50)/12+duration_com), V_int,C,L,Lsys,R*1.5,M_new,w,E,ts,I_int,...
..mag,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
%finish off cycle with noncom mode
V_int = iv_com(length(iv_com),2);
I_int = iv_com(length(iv_com),1);
L = (Lsys \star 2) + Lfilter;
[t_noncom_2, iv_noncom_2] = solvediff_three_phase(((1/50)/12)+..
..duration_com-ts,(2/50)/12, V_int,C,L,Lsys,R*2,M_new,w,E,ts,I_int,mag..
..,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
%put waveform together
iv_new = [iv_noncom_1; iv_com(3:length(iv_com),:);..
    ..iv_noncom_2(3:length(iv_noncom_2),:)];
t_new = [t_noncom_1;t_com(3:length(iv_com),:);..
    ..t_noncom_2(3:length(iv_noncom_2),:)];
V_int = iv_new(length(iv_new),2);
I_int = iv_new(length(iv_new),1);
%Now want to update t_com so vo is the commutation vrect:
start_com = (1/50)/12;
%distirt code already takes phase shift and amplitude into account
vdc_set = distorted_sin_asd(mag,angle_rad,start_com,no_of_harms);
col=1;
I_charge = 0;
t_charge = ts;
%this sets the charging current
 %while the phase current is less than the dc link current
while I_charge(col,1) < iv_new(col+round(start_com/ts),1)</pre>
col = col + 1;
t_charge = t_charge + ts;
iv_new(col+round(start_com/ts),1);
vin = distorted_sin_asd(mag,angle_rad,t_new(col+round(start_com/ts)),...
..no_of_harms);
vo = vin - vdc_set; %voltage inductor resistor series circuit 'sees'
 %RL charging equation
I_charge(col,1) = (vo/R*2)*(1 - exp(-t_charge/(Lsys*2/R*2)));
duration_com = col*ts;
```

```
end
```

```
%now update M;
vdc_rms = sqrt(mean(iv_new(:,2).*iv_new(:,2)));
M_new = (vdc_rms*vdc_rms)/P_rated;
loop_no = loop_no +1;
end
%clear old varaibles
iv=[];
t=[];
%this put iv into half cycle ifilter waveforms
iv = [iv_new; iv_new(1:length(iv_new),:); iv_new(1:length(iv_new),:)];
t = 0:ts:0.01-4*ts;
t=t';
col = 1;
dis_con_flag = 0; %set flag
%look for dicon mode
while col < length(iv)</pre>
if iv(col, 1) < 0
   dis\_con\_flag = 1
   break
else
   col = col + 1;
end
end
if dis_con_flag ==1 %if in discontinuous mode
 [data_out] = discontinuous(C,Lfilter,Lsys,R,w,E,ts,Vsys,P_rated,...
 ..mag,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
else %if in continuous mode
    [data_out] = continuous(iv,Lsys,R,w,E,ts,Vsys,vdc_set,I_charge,...
    ..start_com,t_new,mag,angle_rad,no_of_harms);
end
```

#### A.4.0.2 Discontinuous current conduction mode

```
%initliase local variables
L = (Lsys*2)+ Lfilter; % total inductance before bridge, for dis_con mode
R = R*2;
t_fin = 100e-3; %this value gives a good comprimise between time and accuracy
t = ts;
%initial conditions
col = 2;
v_dc = mag(2,1)*sqrt(3);
i_dc = 0;
%run loop
while t < t_fin %if vdc is greater than system and the input current is zero</pre>
```

```
if v_dc(col-1,1) > distorted_sin_three_phase(mag,angle_rad,t,no_of_harms)
    & i_dc(col-1,1) \leq 0 %discharge
    Req = ((v_dc(col-1,1))^2)/P_rated;
   v_dc(col, 1) = v_dc(col-1, 1) *exp(-ts/(Req*Cdc));
    i_dc(col, 1) = 0;
    t = t + ts;
    col = col + 1;
 else %charge
    t = t + ts;
    Req = ((v_dc(col-1,1))^2)/P_rated;
    E = 325;
    vrect = distorted_sin_three_phase(mag,angle_rad,t,no_of_harms);
    [IV] = solvediff_SMPS_new(v_dc(col-1,1),i_dc(col-1,1),Cdc,L,..
    ..R,ts,vrect,Req);
    i_dc(col, 1) = IV(2, 1);
    v_dc(col, 1) = IV(2, 2);
    col = col + 1;
    end
end
%need to get correct pulses
t = 0:ts:10e-3;
t = t';
out(:,1) = t;
out(:,2) = i_dc(round((col-1-(10e-3/ts))):col-1,1);
out(1:round(1.95e-3/ts),2) = 0;
out(length(out)-round(1.66e-3/ts):length(out),2) = 0;
out(1001:2001,2) = out(1:1001,2) *-1;
data_out = out(:, 2);
data_out(:,2) = out(:,2);
end
```

#### A.4.0.3 Continuous current conduction mode

```
%now set current values other than conduction period to zero
iv(1:round(((1/50)/12)/ts),1) = 0;
iv(round(((5/50)/12)/ts):length(iv),1) = 0;
% %now set charge ramp, from previously used code that found t_com duration
iv(round(((1/50)/12)/ts):round((((1/50)/12)/ts)+round(length(I_charge))-1,1)..
..= I_charge(:,1);
vdc_set = vdc_set ;
%now set ramp down
I_dis_start = iv(round((((5/50)/12)-ts)/ts),1);
t_discharge = ts;
col=1;
while t_discharge < 1e-3</pre>
```

```
%sysmmetrically same as charging period
mag_new(:,1) = mag(:,1).*0.0186; %adds diode V drop
vin = distorted_sin_asd(mag,angle_rad,t_new(col+round(start_com/ts)),...
..no_of_harms);
vo = vin - vdc_set ;
I_discharge(col,2) = I_dis_start - ..
.. (vo/R*2)*(1 - exp(-t_discharge/((Lsys*2)/R*2)));
I_discharge(col,1) = t_discharge;
if I_discharge(col,2) \geq 0
    Iin_a_last(col,2) = I_discharge(col,2);
    col = col +1;
    t_discharge = t_discharge +ts;
     else
       break
     end
 end
iv(round((((5/50)/12))/ts):round((((5/50)/12))/ts)+..
..length(I_discharge)-1,1) = I_discharge(:,2);
iv_out(:,2) = [iv(:,1); iv(:,1).*-1; iv(:,1); iv(:,1).*-1];
t_out = 4*ts:ts:40e-3-1*ts;
t_out=t_out';
iv_out(:,1) = t_out;
data_out = [iv_out];
```

A.5 Validation of ASD analytical model, for linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loading conditions



**Figure A.8:** Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with linear torque load.



**Figure A.9:** Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link component values and motor loaded with quadratic torque load.



**Igure A.10:** Comparison between full and analytical model for a range of dc link componen values and motor loaded with constant power mechanical load.

### Appendix B



### **B.1** PSpice single-phase motor schematic

Figure B.1: PSpice dq model of split-phase single-phase induction motor.



Figure B.2: PSpice schematic of single-phase drive (connects to three-phase motor).

# B.2 MatLab code implementing equivalent analytical model of SASD

```
col = 2;
%initial conditions
v_dc = 325;
i_dc = 0;
while col < runto
  if v_dc(col-1,1) > abs(distorted_sin(mag,angle_rad,col*ts,no_of_harms))..
       ..& i_dc(col-1,1) \leq 0
  %discharge
 Req = ((v_dc(col-1,1))^2)/P_SASD;
 v_dc(col,1) = v_dc(col-1,1)*exp(-ts/(Req*Cdc));
 i_dc(col, 1) = 0;
 col = col + 1;
 else
   %charge
 Req = ((v_dc(col-1, 1))^2)/P_SASD;
 vrect = abs(distorted_sin(mag,angle_rad,col*ts,no_of_harms));
 [IV] = solvediff(v_dc(col-1,1),i_dc(col-1,1),Cdc,L,R,ts,vrect,Req);
 i_dc(col, 1) = IV(2, 1);
 v_dc(col, 1) = IV(2, 2);
 col = col + 1;
end
end
t = 0:ts:20e-3;
t = t';
out(:,1) = i_dc(round((col-1-(20e-3/ts))):col-1,1);
out(1:1000,1) = out(1:1000,1) *-1;
out_2(:,1) = i_dc;
out_2(:,2) = v_dc;
```

**B.3** Validation of SASD analytical model, for linear torque, quadratic torque and constant mechanical power loading conditions



**Figure B.3:** Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with linear torque for nominal dc link component values.



**Figure B.4:** Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with quadratic torque for nominal dc link component values.



**Figure B.5:** Comparison between characteristics of full and analytical models of single-phase open-loop V/HZ ASD mechanically loaded with constant mechanical power load for nominal dc link component values.

### Appendix C

#### C.1 Lighting chapter MatLab code

#### C.1.1 MatLab cycle by cycle RMS code

```
%red in data file
data_file = dlmread('v1.2_I_and_Vdc.txt', '', 1,0);%reads in the data file
%setup data structure
count = 1;
 vdc(:,1) = data_file(:,1);
 vdc(:,2) = data_file(:,2);
 I(:,1) = data_file(:,1);
 I(:,2) = data_file(:,3);
%find gradient
 grad_1 = diff(I);
 % find sign of gradient
 while count < length(grad_1)</pre>
 grad_sign(count,1) = find_sign(grad_1(count,2));
 count = count +1;
 end
 %sort start and finish points
 col=1;
 flag = 0;
 count_1 = 1;
 last_reset = 1;
while count_1 < length(grad_sign)</pre>
 if grad_sign(count_1,1) == 1 && flag ==0
     start(col,1) = count_1; %start of cycle
    flag = 1;
     col=col+1;
     count_1 = count_1+1;
     last_reset = 1;
 else if grad_sign(count_1,1) == -1 %&& last_reset > 20
         flag =0;
```

```
count_1 = count_1+1;
         else
          count_1 = count_1+1;
          last_reset = last_reset + 1;
          end
 end
end
%calculate RMS current for each cycle
for start_cycle = 1:1:length(start)-1
end_cycle = start_cycle + 1;
time = I(start((end_cycle),1),1) - I(start((start_cycle),1),1);
data(:,1) = I(start(start_cycle,1):start(end_cycle,1),1);
data(:,2) = I(start(start_cycle,1):start(end_cycle,1),2);
data(:,3) = vdc(start(start_cycle,1):start(end_cycle,1),2);
[I_rms,vdc_rms,P] = P_calc(data,time);
mean_I = mean(data(:,2));
Results(start_cycle,1) = I_rms;
Results(start_cycle,2) = vdc_rms;
Results(start_cycle,3) = P;
Results(start_cycle,4) = mean_I;
data=[];
end
%sort into charging or discharging
count vrms = 1;
grad_vrms = diff(Results(:,2));
while count_vrms < length(grad_vrms)</pre>
grad_sign_vdc(count_vrms,1) = find_sign(grad_vrms(count_vrms,1));
 count_vrms = count_vrms +1;
end
count_charge_discharge = 1;
discharge_count = 1;
charge_count = 1;
while count_charge_discharge < length(grad_sign_vdc)</pre>
    if grad_sign_vdc(count_charge_discharge,1) == -1
        discharge(discharge_count,1:4) = Results(count_charge_discharge,1:4);
        discharge_count = discharge_count + 1;
        count_charge_discharge = count_charge_discharge +1;
    else
        charge(charge_count,1:4) = Results(count_charge_discharge,1:4);
        charge_count = charge_count +1;
```

```
count_charge_discharge = count_charge_discharge +1;
end
end
```

#### C.1.2 MatLab implementation of CFL equivalent analytical model

```
function [out] = lamp_model(Cdc,L,E,R,P_rated)
%outputs, time and Iac
% Initiliasise varaibles
A=-1;
ts = 1e-5;
vint = E;
no_cycles = 8; %enugh for steady state
time = 0; %time is start point * supply frequency
voltage = 0;
current = 0;
flag1 = 0;
no_cycles = no_cycles+1;
t_int = ts;
vend = vint;
V_int = vend;
cycles = 1;
f = 50; %system frequency
w = 2*pi*f;
%equivalent load;
Rbase_old = 6742; %based on(279^2)/11.5449 from generic model
V_DC_base = 279.5; %based on testing a range of CFL
Rbase_new = (V_DC_base^2) / P_rated;
mult_factor = Rbase_new/Rbase_old; %this converts from old base to new base
%discharging
```

```
c_A = -511.66*mult_factor;
c_B = 27.88*mult_factor;
c_C = -0.0033*mult_factor;
```

#### %charging

```
c_D = 500*mult_factor;
c_E = 10.9*mult_factor;
c_F = 0.03237*mult_factor;
```

```
while cycles < no_cycles</pre>
t_fin = ((0.5/f) * (cycles+1));
col = 1;
t(col, 1) = (ts) + ((cycles) * (0.5/f));
V2_1(col, 1) = vend;
flag = 0;
while V2_1(col,1) > abs(E*sin(w*t(col,1))) && flag1 == 0 %discharge stage
    col=col+1;
    t(col, 1) = t(col-1, 1) + ts;
    %calcuates Req1 frm previous value of cdc
    Req_1 = c_A + c_B*V2_1(col-1,1) + c_C*V2_1(col-1,1)*V2_1(col-1,1);
    ;%calulates new dc link voltage
    V2_1(col,1) = V2_1(col-1,1)*exp(-ts/(Req_1*Cdc))
    I2_1(col, 1) = 0;
    V_{int} = V2_1(col, 1);
    t_int = t(col, 1);
%need to jump out of loop if no conduction period in loop
if t(col, 1) \ge t_fin; %
    vend = V2_1(col, 1);
    break
    end
end
  flag1 = 1;
flag=1;
col = 1;
%charge period
[T2, IV2] = solvediff_lamp(t_int,t_fin,V_int,Cdc,L,R,c_D,c_E,c_F,w,E,ts);
while col \leq length (IV2)
    if IV2(col, 1) \geq 0 && flag == 1
        I2_2(col, 1) = IV2(col, 1);
        V2_2(col, 1) = IV2(col, 2);
        V_dis_start2 = IV2(col,2);
        t_dis_start2 = T2(col, 1);
        col = col + 1;
    else
        flag = 0;
        I2_2(col, 1) = 0;
        %calcuates Req1 frm previous value of cdc
       Req_1 = c_A + c_B * V2_2 (col-1,1) + c_C * V2_2 (col-1,1) * V2_2 (col-1,1);
       %calulates new dc link voltage
        V2_2(col,1) = V2_2(col-1,1)*exp(-ts/(Req_1*Cdc)) ;
        vend = V2_2(col, 1);
```

```
col = col + 1;
        end
end
T2 = [t; T2];
I2 = [I2_1 ; I2_2];
V2 = [V2_1 ; V2_2];
%save cycles
cycles = cycles + 1;
flag1 = 0;
time = [time ; T2];
current = [current ; (I2*A)];
voltage = [voltage ; V2];
A = A * - 1;
t = [];
T2 = [];
I2_1 = [];
I2_2 = [];
V2_1 = [];
V2_2 = [];
V2 = [];
I2 = [];
end
out = 0:ts:20e-3;
out = out';
out(:,2) = current(length(current)-(20e-3/ts):length(current),1);
```

### Appendix D

#### **D.1** MatLab code implementing aggregation of generic analytical models

```
vs_count = 1;
for Vsys = [0.8:0.1:1.2]
%system impedance
Rsys=0.25*0.6;
j=0.23*0.6;
Lsys = j/(2*pi*50);
THD_last = -5;
%%%%%%%%%READ IN VOLTAGE
%sinusodial voltage and current, can also make non-sinu of required
mag_voltage = zeros(50,1);
angle_voltage = zeros(50,1);
% % % % This one is a sinusiod
mag_voltage(:,1) = 0;
mag_voltage(2,1) = Vsys*325;
angle_voltage(:,1) = 0;
mag = mag_voltage;
angle_rad =angle_voltage;
<u> ୧</u>୧୧୧୧
no_of_harms = 50; %
colres=1;
ts = 1e-5;
scaling_factor = 50;
```

```
Percentage_SMPS = 25.*scaling_factor; %actual percentage power drawn by SMPS
SMPS_loading = 0.4; %the loading of rated power on the SMPS
percent_SMPS_LP = 0.4068*Percentage_SMPS; %how many are LP
percent_SMPS_HP = 0.4929.*Percentage_SMPS; %how many are HP
percent_SMPS_active = 0.10.*Percentage_SMPS;
        P_SMPS_in_mix = 250; %the typical rated power of the SMPS in the load mix.
```

#### %ASD

Percentage\_ASD = 20\*0.2\*3.\*scaling\_factor; %nb increase ASD by three times to give correct %Percentage\_ASD = 0;

```
percent_CT = 0.0.*Percentage_ASD;
percent_LT = 0.0.*Percentage_ASD;
percent_QT = 0.0.*Percentage_ASD;
percent_CP = 0.5.*Percentage_ASD;
percent_CP_NF = 0.5.*Percentage_ASD;
```

#### %Directly connected three-phase motors

```
Percentage_DC3 = 20*0.8.*scaling_factor;
    percent_DC3_CT = 0.5.*Percentage_DC3; %percentage cosntant torque
    percent_DC3_LT = 0.0.*Percentage_DC3;
    percent_DC3_QT = 0.5.*Percentage_DC3;
    percent_DC3_CP = 0.0.*Percentage_DC3;
    percent_DC3_HP = 0.0.*Percentage_DC3; %percentage higher power
```

#### %SASD

```
Percentage_SASD = 26*0.20.*scaling_factor;
P_SASD_in_mix = 961; %this is based on 1hp SASDs
    percent_CT_SASD = 0.0.*Percentage_SASD;
    percent_LT_SASD = 0.0.*Percentage_SASD;
    percent_QT_SASD = 0.0.*Percentage_SASD;
    percent_CP_SASD = 1.0.*Percentage_SASD;
    percent_advanced_SASD = 0.0.*Percentage_SASD;
    percent_LP_SASD = 0.0.*Percentage_SASD;
```

#### %SPIM

```
Percentage_SPIM = 26*0.8.*scaling_factor;
    percent_RSIR_CT = 0.75*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSIR_LT = 0.0.*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSIR_QT = 0.0*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSIR_CP = 0.0.*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSCR_CT = 0.25.*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSCR_LT = 0.0.*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSCR_QT = 0.0.*Percentage_SPIM;
    percent_RSCR_CP = 0.0.*Percentage_SPIM;
```

```
%CFL lighting
Percentage_CFL = 1.*scaling_factor;
```

% Resisitive load:

```
%made up of 12.92% lighting,
Percentage_resisitive = 28.*scaling_factor;
```

#### 

%call CFL load

agg\_CFL = CFL\_load(Lsys,Percentage\_CFL,Vsys,mag,angle\_rad,no\_of\_harms);

#### %call ASD load

[agg\_ASD ,agg\_ASD\_con,agg\_ASD\_discon] = call\_ASD\_model(ts,Vsys,Lsys,Rsys,.. ..percent\_CT,percent\_LT,percent\_QT,percent\_CP,percent\_CP\_NF,mag,.. ..angle\_rad,no\_of\_harms);

#### %call SASD load

[agg\_SASD, agg\_SASD\_LP] = call\_SASD(Vsys,Lsys,Rsys,percent\_CT\_SASD,..
percent\_LT\_SASD,percent\_QT\_SASD,percent\_CP\_SASD, percent\_advanced\_SASD,..
..percent\_LP\_SASD,P\_SASD\_in\_mix,mag,angle\_rad,no\_of\_harms);

#### %Call SMPS model

[agg\_SMPS,agg\_SMPS\_LP,agg\_SMPS\_HP,agg\_SMPS\_APFC] = call\_SMPS(Vsys,Lsys,.. ..Rsys, percent\_SMPS\_LP, percent\_SMPS\_HP,percent\_SMPS\_active,.. ..P\_SMPS\_in\_mix,SMPS\_loading,mag,angle\_rad,no\_of\_harms);

#### %Call directly connected three-phase

agg\_DC3 = three\_DC(Vsys,percent\_DC3\_CT,percent\_DC3\_LT,percent\_DC3\_QT,..
..percent\_DC3\_CP,percent\_DC3\_HP,mag,angle\_rad);

#### %call directly connected single-phase

agg\_SPIM = SPIM(Vsys,percent\_RSIR\_CT,percent\_RSIR\_LT,percent\_RSIR\_QT,..
..percent\_RSIR\_CP,percent\_RSCR\_CT,percent\_RSCR\_LT,percent\_RSCR\_QT,..
..percent\_RSCR\_CP,mag,angle\_rad);

#### %call resisitive load

agg\_resist = resisitive(Vsys,Percentage\_resisitive,mag,angle\_rad,no\_of\_harms);

#### %Add the invidual load currents together

```
aggregate_current(:,1) = agg_CFL + agg_ASD(:,1) + agg_SASD(:,1) + ..
..agg_DC3(:,1) + agg_SPIM(:,1) + agg_resist(:,1) + agg_SMPS(:,1);
end
```

## Appendix E

#### E.1 List of publications from research presented in thesis

- C. Cresswell, S. Djokic, and S. Munshi, Analytical modelling of adjustable speed drive load for power system studies, in Proc. of Power Tech, Lausanne, 2007, pp. 18991904.
- C. Cresswell and S. Djokic, Representation of directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. part 2: Three-phase load models, in Proc. of the 2008 International Conference on Electrical Machines, Vilamoura, Portugal, paper 1203.
- S. Djokic, S. Munshi, and C. Cresswell, The influence of overcurrent and undervoltage protection settings on asd sensitivity to voltage sags and short interruptions, in Proc. of 4th IET Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, PEMD, 2008, pp.130134.
- C. Cresswell and S. Djokic, Representation of directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. part 1: Single-phase load models, in Proc. of the 2008 International Conference on Electrical Machines, Vilamoura, Portugal, paper 1202.
- C. Cresswell and S. Djokic, The analysis of the occurrence of high in-rush currents in dc power supplies, in Proc. of 4th IET Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, PEMD, 2008, pp. 441445.
- C. Cresswell, S. Djokic, K. Ochije, and D. Macpherson, Modelling of non-linear electronic loads for power system studies: A qualitative approach, in Proc. of International Conference on Electricity Distribution, CIRED, Vienna, 2007, Paper 458.
- C. Cresswell and S. Djokic, Steady state models of low-energy consumption light sources, in Proc. of 16th Power Systems Computation Conference, PSCC 2008, Glasgow, Paper 84.

### References

- S. Crary, "Steady state stability of composite systems," *Electrical Engineering*, vol. 52, pp. 787–792, Nov. 1933.
- [2] D. Singh, R. Misra, and D. Singh, "Effect of load model in distributed generation planning," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 22, no.4, pp. 2204–2212, Nov. 2007.
- [3] IEEE Task Force on Load Representation for Dynamic Performance, "Load representation for dynamic performance analysis (of power systems)," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 472–82, May 1993.
- [4] IEEE Task Force on Load Representation for Dynamic Performance, "Standard load models for power flow and dynamic performance simulation," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 10, no.3, pp. 1302–1313, Aug 1995.
- [5] P. Ju and D. Ma, "A composite dynamic-static model of electric power load," *IEEE Trans. Control and Decision*, vol. 4, no.2, pp. 20–23, 1989.
- [6] W. Xu, E. Vaahedi, Y. Mansour, and J. Tamby, "Voltage stability load parameter determination from field tests on BC hydro's system," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1290–1297, Aug. 1997.
- [7] M. Brickell, "Simulation of staged tests on the Ontario hydro northwestern region," in *Power Industry Computer Applications Conference-PICA-79*. New York, 1979, pp. 357–64.
- [8] L. Korunović, D. Stojanović, and J. Milanović, "Identification of static load characteristics based on measurements in medium-voltage distribution network," *IET, Generation, Transmission & Distribution*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 227–234, Mar. 2008.
- [9] University of Texas, "EPRI report of project rp849-3, determing load characterisitcs for transient performance." Arlington, EL-840, Vols 1-3, May 1979.
- [10] General Electric Company, "Epri report of project rp849-1, determing load characterisitcs for transient performance." EL-850, March 1981.
- [11] General Electric Company, "EPRI report of project rp849-7, load modelling for power flow and transient stability studies." EL-5003, January 1987.
- [12] T. Frantz, T. Gentile, S. Ihara, N. Simons, and M. Waldron, "Load behavior observed in LILCO and RG&E systems," *IEEE Trans. Power App. Syst.*, vol. PAS-103, no. 4, pp. 819–831, Apr. 1984.
- [13] W. Price, K. Wirgau, A. Murdoch, J. Mitsche, E. Vaahedi, and M. El-Kady, "Load modeling for power flow and transient stability computer studies," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 3, no.1, pp. 180–187, Feb. 1988.

- [14] Department for Environment Food and Rural Affaris, (DEFRA), "Market transformation programme, whatif tool." [Online]. Available: http://whatif.mtprog.com.
- [15] C. Concordia and S. Ihara, "Load representation in power system stability studies," *IEEE Trans. Power App. Syst.*, vol. PAS-101, no. 4, pp. 969–977, 1982.
- [16] J. Ribeiro and F. Lange, "A new aggregation method for determining composite load characteristics," *IEEE Trans. Power App. Syst.*, vol. PAS-101, no. 8, pp. 2869–2875, 1982.
- [17] S. Sabir and D. Lee, "Dynamic load models derived from date acquired during system transients," *IEEE Trans. Power App. Syst.*, vol. PAS-101, no. 9, pp. 3365–3372, 1982.
- [18] E. Vaahedi, M. Fl-Kady, J. Libaque-Esaine, and V. Carvalho, "Load models for large-scale stability studies from end-user consumption," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 864–870, 1987.
- [19] P. Kundur, Power system stability and control. McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- [20] L. Grigsby, Power Systems. CRC press, 2001.
- [21] C. Chen, T. Wu, C. Lee, and Y. Tzeng, "The application of load model of electric appliances to distribution system analysis," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 10, pp. 1376–1382, Aug. 1995.
- [22] L. Hajagos and B. Danai, "Laboratory measurements and models of modern loads and their effect on voltage stability studies," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 584–592, 1998.
- [23] IEEE Task Force on Load Representation for Dynamic Performance, "Bibliography on load models for power flow and dynamic performance simulation," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 10, pp. 523–538, 1995.
- [24] S. Ranade, D. Sagi, and R. Adapa, "Load understanding and model development," in *Proc. of Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exhibition, PES 2005/06.*, pp. 1315–1319.
- [25] U. Eminoglu and M. H. Hocaoglu, "A new power flow method for radial distribution systems including voltage dependent load models," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 76, no. 1-3, pp. 106–114, 2005.
- [26] M. Coker and H. Kgasoane, "Load modeling," in AFRICON, 1999 IEEE., vol. 2, pp. 663–668.
- [27] Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), "Developing next generation end-use load characterisitcs through testing an model development." 2006, [Online]. Available: http://www.epri.com. [Accessed: Jan. 11, 2009].
- [28] A. Ellis, D. Kosterev, and A. Meklin, "Dynamic load models: Where are we?," in Proc. of Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exhibition, PES 2005/06., pp. 1320–1324.

- [29] K. Louie, "A new approach to compose load devices in electric power systems," *International Journal of Applied Science and Engineering*, vol. 2, pp. 197–210, 2004.
- [30] "Electromagnetic compatibility (emc) part 61000 3-2: Limits limits for harmonic current emissions (equipment input current less than 16 a per phase)," BS EN 61000-3-2, 2007.
- [31] C. Cresswell, S. Djokić, and S. Munshi, "Analytical modeling of adjustable speed drive load for power system studies," in *Proc. of Power Tech, Lausanne*, 2007, pp. 1899–1904.
- [32] C. Cresswell and S. Djokić, "Representation of directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. part 2: Three-phase load models," in *Proc. of the 2008 International Conference on Electrical Machines*, Vilamoura, Portugal, paper 1203.
- [33] S. Djokić, S. Munshi, and C. Cresswell, "The influence of overcurrent and undervoltage protection settings on asd sensitivity to voltage sags and short interruptions," in *Proc.* of 4th IET Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, PEMD, 2008, pp. 130–134.
- [34] C. Cresswell and S. Djokić, "Representation of directly connected and drive-controlled induction motors. part 1: Single-phase load models," in *Proc. of the 2008 International Conference on Electrical Machines*, Vilamoura, Portugal, paper 1202.
- [35] C. Cresswell and S. Djokić, "The analysis of the occurrence of high in-rush currents in dc power supplies," in *Proc. of 4th IET Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, PEMD*, 2008, pp. 441–445.
- [36] C. Cresswell, S. Djokić, K. Ochije, and D. Macpherson, "Modelling of non-linear electronic loads for power system studies: A qualitative approach," in *Proc. of International Conference on Electricity Distribution, CIRED, Vienna*, 2007, Paper 458.
- [37] C. Cresswell and S. Djokić, "Steady state models of low-energy consumption light sources," in *Proc. of 16th Power Systems Computation Conference, PSCC 2008, Glasgow, Paper 84.*
- [38] "IEEE Trial-Use Standard Definitions for the Measurement of Electric Power Quantities Under Sinusoidal, Nonsinusoidal, Balanced, or Unbalanced Conditions." IEEE Std 1459, 2000.
- [39] R. Arseneau, Y. Baghzouz, J. Belanger, K. Bowes, A. Braun, A. Chiaravallo, M. Cox, S. Crampton, A. Emanuel, P. Filipski, E. Gunther, A. Girgis, D. Hartmann, S.-D. He, G. Hensley, D. Iwanusiw, W. Kortebein, T. McComb, A. McEachern, T. Nelson, N. Oldham, D. Piehl, K. Srinivasan, R. Stevens, T. Unruh, and D. Williams, "Practical definitions for powers in systems with nonsinusoidal waveforms and unbalanced loads: a discussion," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 79–101, 1996.
- [40] A. Emanuel, "Summary of ieee standard 1459: definitions for the measurement of electric power quantities under sinusoidal, nonsinusoidal, balanced, or unbalanced conditions," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 869–876, 2004.

- [41] E. Gunther and M. McGranaghan, "Power measurements in distorted and unbalanced conditions-an overview of ieee trial-use standard 1459-2000," in *Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting*, 2002 IEEE, vol. 2, pp. 930–934 vol.2, 2002.
- [42] IEC, "Consideration of reference impedances and public supply network impedances for use in determining disturbance characteristics of electrical equipment having a rated current less than 75 a per phase." British satandards, Tech. Rep. 60725 (2nd edition), 2005.
- [43] A. Almeida, F. Ferreira, J. Fong, and P. Fonseca, "Findings on EC present energy using products EUP: lot 11 motors." 2008, [Online], Available:http://www.ecomotors.org. [Accessed: May. 11, 2008].
- [44] T. Anbal, D. Almeida, P. Fonseca, F. Ferreira, F. Guisse, J. Blaise, E. Clair, A. Diop, A. Previ, A. Caccia Dominioni, M. Di Pillo, S. Russo, H. Falkner, J. Reichert, H. Tnsing, and K. Malmose, "Improving the penetration of energy-efficient motors and drives." European Commission, Directorate-General for Transport and Energy, Tech. Rep. 2000.
- [45] F. Bartos, "Abb hosts technology day in sweden," *Control Engineering*, November 2004.
- [46] R. Cao and E. Collins, "The effects of load types on the behavior of ac motor drives during voltage sags," in *Proc. of 10th International Conference on Harmonics and Quality of Power*, 2002, vol. 1, pp. 353–358.
- [47] Schneider Electric, "Adjustable frequency controllers, application guide." 1995. [Online]. Available: http://www.schneider-electric.com, [Accessed: Dec. 17, 2008].
- [48] N. Mohan, T. Undeland, and W. Roberts, *Power Electronics Convertors, applications and design (3rd ed.).* John Wiley and Sons, 2003.
- [49] G. Buja and M. Kazmierkowski, "Direct torque control of PWM inverter-fed ac motors a survey," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 744–757, 2004.
- [50] P. Krause, O. Wasynczuk, and S. Sudhoff, *Analysis of electric machinery and drive systems*. Wiley-interscience, 2002.
- [51] D. Novotny and T. Lipo, *Vector control and dynamics of ac drives*. Oxford science publications, 1996.
- [52] P. Pillay and V. Levin, "Mathematical models for induction machines," in *Proc. of Thirtieth Industry Applications Conference, IAS* '95, vol.1, pp. 606–616.
- [53] Matlab/SimuLink, *SimPowerSystems Blockset*. Mathworks, [Online], Available: http://www.mathworks.com.
- [54] Microsemi, "Silicon recitifer, IN4719-IN4725, IN4997-IN15003, datasheet." [Online], Available: http://www.microsemi.com.
- [55] ST Microelectronics, "IGBT STGW40nc60v, datasheet." [Online], Available:http://www.st.com/stonline.

- [56] A. Gole, A. Keri, C. Nwankpa, E. Gunther, H. Dommel, I. Hassan, J. Marti, J. Martinez, K. Fehrle, L. Tang, M. McGranaghan, O. Nayak, R. Ribeiro, R. Iravani, and R. Lasseter, "Guidelines for modeling power electronics in electric power engineering applications," *IEEE Power Eng. Rev.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 71–71, 1997.
- [57] J. Pedra, F. Corcoles, and F. Suelves, "Effects of balanced and unbalanced voltage sags on vsi-fed adjustable-speed drives," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 20, pp. 224–33, Jan. 2005.
- [58] M. Grotzbach and R. Redmann, "Line current harmonics of vsi-fed adjustable speed drives," in *Proc. of Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Technical Conference, Sparks, USA*, 1999, pp. 7–14.
- [59] S. Djokić, K. Stockman, J. Milanović, J. Desmet, and R. Belmans, "Sensitivity of ac adjustable speed drives to voltage sags and short interruptions," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 494–505, 2005.
- [60] J. Duran-Gomez, P. Enjeti, and B. O. Woo, "Effect of voltage sags on adjustable speed drives-a critical evaluation and an approach to improve its performance," in *Proc. of the Fourteenth Annual Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, APEC '99*, vol.2, pp. 774–780.
- [61] "Electromagnetic compatibility (emc) part 3-12: Limits limits for harmonic currents produced by equipment connected to public low-voltage systems with input current > 16a and  $\leq$  75a per phase," BS EN 61000-3-12, 2005.
- [62] "Adjustable speed electrical power drive systems part 3: EMC requirements and specific test methods," BS 61800-3, 2004.
- [63] Energy networks association, "Engineering recommendation G5/4, planning levels for harmonic voltage distortion and the connection of non-linear equipment to transmission system and distibution networks in the united kingdom," February 2001.
- [64] Mathworks, "lsqnonlin." [Online], Available: http://www.mathworks.com. [Accessed: Jan. 2009].
- [65] M. Bollen and L. Zhang, "Analysis of voltage tolerance of ac adjustable-speed drives for three-phase balanced and unbalanced sags," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 36, pp. 904–10, May 2000.
- [66] G. Carpinelli, F. Iacovone, A. Russo, P. Varilone, and P. Verde, "Analytical modeling for harmonic analysis of line current of vsi-fed drives," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 1212–1224, 2004.
- [67] K. Lian, B. Perkins, and P. Lehn, "Harmonic analysis of a three-phase diode bridge rectifier based on sampled-data model," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 1088–1096, 2008.
- [68] S. Hansen, L. Asiminoaei, and F. Blaabjerg, "Simple and advanced methods for calculating six-pulse diode rectifier line-side harmonics," in *Proc. 38th Industry Applications Conference, IAS 2003*, vol.3, pp. 2056–2062.

- [69] V. Caliskan, D. Perreault, T. Jahns, and J. Kassakian, "Analysis of three-phase rectifiers with constant-voltage loads," *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I, Fundam. Theory Appl.*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 1220–1225, 2003.
- [70] Department for Business, Enterprise & Regulatory Reform (BERR) and National Statistics, "Energy consumption in the uk." [Online]. Available: http://www.berr.gov.uk/, 2008.
- [71] Department for Environment Food and Rural Affaris, (DEFRA), "Policy brief: Improving the energy performance of domestic cold appliances." [Online], Available http://www.mtprog.com/cms/whitepaper, July 2008.
- [72] S. G. Sheng, A. Sai, and S. Tugio, "Advanced and economical household inverter air-conditioner controller solution," *Proc. Int. IC*'99, pp. 1999, pp. 88–92.
- [73] P. Stekl, "Washing machine three-phase ac induction motor drive, based on mc56f8013." FreeScale [Online], Available: www.freescale.com, [Accessed Jan, 2008].
- [74] J. Donlon, J. Achammer, H. Iwamoto, and M. Iwasaki, "Power modules for appliance motor control," *IEEE Ind. Appl. Mag.*, vol. 8, pp. 26–34, 2002.
- [75] D. Bargiotas and J. Birdwell, "Residential air conditioner dynamic model for direct load control," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 2119–2126, 1988.
- [76] J. Shaffer, "Air conditioner response to transmission faults," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 614–621, 1997.
- [77] S. Sanhueza, F. Tofoli, F. de Albuquerque, J. de Oliveira, and G. Guimaraes, "Analysis and evaluation of residential air conditioners for power system studies," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 706–716, 2007.
- [78] B. Welchko and T. Lipo, "A novel variable frequency three-phase induction motor drive system using only three controlled switches," in *Proc. Industry Applications Conference*, 2000., vol.3, pp. 1468–1473.
- [79] A. Mansoor, W. Grady, A. Chowdhury, and M. Samotyi, "An investigation of harmonics attenuation and diversity among distributed single-phase power electronic loads," *Proc.* of the 1994 Power Engineering Society Transmission and Distribution Conference. 1994, pp. 110–116.
- [80] A. Mansoor, W. Grady, R. Thallam, M. Doyle, S. Krein, and M. Samotyj, "Effect of supply voltage harmonics on the input current of single-phase diode bridge rectifier loads," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 1416–1422, 1995.
- [81] Department for Business, Enterprise & Regulatory Reform (BERR) and National Statistics, "Energy consumption in the united kingdom." [Online], Available:http://www.statistics.gov.uk.
- [82] International Electrotechnical Commission, "Electromagnetic compatibility (emc) part 4-1: Testing and measurement techniques - overview of IEC 61000-4 series," IEC 61000-4-1 Ed. 2.0 b, 2000.

- [83] H. W. Whittington, B. Flynn, and D. E. Macpherson, Switched mode power supplies, design and construction. research studies press LTD, 1997.
- [84] A. Bennacer and A. Coltart, "Private communication." Delta Electronics Europe Ltd, Dec. 2008. (senior design engineer and head of engineering).
- [85] Bristish standard, "Electromagnetic compatability (emc). testing and measurement techniques. voltage dips, short interruptions and voltage variations immunity tests," BS EN 61000-4-11, 2004.
- [86] OMRON Corporation, "Switch mode power supply S8VS." [Online]. Available:http://www.ia.omron.com.
- [87] ON Semiconductor, "200W game console ac-dc adapter, tnd331-d." [Online]. Available: http://www.onsemi.com.
- [88] Ametherm, "What is inrush current?." [Online]. Available: http://www.ametherm.com.
- [89] ON Semiconductor, "NCP1217, NCP1217A Enhanced PWM current mode controller for high power universal off line supplies." [Online]. Available: http://www.onsemi.com.
- [90] Pacific Power Source Inc. 2006, "AMX 320 linear power supply." [Online]. Available: http://www.pacificpower.com.
- [91] A. Mansoor, W. Grady, P. Staats, R. Thallam, M. Doyle, and M. Samotyj, "Predicting the net harmonic currents produced by large numbers of distributed single-phase computer loads," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 2001–2006, 1995.
- [92] Pacific Power Source Inc. 2006, "ASX 320 electronic power supply." [Online]. Available: http://www.pacificpower.com.
- [93] P. Waide and S. Tanishima, "Light's labour's lost policies for energy efficient lighting." Tech Rep., International Energy Agency, 2006.
- [94] W. Carson, N. Taylor, N. Balu, and D. Maratukulam, *Power System Voltage Stability*. McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- [95] M. Bairanzade, "Electronic lamp ballast design." ON Semiconductor Tech. Rep., 2000.
- [96] Department for Enviroment Food and Rural Affaris, (DEFRA), "ICT and power electronic data." [Online]. Available: http://www.mtprog.com, accessed, 05 08.
- [97] U. Mader and P. Horn, "A dynamic model for the electrical characteristics of fluorescent lamps," in *Proc. the IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting*. Houston, TX, USA, 1992, pp. 1928–34.
- [98] M. Chen and Z. Qian, "A fluorescent lamp model based on its physical characteristics," in Proc. of the fifth International conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, PEDS 2003., Vol.2, pp. 1132–1136.
- [99] Y. Sun, "Pspice modeling of electronically ballasted compact fluorescent lamp systems," in *Proc. of IAS annual meeting (IEEE Industry Applications Society)*. Toronto, Ont, Can, 1993, vol. 3, pp. 2311–2316.

- [100] M. Sun and B. Hesterman, "Pspice high-frequency dynamic fluorescent lamp model," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 13, pp. 261–72, Mar. 1998.
- [101] M. Perdigao and E. Saraiva, "Matlab-simulink implementation of the Mader-Horn fluorescent-lamp model: permissible range of the resistive lamp model," in *Proc. of* 2004 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology. Hammamet, Tunisia, pp. 492–499.
- [102] C. Blanco, J. Alonso, E. Corominas, A. Calleja, and M. Rico-Secades, "Lamparas flourescentes: comportamiento electrico a alta frecuencia (in Spanish)," *Mundo Electronico*, vol. 276, pp. 51–56, 1997.
- [103] E. Corominas, J. Alonso, M. Rico-Secades, A. Calleja, J. Ribas, and J. Cardesin, "Estimation of electrical characteristics of low power fluorescent lamps for optimized ballast design minimizing the number of lamp tests," in *Proc. of The Thirty-Fifth IAS Annual Meeting and World Conference on Industrial Applications of Electrical Energy.* Rome, Italy, 2000, vol.5, pp. 3353–3360.
- [104] M. Gulko and S. Ben-Yaakov, "Current-sourcing push-pull parallel-resonance inverter (cs-ppri): theory and application as a fluorescent lamp driver," in *Proc. of Eighth Annual Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, APEC '93.* pp. 411–417.
- [105] S. Ben-Yaakov, M. Shvartsas, and S. Glozman, "Statics and dynamics of fluorescent lamps operating at high frequency: Modeling and simulation," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1486–1492, 2002.
- [106] T.-F. Wu, J.-C. Hung, and T.-H. Yu, "A PSpice model for fluorescent lamps operated at high frequencies," in *Proc. of the 21st International Conference on Industrial Electronics, Control, and Instrumentation, 1995 IEEE IECON.* Orlando, FL, USA, pp. 359–64.
- [107] N. Onishi, T. Shiomi, A. Okude, and T. Yamauchi, "A fluorescent lamp model for high frequency wide range dimming electronic ballast simulation," in *Proc. of Fourteenth Annual Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, APEC '99.* vol.2, pp. 1001–1005.
- [108] M. Shafi, R. McMahon, and S. Weier, "Investigation of losses in commercially available self-resonant ballasts for compact fluorescent lamps," in *Proc. of Power Electronics Specialists Conference, PESC 2007.* pp. 3100–3105.
- [109] multiple, *Power Specialist's App Note Book*. Intusoft, 1998, [Online]. Available: http://www.intusoft.com/psbook.htm.
- [110] J. Song, J.-H. Song, I. Choy, and J.-Y. Choi, "Improving crest factor of electronic ballast-fed fluorescent lamp current using pulse frequency modulation," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 1015–1024, 2001.
- [111] A. Seidel, F. Bisogno, D. Pappis, M. Dalla Costa, and R. do Prado, "Simple valley-fill self-oscillating electronic ballast with low crest factor using pulse-frequency modulation," in *Proc. of 38th Industry Applications Conference, IAS 2003.* vol.2, pp. 779–784.

- [112] J. A. Fuentes, A. Molina-Garca, and E. Gmez, "A measurement approach for obtaining static load model parameters in real time at the distribution level," *European Transactions on Electrical Power*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 173–190, 2007.
- [113] M. Sedighizadeh and A. Rezazadeh, "Load modeling for power flow and transient stability computer studies at bakhtar network," *Proc. of World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology*, vol. 26, pp. 1307–6884, Dec. 2007.
- [114] Department for Business, Enterprise & Regulatory Reform (BERR) and National Statistics, "Digest of energy statistics 2007." [Online]. Available: http://www.stats.ber.gov.uk/energystats/dukes07.pdf, 2007.
- [115] Department for Environment Food and Rural Affaris, (DEFRA), "Policy analysis and projections 2006/2008." [Online]. Available: http://www.mtprog.com.
- [116] C. Foote, P. Djapic, G. Ault, J. Mutale, and G. Strbac, "United kingdom generic distribution system (UKGDS) defining the generic networks." [Online]. Available: www.http://monaco.eee.strath.ac.uk/ukgds, Oct. 2005.
- [117] Siemens, "Power system simulator for engineering." [Online]. Available:http://www.pti-us.com/pti/software/psse/index.cfm.
- [118] A. Cavallini, M. Cacciari, M. Loggini, and G. Montanari, "Evaluation of harmonic levels in electrical networks by statistical indexes," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 1116–1126, 1994.
- [119] L. Miegeville, P. Guerin, and R. Le Doeuff, "Identification of the harmonic currents drawn by an institutional building: application of a stochastic approach," in *Proc. of Ninth International Conference on Harmonics and Quality of Power.* 2000, vol.2, pp. 595–601.
- [120] A. Emanuel, J. Orr, D. Cyganski, and E. Gulachenski, "A survey of harmonic voltages and currents at distribution substations," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 1883–1890, 1991.
- [121] M. T. Au and J. Milanović, "Establishing harmonic distortion level of distribution network based on stochastic aggregate harmonic load models," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 1086–1092, 2007.
- [122] A. Mansoor, W. Grady, P. Staats, R. Thallam, M. Doyle, and M. Samotyj, "Predicting the net harmonic currents produced by large numbers of distributed single-phase computer loads," *IEEE Trans. Power Del.*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 2001 – 2006, 1995.
- [123] A. Mansoor and W. Grady, "Analysis of compensation factors influencing the net harmonic current produced by single-phase nonlinear loads," in *Proc. of 8th International Conference on Harmonics and Quality of Power.* Athens, Greece. 1998, vol.2, pp. 883-889.
- [124] E. Ahmed and W. Xu, "Assessment of harmonic distortion level considering the interaction between distributed three-phase harmonic sources and power grid," *Generation, Transmission & Distribution.*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 506–515, 2007.

[125] M. El-Saadawi, M. Tantawy, and A. Hatata, "A proposed methodology to analyze systems with distributed harmonic sources," in *Proc. of 12th International Middle-East Power System Conference, MEPCON 2008.* pp. 536–542.